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PREFACE

When TOP (i.e., the Old Pro, aka John A. Tracy) and myself were approached by 
John Wiley & Sons about expanding and enhancing How to Read a Financial Report,
at first I was taken aback. I mean honestly, how does one improve on a book that 
has been in publication for more than 30 years, has sold 300,000-plus copies (and 
counting), is now in its eighth edition, and is widely referenced as the bench-
mark when it comes to helping readers from all walks of life clearly and concisely 
understand the complex world of financial reports? Then it occurred to me that 
attempting to improve the book was not the goal but rather the idea was to expand 
or enhance the book in an effort to achieve three primary goals. 

First, to transition the material and subject matter into a format that is more 
user friendly from an “e” (electronic or digital) perspective. A number of features 
have been incorporated to improve the interactivity of the material by incorpo-
rating hotlinks on important subject matter; referencing current events of sig-
nificance; highlighting critical concepts, terminology, and tips; and building in a 
web-based TMK, or test my knowledge section, to provide positive feedback on 
key material in a real-time fashion. 

Second, to empower the readers and extend their knowledge of financial reports 
and statements to identify potential problems, inconsistencies, errors, and irregu-
larities within the financial information presented. The idea is to move beyond 
simply understanding the basics of financial reports and statements into the world 
of analysis and further, to what a company’s financial results really mean or indi-
cate. Or to quote Jack Nicholson from the movie A Few Good Men, to ensure that 
you will be able to “handle the truth.”
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Third, to take you, the reader, on a journey through a case study that is not 
just designed to test your knowledge of financial reports and statements but more 
importantly, to walk you through the life of two similar companies, the fates that 
await them after operating for a number of years (good and bad), and the role that 
accounting played in their successes and failures. Or in other words, to highlight 
a critical concept within company financial reports and statements—that account-
ing is more of an art than science. 

Thus, the reference to “the comprehensive guide” was born, as this really 
captures the essence of this book, a more comprehensive guide to reading and 
understanding financial reports. In addition, this edition catches up with the major 
changes in financial reporting since the previous edition of How to Read a Financial 
Report, and addresses a fast-moving topic toward incorporating different financial 
reporting standards for private and small businesses compared to large, publicly 
traded companies. But I note that although numerous changes were made with the 
comprehensive version, the basic architecture and structure of the book remains 
unchanged, which at its heart is centered on two concepts that are of intense 
importance in today’s highly uncertain economic environment:

1. Understanding the connections between the big three financial statements, 
and that all are of equal importance and relay a valuable message about the 
financial health of a company. 

2. Highlighting the importance of cash flows, which is the hallmark of 
the book. 

The basic framework of the book has proved successful for more than 33 years 
and I would be a fool to mess with this success formula (not to mention feeling 
the wrath of my father who undoubtedly would “cut me out of the will” for the 
umpteenth time). 

All of the exhibits in the book have been prepared in Excel worksheets. To 
request a copy of the workbook file of all the exhibits, please contact me at my 



e-mail address: tagetracy@cox.net. We express our sincere thanks to all of you who 
have sent compliments about the book over the years. The royalties from sales of 
the book are nice, but the bouquets from readers are icing on the cake.

This book has taken a good deal of “thinking outside of the box,” which was 
highly dependent on a strong working partnership between the authors and the 
publisher. I thank most sincerely the many people at John Wiley & Sons who have 
worked with my father on the previous editions of the book, for more than three 
decades now. In addition, I’d be remiss without mentioning Tula Batanchiev and 
Judy Howarth, who were critical drivers in developing this comprehensive version 
of the book. They’ve been a pleasure to work with on this version and throughout 
the process have maintained an open, creative, and visionary mind-set, all essential 
when working with this type of project. There is no doubt that they’ve made the 
new version much better than if we had been left on our own. Books are the col-
laboration of good editors and good authors. We had good editors; you’ll have to 
be the judge how good the authors are.

In closing, this is now the fourth book I’ve had the opportunity to work with 
my father on since 2003. Each book has been a remarkable journey and adventure 
that simply put, I could not have ever imagined taking without his support, guid-
ance, and yes, frequent ribbing and jabs (and when you move through the books, 
you’ll notice we attempt to incorporate humor and poke fun at ourselves, as well as 
the accounting profession). But the bottom line (no pun intended with this book’s 
subject matter) is, if it weren’t for the man I call TOP, I would have never had the 
opportunity to become an author. Again, I’m forever grateful for the opportunity 
and dedicate this book to a man who still to this day continues, after more than 50 
years of being a father, to open new doors for me each and every day. 

Poway, California Tage C. Tracy
August 2013

Preface    xvii
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Part One
FINANCIAL REPORT 

FUNDAMENTALS





1
FINANCIAL STATEMENT BASICS

The Real Meat and Potatoes 
of Financial Reports
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To start this book it is important to understand that every for-profit 
business, nonprofit organization, governmental entity, and/or just 
about any type of “entity” you can think of need financial reports 
or financial statements (which represent the meat and potatoes 
of the financial reports). Without financial statements, manag-
ing the interests of these entities would be damn near impossible. 
Creditors such as banks, suppliers, landlords, and the like would 
not be able to assess the economic performance of the entity (and 
decide if credit should be extended). Management would not be 
able to determine how the entity is performing, including the 
rather novel concept of whether the entity is actually making or 
losing money (something the federal government doesn’t appear 
to have to worry about but we’ll leave this topic for another time). 
Investors would not be able to determine if their investments in 
the entity are actually worth anything. And completing and filing 
periodic tax returns to the slew of taxing authorities all entities 
must inevitably comply with would be challenging, to say the least. 

Countless other examples of why financial statements are 
needed could be cited, so rather than burn an entire chapter on 
listing every potential scenario, let’s stay focused on two impor-
tant acronyms as they apply to financial statements. 

As we proceed through this book and assist the reader with 
understanding the basics of financial statements, a constant theme 

is also presented in helping readers understand and identify when 
CART financial statements are being produced compared to 
applying the SWAG method. We note that you generally won’t 
find these acronyms listed in any official accounting literature, 
formal accounting guidance reference material, and so on, as 
these terms are centered more on how accounting is applied and 
conducted on “the street” as opposed to how accounting theory 
and principles are taught “in the classroom.” But whether CART 
or SWAG is applied, the same concept still holds as it relates to 
preparing financial statements and the consequences of not com-
pleting even the basics, as Twitter found out the hard way! 

Critical Terminology Alert—CART versus SWAG

CART stands for Complete, Accurate, Reliable, and Timely. This 
is how financial statements should be produced—in a complete, 
accurate, reliable, and timely manner. SWAG stands for Scientific 
Wild Ass Guess. And yes, let’s just say that more than a few 
companies have produced financial statements utilizing the ever-
so-popular SWAG methodology.



Financial statement basics    5

The Big Three—Financial Condition, Profit Performance, and Cash Flows

As previously noted, business managers, lenders, investors, gov-
ernmental organizations, and the like (collectively referred to as 
the parties throughout this book) need to have a clear understand-
ing of the financial condition of a business, both at a point in time 
and over a period of time. The primary objective of the big three 
financial statements summarized in this segment of the chapter is 
to achieve just this goal. 

First Up, the Balance Sheet 

Parties need to assess the financial condition of a business at a point 
in time. For this purpose they need a report that summarizes its 
assets (what the business owns) and liabilities or obligations (what 
the business owes), as well as the ownership interests in the resid-
ual of assets in excess of liabilities (which is commonly referred to 
as owners’ equity). Understanding the financial condition of a busi-
ness is best measured by number one on the list of the big three 
financial statements—the balance sheet.

Exhibit 1.1 presents a standard balance sheet for a business entity.
When first reviewing the balance sheet a number of items 

should jump out at the reader including the format used, the dif-
ferent groupings of assets, liabilities, and equity, the allocation of 
assets and liabilities between current and long-term, and other 
details. All of these concepts are discussed in Chapter 3, “Mastering 
the Balance Sheet,” but if there is one extremely important con-
cept that must be understood with the balance sheet it is this—the

balance sheet must balance. That is, total assets must equal total 
liabilities plus shareholders’ equity. If not, well I can only think of 
the line quoted by Tom Hanks who played astronaut Jim Lovell in 
the movie Apollo 13—“Houston, we have a problem.”

Next in Line, the Income Statement

Second up on our list of the big three financial statements is 
based on the simple concept of knowing (by the parties) whether 
a business has generated a profit or incurred a loss over a period of 
time. For this purpose, the business needs a report that summa-
rizes sales or revenues against expenses or costs for a given period 
and the resulting profit generated or loss incurred. This financial 
statement is most commonly known as the income statement or 
similarly, the profit and loss statement (or P&L for short). 

Exhibit 1.2 presents a typical income statement for the same 
business entity the balance sheet was presented in Exhibit 1.1.

Chapter 4, titled Understanding Profit, on understanding the 
income statement has been dedicated to breaking down the income 
statement in more detail but similar to the balance sheet, one 
important concept must be understood—profit ≠ success and losses 
≠ failure. That is, generating a profit does not mean that the busi-
ness is financially sound and is guaranteed success and conversely, 
incurring a loss does not mean the business is going to fail. Financial 
statements need to be understood in their entirety before a judgment 
can be passed on the long-term financial viability of the business. 
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Last

Year

This

Year Change

Cash $  3,735 $  3,265 $  (470)

Accounts Receivable     4,680 5,000 320

Inventory     7,515 8,450 935

Prepaid Expenses        685        960 275

Current Assets $16,615 $17,675

Property, Plant, and Equipment $13,450 $16,500 3,050

Accumulated Depreciation    (3,465)    (4,250) (785)

Cost Less Depreciation $  9,985 $12,250

Intangible Assets $  5,000 $  5,575 575

Long-Term Operating Assets $14,985 $17,825

Total Assets $31,600 $35,500 $3,900

Last

Year

This

Year Change

Accounts Payable $  2,675 $  3,320 $   645 

Accrued Expenses Payable 1,035 1,515  480 

Income Tax Payable 82 165 83

Short-Term Notes Payable     3,000     3,125 125

Current Liabilities $  6,792 $  8,125

Long-Term Notes Payable $  3,750 $  4,250 500

Capital Stock–793,000 Shares and 
800,000 Shares Respectively $  7,950 $  8,125 175

Retained Earnings   13,108   15,000 1,892

Stockholders’ Equity $21,058 $23,125

Total Liabilities and

Stockholders’ Equity $31,600 $35,500 $3,900

EXHIBIT 1.1—YEAR-END BALANCE SHEETS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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Bringing Up the Rear, the Statement of Cash Flows

And, finally the parties need a summary of its cash flows for a 
period of time. Similar to the income statement, cash flows are 
measured over a period of time (generally the same length of 
time as the income statement such as a month, quarter, or year) 
but unlike the income statement (which measures total sales or 
revenues against total expenses or costs to calculate the profit or 
loss), cash flows are best understood by distinguishing between 
where cash comes from (the sources) and where cash goes (the 
uses). This brings us to the last of the big three financial state-
ments, which is the statement of cash flows.

Exhibit 1.3 presents a typical statement of cash flows for the 
same business entity the balance sheet was presented in Exhibit 
1.1 and income statement was presented in Exhibit 1.2.

EXHIBIT 1.2—INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Sales Revenue $52,000

Cost of Goods Sold Expense  (33,800)

Gross Profit $18,200

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses (12,480)

Depreciation Expense      (785)

Earnings before Interest and Income Tax $ 4,935 

Interest Expense      (545)

Earnings before Income Tax $ 4,390 

Income Tax Expense (1,748)

Net Income $  2,642 

EXHIBIT 1.3—STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR YEAR

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net Income (from Income Statement) $ 2,642 

Accounts Receivable Increase (320)

Inventory Increase (935)

Prepaid Expenses Increase (275)

Depreciation Expense 785

Accounts Payable Increase 645

Accrued Expenses Payable Increase 480

Income Tax Payable Increase         83 $3,105

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Expenditures for Property, Plant, and Equipment $(3,050)

Expenditures for Intangible Assets      (575) (3,625)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Increase in Short-Term Debt $    125 

Increase in Long-Term Debt 500

Issuance of Additional Capital Stock Shares 175

Distribution of Cash Dividends from Profit      (750)        50 

Decrease in Cash During Year $  (470)

Cash Balance at Start of Year   3,735 

Cash Balance at End of Year $3,265
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In our business travels, there is no question that the statement 
of cash flows is without doubt the least understood of the big 
three financial statements but at the same time, the most impor-
tant. Understanding how a business generates and consumes cash 
is discussed in more depth in Chapter 2 and as you start that chap-
ter it is important to keep the most critical of concepts at the fore-
front of your thoughts as it relates to cash flows–profit ≠ positive 
cash flow and a loss ≠ negative cash flow.

For a perfect example of just how significant the difference can 
be between profit and cash flow, please refer to page 50 of Netflix’s 
2012 annual report (available online) and you see that for the fis-
cal year-end 2012, Netflix generated a profit of $17,152,000 or the 
company was “in the black” for the year (i.e., the color black in the 
financial community equates to positive earnings and the color red to 
losses). Now if you proceed to page 52, you see that Netflix actually 
had negative cash flow for the year of $217,762,000 (referred to as 

the “Net increase [decrease] in cash and cash equivalents”). So for the 
same 12-month reporting period used for both the income statement 
and the statement of cash flows, one can see just how significant 
the divergence between the two figures can be (i.e., net profit versus 
negative cash flow). Netflix’s results offer a perfect case study in why 
it is so important to understand all three of the financial statements to 
properly assess the economic performance of a business.

The three financial statements for the company example 
introduced in this chapter are now presented here in Exhibits 
1.1, 1.2, and 1.3. The format and content of these three financial 
statements apply to manufacturers, wholesalers, and retailers—
businesses that make or buy products that are sold to their cus-
tomers. Although the financial statements of service businesses 
that don’t sell products differ somewhat, Exhibits 1.1, 1.2, and 
1.3 illustrate the basic framework and content of balance sheets, 
income statements, and statements of cash flows for all businesses.
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Additional Financial Statement Considerations and Concepts

of an MDOR or MD&A but in practice, let’s face it, these items 
provide management with an ideal window to “promote” the 
business. 

 ◆ Alternative financial statement titles: Alternative titles for the 
balance sheet include “statement of financial condition” or 
“statement of financial position.” An income statement may 
be titled “statement of operations,” “earnings statement,” or as 
previously noted, a P&L. For the purposes of this book, we 
stick with the names balance sheet and income statement to be 
consistent throughout the book. The statement of cash flows is 
almost always called just that.

 ◆ Plural: The term financial statements, in the plural, generally 
refers to a complete set that includes a balance sheet, an income 
statement, and a statement of cash flows. Informally, financial 
statements may be called just financials.

 ◆ Profit as a four letter word: The term profit is not popular in 
income statements (or elsewhere in financial reports). Not 
many companies use the term (although some do). Profit 
comes across to many people as greedy or mercenary. The term 
suggests an excess or a surplus over and above what’s necessary. 
You may hear the term profit and loss or P&L statement for the 
income statement. But this title is not used in external finan-
cial reports released outside a business. Generally speaking, net
income is used instead of profit.

So there you have it, the big three financial statements that rep-
resent the core financial information that is reported regularly by 
businesses to the parties. But before we dive into these financial 
statements and their subcomponents in great detail, it’s worth-
while to cover some additional concepts, formats, and terminol-
ogy associated with financial statements:

 ◆ Supplemental information: In almost all cases the financial 
statements need to be supplemented with additional infor-
mation, which is presented in footnotes, supporting schedules, 
audit reports, and/or other information. One common support-
ing schedule—the statement of changes in stockholders’ (owners’) 
equity—accounts for increases and decreases in owners’ equity 
over a period of time.

 ◆ Financial report versus financial statements: The broader term 
financial report refers to all of the above, plus any additional 
commentary from management, narrative explanations, graph-
ics, and promotional content that accompany the financial 
statements and their footnotes and supporting schedules. The 
use of MDORs and MD&As (i.e., management discussion of 
operating results and management discussion and analysis) 
offer the company’s executive management team with a window 
to highlight and/or summarize the performance of the business 
to assist the reader with gaining a better understanding of the 
financial results. In theory, this should be the primary purpose 
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 ◆ Comparative information: Many businesses present a two-year 
comparative income statement and statement of cash flows, 
either because they legally have to or they decide to do so. 
Comparative balance sheets may also be presented if desired. 
For external readers, having comparative information is gener-
ally favorable as it provides an easier method to evaluate and 
assess periodic financial results. 

 ◆ SEC required disclosures: When companies are publicly 
traded, they must adhere to strict reporting standards gov-
erned by the SEC. Understanding all public reporting 
requirements is well beyond the scope of this book but the 
concept of just how extensive SEC disclosures are needs to be 

mentioned to help readers sort through the mounds of infor-
mation disclosed in a typical public company’s annual share-
holder report. 

A perfect example of just how lengthy and extensive a com-
pany’s complete annual financial report can be located in Yahoo’s 
2012 annual report. Of a total of 145 pages of material presented 
in the annual report, just five pages are allocated to the actual 
financial statements. The rest is allocated to primarily two func-
tions—management promoting the business (to lead the report) 
and SEC disclosure requirements (covering the balance of the 
report).
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An Important Concept to Understand Throughout This Book 

Over the past century (and longer) a recognized profession has devel-
oped, one of whose main functions is to prepare and report business 
financial statements—the accounting profession. A primary goal of the 
accounting profession has been to develop and enforce accounting 
and financial reporting standards that apply to all businesses. In other 
words, there is a “rule book” that businesses should obey in accounting 
for profit and in reporting profit, financial condition, and cash flows. 
Businesses are not free to make up their own individual accounting 
methods and financial reporting practices. The established rules and 
standards are collectively referred to as generally accepted accounting 
principles (or GAAP as previously noted), which continuously change, 
adapt, and evolve as business conditions change. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

A critical concept to understand is that GAAP represents more of an 
“Art” than an exact “Science.” That is, GAAP provides a certain amount 
of leeway in applying accounting principles by businesses that have 
similar business models yet use different financial and accounting 
strategies for reporting purposes. A common theme that is highlighted 
again and again through this book is just how creative (for lack of a 
better term) businesses can be when reporting financial results. Or as 
the old saying goes when an accountant gets asked what would seem 
to be a very simple question: What does 2 + 2 equal? And the clever 
accountant’s response: Whatever you want it or need it to be!

But things are getting more complicated these days, that’s for 
sure. In the United States there are serious beginnings to adopt 
separate rules for private companies versus public companies, and 
for small companies versus larger companies. Furthermore, the 
efforts to develop international accounting and financial report-
ing standards keep slogging along, with mixed results so far. There 
will be a set of rules governing profit accounting and financial 
reporting for every business. However, exactly which set of rules 
will apply in the future to particular types of business is open to 
change.

In the book we generally assume that traditional GAAP stan-
dards apply, unless we say otherwise. We say more about the 
changing landscape of accounting and financial reporting stan-
dards in later chapters.
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Cash Flows—Just How Important Is It for a Business?

Not so long ago, back before central bankers and governments 
both near and far had to bail out the world’s economies, the con-
cept of understanding cash flow was basically a foreign language, 
best left to the bean counters and Wall Street financial types to 
deal with. This was before the worst financial crisis to hit the 
United States (and for that matter, the world) since the Great 
Depression was experienced, starting in 2008 with the collapse of 
Bear Stearns and Lehman Brothers, which laid the foundation for 
the start of the Great Recession (that many still argue the world 
has not fully emerged from). 

You may be asking why this reference is being provided, which 
is simple. Unlike central banks, businesses cannot magically cre-
ate cash when needed and out of thin air but rather must under-
stand what sources of cash are available and how cash is used or 
consumed. 

Now let’s go back in time to pre-2008, when life for busi-
nesses, governments, and even the individual consumer was 
different. Capital or access to cash was readily available, credit 
underwriting standards were limited to poor (think residen-
tial real estate mortgage lending), financial markets appeared 
healthy, and economic growth was solid if not strong across 
most industries. The focus in the mid-2000s time period was 

not on understanding or even caring about cash flow but rather, 
most parties were concentrated on a financial report perceived 
to be more important, the income statement or profit and loss 
statement (the P&L). And why not? Times were good and the 
income statement was going to relay just how much profit a 
business was producing and how wealthy everyone had become. 
Oh how quickly times have changed!

There’s no doubt that the income statement (covered in-depth 
in Chapter 4) is important as it is designed to measure how much 
net profit or loss a business generates over a period of time. The 
problem that arises is when a party becomes too fixated or overly 
reliant on just the income statement and does not bother to 
understand the income statement’s two ugly stepsisters, the bal-
ance sheet and the statement of cash flows. As most savvy parties 
will attest, paying attention to and understanding cash flows rep-
resents the economic backbone of every company that hopes to 
survive, grow, and prosper. 

And because businesses can’t print or create “cash” on demand 
such as the world’s central banks, it goes without saying that in 
this day and age of economic uncertainty, a business’s ability to 
generate internal cash flows can mean the difference between life 
and death.
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Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Remember these key concepts as they relate to each of the big 
three financial statements (introduced in Chapter 1):

 ◆ The income statement: It is important to understand the income 
statement but remember this represents just one element of 
a business’s financial condition and tells only a portion of its 
financial health story.

 ◆ The balance sheet: Appropriately, the quick and frequently used 
reference or acronym for the balance sheet is “BS.” So without 
going into a great deal here, it is of critical importance that you 
trust the balance sheet. That is, you need to make sure the 
assets listed on the balance sheet are not lying and its liabilities 
presented are telling the whole truth.

 ◆ The statement of cash flows: Understand the P&L and trust the 
BS but most importantly, rely on the cash flow statement. The 
cash flow statement is the lifeblood of every business and offers 
invaluable insight into the financial condition of a business as to 
how it produces and consumes cash, in good times and bad.

So now that we have your attention on understanding the 
importance of cash flow, we dive into this concept head first with 
Exhibit 2.1. For our example we use a business that has been 
operating many years. This established business makes profit 
regularly and, equally important, it keeps good financial condi-
tions. It has a good credit history, and banks lend money to the 
business on competitive terms. Its present stockholders would 

EXHIBIT 2.1—SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS DURING YEAR

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

Cash Flows of Profit-Making Activities

From sales of products to customers, which includes some sales 
made last year 

$ 51,680 

For acquiring products that were sold, or are still being held for 
future sale

$(34,760)

For operating expenses, some of which were incurred last year $(11,630)

For interest on short-term and long-term debt, some of which 
applies to last year

$ (520)

For income tax, some of which was paid on last year’s taxable 
income $  (1,665)

Cash flow from profit-making activities during year  $   3,105 

Other Sources and Uses of Cash

From increasing amount borrowed on interest-bearing notes 
payable

$      625 

From issuing additional capital stock (ownership shares) in the 
business

$      175 

For building improvements, new machines, new equipment, and 
intangible assets

$  (3,625)

For distributions to stockholders from profit $     (750)

Net cash decrease from other sources and uses of cash $  (3,575)

Net cash increase (decrease) during year $     (470)
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be willing to invest additional capital in the business, if needed. 
None of this comes easy. It takes good management to make 
profit consistently, to secure capital, and to stay out of financial 
trouble. Many businesses fail these imperatives, especially when 
the going gets tough.

Exhibit 2.1 summarizes the company’s cash inflows and out-
flows for the year just ended, and shows two separate groups of 
cash flows. First are the cash flows of its profit-making activities—
cash inflows from sales and cash outflows for expenses. Second are 
the other cash inflows and outflows of the business—raising capi-
tal, investing capital in assets, and distributing some of its profit 
to shareowners.

We assume that you’re familiar with the cash inflows and out-
flows listed in Exhibit 2.1. Therefore, we are brief in describing 
the cash flows at this early point in the book:

 ◆ The business received $51,680,000 during the year from selling 
products to its customers. It should be no surprise that this is 
its largest source of cash inflow. Cash inflow from sales revenue 
is needed for paying expenses. During the year the company 
paid $34,760,000 for the products it sells to customers. And, 
it had sizable cash outflows for operating expenses, interest on 
its debt (borrowed money), and income tax. The net result of 

its cash flows of profit-making activities is a $3,105,000 cash 
increase for the year—an extremely important number that 
managers, lenders, and investors watch closely.

 ◆ Moving on to the second group of cash flows during the year, 
the business increased the amount borrowed on notes pay-
able $625,000, and its stockholders invested an additional 
$175,000 in the business. Together these two external sources 
of capital provided $800,000, which is in addition to the inter-
nal $3,105,000 cash from its profit-making activities during 
the year. On the other side of the ledger, the business spent 
$3,625,000 for building improvements, for new machines and 
equipment, and for intangible assets. Finally, the business dis-
tributed $750,000 cash to its stockholders from profit. This 
distribution from profit is included in the second group of cash 
flows. In other words, the $3,105,000 cash flow from profit is 
before the distribution to shareowners.

 ◆ The net result of all cash inflows and outflows is a $470,000 
cash decrease during the year. Don’t jump to any conclusions; 
the net decrease in cash in and of itself is neither good nor 
bad. You need more information than just the summary of cash 
flows to come to any conclusions about the financial perfor-
mance and situation of the business.
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Cash Flows—What Does It Not Tell You?

In Exhibit 2.1 we see that cash, the all-important lubricant of busi-
ness activity, decreased $470,000 during the year. In other words, 
the total of cash outflows exceeded the total of cash inflows by this 
amount for the year. The cash decrease and the reasons for the 
decrease are very important information. The cash flows summary 
tells an important part of the story of the business. But, cash flows 
do not tell the whole story. Parties need to know two other types of 
information about a business that are not reported in its cash flows 
summary.

These two important types of information (as summarized in 
Chapter 1 and discussed in more depth in Chapters 3 and 4) are:

1. The income statement (Chapter 4), which reports the profit 
earned (or loss suffered) by the business for a period. 

2. The balance sheet (Chapter 3), which reports the financial
condition of the business at a point in time.

Now hold on. Didn’t we just see in Exhibit 2.1 that the net cash 
increase from sales revenue less expenses was $3,105,000 for the 
year? You may ask: Doesn’t this cash increase equal the amount 
of profit earned for the year? No, it doesn’t. The net cash flow 
from profit-making operations during the year does not equal 
the amount of profit earned for the year. In fact, it’s not unusual 

that these two numbers are very different. The reason for this 
is simple—profit (or losses) is an accounting-determined number 
that requires much more than simply keeping track of cash flows 
so you might as well start to get familiar with the following ter-
minology (introduced in Chapter 1 but worth repeating again):

Critical Terminology Alert

GAAP: As you become familiar with, profit or losses are measured 
by applying generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP. The 
following link provides a little more insight on GAAP:

www.fasab.gov/accounting-standards/authoritative-source
-of-gaap/

The differences between using a checkbook (for you old timers) 
or electronic bank account data to measure profits and losses and 
using GAAP accounting methods to measure profits and losses 
are explained later in this book and are important to understand. 
But in summary, the following key concept should be understood: 
Rarely do cash flows during a period accurately measure the 
correct amounts of a company’s sales revenue and expenses for 
that period. 

http://www.fasab.gov/accounting-standards/authoritative-source-of-gaap/
http://www.fasab.gov/accounting-standards/authoritative-source-of-gaap/
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Furthermore, a summary of cash flows reveals virtually noth-
ing about the financial condition (strength or weakness) of the busi-
ness at a point in time. Financial condition refers to the assets 
of the business matched against its liabilities at the end of the 
period. For example: How much cash does the company have 
in its business bank account(s) at the end of the year? From the 

summary of cash flows (Exhibit 2.1) we see that the business 
decreased its cash balance $470,000 during the year. But we can’t 
tell from the cash flows summary the company’s ending cash bal-
ance. And, more importantly, the cash flows summary does not 
report the amounts of assets and liabilities of the business at the 
end of the period.
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Profit and Losses Cannot Be Measured by Cash Flows

The business in Exhibit 2.1, like most companies, sell products 
on credit. That is, the business offers its customers a short period 
of time or term to pay for their purchases. Most of the company’s 
sales are to other businesses, which demand credit for say any-
where from 30 to 60 days to remit payment (in contrast, most 
retailers selling to individuals accept credit cards or accept cash 
instead of extending credit to their customers). In this example 
the company collected $51,680,000 from its customers during 
the year. However, some of this cash inflow was for sales made in 
the previous year. And, some sales made on credit in the year just 
ended had not been collected by the end of the year.

At year-end the company had receivables from sales made to its 
customers during the latter part of the year. These receivables will 
be collected early next year. Because some cash was collected from 
last year’s sales and some cash was not collected from sales made 
in the year just ended, the total amount of cash collections during 
the year differs from the amount of sales revenue for the year.

Cash disbursements during the year are not the correct amounts 
for measuring expenses. The company paid $34,760,000 for prod-
ucts that are sold to customers (see Exhibit 2.1). At year-end, how-
ever, many products were still being held in inventory. These products 
had not yet been sold by year-end. Only the cost of products sold 
and delivered to customers during the year should be deducted as 
expense from sales revenue to measure profit. Don’t you agree?

Furthermore, some of the company’s product costs had not yet 
been paid by the end of the year. The company buys on credit 
and takes several weeks before paying its bills. The company has 
liabilities at year-end for recent product purchases and for operat-
ing costs as well.

Its cash payments during the year for operating expenses, as 
well as for interest and income tax expenses, are not the correct 
amounts to measure profit for the year. The company has liabili-
ties at the end of the year for unpaid expenses. The cash outflow 
amounts shown in Exhibit 2.1 do not include the amounts of 
unpaid expenses at the end of the year.

In short, cash flows from sales revenue and for expenses are 
not the correct amounts for measuring profit for a period of time. 
Cash flows take place too late or too early for correctly measur-
ing profit for a period. Correct timing is needed to record sales 
revenue and expenses in the right period.

The correct timing of recording sales revenue and expenses is 
called accrual-basis accounting and specifically addressed by GAAP.
Accrual-basis accounting recognizes receivables from making 
sales on credit and recognizes liabilities for unpaid expenses in 
order to determine the correct profit measure for the period. 
Accrual-basis accounting also is necessary to determine the finan-
cial condition of a business—to record the assets and liabilities of 
the business.
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Cash Flows Do Not Reveal Financial Condition 

one needs to know what the financial reports really say about a 
business’s financial performance and condition. 

In brief, both primary groups of parties including insiders 
(managers, executives, owners, etc.) and outsiders (creditors, 
lenders, investors, governmental regulatory bodies, etc.) need a 
summary of a company’s financial condition (its assets and liabili-
ties) to make informed decisions. They need a profit performance 
report as well, which summarizes the company’s sales revenue and 
expenses and its profit for the year.

A cash flow summary is very useful. In fact, a slightly different ver-
sion of Exhibit 2.1 is one of the three primary financial statements 
reported by every business. But in no sense does the cash flows report 
take the place of the profit performance report and the financial con-
dition report. The next two chapters introduce these two financial 
statements, and show the generally accepted format of a summary 
of cash flows (instead of the informal format shown in Exhibit 2.1).

The cash flow summary for the year (Exhibit 2.1) does not reveal 
the financial condition of the company. Parties certainly need to 
know which assets the business owns and the amounts of each 
asset, including cash, receivables, inventory, and all other assets. 
Also, they need to know which liabilities the company owes and 
the amounts of each.

Parties have the responsibility for keeping the company in a 
position to pay its liabilities when they come due to keep the busi-
ness solvent (able to pay its liabilities on time). Business managers 
also have to keep the business liquid (having enough available cash 
or cash equivalents when they need it). Furthermore, managers 
have to know whether assets are too large (or too small) relative to 
the sales volume of the business and its lenders and investors want 
to know the same things about a business. These concepts will 
be addressed throughout the book as not only is it important to 
know “How to Read a Financial Report” but just as importantly, 
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Solvency versus Liquidity 

Before we delve into the basic attributes, structure, and format 
of a typical company balance sheet, a discussion needs to be held 
on the topic of solvency versus liquidity. The reason for this is 
simple, as if one looks at the financial condition of “Western” gov-
ernments (e.g., the United States, Japan, and most of Europe), 
you read that most if not all of these countries are technically 
insolvent, yet all seem to have ample liquidity (or availability to 
cash to cover ongoing costs and expenses) to support continued 
government functions. But of course wouldn’t you know it, just as 
we were completing this book, the U.S. government “shutdown” 
in October of 2013 as a result of not being able to sell new debt to 
raise cash to continue normal operations. So now we have a situ-
ation where the U.S. government is both illiquid and insolvent. 

The concepts of liquidity and solvency apply not just to gov-
ernments but to a number of businesses as well including financial 
institutions such as banks, insurance companies, auto manufactur-
ing businesses, and others (again, types of entities singled out for 
being insolvent at one point or another over the past five years). 

The key when reviewing the definitions is to understand 
liquidity versus solvency from an accounting or business perspec-
tive and realize this critical concept. Being solvent ≠ being liquid 
and conversely, being liquid ≠ being solvent. 

To better illustrate this point, please refer to Exhibit 3.1 pro-
viding a balance sheet for two different companies:

Company ABC, Inc.’s balance sheet displays total assets of 
$10,500,000 compared to total liabilities of $12,100,000 resulting 

in negative shareholders’ equity of $1,600,000. By definition, this 
company is technically insolvent as its liabilities exceed its assets 
(or stated another way, if the company was to liquidate, it would 
not be able to pay off all liabilities if the proceeds from asset sales 
equaled $10,500,000). But on further review of the balance sheet, 
we notice that Company ABC, Inc. is very liquid as its current 
assets totaling $6,400,000 (including cash balances of $2,400,000) 
greatly exceed its current liabilities (or obligations due within a 
short time period) by a rate of 2 to 1 (as total liabilities amount to 
$3,200,000). So here we have a company that is technically insol-
vent yet very liquid.

Now let’s take a look at Company XYZ from Business XYZ, 
Inc. with total assets of $16,300,000 compared to total liabili-
ties of $9,600,000. With asset values in excess of liabilities by 
$6,700,000, we have what would appear to be a solvent company. 
But as we dig deeper, liquidity problems begin to appear as with 
only $4,250,000 of current assets (of which only $500,000 is in 
the form of cash) and current liabilities of $8,100,000, of which 
a short-term loan of $1,500,000 is due within 30 days, Company 
XYZ, Inc. is about to realize a severe liquidity crisis. 

This brings us to the key concept of the balance sheet, which 
is very simple in that it must properly measure a company’s finan-
cial condition at any point in time. The remainder of this chapter 
addresses just how important the information reported in the bal-
ance sheet is in relation to understanding liquidity, solvency, and 
financial condition. 
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EXHIBIT 3.1—COMPARATIVE YEAR-END COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Company
ABC, Inc.

Company
XYZ, Inc.

FYE

12/31/2012

FYE

12/31/2012

Cash $  2,400,000 $     500,000 

Accounts Receivable 3,000,000 2,825,000

Inventory 900,000 850,000

Prepaid Expenses       100,000         75,000 

Current Assets $  6,400,000 $  4,250,000 

Property, Plant, and Equipment $  3,500,000 $  7,500,000 

Accumulated Depreciation      (900,000)    (2,500,000)

Cost Less Depreciation $  2,600,000 $  5,000,000

Intangible Assets $  1,500,000 $  7,050,000

Long-Term Operating Assets $  4,100,000 $12,050,000

Total Assets $10,500,000 $16,300,000

Company
ABC, Inc.

Company
XYZ, Inc.

FYE

12/31/2012

FYE

12/31/2012

Accounts Payable $  2,200,000 $  4,450,000 

Accrued Expenses Payable 575,000  1,750,000 

Income Tax Payable —  400,000 

Short-Term Notes Payable       425,000    1,500,000 

Current Liabilities $  3,200,000 $  8,100,000 

Long-Term Notes Payable $  8,900,000 $  1,500,000 

Capital Stock  4,000,000  4,000,000 

Retained Earnings (Deficit)    (5,600,000)    2,700,000 

Shareholders’ Equity $ (1,600,000) $  6,700,000 

Total Liabilities and

Shareholders’ Equity $10,500,000 $16,300,000
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Balance Sheet Basics—Left and Right, Top to Bottom

The balance sheet shown in Exhibit 3.2 follows the standardized 
format regarding the classification and ordering of assets, liabili-
ties, and ownership interests in the business. It should be noted 
that slightly different balance sheet formats may be used in cer-
tain industries such as financial institutions (e.g., banks), public 
utilities, railroads, and other specialized businesses but the basic 
balance sheet format structure still remains intact. That is, assets 
presented on the left, liabilities and owners’ equity on the right, 
with assets equaling liabilities plus owners’ equity. So for the 
purposes of this book, we reference the standard balance sheet 
format as presented in Exhibit 3.2, which most companies includ-
ing manufacturers, retailers, distributors, technology, and profes-
sional services utilize.

On the left side the balance sheet lists assets. On the right 
side the balance sheet first lists the liabilities of the business. The 
sources of ownership (equity) capital in the business are then pre-
sented below the liabilities, to emphasize that the owners or equity 
holders in a business (the stockholders of a business corporation) 
have a secondary and lower order claim on the assets—after its 
liabilities are satisfied.

Each separate asset, liability, and stockholders’ equity reported 
in a balance sheet is called an account. Every account has a name 
(title) and a dollar amount, which is called its balance. For instance, 
from Exhibit 3.2 at the end of the most recent year:

Name of Account Amount (Balance) of Account

Inventory $8,450,000

The other dollar amounts in the balance sheet are either sub-
totals or totals of account balances. For example, the $17,675,000 
amount for “Current Assets” at the end of this year does not rep-
resent an account but rather the subtotal of the four accounts 
making up this group of accounts. A line is drawn above a subtotal 
or total, indicating account balances are being added. A double 
underline (such as for “Total Assets”) indicates the last amount in 
a column. 

A balance sheet is prepared at the close of business on the last 
day of the income statement period. For example, if the income 
statement is for the year ending June 30, 2014, the balance sheet 
is prepared at midnight June 30, 2014. The amounts reported in 
the balance sheet are the balances of the accounts at that precise 
moment in time. The financial condition of the business is fro-
zen for one split second. A business should be careful to make a 
precise and accurate cut-off to separate transactions between the 
period just ended and next period.

A balance sheet does not report the flows of activities in the 
company’s assets, liabilities, and shareowners’ equity accounts 
during the period. Only the ending balances at the moment 
the balance sheet is prepared are reported for the accounts. 
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EXHIBIT 3.2—YEAR-END BALANCE SHEET

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Last

Year

This

Year

Cash $  3,735 $  3,265 

Accounts Receivable  4,680  5,000 

Inventory  7,515  8,450 

Prepaid Expenses        685        960 

Current Assets $16,615 $17,675

Property, Plant, and Equipment $13,450  $16,500 

Accumulated Depreciation   (3,465)    (4,250)

Cost Less Depreciation $  9,985 $12,250

Intangible Assets $  5,000 $  5,575 

Long-Term Operating Assets $14,985 $17,825

Total Assets $31,600 $35,500

Last

Year

This

Year

Accounts Payable $  2,675 $  3,320 

Accrued Expenses Payable  1,035  1,515 

Income Tax Payable  82  165 

Short-Term Notes Payable     3,000     3,125 

Current Liabilities $  6,792 $  8,125 

Long-Term Notes Payable $  3,750 $  4,250 

Capital Stock–793,000 Shares

and 800,000 Shares Respectively $  7,950 $  8,125 

Retained Earnings   13,108   15,000 

Stockholders’ Equity $21,058 $23,125

Total Liabilities and

Stockholders’ Equity $31,600 $35,500

For example, the company reports an ending cash balance of 
$3,265,000 at the end of its most recent year (see Exhibit 3.2). 
Can you tell the total cash inflows and outflows for the year? No, 
not from the balance sheet; you can’t even get a clue from the 
balance sheet alone.

A balance sheet can be presented in the landscape (horizon-
tal) layout mode (as shown in Exhibit 3.2) or in the portrait (ver-
tical) layout. The accounts reported in the balance sheet are not 
thrown together haphazardly in no particular order. According to 
long-standing rules, balance sheet accounts are subdivided into 
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the following classes, or basic groups, in the following order of 
presentation:

Left Side (or Top Section) Right Side (or Bottom Section)

Current assets Current liabilities
Long-term operating assets Long-term liabilities
Other assets Owners’ equity

Current assets are cash and other assets that will be converted 
into cash during one operating cycle. The operating cycle refers to 
the sequence of buying or manufacturing products, holding the 
products until sale, selling the products, waiting to collect the 
receivables from the sales, and finally receiving cash from cus-
tomers. This sequence is the most basic rhythm of a company’s 
operations; it is repeated over and over. The operating cycle may 
be short, only 60 days or less, or it may be relatively long, taking 
180 days or more.

Assets not directly required in the operating cycle, such as mar-
ketable securities held as temporary investments or short-term 
loans made to employees, are included in the current assets class 
if they will be converted into cash during the coming year. A busi-
ness pays in advance for some costs of operations that will not be 
charged to expense until next period. These prepaid expenses are 
included in current assets, as you see in Exhibit 3.2.

The second group of assets is labeled “Long-Term Operating 
Assets” in the balance sheet. These assets are not held for sale 
to customers; rather, they are used in the operations of the busi-
ness. Broadly speaking, these assets fall into two groups: tangible
and intangible assets. Tangible assets have physical existence, such 
as machines and buildings. Intangible assets do not have physical 
existence, but they are legally protected rights (such as patents 
and trademarks), or they are such things as secret processes and 
well-known favorable reputations that give businesses important 

competitive advantages. Generally intangible assets are recorded 
only when the assets are purchased from a source outside the 
business.

The tangible assets of the business are reported in the 
“Property, Plant, and Equipment” account—see Exhibit 3.2 again. 
More informally, these assets are called fixed assets, although this 
term is generally not used in balance sheets. The word fixed is a 
little strong; these assets are not really fixed or permanent, except 
for the land owned by a business. More accurately, these assets are 
the long-term operating resources used over several years—such 
as buildings, machinery, equipment, trucks, forklifts, furniture, 
computers, and telephones.

The cost of a fixed asset—with the exception of land—is gradu-
ally charged off to expense over its useful life. Each period of use 
thereby bears its share of the total cost of each fixed asset. This 
apportionment of the cost of fixed assets over their useful lives 
is called depreciation. The amount of depreciation for one year is 
reported as an expense in the income statement (see Exhibit 4.1). 
The cumulative amount that has been recorded as depreciation 
expense since the date of acquisition up to the balance sheet date 
is reported in the accumulated depreciation account in the balance 
sheet (see Exhibit 3.2). As you see, the balance in the accumu-
lated depreciation account is deducted from the original cost of 
the fixed assets.

In the example, the business owns various intangible long-term 
operating assets. These assets report the cost of acquisition. The 
cost of an intangible asset remains on the books until the business 
determines that the asset has lost value or no longer has economic 
benefit. At that time the business writes down (or writes off) the 
original cost of the intangible asset and charges the amount to an 
expense, usually amortization expense. Until recently, the general 
practice was to allocate the cost of intangible assets over arbitrary 
time periods. However, many intangible assets have indefinite and 
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indeterminable useful lives. The conventional wisdom now is that 
it’s better to wait until an intangible asset has lost value, at which 
time an expense is recorded.

You may see an account called “Other Assets” on a balance 
sheet, which is a catchall title for those assets that don’t fit in the 
current assets or long-term operating assets classes. The company 
in this example does not have any such “other” assets.

The accounts reported in the current liabilities class are short-
term liabilities that for the most part depend on the conversion of 
current assets into cash for their payment. Also, debts (borrowed 
money) that will come due within one year from the balance sheet 
date are put in this group. In our example, there are four accounts 
in current liabilities (see Exhibit 3.2 again). We explain these dif-
ferent types of current liabilities in later chapters.

Long-term liabilities (labeled “Long-Term Notes Payable” in 
Exhibit 3.2) are those whose maturity dates are more than one 
year after the balance sheet date. There’s only one such account 
in our example. Either in the balance sheet or in a footnote, the 
maturity dates, interest rates, and other relevant provisions of 
long-term liabilities are disclosed.

Note: To simplify, we do not include footnotes with our finan-
cial statements example. We discuss footnotes in Chapter 21.

Liabilities are claims on the assets of a business; cash or 
other assets that will be later converted into cash will be used 
to pay the liabilities. (Also, cash generated by future profit 
earned by the business will be available to pay its liabilities.) 
Clearly, all liabilities of a business should be reported in its bal-
ance sheet to give a complete picture of the financial condition 
of a business.

Liabilities are also sources of assets. For example, cash increases 
when a business borrows money. Inventory increases when a busi-
ness buys products on credit and incurs a liability that will be paid 
later. Also, typically a business has liabilities for unpaid expenses 

and has not yet used cash to pay these liabilities. Another reason 
for reporting liabilities in the balance sheet is to account for the 
sources of the company’s assets—to answer the question: Where 
did the company’s total assets come from?

Some part of the total assets of a business comes not from lia-
bilities but from its owners investing capital in the business and 
from retaining some or all of the profit the business earns that 
is not distributed to its owners. In this example the business is 
organized legally as a corporation. Its stockholders’ equity accounts 
in the balance sheet reveal the sources of the company’s total 
assets in excess of its total liabilities. Notice in Exhibit 3.2 the two 
stockholders’ (owners’) equity sources, which are called “Capital
Stock” and “Retained Earnings.”

When owners (stockholders of a business corporation) invest 
capital in the business, the capital stock account is increased.* Net 
income earned by a business less the amount distributed to own-
ers increases the retained earnings account. The nature of retained 
earnings can be confusing; therefore, we explain this account in 
depth at the appropriate places in the book. Just a quick word of 
advice here: Retained earnings is not—we repeat, is not—an asset. 
Get such a notion out of your head.

*Many business corporations issue par value stock shares. The shares have to 
be issued for a certain minimum amount, called the par value, but the corpora-
tion may issue the shares for more than par value. The excess over par value is 
put in a second account called “Paid-In Capital in Excess of Par Value.” This 
is not shown in the balance sheet example, because the separation between 
the two accounts has little practical significance for financial reporting.
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The Balance Sheet Message

requirements. Company ABC has achieved this whereas com-
pany XYZ’s negative net working capital position is a signifi-
cant issue or flag.

 ◆ Current ratio—Current assets divided by current liabilities: 
Company ABC has a current ratio of 2.00 x 1.00 compared to 
a .52 x 100 current ratio for company XYZ. Working capital 
ratios above 1.00 x 1.00 and usually closer to 1.50 x 1.00 (plus) 
indicate a healthier financial position. Again, company ABC 
looks to be in good shape whereas company XYZ is displaying 
all kinds of short-term financial stress. 

 ◆ Debt-to-equity ratio, total—Total liabilities divided by total 
owners’ equity: Company ABC has a debt-to-equity ratio 
of negative 7.56 x 1.00 compared to a positive 1.43 x 100 
debt-to-equity ratio for company XYZ. Needless to say, a 
negative debt-to-equity ratio is a major concern, which ABC 
Company is currently experiencing. For company XYZ, its 
debt-to-equity ratio of 1.43 x 1.00 indicates it is stronger 
financially as its financial leverage ratio (total debt or lia-
bilities compared against total shareholders’ equity) is not 
unreasonable for businesses of this size. That is, debt-to-
equity ratios should stay under 2.00 x 1.00 for most busi-
nesses and ideally would be under 1.00 x 1.00 (indicating a 
far lower level of debt is present and as a result, a stronger 
balance has been created).

Now that we have a basic understanding of the balance sheet for-
mat and structure, our focus can turn from what the balance sheet 
“reports” or states to more importantly, what the balance 
sheet is “saying” or what it means. Here, we turn our attention 
to an expanded Exhibit 3.1 for company ABC, Inc. and company 
XYZ, Inc. for reference and analysis using a couple of key mea-
surement tools.

Critical Ratio Alert(s)

There are a number of calculations (more fully discussed in Chapter 
22) that can be completed on the balance sheet to measure a 
company’s financial condition and operating performance. Rather 
than list them all, we focus on three critical and very “telling” ratios 
to gain a better understanding of our sample companies originally 
presented in Exhibit 3.2 and expanded on in Exhibit 3.3.

 ◆ Net working capital—Current assets minus current liabilities: 
Company ABC maintains a net positive working capital posi-
tion of $3,200,000 compared to company XYZ’s net negative 
working capital position of ($3,850,000). A positive net working 
capital position is essential for companies looking to stay liq-
uid and provide enough current assets to cover current liability 



EXHIBIT 3.3—COMPARATIVE YEAR-END COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS WITH 

RATIO ANALYSIS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Company
ABC, Inc.

Company
XYZ, Inc.

FYE

12/31/2012

FYE

12/31/2012

Cash $  2,400,000 $     500,000 

Accounts Receivable 3,000,000 2,825,000

Inventory 900,000 850,000

Prepaid Expenses        100,000          75,000 

Current Assets $  6,400,000 $  4,250,000 

Property, Plant and Equipment $  3,500,000 $  7,500,000 

Accumulated Depreciation  (900,000)    (2,500,000)

Cost Less Depreciation $  2,600,000 $  5,000,000

Intangible Assets $  1,500,000 $  7,050,000

Long-term Operating Assets $  4,100,000 $12,050,000

Total Assets $10,500,000 $16,300,000

Company
ABC, Inc.

Company
XYZ, Inc.

FYE

12/31/2012

FYE

12/31/2012

Accounts Payable $ 2,200,000 $ 4,450,000 

Accrued Expenses Payable 575,000  1,750,000 

Income Tax Payable –  400,000 

Short-Term Notes Payable       425,000    1,500,000 

Current Liabilities $ 3,200,000 $ 8,100,000 

Long-Term Notes Payable $ 8,900,000 $ 1,500,000 

Capital Stock  4,000,000  4,000,000 

Retained Earnings (Deficit)   (5,600,000)    2,700,000 

Shareholders’ Equity $ (1,600,000) $ 6,700,000 

Total Liabilities and

Shareholders’ Equity $10,500,000 $16,300,000

Company
ABC, Inc.

Company
XYZ, Inc.

FYE FYE

Key Ratio Analysis 12/31/2012 12/31/2012

Net Working Capital

 Current Assets 6,400,000 4,250,000

 Current Liabilities   3,200,000  8,100,000

 Net Working Capital   3,200,000 (3,850,000)

Current Ratio:

 Current Assets 6,400,000 4,250,000

 Current Liabilities   3,200,000 8,100,000

 Current Ratio            2.00          0.52

Debt to Equity:

 Current Liabilities 3,200,000 8,100,000

 Long-Term Liabilities   8,900,000 1,500,000

 Total Liabilities 12,100,000 9,600,000

 Total Shareholders' Equity  (1,600,000) 6,700,000

 Debt to Equity           (7.56)         1.43
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The reason the comparison in Exhibit 3.3 has been provided is 
to highlight the fact that while one company has a stronger long-
term financial outlook (company XYZ), over the short term, it 
may have some real challenges present in terms of resolving its 
short-term liquidity crisis. On the other hand, company ABC 
does not appear to have any short-term liquidity problems as it 
has more than enough liquid current assets to cover current lia-
bilities. However long term, company ABC may have some real 
challenges present in terms of repaying its long-term debt, espe-
cially if it can’t figure out how to turn a profit. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

The strength of a balance sheet needs to be evaluated and 
analyzed at both the total and parts levels. Businesses can often 
get into trouble when short-term debt is used to finance long-term 
assets and/or long-term debt is used to support current working 
capital needs. So when we discussed the concept of “the balance 
sheet must balance” this can actually be applied to the structure 
of the balance sheet as well as total current assets should be 
properly balanced against total current liabilities and total long-
term assets should be properly balanced against total long-term 
debt and shareholders’ equity. Trust us when we say that more than 
a few companies have gotten into severe liquidity squeezes by not 
applying this fundamental financing principal. 



4
UNDERSTANDING PROFIT
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Why Discuss Profits Last?

If you hadn’t noticed, we’ve intentionally taken you down a dif-
ferent road than most reference material when it comes to under-
standing the big three financial statements. That is, the income 
statement or profit and loss statement is usually the place most 
start when evaluating a business’s financial results. Or to be blunt 
and cut to the chase, most simply want to know how much sales 
revenue a business generated and what was its profit. 

No doubt very good questions to ask but in reality, the usefulness 
of the income statement is directly dependent on the trust worthi-
ness of the balance sheet and the reliability of the statement of cash 
flows, covered in Chapters 3 and 2, respectively. The point we’re 
trying to emphasize with the layout or order of the book’s chap-
ters is not to de-emphasize the importance of the income statement 

but rather to highlight the critical importance of both the balance 
sheet and statement of cash flows, and unfortunately how these two 
financial statements are often ignored and overlooked when evalu-
ating an entity’s complete financial performance and condition.

The balance of this chapter is now directed toward understand-
ing the logic and structure of the income statement and how prof-
its and losses are calculated and dependent on properly recording 
sales revenue and expenses to measure net profits or losses. But 
remember that with one simple misstep, estimate or calculation 
error, and/or intentional or unintentional omission in the balance 
sheet, a business’s profit can disappear faster than a “fart in the 
wind” (per the quote provided by Warden Norton played by Bob 
Gunton in the movie The Shawshank Redemption). 
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An Important Question 

In Chapter 1 we introduced the three primary financial statements 
for a representative business example. See Exhibits 1.1 (balance 
sheet), 1.2 (income statement), and 1.3 (statement of cash flows). 
These three financial statements provide a comprehensive finan-
cial summary of the business. In reading these three financial 
statements did anything pique your curiosity? Did something in 
the financial statements stop you in your tracks and raise a ques-
tion in your mind?

Well, one thing might have caught your attention. In its 
income statement for the year (Exhibit 1.2), the company reports 
that it earned $2,642,000 net income, or bottom-line profit. On 
the other hand, in its statement of cash flows for the year (Exhibit 
1.3) the company reports that it generated $3,105,000 cash flow 
from operating activities, that is, from profit-making activities. In 
short, profit is $2,642,000 and cash flow from profit is $3,105,000 
for the year.

Wait a minute: How can cash flow from profit be higher than 
profit? Where did the “extra” cash come from? In other situa-
tions could cash flow be less than profit? A simple answer is that 
profit, or more accurately the revenue and expenses that deter-
mine profit, consist of more than just cash flows. Actual cash 

inflow from revenue is typically higher or lower than the amount 
of revenue recorded for the period. And, actual cash outflows 
for expenses are typically higher or lower than the amounts of 
expenses recorded for the period.

The first section of the statement of cash flows (see Exhibit 
1.3 for instance) attempts to explain the differences between cash 
flows and revenue and expenses. But in our experience business 
managers, lenders, and investors generally cannot make heads or 
tails of this section of the cash flows statement. The main reason 
is that they don’t have a clear picture of how revenue and expenses 
are recorded. Do you?

In this chapter we explain profit accounting fundamentals. We 
focus on the assets and liabilities used in recording revenue and 
expenses. The increases or decreases in these assets and liabilities 
during the period tell the tale of why cash flows differ from rev-
enue and expenses. Directing attention to these changes opens 
the door to understanding cash flow from profit-making (operat-
ing) activities. 

Having read this chapter you’ll have a leg up in understand-
ing what the first section of the statement of cash flows is trying 
to tell you. 
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Nature of Profit 

Profit does not appear magically in the accounts of a business. 
The amount of profit for a period arises from recording revenue 
and expenses during the period. Recording revenue and expenses 
follow basic rules:

Asset Liability

Revenue + −

Expenses −  +

Put into words, revenue increases an asset or decreases a liabil-
ity. Expenses decrease an asset or increase a liability. 

Revenue minus expenses equals profit. We’re sure you have 
heard this many times. What you may not have heard is that profit 
equals the change in assets from revenue and expenses minus the 
change in liabilities from revenue and expenses. For example, 
consider the following scenario:

Assets Liabilities

Revenue +$65    $ 0
Expenses −$40  +$15
Net Change +$25  +$15

What’s profit for the period in this scenario? Assets increased 
$25 and liabilities increased $15—so profit equals $10. Notice that 
profit consists of a mix of changes in assets and liabilities. This 
point is extremely important to understand. Profit is not a single 
asset thing. Profit involves several assets, and liabilities as well.

Employing several different assets and liabilities to record 
revenue and expenses complicates profit accounting. But this 
method produces the truest measure of profit for the period. 
It’s called accrual-basis accounting. To be frank, “accrual” is not 
a good descriptor for this profit accounting method. The term 
basically means that revenue and expenses are recorded when 
things happen—that is, when sales take place and when expenses 
are incurred. It might be better to call accrual basis accounting 
real-time accounting.

What’s the alternative? Well, revenue and expenses could be 
recorded when cash is received from sales and when expenses 
are paid. This method is called cash basis accounting. Cash basis 
accounting would be woefully inadequate and seriously misleading 
for most businesses, large or small, new or old, public or private.

At this point refer to Exhibit 4.1. On the left this exhibit starts 
with the single-step income statement for the example. On the 
right side the exhibit lists the balance sheet changes during the 
year for the asset and liabilities that are connected with reve-
nue and expenses. Such a listing of balance sheet changes is not 
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EXHIBIT 4.1—INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET CHANGES DURING YEAR FROM PROFIT-MAKING ACTIVITIES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR

000,25$euneveRselaS
Cost of Goods Sold Expense $(33,800)
Selling, General, and 
Administrative Expenses $(12,480)
Depreciation Expense $     (785)
Interest Expense $     (545)
Income Tax Expense $  (1,748)
Net Income $   2,642 

BALANCE SHEET CHANGES DURING YEAR

Assets

501,3$hsaC

023$elbavieceRstnuoccA

539$yrotnevnI

572$sesnepxEdiaperP

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation $  (785)

Intangible Assets

Total of Changes in Assets $3,850

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

546$elbayaPstnuoccA

Accrued Expenses Payable $   480 

38$elbayaPxaTemocnI

Short-Term Notes Payable

Long-Term Notes Payable

Capital Stock

Retained Earnings $2,642

Total of Changes in Liabilities

and Stockholders’ Equity $3,850
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regularly prepared (although a business manager could ask the 
accountant for such a report).

Lines of connection are shown between revenue and 
expenses in the income statement and the particular assets and 
liabilities in the balance sheet that are used in recording rev-
enue and expenses. Notice that there are blanks in the changes 

column for several balance sheet items. Recording revenue and 
expenses do not affect these assets, liabilities, and the capital 
stock account. 

There are no lines of connection to or from the cash account. 
We would have to draw too many lines because cash is extensively 
connected with most other balance sheet accounts.
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Recording Revenue and Expenses 

In the following sections we emphasize the particular assets and 
liabilities accountants use for recording revenue and expenses in 
accrual basis accounting. Our purpose is to make you mindful that 
the sales and expense activities of a business increase or decrease 
various assets and liabilities. The balance sheet of a business is driven 
in large part by its sales and expense transactions. Please refer to 
Exhibit 4.1 as we consider each line in the income statement.

Recording Revenue

In our company example the business makes all sales on credit. It 
offers its customers 30 days before they have to pay the business 
for their purchases. The business records sales on credit immedi-
ately on closing the sale and delivering the products to the cus-
tomer. The business records this entry:

Income Statement: + Sales Revenue

Balance Sheet: + Accounts Receivable

See the line of connection in Exhibit 4.1 between sales revenue 
in the income statement and the accounts receivable asset in the 
balance sheet.

Over the year the business makes credit sales totaling 
$52,000,000. Therefore, $52,000,000 of increases was recorded 
in its accounts receivable asset account. As cash is collected from 
customers the cash account is increased, and accounts receivable 
is decreased the same amount.

During the year the business collected slightly less cash from 
customers than its sales revenue for the year. As a result, the bal-
ance in accounts receivable increased $320,000 (see Exhibit 4.1). 
Chapter 7 explains further the cash flow from making credit sales 
and collecting accounts receivable.

Recording Cost of Goods Sold Expense

The business in our example sells products. The business needs to 
have products ready for sale and immediate delivery to its custom-
ers. So the business stockpiles a sizable collection of products. The 
company manufactures some of the products it sells and it buys 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

A business may invoice and receive cash from customers before 
goods or services are delivered to them. One example is newspapers 
that collect subscriptions before the papers are delivered. When 
cash is received a liability account called unearned revenue (or 
equivalent title) is increased. As the business delivers the product 
or service it decreases the liability account and increases the 
revenue account. The business in our example does not collect 
money from customers in advance of delivery products or services 
to them; however, this changes in our case study comparing two 
like companies starting in Chapter 6.
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of “Selling, General, and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses.” See 
Exhibit 4.1. This includes everything from the compensation of 
the president of the business to the cost of electricity. A good 
chunk is spent on advertising and marketing the products sold by 
the business. However, this group of expenses does not include 
the expenses for depreciation, interest, and income tax, which are 
reported separately in its income statement (see Exhibit 4.1). 

Some selling, general, and administrative expenses are recorded 
by decreasing the cash asset account—no other asset or liability 
account is involved. Some are recorded by decreasing the pre-
paid expenses asset account. Some are recorded by increasing the 
accounts payable liability account. And, some are recorded by 
increasing the accrued expenses payable liability account.

Recording expenses when cash payments are made is 
straightforward:

Income Statement: + SG&A Expenses
Balance Sheet: − Cash
Note: Recording an expense when cash payment is made 

assumes that the amount of expense is the correct amount to 
charge against revenue in the period.

The business has to prepay certain operating expenses, for 
example, insurance premiums. These prepayments benefit several 
future months. When the business makes a prepayment it initially 
records the amount in the prepaid expenses asset account. Then, 
the amounts of prepayments are allocated over the months ben-
efited by the prepayment. 

The prepayments are moved to expense by the following entry:
Income Statement: + SG&A Expenses
Balance Sheet: − Prepaid Expenses

other products that it resells to its customers. When it manufactures 
and buys products the cost amount of the acquisition is recorded as 
an increase in the inventory asset account. The cost of the products 
remains in the inventory asset account until the products are sold.

When products are sold their cost is removed from the inven-
tory asset account and charged to cost of goods sold expense. The 
business makes this entry:

Income Statement: + Cost of Goods Sold Expense
Balance Sheet: − Inventory

See the line of connection in Exhibit 4.1 between cost of goods sold 
expense in the income statement and the inventory asset in the balance 
sheet. Total cost of goods sold expense for the year is $33,800,000, 
and the inventory asset account was decreased this amount during 
the year. The business made purchases during the year to replenish its 
stock of products as sales were made during the year.

The cash outflow for manufacturing and buying inventory dur-
ing the year depends on whether the business decides to increase 
or decrease its level of inventory during the year—as well as other 
factors. During the year the business bought more inventory than 
it sold. Therefore, inventory increased $935,000 (see Exhibit 4.1). 
This increase in inventory required additional cash outlay during 
the year. We discuss further the company’s ending inventory level 
and cash outflow for inventory purchases in Chapters 8 and 9.

Recording Selling, General, and Administrative 
(SG&A) Expenses 

Like all businesses the company in our example has many kinds of 
operating expenses, which are lumped under the broad category 
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During the year the business prepaid for more of such expenses 
than it charged to selling, general, and administration expenses 
to the year. Thus, its prepaid expenses asset account increased 
$275,000 during the year (see Exhibit 4.1). 

The company in our example has been in business several years 
and has established a good credit rating. Therefore, the vendors 
and suppliers it makes purchases from extend the business nor-
mal credit terms. Also, the company uses business credit cards for 
travel and entertainment by its salespersons and officers.

When the business buys something on credit and uses its credit 
cards for purchases that should be charged to expense, the busi-
ness records these short-term payables in the accounts payable 
liability account and makes the following entry:

Income Statement: + SG&A Expenses
Balance Sheet: + Accounts Payable

During the year the company ran up the amount of payables 
from purchases on credit and using credit cards. It paid out less 
than the total that was recorded in its accounts payable liability 
account. So this liability account increased $645,000 (see Exhibit 
4.1). We explain further the cash flow of buying on credit in 
Chapter 10.

Some operating expenses accumulate over time. The business 
does not get an invoice for these costs. It has to recognize the 
gradual buildup of these costs. For example, the business pro-
vides vacation and sick pay for its employees. After 50 weeks an 
employee is entitled to take two weeks paid vacation. To record 
such expenses as they accumulate over time, a business uses a lia-
bility account called Accrued Expenses Payable (or equivalent title) 
and makes the following entry:

Income Statement: + SG&A Expenses
Balance Sheet: + Accrued Expenses Payable

During the year the company paid less cash than the charges 
to its accrued expenses payable liability. So this liability increased 
$480,000 (see Exhibit 4.1). We explain further the cash flow of 
this liability account in Chapter 11.

Recording Depreciation Expense

The business in our example needs a warehouse to house the 
products it sells. And, it needs shelving, forklifts, and other equip-
ment for handling and transporting the products. Also the busi-
ness needs office space, as well as computers and office equipment 
and furniture. The business has invested $16,500,000 in various 
long-term operating assets, which are labeled Property, Plant, and 
Equipment on the balance sheet (see Exhibit 1.1).

The costs of these fixed assets (as they are also called) are not 
charged to expense immediately upon acquisition. Since fixed 
assets have useful lives of more than one year the cost of a fixed 
asset (except land) is charged piecemeal to expense over its esti-
mated useful life to the business. Each year of using a fixed asset 
bares a share of the cost. The portion of cost allocated to a year is 
called depreciation. As you see in Exhibit 4.1 the business recorded 
$785,000 depreciation expense in the year.

Depreciation is recorded as follows:

Income Statement: + Depreciation Expense
Balance Sheet: − Accumulated Depreciation

The accumulated depreciation account is an offset, or deduc-
tion against the cost of the fixed assets. It can be thought of 
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as the negative side of the fixed assets account. In the balance 
sheet (refer to Exhibit 1.1, for instance) the balance in accumu-
lated depreciation is deducted from the cost of property, plant, 
and equipment. An increase in this offset, or contra account has 
the effect of reducing the balance of property, plant, and equip-
ment. In short, fixed assets are decreased $785,000 by recording 
depreciation.

Recording depreciation expense does not involve cash payment 
in the period the expense is recorded. Cash was paid when the 
fixed assets were purchased or constructed. We explain further the 
nature of depreciation expense and the central role of deprecia-
tion in analyzing cash flow in Chapter 14.

Recording Interest Expense

The business has borrowed sizable amounts on short-term and 
long-term notes payable (refer back to its balance sheet in Exhibit 
1.1). The business has to pay interest for the use of this money. 
Interest accrues day by day. Interest is paid quarterly or semi-
annually, or even just once a year. To recognize the accumulation 
of interest the business makes the following entry:

Income Statement: + Interest Expense
Balance Sheet: + Accrued Expenses Payable

When interest is paid the business decreases the liability 
account and decreases the cash account. We explain further the 
cash flow differences between recording interest and paying 
interest in Chapter 15. 

Recording Income Tax Expense

For the year just ended the business has taxable income that 
resulted in Income Tax Expense of $1,748,000 (see Exhibit 4.1). 
To record this expense the business makes the following entry:

Income Statement: + Income Tax Expense
Balance Sheet: + Income Tax Payable

During the year a business is generally required to make install-
ment payments on its estimated federal income tax for the year. 
In fact, most of the income tax for the year should be paid over to 
the IRS by the end of the year. When the business makes install-
ment payments to the IRS it decreases cash and decreases income 
tax payable. We explain further the cash flow effects of income tax 
expense and its liability in Chapter 12.

Recording Net Income into Retained Earnings

The net income for the year, as you undoubtedly know, equals 
sales revenue for the year minus the sum of expenses for the year. 
This bottom line net income amount is entered in the retained 
earnings owners’ equity account. We won’t bother you with the 
bookkeeping steps here, but the final effect is to increase retained 
earnings $2,642,000, which is the net income for the year (see 
Exhibit 4.1). The retained earnings stockholders’ equity account 
in the balance sheet is the final home of profit.

The total of changes in the assets used to record revenue and 
expenses minus the total of changes in the liabilities used to mea-
sure revenue and expenses produces a net gain of $2,642,000 in 
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the owners’ equity. The net worth of the business, that is, its assets 
minus its liabilities, increases $2,642,000 from making profit—
and this increase belongs to the owners. Their equity in the busi-
ness is this much better off from earning profit.

Once the $2,642,000 net income amount is entered in retained 
earnings the balance sheet is in balance. The amount of total assets 

on the one side equals the amount of liabilities plus owners’ equity 
on the other side. In our example the company’s assets increased 
$3,850,000 during the year from its profit-making activities (see 
Exhibit 4.1). Deducting the $1,208,000 increase in liabilities from 
its operating activities gives a net increase of $2,642,000, which is 
profit (net income) for the year.
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Winding Up 

The business example presented in Exhibit 4.1 illustrates 
that making profit results in changes in several different assets 
and liabilities—not just cash. Cash is at the center of it, but 
several other assets are changed by a company’s profit-making 
operations and so are certain liabilities. Business managers, 
creditors, and investors should understand and keep an eye 
on these changes. We stress this point repeatedly throughout 
the book.

Finally, let’s circle back to the question that kick started this 
chapter. Why did cash generated from operating or profit-making 
activities increase $3,105,000 during the period even though net 
income is only $2,642,000 for the period (see Exhibit 4.1)? In 
other words, why is cash flow $463,000 higher than profit for the 
period? There are several reasons.

In Exhibit 4.1 look again at the changes in assets and liabilities. 
Take the $320,000 increase in accounts receivable, for instance. 
This asset increase tells us that $320,000 less cash was collected 
from customers than sales revenue during the period. In general 
an increase in an asset has an unfavorable impact on cash flow, and 
a decrease has a favorable impact.

The cash flow impacts of changes in liabilities are the reverse 
of changes in assets. The $645,000 increase in accounts payable, 
for instance, tells us that $645,000 less cash was paid out during 
the year than the amount of expenses recorded in this liability. In 
general an increase in a liability has a favorable impact on cash 
flow, and a decrease has an unfavorable impact.

Cash Flow Impacts of Changes in Assets and Liabilities During 
the Year (from Exhibit 4.1)

Accounts Receivable increase $(320,000)
Inventory increase $(935,000)
Prepaid Expenses increase $(275,000)
Accumulated Depreciation decrease $ 785,000
Accounts Payable increase $ 645,000
Accrued Expenses Payable increase $ 480,000
Income Tax Payable increase $   83,000
 Net Effect on Cash Flow $ 463,000

○ Recall that accumulated depreciation is a negative, or off-
set amount that is deducted from the cost of fixed assets. The 
increase in this account is in essence a decrease in the fixed assets 
being depreciated. Also, keep in mind that recording deprecia-
tion expense does not require a cash outlay. Thus, depreciation 
has a favorable impact on cash flow (more on this in Chapter 14).

○ The above summary shows the reasons why cash flow is 
$463,000 higher than profit for the period. If one of the changes had 
been different then cash flow would have been different. Suppose, 
for example, that accounts payable had not changed during the 
year. Cash flow from profit would have been $645,000 smaller, and 
in fact it would have been lower than profit for the year. 

The cash flow effects of the changes in current assets and lia-
bilities are summarized as follows:



5
PROFIT ISN’T EVERYTHING 

AND ALL THINGS
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If you haven’t figured it out by now, let us reinforce two critical 
underlying premises and objectives of this book:

 ◆ First, everything is connected: That is, all information pre-
sented in financial statements and reports, in one fashion or 
another, is connected to another information source. The 
income statement connects with the balance sheet, the balance 
sheet connects with the statement of cash flows, the statement 
of cash flows connects with the income statement, and even 
the financial statement footnotes connect to the financial state-
ments. But let’s face it, accountants by their own admission and 
guilt, must have these connections to ensure that the financial 
statements make sense and present fairly, the operating results 
of a company. 

 ◆ Second, all information is essential: To truly understand the 
financial results and condition of a company, all financial 
information needs to be evaluated and understood to make an 
informed and proper assessment (and decision if applicable). 
Relying on just one piece of financial information, such as the 
income statement, only tells a portion of the story and is often 
a fatal error made by novices (e.g., the company generated a 
profit so it must be a good investment). 

Remember—Everything’s Connected

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

To expand on the concept of having all information available, 
you should note that this goes well beyond just the financial 
statements and reports provided by a company for review. The 
most experienced and qualified business professionals are always 
searching, acquiring, and accumulating information that relates 
or impacts a business, but which is not presented in the financial 
statements or reports (e.g., a third-party industry outlook report). 
The point we’re attempting to drive home here is that having a 
clear understanding of where a business is going versus where a 
business has been is extremely important. The “where a company 
has been” issue is primarily covered in the financial statements and 
reports presented. The “where a company is going,” well, now that 
is the million-dollar question, which the likes of Warren Buffett seem 
to really have figured out. 
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Threefold Financial Task of Business Managers

and the business manager’s most important financial imperative. 
But the bottom line is not the end of the manager’s job, not by a 
long shot!

To earn profit and stay out of trouble, managers must control 
the financial condition of the business. This means, among other 
things, keeping assets and liabilities within appropriate limits and 
proportions relative to each other and relative to the sales revenue 
and expenses of the business. Managers must prevent cash short-
ages that would cause the business to default on its liabilities when 
they come due, or not be able to meet its payroll on time.

Business managers really have a threefold financial task: earn-
ing enough profit, controlling the company’s assets and liabilities, 
and generating cash flows. For all businesses, regardless of size, a 
financial statement is prepared for each financial imperative—one 
for profit performance (the income statement), one for financial 
condition (the balance sheet), and the statement of cash flows.

Earning adequate profit by itself does not guarantee survival 
and good cash flow. A business manager cannot fully manage 
profit without also managing the assets and liabilities of sales 
revenue and expenses. We identify these assets and liabilities in 
Chapter 3 where we explain accrual-basis profit accounting. In 
our business example, the changes in these assets and liabilities 
cause cash flow to be higher than the profit for the year. In other 
situations the changes can cause cash flow from profit to be less, 
perhaps much less, than profit for the period (and can cause nega-
tive cash flow in extreme situations).

In Chapter 1, we introduced the three primary financial statements 
for a representative business example—the income statement, the 
balance sheet, and the statement of cash flows. We start this chap-
ter by calling your attention to stockholders’ equity in the balance 
sheet. Its owners have invested $8,125,000 capital in the business 
for which it issued capital stock shares to them. See the capital
stock account in Exhibit 1.1. Furthermore, over the years the busi-
ness has retained $15,000,000 profit, which is called retained earn-
ings. Taken together these two sources of owners’ equity equal 
$23,125,000. One purpose of the balance sheet is to disclose such 
information about the ownership of the business entity and the 
sources of its equity capital.

The stockholders expect the managers of the business to earn 
a reasonable annual profit on their $23,125,000 equity in the 
business. In its most recent annual income statement the busi-
ness reports $2,642,000 bottom-line profit, or net income. Profit 
equals 11 percent on the company’s year-end stockholders’ equity. 
The stockholders, as well as the company’s managers and its lend-
ers, want to know more than just bottom-line profit. They want 
to see the whole picture of how profit is earned. Therefore, the 
income statement reports totals for revenue and expenses for the 
period as well as bottom-line net income.

The ability of managers to make sales and to control expenses, 
and thereby earn profit, is summarized in the income statement. 
Business investors and lenders pay particular attention to the 
profit yield from revenue. Earning profit is essential for survival 
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Business managers use their income statements to evaluate 
profit performance and to ask a raft of profit-oriented questions. 
Did sales revenue meet the goals and objectives for the period? 
Why did sales revenue increase compared with last period? Which 
expenses increased more or less than they should have? And there 
are many more such questions. These profit analysis questions are 
absolutely essential. But the manager can’t stop at the end of these 
questions.

Beyond profit analysis, business managers should move on 
to financial condition analysis and cash flows analysis. In large 
business corporations, the responsibility for financial condition 

and cash flow is separated from profit responsibility. The chief 
financial officer (CFO) of the company is responsible for financial 
condition and cash flow. The chief executive and board of direc-
tors oversee the CFO. They need to see the big picture, which 
includes all three financial aspects of the business—profit, finan-
cial condition, and cash flow.

In smaller businesses, however, the president or the owner/
manager is directly involved in controlling financial condi-
tion and cash flow. There’s no one to whom to delegate these 
responsibilities—although, consultants and advisors can be hired 
for advice.



Profit isn’t everything and all things     47

One Problem in Reporting Financial Statements

Chapter 1 introduced the balance sheet, income statement, and state-
ment of cash flows for a business example, as you would see these 
three primary financial statements in a typical financial report. Each 
of the statements stands alone, by itself, usually on a separate page in 
the financial report. Each statement is presented like a tub standing 
on its own feet. The “water pipes” (interconnections) between the 
three financial statements are not made explicit. There is no clear 
trail of the crossover effects between the three financial statements. 

Unfortunately, the way financial statements are presented in 
a financial report does not make clear that making profit drives 
the financial condition and cash flows of the business. You can 
easily miss the vital interplay among the income statement, bal-
ance sheet, and statement of cash flows. Accountants assume that 
readers understand the couplings and linkages between the three 
financial statements and make use of these connections in analyz-
ing the financial affairs of a business.

Chapter 4 provides a good start for understanding the con-
nections between the income statement and the balance sheet. In 
Chapter 4 we identified the assets and liabilities used in record-
ing revenue and expenses. The connections between revenue and 
expenses and their corresponding assets and liabilities are shown 
in Exhibit 4.1 (which you might want to take a quick look at 
again). The exhibit, however, does not show the other connec-
tions between the financial statements.

Exhibit 5.1 presents a comprehensive overview of the connec-
tions between the income statement and the balance sheet, and the 
connections between the changes in the balance sheet accounts 
and the statement of cash flows. The three financial statements 
fit together like tongue-in-groove woodwork; the income state-
ment, balance sheet, and cash flows statement interlock with one 
another.



EXHIBIT 5.1—CONNECTIONS AMONG THREE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

INCOME STATEMENT

Sales Revenue $  52,000

Cost of Goods Sold Expense $ (33,800)

$  18,200Gross Profit

Selling, General, and 
Administrative Expenses $ (12,480)

Depreciation Expense $      (785)

Operating Earnings $    4,935

Interest Expense $     (545)

Earnings before Income Tax $     4,390

Income Tax Expense $  (1,748)

Net Income $    2,642

BALANCE SHEET

Year-End

Balances

Change

During

Year

ASSETS

)074($hsaC562,3$

$  5,000 Accounts Receivable $   320

539$yrotnevnI054,8$

$     960 Prepaid Expenses $   275

$16,500 Property, Plant, and Equipment $3,050

$ (4,250) Accumulated Depreciation $  (785)

$  5,575 Intangible Assets $   575

$35,500 Total Assets $ 3,900

LIABILITIES

$  3,320 Accounts Payable $   645

$  1,515 Accrued Expenses Payable $   480

$     165 Income Tax Payable $     83

$  3,125 Short-Term Notes Payable $   125

$  4,250 Long-Term Notes Payable $   500

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$  8,125 Capital Stock $   175

$15,000 Retained Earnings $1,892

Total Liabilities and

$35,500 Stockholders’ Equity $3,900

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities

Net Income (from Income Statement) $ 2,642

Accounts Receivable Increase $   (320)

)539($esaercnIyrotnevnI

Prepaid Expenses Increase $   (275)

587$esnepxEnoitaicerpeD

Accounts Payable Increase $    645

Accrued Expenses Payable Increase $    480

Income Tax Payable Increase $      83

Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ 3,105

Investing Activities

Expenditures for Property, Plant, and 
Equipment

$(3,050)

Expenditures for intangible assets $   (575)

Cash Flow from Investing Activities $(3,625)

Financing Activities

Short-Term Debt Increase $    125

Long-Term Debt Increase $    500

Issue of Additional Capital Stock 
Shares

$    175

$   (750)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities $     (50)

Decrease in Cash During Year

Cash Dividends from Profit

$   (470)
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Interlocking Nature of the Three Financial Statements

In Exhibit 5.1 the balance sheet is presented in the vertical, or 
portrait format, also called the report form—assets on top, and 
liabilities and stockholders’ equity below. To save space we do not 
include subtotals for current assets, current liabilities, and stock-
holders’ equity in the balance sheet. (You might quickly compare 
the balance sheet in Exhibit 5.1 with the “official” balance sheet 
example in Exhibit 3.2.)

In Chapter 4 we explain the connections between revenue and 
expenses in the income statement and their assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet (see Exhibit 4.1). These connections are shown 
again in Exhibit 5.1—except that the lines of connection are to 
the ending balances of the assets and liabilities. In the following 
chapters we examine how large these ending balances in assets 
and liabilities should be relative to the amounts of revenue and 
expenses for the year.

In addition to ending balances Exhibit 5.1 shows the changes in 
the balance sheet accounts during the year. These changes go to 
or come from the statement of cash flows. The first section of the 
statement uses the changes in the assets and liabilities of record-
ing revenue and expenses to reconcile net income and cash flow 
from operating activities. This important cash flow number is the 
net increase or decrease in cash that is attributable to the profit-
making (operating) activities of the business. 

The cash increase from the company’s profit-making activi-
ties for the year is $3,105,000 (see Exhibit 5.1), which compared 
with its $2,642,000 net income is a fairly significant difference. 

In this particular example, the company’s cash flow from profit 
is $463,000 higher than its profit for the year. In Chapter 4 we 
explain how to use the changes in assets and liabilities of record-
ing revenue and expenses to determine the difference between 
cash flow and profit.

The other, or nonoperating cash flows of the business during 
the year are reported in the investing and financing sections of the 
statement of cash flows. See Exhibit 5.1 again. The business made 
key decisions during the year that required major outlays of cash 
and secured additional cash during the year from its lenders and 
stockholders. Notice that the lines of connection for these cash 
flow decisions go from the cash flow sources and uses to their 
respective assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity.

You really can’t swallow all the information in Exhibit 5.1 in one 
gulp. You have to drink one sip at a time. Exhibit 5.1 serves as the road 
map that we refer to frequently in the following chapters—so that 
we don’t lose sight of the big picture as we travel down the particular 
highways of connection between the financial statements.

Before moving on, we should stress that financial statements 
are not presented with lines of connection as shown in Exhibit 
5.1. You never see tether lines like this between the financial state-
ments. Accountants assume that the financial statement readers 
mentally fill in the connections that are shown in Exhibit 5.1. 
Accountants assume too much, in our opinion. It would be helpful 
if a financial report included reminders of the connections among 
the three financial statements. But don’t hold your breath.
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events that are of importance and highly relevant to the 
subject matter being discussed. Whether its excessive sov-
ereign debt levels (United States, Europe, Japan, etc.) or the 
struggles small businesses have experienced as a result of 
the Great Recession, an underlying theme of the book will 
be to help bridge the gap between “theory” and the “street.” 
Or as the junior author on this project (Tage) likes to joke 
with the senior author (John and my father), “You may teach 
accounting and finance in the classroom one way, but this is 
how it’s done on the street.”

2. Case study: Chapters 1 through 5 reference base material 
for a sample business to help everyone get started with 
understanding the basics. The balance of the book offers an 
in-depth case study starting in Chapter 6, which compares 
similar companies, executing basically the same business 
model, in the same industry. Chapter 6 launches a discussion, 
which is then updated in Chapter 13 and brought to a conclu-
sion in Chapter 24. Is there a moral to the story? Absolutely. 
But just a heads up and as the senior author with this book 
never fails to remind me, “Nobody ever said life is fair.”

3. Tips, tidbits, and traps: Every reader of financial state-
ments and reports, no matter how savvy and experienced, 
can use some helpful advice along the way. We’ve incorpo-
rated a concept that hopefully you will find useful called 
Tips, Tidbits, and Traps. When you see this referenced in the 

Connecting the Dots and Expanding Your Knowledge of Financial Reports 

In our experience, business managers and executives, and for that 
matter even some certified public accountants (CPAs) do not rec-
ognize the connecting links among the financial statements that we 
show in Exhibit 5.1. Over the years the senior author (John) has cor-
responded with many persons via e-mail who requested the Microsoft 
Excel workbook file of the exhibits in this book. (See the Preface for 
John’s e-mail address.) Over and over they mention one point—the 
value of seeing the connections among the financial statements.

John did not fully understand these connections himself until 
he started teaching at the University of California at Berkeley in 
1961. In browsing through an old, out-of-print textbook, he came 
upon the point that financial statements, although presented sep-
arately, are articulated with one another. Even though John had 
already had earned his PhD, he had not seen this critical point 
before. (Perhaps he had slept through that particular lecture.) He 
was struck by the term articulated. In his mind’s eye John could 
see an articulated bus, a bus having two compartments that were 
connected together.

Exhibit 5.1 provides the framework for the following chapters 
that in the comprehensive version of How to Read a Financial Report,
offers the following seven additional features and benefits to sup-
port a more thorough and detailed understanding of financial 
reports and financial statements:

1. Links to current events and what’s hot: Throughout the 
book, an effort is made to call out and reference current 
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book, our goal is to emphasize or expand on a key point or 
topic that should be helpful to any party evaluating financial 
statements and reports (whether an internal business man-
ager or external lender).

4. Critical terminology and ratio alerts: Along the same lines 
as tips, tidbits, and traps, we also draw the reader’s atten-
tion to critical accounting and financial terminology and/or 
associated financial ratios that are widely used and relied on 
by the business community. While we don’t expect everyone 
to remember each term or master each ratio covered in the 
book, having an easy method to refer back to the concepts 
and when needed, utilize the ratio is the goal. 

5. Real world stories: When applicable, real world stories are 
scattered throughout the book to offer an actual series of 
events related to an operating business that is closely asso-
ciated with a subject matter. The names and places of the 
stories have been changed to protect the innocent but hope-
fully the insight provided within these stories expands your 
understanding of just how businesses operate and think. 

6. Accounting issues and our case study: In Chapters 7 through 
18, we expand our discussion of critical accounting issues to 
be aware of with each topic covered as well as then provide a 
comparison in each chapter for our two case study companies. 
The goal is to keep the reader updated and informed on 
how each company is performing and what its respective 
financial statements may be saying. 

7. Test my knowledge: Finally, the majority of the chapters in 
this book incorporate an interactive quiz or test segment. 
The questions are limited in number (three to five per chap-
ter) and are designed to focus on the key concepts and issues 
covered in each chapter. And don’t worry as nobody is going 
to “grade” you on your responses as the goal is to reinforce 
subject matter and content that hopefully will enable you to 
better understand financial statements and reports.

We think you’ll find the financial tips in the following chapters 
interesting, helpful, and hopefully they will expand and “enhance” 
your knowledge of both financial reports and financial statements 
(thus the name of this book).
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Company Overviews

Through the balance of the book, all future references center on 
our case study, which presents two different companies operating 
in the same industry and executing the same basic business plan. 
For all-intensive purposes, these companies are alike in every way 
as noted in the following summary of key operating, marketing, 
and legal strategies:

 ◆ The companies generate revenue (or sales) from two primary 
sources, including the sale of annual enterprise resource plan-
ning (ERP) software licenses and the necessary technology 
hardware (i.e., computers, servers, mobile devices) to support 
the ERP system. All annual ERP software licenses are billed in 
advance for the next 12-month period. All sales of hardware are 
billed at the point of delivery and sign-off or acceptance by the 
customer.

 ◆ The companies do not manufacture the hardware technol-
ogy but rather purchase it from third-party suppliers and then 
resell the products to their customers. The equipment is pur-
chased and stored at the companies’ facilities to support future 
deliveries (so inventory is maintained). 

 ◆ Total operating expenses for both companies are similar as it 
relates to the number of employees, compensation rates, ben-
efits, facility requirements and expenses incurred, and so on. 
However, each company may elect to allocate the total oper-
ating expenses to different internal functions (e.g., sales and 

marketing versus research and development versus general and 
administrative, etc.) 

 ◆ Both companies operate as regular C corporations, domiciled 
in the same state, and pay a combined federal and state income 
tax rate of 35 percent. Each company was launched in 2009 
with an initial investment of $1,000,000 of which at the end of 
2009, $100,000 of cash remains. To start 2010, both companies 
secure an additional initial equity investment of $2,000,000 
(bringing the total equity secured to $3,000,000) and a long-
term note payable of $2,000,000 with annual debt service pay-
ments of $400,000 due (to be paid off in five years). The note 
payable carries an annual interest rate of 5 percent.

 ◆ The companies’ investment in property, plant, and equipment 
is consistent both in terms of the total amount of capital expen-
ditures made and the depreciation policy used (straight line for 
60 months with no salvage value). 

Although the similarities are numerous between the two compa-
nies, when it comes to accounting and financial strategies, each 
company applies different accounting policies and procedures 
related to three critical areas: revenue recognition, inventory val-
uation, and software development costs. The next two sections 
introduce HareSquared, Inc.’s and TortTech, Inc.’s financial state-
ments to our readers and provide summarized financial statement 
footnotes related to these three areas.
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HareSquared, Inc.

Exhibit 6.1 presents HareSquared, Inc.’s (HSI) financial state-
ments for the two year comparison period for the fiscal years end-
ing 12/31/10 and 12/31/11. 

When first reviewing the financial statements for HSI, please 
note the following three financial statement “truths” related to 
the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows 
as discussed in Chapter 1. 

 ◆ First, the balance sheet must balance, which it does. Also note as 
highlighted in Exhibit 6.1 that the ending cash balance per the 
statement of cash flows equals the ending cash balance per the bal-
ance sheet (again, a truth that must hold in the financial statements). 

 ◆ Second, incurring a net loss does not result in the company 
failing. As is evident in Exhibit 6.1, not only has HSI continued 
to operate past 2010 (when it incurred a large loss) but it actu-
ally was able to turn a profit in 2011.

 ◆ Third, a company’s net loss does not equal negative cash flow 
and likewise, a company’s net income does not equal positive 
cash flow. Again, the financial statements presented highlight 
this extremely important concept. 

HSI has audited financial statements prepared on an annual 
basis with an independent CPA firm and utilizes the following 
primary accounting policies: 

Please note the reference between the letters used to summarize the 
primary accounting policies and the associated accounts in the balance 
sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows in Exhibit 6.1. 
These connections are more fully explained in Chapters 7 through 18 
but have been tagged here to emphasize their importance. 

A. Revenue recognition: HSI bills its customers in advance for 
an annual ERP software license fee on the day the sales con-
tract is executed by the customer. HSI recognizes earned 
revenue from the annual ERP software license fee along the 
following schedule:

 ◆ Seventy-five percent during the first four months after 
the contract is executed. 

 ◆ Twenty-five percent during the remaining eight 
months HSI is required to support the software with 
the customer.

HSI and its auditors have concluded that the majority of 
the contract is earned during the first four months of the 
annual ERP software license fee as this represents the most 
intense period of direct customer support required to ensure 
that the software is properly installed and adopted by the 
customer. 



HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $    354 $    372 
Accounts Receivable, Net A $ 1,350 $ 4,575 
Inventory, LCM C $    495 $    880 
Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 2,249 $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $ 1,000 
Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets $    600 $    650 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net B $ 2,000 $ 1,500 
Other Assets $      75 $      75 

Total Other Assets $ 2,075 $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $    406 $    732 
Accrued Expenses $    216 $    604 
Current Portion of Debt $    400 $    400 
Other Current Liabilities A $ 1,500 $ 4,313 

Total Current Liabilities $ 2,522 $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $ 1,200 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $        0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,600 $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 4,122 $ 7,249 
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock - 800,000 Authorized, 550,000  
Outstanding —> 2010 $ 3,000 $ 3,000 
   Retained Earnings $(2,198) $(2,122)

Total Owners’ Equity $    802 $    878 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net A $ 9,207 $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold C $ 4,755 $  9,156 
Gross Profit $ 4,452 $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $ 5,000 $  8,400 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense B $    650 $     700 
Operating Earnings $(1,198) $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $        0 $         0 
Interest Expense $    100 $       80 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $(1,298) $       76 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $        0 $         0 

Net Income (Loss) $(1,298) $       76 

Shares Outstanding       550        550 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share $  (2.36) $    0.14 

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Net Income (Loss) $(1,298) $       76 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization B $    650 $     700 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable A $(1,350) $ (3,225)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory C $   (495) $    (385)
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (50) $      (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    406 $     326 
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    216 $     388 
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities A $ 1,500 $  2,813 

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $   (421) $     668 
Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Capital Expenditures $   (750) $    (250)
Investments in Other Assets B $(2,575) $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $(3,325) $    (250)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 $         0 
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 2,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $ 2,000 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $        0 $    (400)
Other Financing Activities $        0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 4,000 $    (400)

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 $         0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $    254 $       18 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    100 $     354 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $    354 $     372 

Net income or (loss) 
does not equal an 
increase or decrease in 
cash. Further, incurring 
a net loss did not result 
in company failure.

Notice beginning 
cash balance plus 
net increase or 
decrease equals 
ending cash balance. 

The balance sheet 
balances.

EXHIBIT 6.1—SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, TWO-YEAR COMPARISON

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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When a customer is billed for the annual licensing fee, the fol-
lowing entry is recorded (for a sample $10,000 annual license fee):

Debit Credit
Accounts Receivable $10,000
Deferred Revenue $10,000

Note: Deferred or unearned revenue is accounted for as an 
“other current liability” on the balance sheet. 

During the first four months of supporting the license, HSI 
realizes revenue from the annual licensing fee by recording the 
following entry (in total, for four months):

Debit Credit
Deferred Revenue $7,500
Software System Sales Revenue $7,500

So at the end of month four, a total of $2,500 of deferred or 
unearned revenue ($10,000 billed less $7,500 earned) is pres-
ent, which is recorded as earned revenue over the remaining 
eight months of the license agreement period. 

B. Software development costs: HSI separately accounts for all 
direct costs associated with the development of the com-
pany’s proprietary software for each major revision. The last 
revision was completed in early 2010 and cost $2.5 million. 
These costs were capitalized as software development costs 
and it was determined these costs should be amortized over 
a 60-month period. 

C. Inventory valuation: HSI accounts for all inventory pur-
chased based on the original purchase price of the inventory 
from the third-party suppliers. Gains or losses on the sale of 
inventory are realized at the point of product sale or disposal. 
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TTI and its auditors have concluded that revenue earned 
from the contract should be realized in equal 1/12th incre-
ments during the year to properly match required direct peri-
odic customer support and service costs with earned revenue. 

When a customer is billed for the annual licensing fee, 
the following entry is recorded (for a sample $10,000 annual 
license fee):

Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable $10,000
Deferred Revenue $10,000

Note: Deferred or unearned revenue is accounted for as an 
“other current liability” on the balance sheet. 

During the first four months of supporting the license, TTI 
realizes revenue from the annual licensing fee by recording the 
following entry (in total, for four months):

Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable $3,333
Software System Sales Revenue $3,333

So at the end of month four, a total of $6,667 of deferred 
or unearned revenue ($10,000 billed less $3,333 earned) is 

TortTech, Inc.

Exhibit 6.2 presents TortTech, Inc.’s (TTI) financial statements 
for the two-year comparison period for the fiscal years ending 
12/31/10 and 12/31/11. 

Again and just like with HSI, the same three financial state-
ment truths hold as well as the balance sheet balances, net losses 
have not resulted in the company failing, and the net loss incurred 
does not equal negative cash flow. 

Similar to HSI, TTI has audited financial statements prepared 
on an annual basis with another independent CPA firm and uti-
lizes the following primary accounting policies:

Please note the reference between the letters used to summarize the 
primary accounting policies and the associated accounts in the balance 
sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows in Exhibit 6.2. 
These connections will be more fully explained in Chapters 7 through 18 
but have been tagged here to emphasize their importance.

A. Revenue recognition: TTI bills its customers in advance for 
an annual ERP software license fee on the day the sales con-
tract is executed by the customer. TTI recognizes earned 
revenue from the annual ERP software license fee along the 
following schedule:

 ◆ On a monthly basis, 8.333 percent of the contract’s value 
will be recognized as sales revenue. TTI utilizes a widely 
accepted accounting policy based on applying a simple 
straight line method of realizing equal monthly sales rev-
enue amounts over the life of the contract. 



TortTech, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $    383 $    534 
Accounts Receivable, Net A $ 1,350 $ 2,025 
Inventory, LCM C $    513 $    684 
Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 2,296 $ 3,318 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $ 1,000 
Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets $    600 $    650 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net B $        0 $        0 
Other Assets $      75 $      75 

Total Other Assets $      75 $      75 

Total Assets $ 2,971 $ 4,043 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $    515 $    683 
Accrued Expenses $    238 $    340 
Current Portion of Debt $    400 $    400 
Other Current Liabilities A $ 2,750 $ 4,125 

Total Current Liabilities $ 3,903 $ 5,548 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $ 1,200 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $ 2,000 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,600 $ 3,200 

Total Liabilities $ 5,503 $ 8,748 
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock - 800,000 Authorized, 550,000 
Outstanding —→ 2010 $ 3,000 $ 3,000 
Retained Earnings $(5,532) $(7,705)

Total Owners’ Equity $(2,532) $(4,705)

Total Liabilities & Stockholders’ Equity $ 2,971 $ 4,043 

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net A $ 7,969 $14,677
Costs of Goods Sold C $ 4,851 $  7,980 
Gross Profit $ 3,118 $  6,697 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses B $ 7,500 $  8,400 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense B $    150 $     200 
Operating Earnings $(4,532) $ (1,903)
Other Expenses (Income) $        0 $         0 
Interest Expense $    100 $     270 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $(4,632) $ (2,173)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $        0 $         0 

Net Income (Loss) $(4,632) $ (2,173)

Shares Outstanding 550 550

Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (8.42) $   (3.95)

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Net Income (Loss) $(4,632) $ (2,173)
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization B $    150 $     200 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable A $(1,350) $    (675)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory C $   (513) $    (171)
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (50) $      (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    515 $     168 
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    135 $       68 
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities A $ 2,853 $  1,409 
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $(2,892) $ (1,199)

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Capital Expenditures $   (750) $    (250)
Investments in Other Assets B $     (75) $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (825) $    (250)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 $         0 
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 2,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $ 2,000 $  2,000 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $        0 $    (400)
Other Financing Activities $        0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 4,000 $  1,600 

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 $         0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $    283 $     151 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    100 $     383 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $    383 $     534 

Net income or (loss) 
does not equal an 
increase or decrease in 
cash. Further, incurring 
a net loss did not result 
in company failure.

Notice beginning 
cash balance plus net 
increase or decrease 
equals ending cash 
balance.

The balance sheet 
balances.

EXHIBIT 6.2—SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, TWO-YEAR COMPARISON

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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present, which is recorded as earned revenue over the remain-
ing eight months of the license agreement period.

B. Software development costs: TTI separately accounts for 
all direct costs associated with the development of the 
company’s proprietary software for each major revision. 
The last revision was completed in early 2010 and cost 
$2.5 million. These costs were realized as research and 

development expense and reported as direct operating 
expenses in 2010.

C. Inventory valuation: TTI accounts for all inventory purchased 
based on the original purchase price of the inventory from 
the third-party suppliers. On an annual basis, TTI evaluates 
all inventory and makes periodic adjustments to account for 
potential slow moving and/or obsolete inventory.  
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Friendly Reminders

Each chapter in Parts Two and Three focus on explaining the 
key relationship or connection between the balance sheet and the 
income statement for those accounts that are directly correlated. 
For example, Chapter 7 focuses on the direct connection between 
a company’s sales revenue and accounts receivable whereas 
Chapter 8 is centered on the direct connection between costs of 
goods sold expense and inventory. The idea is to tackle each direct 
connection in a separate chapter to help the reader work through 
the financial statements one step at a time. 

Also and for each chapter, it is very helpful to understand 
these friendly reminders as it relates to presentation of the finan-
cial statements, reports, and information through the balance of 
the book.

 ◆ The financial statements for HSI for the fiscal year ending 
12/31/11 is the base information used and referenced through 
the balance of the book. Providing information on all years for 
both companies in each chapter would be overkill. However, 
each chapter makes a point to provide a comparison of key 
financial information for both companies where appropriate and 
insightful. 

 ◆ The income statement and balance sheet are displayed in a 
compressed or summarized format. For example, the income 
statement is a single-step statement, meaning that no lines are 
shown for gross margin and other intermediate measures of 
profit. This format is generally used when presenting financial 
reports and information to “external” parties that don’t need or 
shouldn’t have access to more detailed and confidential internal 
company information. 

 ◆ When exhibits are presented, the company’s statement of cash 
flows for the year will generally not be included (but rather 
addressed later in the book). At this stage, the cash flows state-
ment would be more of a distraction.

Finally and as you work through Parts Two and Three of this book, 
it is extremely important to keep in mind that not only is the book 
attempting to educate the reader on how the financial statements 
interact and are dependent on one another but more importantly, 
just what the financial statements are telling the reader. It’s one 
thing to understand the “debits” and “credits” of accounting. It’s 
something completely different to understand what the financial 
statements are really saying!





7
SALES REVENUE, TRADE ACCOUNTS 

RECEIVABLE, AND DEFERRED REVENUE
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Exploring One Link at a Time

There is one simple premise in operating a business—if you don’t 
generate sales you will eventually fail! All businesses need to gen-
erate real and legitimate sales or revenue (often used interchange-
ably or together), in one form or another, in hopes of generating 
a profit, and eventually producing positive cash flow. A perfect 
case study in what it means to fail on the sales front is centered 
on the grand dot-com experiment of the late 1990s through early 
2000s. This era was built on the hope of eventually being able to 
generate significant increases in sales from developing, launching, 
and building a business model based on the promise and wonders 
of “cyberspace.” The eventual outcome of this era is well known, 
as the failure rate of the dot-com or technology-based businesses 
during this era was more than 90 percent, further supported by the 
fact the Nasdaq dropped from its all-time high of 5,049 reached 
on 3/10/2000 by a whopping 77 percent to 1,140 on 10/4/2002 
(in roughly two-and-a-half years). 

Real World Story

In the opening paragraph, reference is made to generating “real” or 
“legitimate” sales, which to the reader of this book seems like a no-brainer. 
However, in the early 2000s, not only did a large number of well-meaning 
dot-com companies fail but in addition, this era also experienced some 
of the most costly and best known fraud cases in history. Enron and 
WorldCom quickly come to mind but there were countless smaller and 
lesser known cases of fraud including one based in southern California 

with a large software company. What this company did along with a co-
conspirator was arrange for a sale of a large IT/software-based system/
solution between the two companies. Company A purchased a large IT/
software-based system from Company B and capitalized the purchase 
as a fixed asset (subject to depreciation in future periods). Company B 
recorded the transaction as a sale on their books. Wouldn’t you know 
it, Company B then made a similar purchase from Company A with the 
purchase being recorded as a fixed asset by Company B and a sale being 
recorded by Company A. And just like that, sales are generated. The lesson 
here is simple. Readers of financial statements need to pay extremely close 
attention to and clearly understand a company’s full sales cycle to gain 
more insight and knowledge on just how successful the company truly is.

So now that we know “real” sales must be generated, the 
importance of understanding the relationship between sales and 
trade accounts receivable can be explored in more detail. Please 
refer to Exhibit 7.1, which shows the connection between sales or
revenue in the income statement and trade accounts receivable, an
asset account in the balance sheet.

This exhibit is taken from our case study for HSI summarized 
in Chapter 6. Exhibit 7.1 presents the big picture as it relates to 
HSI. That is, it helps connect the dots between the income state-
ment and the balance sheet. This chapter is the first of many that 
focus on just one connection at a time—the one between sales 
revenue in the income statement and trade accounts receivable in 
the balance sheet.



EXHIBIT 7.1—SALES REVENUE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156
Gross Profit $  9,256
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $  8,400
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     700
Operating Earnings $     156
Other Expenses (Income) $         0
Interest Expense $       80
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0
Net Income (Loss) $       76

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $    372 
Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 
Inventory, LCM $    880 
Prepaid Expenses $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 
Accumulated Depreciation $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets $    650 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 
Other Assets $      75 

Total Other Assets $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 8,127 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $    732 
Accrued Expenses $    604 
Current Portion of Debt $    400 
Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 

Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity

Capital Stock - 800,000 Authorized, 550,000
Outstanding —> 2011 $ 3,000 

Retained Earnings $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity $    878 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 

Pay close attention to this 
relationship as our case study 
develops through the book as our 
sample company actively invoices 
it's customers in advance.

Assumes roughly 89 days, or 
almost 3 months, of sales revenue 

is uncollected at the end of 
the year, the ending accounts 

receivable balance is:

$4,575/($18,412/12 months) * 30 
days = 89 days.
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The central idea in this and following chapters is that the 
profit-making or loss generating activities reported in the income 
statement drive, or determine, an asset or a liability, which, as 
discussed in Chapter 3, are reported in the balance sheet. For 
example, HSI’s sales revenue for the fiscal year ending 12/31/11 
was $18,412,000. Of this total sales revenue, $4,575,000 is in 
the accounts receivable asset account at the end of the year. The 
$4,575,000 is that part of annual sales and deferred revenue that 
had not yet been collected at the end of the year.

In the following chapters we explore each linkage between an 
income statement account and its connecting account in the bal-
ance sheet but for this chapter, the focus is on sales revenue and 
accounts receivable. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Two concepts related to sales and accounts receivable are 
important to understand. 

1. First, never assume that just because an invoice has been gen-
erated, based on terms and conditions agreed to between the 
parties, and presented to the customer that “sales” are gener-
ated as well. A sale is generated when the earning process is 
complete whereas an invoice may or may not be generated 
when the earning process is complete. A perfect example 
of this relates to a construction company that may invoice a 
customer for 30 percent of the entire project upon signing of 
the contract. On day one, the invoice is generated but sales 
are not earned until the construction company has performed 
30 percent of the project. The concept of pre- or advance 
billings is a focal point throughout the balance of this book as 
it relates to potentially misstating financial statements.

2. Second, trade accounts receivable are different from “other” 
receivables in one very important way. Trade accounts receiv-
able are generated from the sale of goods or services in the 
normal course of business. Other receivables are produced 
from financial transactions that are not generally in the nor-
mal course of business. If a company has significant other 
receivables, then investigating further is generally in order.
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How Sales Revenue Drives Accounts Receivable

Per our business example for HSI, the company generated 
$18,412,000 in net sales revenue during the fiscal year end-
ing 12/31/11. This is a sizable amount, equal to approximately 
$1,500,000 in average sales revenue per month. When making a 
sale, the total amount of the sale (sales price times the quantity of 
products sold or services delivered) is recorded in the sales revenue
account. This account accumulates all sales made during the year. 
On the first day of the year it starts with a zero balance; at the end 
of the last day of the year it has an $18,412,000 balance. In short, 
the balance in this account at year-end is the sum of all sales for 
the entire year (assuming all sales are recorded properly).

For HSI, the business makes all of its sales on credit, which 
means that cash is not received until sometime after the time of 
the actual initial sales invoice is generated. This is due to the fact 
that the company sells to other businesses that demand credit (or 
payment terms). The amount owed to the company from making 
a sale on credit is immediately recorded in the accounts receivable 
asset account for the amount of each sale. Sometime later, when 
cash is collected from customers, the cash account is increased 
and the accounts receivable account is decreased.

Extending credit to customers creates a cash inflow lag. The 
accounts receivable balance is the amount of this lag. At year-end 
the balance in this asset account is the amount of uncollected sales 
revenue. Most of the sales made on credit during the year have 
been converted into cash by the end of the year. Also, the accounts 

Critical Terminology and Ratio Alert

A distinction needs to be made between gross sales revenue and 
net sales revenue. Gross sales revenue includes all sales made by 
the company during a given period. Net sales revenue represents 
gross sales revenue less any returns, discounts, allowances, and/
or other adjustments. The difference between these two figures is 
important to understand as the higher level of returns, discounts, 
allowances, and/or other adjustments against gross sales is 
generally considered a negative (as nobody wants to see a high 
percentage of gross sales returned to the company). The ratio of 
sales returns, allowances, discounts, and/or other adjustments 
compared (i.e., divided by gross sales revenue) to gross sales 
revenue is often referred to as the dilution rate or ratio, with a higher 
rate frowned on. It should also be noted that most companies do 
not separately report gross sales revenue and total sales returns, 
allowances, discounts, and/or other adjustments but rather display 
one line item, net sales revenue. 

receivable balance at the start of the year from credit sales made 
last year was collected. But, many sales made during the latter 
part of the year have not yet been collected by year-end. The total 
amount of these uncollected sales is found in the ending balance 
of accounts receivable.



70 Sales revenue, trade accounts receivable, and deferred revenue

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

As a side note, readers need to understand that many companies 
in today’s economy (e.g., as supermarkets, ecommerce based 
businesses) make all sales for cash, or accept electronic forms 
of payments such as credit and debit cards that are converted 
into cash immediately. This is important to understand and is a 
rapidly growing trend in the marketplace for smaller businesses 
that want to secure cash quicker, reduce bad debt expense, 
and don’t have the resources to support large trade receivable 
balances. But there’s a trade-off with this strategy as not only 
are there added expenses incurred to accept electronic forms 
of payments (such as the merchant fee paid to credit and debit 
card processing organizations such as Visa) but in addition, 
sales may be negatively impacted by losing customers that 
need credit and don’t want to pay immediately. But there is no 
question that this is a growing trend and business as evidenced 
by the success of Square, a clever electronic mobile payment 
solution.

Some of HSI’s customers pay quickly to take advantage of 
prompt payment discounts offered by the company. (These 
discounts off-list prices reduce sales prices but speed up cash 
receipts.) However, the average customer waits 89 days to pay 
HSI and forgoes the prompt payment discount. Some custom-
ers even wait longer to pay the company, despite HSI’s efforts 
to encourage them to pay sooner. HSI puts up with these slow 
payers for two reasons. First, extending longer payment terms 
helps increase total sales revenue. Second, HSI understands 
one simple fact of life. Larger corporate clients often exert 
significant influence on smaller companies when payments 

are processed and basically say this is how we pay so “take it or 
leave it.” 

As you see in Exhibit 7.1, the ending balance of accounts 
receivable is $4,575,000; this equals almost 13 weeks of annual 
sales revenue. The main point is that the average sales credit 
period determines the size of accounts receivable. The longer 
the average sales credit period, the larger the accounts receiv-
able amount.

Critical Ratio Alert

A commonly referenced and calculated critical business ratio is 
known as the DSO or Days Sales Outstanding. This ratio is based 
on the following formula:

Accounts receivable balance/(total annual sales revenue/12 
months) x 30 days or expressed in numeric format.

EXHIBIT 7.2—DSO OR DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING 

CALCULATION

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

Days Sales O/S in Trade Receivables:

Total Trade Receivables $  4,575 

Total Annual Sales Revenue $18,412

Average Monthly Sales $  1,534 

Average Days in a Month          30 

Days Sales O/S in Trade Receivables    89.45 
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In the above example, the company’s DSO is averaging 89 days 
or in other words, it takes 89 days to receive payment from the 
customers or turn a sale into cash (almost three months). In gen-
eral, if this figure increases it is viewed as a negative as it indicates 
the company’s customers are taking longer to pay (potentially 
indicating financial strain with the customer). Likewise, if the fig-
ure decreases then it is generally viewed as a positive indicator. 

Both of the calculations in Exhibits 7.2 and 7.3 really calcu-
late the same information. The first calculation estimates that 
on average, it takes roughly 89 days or approximately three 
months to get paid. The second calculation estimates that on 
average, HSI turns over its accounts receivable four times a year. 
This makes perfect sense as with 12 months in a year and on 
average it takes three months to collect trade receivables, 12 
divided by 3 equals 4. Our point in providing both examples is 
simple. Results and information are in the eye of the beholder so 
while the calculations produce the same real meaning, speaking 
the language of the “moment” is something everyone needs to 
understand.

For HSI business managers, and the company’s creditors and 
investors as well, understanding how long it takes on average to 
turn accounts receivable into cash is a critical piece of data. The 
accounts receivable turnover ratio is most meaningful when it is 
used to determine the number of weeks (or days, as in today’s 
must have, instantaneous information world, months and weeks 
are now replaced by days and even hours in terms of reporting 
critical business data) it takes a company to convert its accounts 
receivable into cash.

You may argue that 89 days or roughly 13 weeks or 3 months is 
way too long an average sales credit period for the company. This 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

It can be easy to misread this ratio without fully understanding a 
company’s business model. For example, a company may increase 
customer credit terms to entice more sales or accommodate a 
large customer requesting special terms. This may drive the DSO 
figure higher and might be initially viewed as a negative by an 
outside party but in fact, helps generate increased sales, which 
improves the overall performance of the company (assuming the 
sale is eventually collected). So be careful before jumping to a quick 
conclusion without understanding all of the facts.

In today’s intensely competitive global economy, time is of the 
essence as the current trend is to evaluate information in much 
shorter and quicker data bites as opposed to evaluating informa-
tion on an “annual” basis. For your receivables, knowing how 
many times your receivables turn over in a year is helpful but in 
general, most parties want to know how many days it takes to col-
lect your receivables (and turn sales revenue into cash). However 
as a reference point, we also provide the calculation to determine 
how many times a year HSI “turns over” their account receivables 
in Exhibit 7.3.

EXHIBIT 7.3—ACCOUNT RECEIVABLE TURNOVER RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Account Receivable Turnover Ratio

Total Annual Sales Revenue $18,412

Total Trade Receivables $  4,575 

Accounts Receivable Turnover Ratio      4.02 
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The main point is that capital has a cost. Excess accounts 
receivable means that excess debt or excess owners’ equity capital 
is being used by the business. The business is not as capital effi-
cient as it should be.

A slowdown in collecting customers’ receivables or a deliber-
ate shift in business policy allowing longer credit terms causes 
accounts receivable to increase. Additional capital would have to 
be secured, or the company would have to attempt to get by on a 
smaller cash balance.

If you were the business manager in this example, you should 
decide whether the size of accounts receivable, being five weeks 
of annual sales revenue, is consistent with your company’s sales 
credit terms and your collection policies. Perhaps five weeks is 
too long and you need to take action. If you were a creditor or an 
investor in the company, you should pay attention to whether the 
manager is allowing the average sales credit period to get out of 
control. A major change in the average credit period may signal a 
significant change in the company’s policies.

is precisely the point: What should it be? The manager in charge 
has to decide whether the average credit period is getting out of 
hand. The manager can shorten credit terms, shut off credit to 
slow payers, or step up collection efforts.

This isn’t the place to discuss customer credit policies relative 
to marketing strategies and customer relations, which would take 
us far beyond the field of accounting. But, to make an important 
point here, assume that without losing any sales the company’s 
average sales credit period had been only 8 weeks or 56 days, 
instead of 13 weeks.

In this alternative scenario, HSI’s ending accounts receivable 
balance would have been $1,700,000 less. The company would 
have collected $1,700,000 more cash during the year. With this 
additional cash, the company could have borrowed $1,700,000 
less. At an annual 5 percent interest rate, this would have saved 
the business $85,000 interest before income tax. Or the owners 
could have invested $1,700,000 less in the business and put their 
money elsewhere.
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A Special Link – How Accounts Receivable Drives Deferred Revenue

At this point in the book we would like to direct your atten-
tion to a connection that is becoming more and more relevant 
for multiple types of businesses. The connection in question is 
not between an income statement account and a balance sheet 
account as discussed previously but rather between two bal-
ance sheet accounts – trade accounts receivable and deferred or 
unearned revenue. Some common types of business transactions 
that produce this type of connection are as follows:

 ◆ A technology company that invoices a customer for an annual 
license fee in advance (which is a policy used by both of our 
case study companies).

 ◆ A service business that offers an extended five year warranty on 
an automobile that it charges the customer in advance.

 ◆ A construction company that produces an invoice at the 
start of a project for a required deposit to start a long-term 
development.

Other examples could be provided but the basic accounting 
concept behind accounts receivable and deferred revenue is sim-
ple in that since the earnings process is not complete, the revenue 
must be “deferred” or reflected as a liability until services or prod-
ucts are delivered per the terms of the sales agreement (thus trig-
gering actual and real sales revenue). For example, if a customer 
purchases an extended three year warranty on an auto for $499, at 

the point the invoice is generated and presented to the customer 
for payment, the following entry is recorded: 

Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable $499
Deferred or Unearned Revenue $499

The customer may pay immediately, take 30 days, or pay in 
installments but since potential warranty-related services and 
repairs will be provided at some future date, the company selling 
the warranty cannot realize sales revenue at the point of invoic-
ing the customer. Rather, they must use some type of systematic, 
reasonable, and defendable method to recognize the deferred or 
unearned revenue into sales revenue over the period of the war-
ranty contract which in this case is three years. To further our 
example, let’s say after one year, the company recognizes only 
20 percent of the warranty as earned sales revenue. To do this, the 
following entry would be recorded:

Debit Credit

Deferred or Unearned Revenue $99.80
Warranty Sales Revenue $99.80

Ok, this sounds reasonable as it would make sense that most 
service and repairs covered under the warranty would be back 
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loaded to years two and three (as the auto gets older, it would 
require more repairs). But is 20 percent too much, too little, 
or just right? Only time will tell but if it is readily apparent 
from this simple example, then let’s highlight a critical con-
cept. Accounting for earned sales revenue when customers are 
invoiced in advance for services or products to be rendered at 
a later date is an area that relies heavily on management esti-
mates, data, and analysis that unfortunately can be “massaged” 
(for lack of a better term) when financial operating results are 
produced. 

Referring back to Exhibit 7.1, you should notice a large bal-
ance in “other liabilities” is present on the balance sheet. This is 
where deferred or unearned revenue is commonly grouped on the 

balance sheet along with other misc. short-term liabilities, and is 
the same classification our case study companies utilize. As you 
move through the material, special attention should be paid to 
the balance in this account as it will have a material impact on not 
just earned sales revenue but more importantly, cash flows, as let’s 
face it, one of the most common reasons why businesses invoice 
customers in advance and encourage early payments is to use their 
cash to provide a source of cheap operational funding (as opposed 
to having to borrow money and pay interest or sell equity in the 
company). The Great Recession certainly drove this point home 
to a number of companies that suddenly witnessed reductions in 
borrowing ability from banks and other lenders and had to turn to 
more “creative” sources to secure cash. 
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

Starting in this chapter and continuing in the following chapters 
that focus on the key connections between an income statement 
account and its corresponding balance sheet account, each chap-
ter includes a section providing a brief discussion of the major 
accounting problems and challenges pertaining to the accounts 
discussed in the chapter. In addition, the topics addressed in the 
chapter are applied to both HSI and TTI to compare operating 
results and evaluate what each company’s financial statements are 
really telling us. 

It should be noted that these short discussions of account-
ing issues barely scratch the surface on all of the potential issues 
that may impact the connected accounts between the income 
statement and balance sheet. Nevertheless, you should be aware 
that the numbers you see in financial statements depend on the 
accounting methods used to generate those numbers. The CFO 
and/or controller are the frontline people in every business who 
has to decide which accounting methods to use to record sales 
revenue and expenses. But in the end, the “accounting” buck stops 
at the executive management (i.e., CEO and president) and board 
of directors’ levels as these parties are the individuals ultimately 
responsible for the fair presentation of financial statements.

You may not be aware that these accounting decisions are not 
entirely obvious and clear-cut in most situations. As a matter of 
fact, accounting methods are arbitrary to one degree or another 
in most cases. The choice of particular accounting methods 
makes profit lower or higher and also makes the amounts of assets 

and liabilities lower or higher (which will be clearly illustrated 
throughout this book based on our case study provided).

So, what are the main issues in accounting for sales and accounts 
receivable? Let’s focus on three key topics that are very sensitive 
in today’s economy.

1. Timing: The main problem in recording sales is timing as it is
not always clear exactly when a sale is completed and all terms 
are final (and have been met by both parties). Or looking at 
it from another angle, the question of “When Is the Earnings 
Process Complete?” must be constantly addressed to ensure 
valid sales are recognized. Is the sale actually final when the 
product is delivered or when the customer has validated the 
product as acceptable? As noted earlier in this chapter, gen-
erating a customer invoice does not equal sales revenue so 
the timing of recognizing revenue is one of the single most 
important and abused accounting practices for businesses. 

2. Reserves and allowances: Reserves and allowances are uti-
lized by companies to properly account for impairments 
to asset values that arise from time to time. There are a 
number of reasons why reserves and allowances are estab-
lished, including to account for customers who can’t pay 
(i.e., allowance for bad debts), customers who may have the 
right to return products they’ve purchased (i.e., allowance 
for product returns), for customers who may have the right 
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to take discounts from sales prices after the point of sale, and 
for sales prices that may still be negotiable even after the 
point of sale. Companies must establish reasonable reserves 
and allowances for these types of items in the financial state-
ments to ensure that expenses are properly recorded and 
matched against net sales revenue (a subject discussed ear-
lier in this chapter). Again and in the same vein as the timing 
issue, companies often “massage” (or if you like, “abuse”) this 
calculation in order to manage financial statement results.

3. Channel stuffing: Channel stuffing is utilized by companies 
that are attempting to reach sales revenue goals (e.g., at the end 
of a quarter or year) to meet targets set by either internal man-
agement or external party expectations. Basically what happens 
is that large sales orders are processed at the end of a period to 
meet the goals established by pushing sales out the door to cus-
tomers that may not need the products currently. This results 
in building unneeded or excessive inventory in the system as 
the end customer may not consume the products immediately. 
Further, the end customer may actually have the right to return 
excessive products that are not used or resold, which raises the 
question of establishing appropriate reserves to account for the 
customer’s right to return products. More than a few compa-
nies have suffered mightily from employing this strategy. 

Now, let’s compare HSI and TTI’s DSO calculations for the 
fiscal year ending 12/31/11 as presented in Exhibit 7.4.

Hmmmmm, interesting results for HSI, the total DSO is 89 
days while for TTI, it’s a more reasonable level of roughly 50 
days. What could be driving such different results? As we proceed 
through the book, the answers become clear. 

In short, there are several serious problems surrounding 
accounting for sales. Therefore, a business should make clear 
in the footnotes to its financial statements the basic accounting 
method it uses for recording sales revenue.

EXHIBIT 7.4—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DSO 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

DSO—HareSquared, Inc. 89.45

DSO—TortTech, Inc.

Total Trade Receivables $  2,025,000 

Total Annual Sales Revenue $14,677,000

Average Monthly Sales $  1,223,083 

Average Days in a Month                 30 

Days Sales O/S in Trade Receivables            49.67 



8
COST(S) OF GOODS SOLD EXPENSE 

AND INVENTORY
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Exploring Our Second Critical Link

Chapter 7 provides a close examination on the connection 
between sales revenue and accounts receivable. As we progressed 
through the chapter, various issues were identified relating to how 
companies record accounts receivable and recognize sales revenue 
in their financial statements, which provide a company’s manage-
ment with, shall we say, a certain amount of leeway. But if you 
thought the accounting for sales revenue and accounts receivables 
was flexible, you haven’t seen anything yet as differing (but com-
pletely valid) costs of goods sold expense and inventory account-
ing methods are available for use (as well as abuse) by company 
management, which can significantly impact a businesses operat-
ing results. 

Countless examples, case studies, and other articles have been 
presented over the years related to inventory fraud and include 
everything from electronics (Crazy Eddie’s) to salad oil (the famous 
Salad Oil Swindle) to copper wire (Laribee Wire Manufacturing 
Company not valuing inventory to market). Unfortunately, the 
reason for so many examples is based on the fact that when com-
panies get desperate, inventory manipulation is often one of the 

easier areas to fool the auditors with (as auditing inventory is dif-
ficult, complex, and often cumbersome). 

Similar to the concepts discussed in Chapter 7 on sales and 
accounts receivables, the idea behind providing the examples on 
various types of unsavory accounting issues is to highlight the 
importance of not just understanding the connection between the 
income statement and balance sheet accounts but more impor-
tantly, to help you really understand what the financial statements 
of a company are saying about its results. 

So to start this chapter, we present Exhibit 8.1, which, as noted 
in Chapter 7, highlights the key connection between cost of goods 
sold expense in the income statement and the inventory asset in the 
balance sheet. 

As the material in this chapter is reviewed in more detail, it is 
important to recall that HSI sells both products and services to its 
customers. This is an important concept to remember as costs of 
goods sold expense does not just relate specifically to just products 
sold but also includes the direct costs for employee wages and other 
expenses incurred to support the “service” segment of their business.



EXHIBIT 8.1—COSTS OF GOODS SOLD AND INVENTORY

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold:
  Direct Product Costs $  5,280 
  Wages, Burden, and Other Direct Costs $  3,876 
  Total Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 
Gross Profit $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $  8,400 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     700 
Operating Earnings $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $    372 
Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 
Inventory, LCM $    880 
Prepaid Expenses $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 
Accumulated Depreciation $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets $    650 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 
Other Assets $      75 

Total Other Assets $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 8,127 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $    732 
Accrued Expenses $    604 
Current Portion of Debt $    400 
Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 

Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity

Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 550,000
Outstanding —> 2011 $ 3,000 

Retained Earnings $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity $    878 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 

Assumes roughly 60 days, or a 
little over one month, of inventory 
is on hand at the end of the year 
to support product sales into the 

next year.

$880/$(5,280/12) * 30 Days = 
60 Days
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What Is in Costs of Goods Sold Expense?

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Costs of goods sold expense come in all shapes, sizes, forms, and 
structures and are not limited to just products sold from inventory. 
For a large service company such as a law firm, costs of goods 
sold includes the direct labor costs incurred for staff that are 
billed to a customer. For an Internet-based social media company, 
costs of goods sold expense generally includes the direct costs 
of “hosting” the site (for expenses incurred from a company such 
as Rackspace). The point is, each company and industry include 
different types of expenses in costs of goods sold expense to 
properly capture its true gross profit and gross margin. While there 
are no set and fast rules as to what should be recorded as costs 
of goods sold expense versus say general and administrative 
expense, the basic concept is that any expense incurred that is 
directly related (and varies specifically with sales revenue) to the 
generation of sales revenue would be considered costs of goods 
sold expense.

Cost of goods sold expense means just that—the costs of all 
products, services, and related expenses sold to customers dur-
ing the year, which are directly related to the generation of sales 
revenue. The revenue from the sales is recorded in the sales rev-
enue account, which is reported just above the cost of goods sold 
expense in the income statement (see Exhibit 8.1). Cost of goods 
sold expense is generally the largest expense (but not always) in a 
company’s income statement, which for HSI is 110 percent of its 
selling, general, and administrative expenses for the year. 

Putting cost of goods sold expense first, at the head of the 
expenses, is logical because it’s the most direct and immediate cost 
of selling products and services. Please recall that this expense is 
deducted from sales revenue in income statements so that gross
margin is reported there—see Exhibit 8.2 for an example of the 
top portion of an income statement that reports gross margin. 
Although gross margin is not shown on a separate line in Exhibit 
8.1, in order to focus on the key connections of income state-
ment and balance sheet accounts, we can’t emphasize enough the 
importance of gross margin (which is also commonly referred to 
as gross profit but different as profit is generally associated with 
dollars and margins with percentages).

The word gross emphasizes that certain additional expenses 
have not been deducted from sales revenue yet. There are more 
expenses that must be deducted to arrive at bottom-line profit 
(net income). Gross profit is the starting point for earning an 
adequate final, bottom-line profit for the period. In other words, 

the first step is to sell products for enough gross profit so that all 
other expenses can be covered and still leave an adequate remain-
der of profit. Chapters 10 and 11 discuss the company’s other 
expenses.

You can do the arithmetic and determine that cost of goods 
sold expense equals 49.7 percent of sales revenue. Therefore, 
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gross margin equals 50.3 percent of sales revenue. Exhibit 8.2 
provides a quick calculation to support these results.

EXHIBIT 8.2—GROSS MARGIN CALCULATION

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Gross Margin:

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412

Costs of Goods Sold Expense $  9,156

Gross Profit $  9,256

Gross Margin    50.3%

The business sells different products and services, some for 
more than 50.3 percent gross margin and some for less. In total, 
for all products and services sold during the year, its average gross 
margin is 50.3 percent—which is fairly typical for a broad cross 
section of businesses that sell both products and services. It should 
be noted that gross margins can vary widely by industry type as 
for Internet-based tech giants such as Facebook, gross margins 
can reach and exceed 70 percent whereas for a large retail com-
pany like Best Buy, gross margins are often south of 25 percent. 
The real key in understanding costs of goods sold expense is to be 
familiar with the norms and standards for reporting this expense 
by industry. 
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Holding Products in Inventory before They Are Sold

In this section, we focus on explaining and examining the more clas-
sic direct link between inventory (of tangible products) and costs of 
goods sold expense for product costs only. Additional direct links 
between costs of goods sold expense and current liabilities are exam-
ined in Chapters 9 and 10, which provide an additional perspective 
on how costs of goods sold expense is connected to the balance sheet. 

So to start, let’s refer to Exhibit 8.1 for our case study com-
pany HSI as if you recall from Chapter 6, the company sells both 
products and services to its customers. To sell products, most 
businesses including HSI must keep a stock of products on hand, 
which is called inventory. If a company sells products, it would be 
a real shock to see no inventory in its balance sheet (it is possible, 
but highly unlikely). Notice in Exhibit 8.1 that the line of con-
nection is not between sales revenue and inventory, but between 
costs of goods sold expense and inventory. The inventory asset is 
reported at cost on the balance sheet, not at its sales value.

The inventory asset account accumulates the cost of the prod-
ucts purchased or manufactured over time. Acquisition cost stays 
in an inventory asset account until the products are sold to cus-
tomers. At the time of sale, the cost of the products is removed 
from inventory and charged out to cost of goods sold expense. As 
a side note, products may become nonsalable, be stolen or dam-
aged, and/or lose value in some other capacity, in which case their 
cost should be written down or removed from inventory and the 
amount is charged to cost of goods sold or some other expense. 
This event is discussed at the end of the chapter.

Critical Terminology Alert

Inventory values often include a reference to LCM, which stands 
for Lower of Cost or Market. The concept behind LCM is to ensure 
that if at any time, the value of the inventory drops below the net 
realizable sales value, the inventory value must be reduced or 
written down to reflect the lower value. For example, if a technology 
retailer purchased computers for resale at $700 per item and then 
as a result of rapid technology change, the retail fair market value 
of these items (i.e., what the customer would be willing to pay) 
decreased to $600, the technology retailer must per generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) reduce the value of 
inventory to an amount below $600 to recognize the decrease in 
market value. But I might caution the reader that it’s one thing for 
a company to understand LCM accounting guidelines but applying 
them on a consistent basis is an entirely different manner.

HSI’s inventory balance at year-end—$880,000 in the example— 
is the cost of products awaiting sale next year. The $9,156,000 
deducted from sales revenue in the income statement is the cost of 
goods that were sold during the year, which includes both prod-
ucts sold and direct costs of services provided to customers. The 
product portion of the costs of goods sold is $5,280,000. For pre-
sentation purposes in Exhibit 8.1, we have broken out the portion 
of costs of goods sold that relates directly to product sales and that 
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which relates to the sale and support of annual software licenses 
(referred to as wages, burden, and other direct costs of sales). 
None of the products sold were on hand in year-end inventory.

HSI maintains a warehouse for storage of the inventory until 
the goods are sold and delivered to customers. Some products 
are sold quickly, almost as soon as purchased from the supplier. 
Other products sit in the warehouse many weeks before being 
sold. This business, like most companies, sells a mix of different 
products—some of which have short holding periods and some 
relatively long holding periods.

In the example, the company’s average inventory holding period 
for all products is 60 days, or roughly 8.5 weeks on average. This 
time interval includes any acquisition and production process 
time and the warehouse storage time. For example, a product may 
take two weeks to secure and configure for sale and then be held 
in storage three weeks, or vice versa. 

Usually only one combined inventory account is reported in an 
external balance sheet, as shown in Exhibit 8.1. Internally, how-
ever, many separate inventory accounts are reported to managers 
for more detailed evaluation and analysis purposes (a topic dis-
cussed further in Chapter 23).

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Our case study company, HSI, operates a business that is more of 
a distributor or reseller of products as opposed to a manufacturer 
of products (as it buys products to resell rather than manufacturing 
the products from the ground up). So for this company, you would 
generally see one type of inventory accounted for, that is, “finished 
goods” (as the products it buys from other companies in a readily 
salable condition does not require further manufacturing). For 
manufacturers, they generally report three types of primary inventory 
including “raw material” (base material that will be eventually used 
to produce finished products but which has not yet been released to 
the manufacturing process), “work-in-process” inventory (products 
still in the process of being manufactured), and “finished goods” 
(completed inventory ready for delivery to customers).

Critical Ratio Alert

As with accounts receivable, the same commonly used and critical 
business ratio is used to evaluate how many days of inventory 
are on hand at any given time. This is also referred to as the days
sales outstanding but is applied to inventory compared to costs of 
goods sold as opposed to accounts receivable compared to sales 
revenue. Exhibit 8.3 calculates the number of days sales HSI has 
outstanding in inventory at the end of the year. 

EXHIBIT 8.3—DSO OR DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING IN 

INVENTORY

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Sales O/S in Inventory:

Total Inventory $   880 

Total Annual Costs of Goods Sold Expense, Products $5,280

Average Monthly Costs of Goods Sold Expense $   440 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Days Sales O/S in Inventory   60.00 

Notice in Exhibit 8.1 that the company’s ending inventory 
balance is $880,000. The main point is that the average inven-
tory holding period determines the size of inventory relative to 



84    Cost(s) of goods sold expense and inventory 

If the holding period is longer than necessary, too much capital 
is being tied up in inventory. Or, the company may be cash poor 
because it keeps too much money in inventory and not enough in 
the bank.

To demonstrate this key point, suppose that with better 
inventory management (e.g., implementing a JIT or just in time 
inventory management system) the company could have reduced 
its average inventory holding period to, say, five weeks. This 
would be a rather dramatic improvement. But modern inven-
tory management techniques such as supply-chain management 
promise such improvement. If the company had reduced its 
average inventory holding period to just 5 weeks or 35 days, 
its ending inventory would have been approximately $508,000 
($5,280,000 * 5/52).

In this scenario ending inventory would be $372,000 smaller 
($880,000 versus $508,000). The company would have needed 
$372,000 less capital, or would have had this much more cash bal-
ance at its disposal.

Caution: With only five weeks’ inventory, the company may be 
unable to make some sales because certain products might not 

annual cost of goods sold expense. The longer the manufactur-
ing and warehouse holding period, the larger is the inventory 
amount. Business managers prefer to operate with the lowest level 
of inventory possible, without causing lost sales due to products 
being out of stock when customers want to buy them. The reason 
for this is twofold. First, investing in excess inventory consumes 
capital or cash (which costs the company money). Second, hold-
ing inventory too long increases the risk of obsolescence (a hot 
issue in the technology world given the speed of change and inno-
vation) and resulting losses. 

In addition to the inventory DSO ratio calculation, we can also 
evaluate and calculate HSI’s inventory turnover ratio as presented 
in Exhibit 8.4.

Just like our analysis of accounts receivable, time is of the 
essence, as generally the quicker or faster the inventory turns over, 
the more positive this will be received by various parties. What 
interests internal managers, as well as the company’s creditors 
and investors, is how long the company holds inventory before 
products are sold. We think the inventory turnover ratio is most 
meaningful when used to determine the number of weeks (or days 
if you prefer) that it takes before inventory is sold.

Is 8.5 weeks too long? Should the company’s average inventory 
holding period be shorter? These are precisely the key questions 
business managers, creditors, and investors should get answers to. 

EXHIBIT 8.4—INVENTORY TURNOVER RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Inventory Turnover Ratio

Total Annual Costs of Goods Sold Expense $5,280

Total Inventory $   880 

Inventory Turnover Ratio     6.00 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

It is important for readers of financial statements that a clear 
understanding of what constitutes costs of goods sold is obtained. 
In Exhibit 8.1, if the DSO inventory calculation was based on the 
total costs of goods sold figure of $9,156,000, the output would 
have resulted in a DSO for inventory of roughly 35 days. This 
compares to 60 days when the product only portion of costs of 
goods sold is used. The results are very different and emphasize 
the need to drill into financial statements and reports to ensure the 
most accurate and meaningful analyzes are completed. 
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be available for immediate delivery to customers. In other words, 
if overall inventory is too low, stock-outs may occur. Nothing is 
more frustrating, especially to the sales staff, than having willing 
customers but no products to deliver to them. The cost of carry-
ing inventory has to be balanced against the profit opportunities 
lost by not having products on hand ready for sale.

In summary, business managers, creditors, and investors should 
watch that the inventory holding period is neither too long nor too 
short. Call this the Goldilocks test, if you would. If too long, capital 
is being wasted; if too short, profit opportunities are being missed. 
Comparisons of a company’s inventory holding period with those of 
its competitors and with historical trends provide useful benchmarks.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

Accounting for cost of goods sold expense and the cost of inven-
tory is beset with many problems and challenges with the follow-
ing three topics being extremely tricky:

1. Inventory valuation methods: Let’s throw a few terms and 
acronyms at you including FIFO, LIFO, standard cost, aver-
age cost, LCM (previously discussed), and yes, even FMV or 
fair market value (an inventory valuation method used in the 
precious metals industry). Each one of these acronyms and 
terms represent a valid GAAP-approved accounting cost-
ing method to determine the cost of inventory. What makes 
inventory valuation methods so tricky lies not in just try-
ing to understand what each one of these valuation methods 
really means but more importantly, realizing that two like 
businesses can use different inventory costing methods to 
calculate operating results (thus producing different gross 
profit and gross margin results). 

Suppose a business has acquired two units of a product, 
the first for $100 and the second for $104. The business sells 
one unit of the product. What is the correct cost to remove 
from the inventory asset account and to record in cost of 
goods sold expense? Accountants have come up with dif-
ferent ways to answer this question: $100 (first-in, first-out 
or FIFO); $102 (average cost); and, $104 (last-in, first-out 
or LIFO). All three methods are acceptable. Different busi-
nesses use different methods.

It should be noted that because a business has a choice 
of inventory accounting methods, it should reveal its cost 
of goods sold expense and inventory costing method in 
the footnotes to its financial statements (as well as when 
significant adjustments are made to valuing inventory). 
Unfortunately, inventory footnotes are often very technical 
and difficult to understand. We discuss footnotes to finan-
cial statements in Chapter 21.

2. Inventory costing: Businesses that manufacture the prod-
ucts they sell can have serious challenges in determining the 
total cost per unit of the different products they produce. 
Believe us, calculating the actual total costs of manufactur-
ing a product is no walk in the park, all direct, indirect, and 
overhead costs must be accounted for when determining 
the ending inventory cost per unit. By this we mean that 
all direct raw material consumed, all labor costs incurred, 
and all overhead required to produce products must be 
accounted for in the ending inventory cost per unit (in 
some capacity). To say that accountants use a fair amount of 
subjective estimates or “judgment” with this process might 
be the understatement of the year as adding even further 
complexity to this issue is that product costs fluctuate over 
time as period to period, year to year, product costs move 
up or down based on internal and external factors that are 
constantly changing. 
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College and university accounting programs offer one 
entire course on this topic (usually called cost accounting), 
which needless to say can really punish nonaccountant types 
(that for some reason, elect to take this course). A primary 
problem that this course attempts to tackle is how indirect 
production costs are allocated. That is, how should the allo-
cation of indirect production costs to the different products 
produced be determined? For example, how should you 
allocate the cost of security guards who patrol many pro-
duction departments, or the depreciation on the production 
plant in which hundreds of different products are manu-
factured? The answer, my friend, may be best understood 
by referring to the song lyrics written by Bob Dylan “The 
answer, my friend, is blowin’ in the wind.”

3. Inventory reserves: The same concept as discussed with sales 
revenue and accounts receivable as it relates to establish-
ing reserves to account for potential valuation impairments 
applies to inventory as well. If you remember, a reserve or 
allowance is a contra account used to account for and record 
potential losses or decreases in value of an asset like inven-
tory over a period of time. Two terms you should become 
very familiar with as it relates to calculating and recording 
reserves against the value of inventory are slow moving and 
obsolete inventory. Slow-moving inventory are items that still 
have a market but tend to not sell quickly and have lower 
inventory turnover ratios (refer to previous discussion). 
Obsolete inventory is exactly what it sounds like. That is, 
the inventory is obsolete and basically has no viable market 
to sell the items into. The point with each is that a company 
must establish reserves or valuation allowances to account 
for this type of inventory to ensure the financial statements 
are fairly presented. 

Special attention really needs to be paid to the concept of 
inventory reserves not just at the “accounting” level but just 
as importantly, at the “reporting” level. For example, let’s say 
a company reduces or “writes down” the value of inventory 
due to losses from falling sales prices, lower replacement costs, 
technological obsolescence, damage and spoilage, and shrinkage 
(shoplifting and employee theft). The losses may be recorded in 
the cost of goods sold expense account by one company, or be 
put in another expense account and reflected as a one-time “hit” 
to the income statement by another. Companies do not always 
disclose where the losses from these write-downs are recorded.

Again, let’s compare HSI and TTI’s DSO calculations for the 
fiscal year ending 12/31/11, as presented in Exhibit 8.5. 

In this case, there is no difference between the two companies, 
which is very different from our DSO in calculation for accounts 
receivable presented in Exhibit 7.4. This would appear to indicate 

EXHIBIT 8.5—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DSO INVENTORY

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

DSO—HareSquared, Inc.—Exhibit 8.3   60.00 

DSO—TortTech, Inc.

Total Inventory $   684 

Total Annual Costs of Goods Sold Expense, Products $4,104

Average Monthly Costs of Goods Sold Expense $   342 

Average Days in a Month        30 

 Days Sales O/S in Inventory   60.00 
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that both companies are utilizing similar inventory management 
methods (which may include both companies receiving the same 
basic terms from the product supplier). Yet when the P&Ls for 
both companies are compared for the fiscal year ending 12/31/11, 
HSI is generating a profit while TTI is incurring large losses. 
Another mystery in the accounting world, which is fully explained 
as you move the remaining chapters.

In summary, you might think that a business would select the 
method that gives it the best match with its sales revenue, to get 
the best measure of gross margin. Generally speaking, the best 
method would be the one that is most consistent with how the 
business sets its sales prices. But this logic does not always prevail. 
A business selects a cost of goods sold method for other reasons, 
and the method may or may not jibe with its sales pricing policies.



9
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Examining Our Third Link, with a Twist

In Chapters 7 and 8, the primary link or connection examined was 
between the balance sheet and income statement (i.e., accounts 
receivable to sales and inventory to costs of goods sold expense). 
In this chapter, our attention turns to discussing a connection, 
which is of critical importance but only deals with the balance 
sheet. That is, the link between inventory and accounts payable. 
But before we delve into the more technical aspects of the con-
nection, one key concept needs to be understood as to why this 
connection is so important—cash!

Anyone who has  managed a business understands that when 
operating conditions get tight and cash balances come under 
stress, one of the most common and easy areas to target to improve 
cash levels is to take it out on your vendors. Whether these ven-
dors supply just inventory or extend terms to pay for professional 

services, companies of all shapes, sizes, and forms will look to 
“leverage” their vendors as much as possible to increase the time 
they have to pay the outstanding invoices, thus holding onto cash 
longer (which can be utilized in other areas of the business). And 
by the way, this strategy is not limited to just companies that are 
experiencing a rough patch as some of the biggest and baddest 
global businesses have taken this strategy to an entirely new level. 

Pay particular close attention to any section titled “Seller 
Beware” as this section spells out that basically, you will get paid 
when your product actually sells. This type of strategy is not just 
limited to QVC as some of the largest retailers in the world also 
lean heavily on vendors to provide favorable terms with a very 
simple trade-off being present—provide extended terms to get 
your products in front of millions of customers.
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Acquiring Inventory on the Cuff

To start with, please refer to Exhibit 9.1, which highlights the 
connection between inventory and accounts payable. This chap-
ter focuses primarily on the connection between the inventory
asset account in the balance sheet and the accounts payable liability 
in the balance sheet but will also make reference to how accounts 
payable levels can greatly influence cash. 

Virtually every business reports accounts payable in its balance 
sheet, which is a short-term, noninterest-bearing liability arising 
from buying services, supplies, materials, and products on credit. 
One main source of accounts payable is from making inventory
purchases on credit, which our case study company HSI uses 
aggressively. A second source of accounts payable is from expenses
that are not paid immediately. Therefore, at this point we divide 
the total balance of the company’s accounts payable liability into 
two parts, one for each source (refer to Exhibit 9.1 again).

The previous two chapters connect an income statement account 
with a balance sheet account. In this chapter we look at a connec-
tion between two balance sheet accounts. The linkage explained in 
this chapter is not about how sales revenue or an expense drives an 
asset, but rather how inventory drives its corresponding liability.

In our example HSI purchases all of the products it sells. 
That is, HSI is a reseller or distributor of products and not 
the primary manufacturer of the products. HSI’s purchases are 
made on credit; the company doesn’t pay for these purchases 
right away. Also, other product inventory management costs are 
bought on credit. For example, once a month the public utility 
sends a bill for the gas and electricity used during the month on 

the warehouse where the products are stored, and the company 
takes several weeks before paying its utility bills. As you probably 
know, a business has to maintain its credit reputation and good 
standing to continue buying supplies, materials, and products on 
credit.

Retailers and wholesalers (distributors) don’t make the products 
they sell; they buy products and resell them. The products they 
buy are in a condition ready for resale or nearly ready for resell as 
in our example, HSI must complete some basic configuration on 
the products prior to final shipment to the customers. Unless they 
have lousy credit ratings retailers and wholesalers buy on credit 
and they have accounts payable from inventory purchases. 

On the balance sheet shown in Exhibit 9.1, the company’s 
$403,000 liability for inventory purchases on credit is presented as 
the first of two accounts payable amounts. The company’s selling, 
general, and administrative expenses also generate accounts pay-
able; the total amount of these unpaid bills ($329,000) is shown as 
the second accounts payable liability amount (see Exhibit 9.1 again). 
We discuss the second source of accounts payable in Chapter 10.

Typically, a company’s inventory holding period is considerably 
longer than its purchase credit period. In other words, accounts 
payable are paid much quicker than it takes to sell inventory bought 
on credit. In this example, the company’s average inventory holding 
period from the point of purchase to final sale of products averages 
66 days or roughly 9 weeks. But the company has to pay its accounts 
payable in approximately 27 days or a little under four weeks, on 
average. How do we know this? Exhibit 9.2 provides the answer.
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Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold:
  Direct Product Costs $  5,280 
  Wages, Burden, and Other Direct Costs $  3,876 
  Total Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 
Gross Profit $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $  8,400 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     700 
Operating Earnings $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 
Net Income (loss) before Income Taxes $       76 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    372 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 
  Inventory, LCM $    880 
  Prepaid Expenses $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets  $    650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 
  Other Assets $      75 

Total Other Assets $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 8,127 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    403 
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    329 
  Accrued Expenses $    604 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 

  Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 
Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 

  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity

  Capital Stock - 800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011

$ 3,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity  $    878 

Total Liabilities & Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 

Approximately 66 days, or roughly 
two months worth of inventory is 
on hand compared to accounts 

payable (for inventory). 
$880/$403 * 30 days = 66 Days

What this means is that inventory 
vendors and suppliers are 

providing roughly 50 percent of 
the financial support related to the 

inventory asset.
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The inventory holding period is derived by taking the ending 
inventory balance of $880,000, divided by the total accounts payable 
balance for inventory of $403,000 and then multiplying this figure by 
30 days (in an average month). This produces a result of roughly 66 
days, which means that it is taking HSI a little more than two months 
from the point of original inventory purchase to sell the inventory. 

The inventory supplier payment terms is focused on evaluat-
ing just how much credit is being provided to the company by its 
product suppliers. This calculation takes total annual costs of goods 
sold expense for products of $5,280,000 divided by 12 months to 
come up with an average monthly costs of goods sold expense for 
products of $440,000. Then, the total accounts payable balance 
for inventory of $403,000 is divided by $440,000 and multiplied by 
30 days (in an average month) to produce a result of 27 days and 
indicates that in short, HSI gets a free ride for the first 27 days or 
roughly four weeks of holding inventory because it waits this long 
before paying for its purchases on credit. However, the remaining 
39 days or roughly five weeks of its inventory holding period have 
to be financed from debt and stockholders’ equity sources of capital. 

It should be noted that for most businesses, purchases are paid 
over a wide range of periods. Some purchases may be paid for 
quickly to take advantage of prompt payment discounts offered by 
vendors. For other purchases, the business may take six weeks or 
longer to pay vendor invoices. Based on its experience and poli-
cies, a business knows the average purchase credit period for its 
inventory-related purchases. 

Critical Ratio Alert

In Chapters 7 and 8, we calculate the days sales outstanding (DSO) 
for accounts receivable and inventory, respectively. We can use 
the same logic when analyzing inventory and costs of goods sold 
expense for products against accounts payable as well with the 
calculations presented in Exhibit 9.2

EXHIBIT 9.2—INVENTORY HOLDING PERIOD AND 

SUPPLIER PAYMENT TERMS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Inventory Holding Period:

Inventory, LCM $   880 

Total Accounts Payable—Inventory $   403 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Average Days Inventory Held from Point of Purchase        66 

Inventory Supplier Payment Terms:

Total Annual Costs of Goods Sold, Products $5,280

Average Monthly Costs of Goods Sold, Products $   440 

Total Accounts Payable—Inventory $   403 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Average Inventory Supplier Payment Terms        27 
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Critical Terminology Alert

A common term you will hear as it relates to vendors when they 
provide payment terms to customers is the reference to Net30 or 
N30 (for example). What this is referring to is that payments are 
due for the net amount of the invoice in 30 days from the invoice 
date (thus the reference to N). N40 would indicate that payments 
are due in 40 days from the invoice. To expand on this, you may 
see a reference to the term 1%10, N30. This indicates that if the 
customer pays within 10 days of the invoice date, a 1 percent 
discount can be taken on the net amount of the invoice. If not, the full 
amount of the invoice is due within 30 days of the invoice date. So if 
$150,000 was owed on an invoice with these terms and paid within 
10 days, the payment to the vendor would be reduced by $1,500 
with a payment of $148,500 forwarded. The reason discounts are 
provided by suppliers is to primarily accelerate payments and also, 
some larger customers are given added incentives and benefits (as 
a result of their importance and large purchasing commitments). 
Needless to say, the benefits to the purchaser are squarely centered 
on receiving a handsome discount, which should reduce costs and 
increases profits. For cash-rich customers who have no better use 
for excess cash balances, paying early and taking discounts is often 
an attractive alternative to parking excess cash in a money market 
account earning less than 1 percent (as taking a 1 percent discount 
to pay 20 days early roughly equates to an equivalent borrowing rate 
of 18 percent per annum). 

Economists are fond of saying that “there’s no such thing as 
a free lunch.” With this in mind, calling the four-week delay in 
paying for purchases on credit a free ride is not entirely accurate. 
Sellers that extend credit set their prices slightly higher to com-
pensate for the delay in receiving cash from their customers. In 
other words, a small but hidden interest charge is built into the 
cost paid by the purchasers.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

seriously overdue (i.e., way beyond their due dates for pay-
ment). Suppose, for instance, that half of the company’s 
accounts payable are two or three months overdue. In this 
situation the business should disclose the overdue amount in 
the footnotes to its financial statements. If large enough or 
if in fact the payment of accounts payable is renegotiated to 
extend past one year (a common occurrence during the Great 
Recession), then the proper classification of accounts payable 
between current and long-term should be presented in the 
financial statements. 

 ◆ Seniority/security: Financial statement readers are generally 
entitled to assume that the company’s accounts payable credi-
tors (the parties to whom it owes money) do not have senior 
or prior claims ahead of other creditors and debt holders of 
the business. In other words, the accounts payable creditors are 
assumed to be general creditors of the business, with no special 
claims on the assets of the business (i.e., unsecured creditors). 
If in fact the accounts payable creditors have unusual rights for 
payment against the business, these abnormal claims should be 
disclosed in the footnotes to its financial statements. 

Several serious accounting issues concerning inventory are dis-
cussed at the end of Chapter 8. In sharp contrast, there are rela-
tively few accounting problems (when compared to inventory) 
concerning the accounts payable liability. But there are some 
and they are primarily centered on disclosure, classification, and 
seniority/security related issues. 

 ◆ Disclosure: Financial statement readers are entitled to 
assume that the amount reported for accounts payable is 
the amount that will be paid in the near future (generally 
three months or less). Suppose, however, that a business is in 
the middle of negotiations with one or more of its accounts 
payable creditors regarding prices and other terms and that 
disagreements are present that involve material (significant) 
amounts. In this situation, the business should make a disclo-
sure about these negotiations in the footnotes to its financial 
statements.

 ◆ Classification: Here is another important point: Financial 
statement readers are entitled to assume that the accounts 
payable are current, which means that the liabilities are not 
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certain large account payable liabilities into long-term repayment 
plans (requiring separate disclosure), which assisted with cash flow 
management. This story had a happy ending as both companies were 
able to survive and prosper (with this agreement being an important part 
of the survival strategy) while their competitors fell by the wayside. 

The following real world story highlights just how important 
this issue was for two companies.

Real World Story

Company A was in the business of operating a number of retail jewelry 
stores in certain markets. Company B was in the business of providing 
Company A with base and finished products. The Great Recession 
hammered both companies but particularly Company A, which saw 
sales slide, losses increase, and cash resources dwindle to a point where 
supplier payments had to be restricted. In order to solve this problem, 
Company B agreed to continue to provide Company A with product 
but under a new agreement that basically “consigned” the inventory to 
Company A, which was documented by Company B filing public Uniform 
Commercial Code (UCC) statements to disclose to the market that it 
had a secured interest in the products. Further, Company A restructured 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Prior to the Great Recession, which started in 2008, the issue 
of accounts payable creditors securing senior position in claims 
against company assets was generally not a problem (as credit was 
readily available). However, the financial meltdown really forced 
creditors to rethink this strategy as once capital and liquidity dried 
up, everyone quickly learned how important it was to have some 
type of security claim against another company’s assets (when 
applicable). For certain creditors such as professional service 
providers (think lawyers and accountants), this strategy really 
doesn’t work but for other creditors that provide tangible products 
or material, having a “secured” claim against the assets, which are 
delivered to a customer (operating on shaky ground) provided just a 
little more assurance and support that payment would be received.  

EXHIBIT 9.3—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—INVENTORY 

HOLD PERIODS AND SUPPLIER PAYMENT TERMS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.:

  Average Days Inventory Held from Point of Purchase       66 

  Average Inventory Supplier Payment Terms       27 

TortTech, Inc.:

Inventory, LCM $   684 

Total Accounts Payable—Inventory $   376 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Average Days Inventory Held from Point of Purchase        55 

Inventory Supplier Payment Terms:

Total Annual Costs of Goods Sold, Products $4,104

Average Monthly Costs of Goods Sold, Products $   342 

Total Accounts Payable—Inventory $   376 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Average Inventory Supplier Payment Terms        33 



Inventory and accounts payable    97

Exhibit 9.3 catches up on our case study comparison, which 
compares the inventory holding periods and inventory supplier 
payment terms for both HSI and TTI.

In summary, it would appear that TTI is selling its inventory a 
little quicker (55 days compared to 66 days) and getting slightly 
better terms from its suppliers than HSI (27 days compared to 33 
days). Or, it may indicate that HSI is taking advantage of supplier 
provided early payment discounts and paying quicker. Again, the 
ability to really delve into the detailed financial information for 
both companies would provide external parties with a clearer pic-
ture (before incorrect conclusions are drawn). 

We may not need to emphasize this, but accounts payable 
are noninterest-bearing and should not be intermingled with 
the interest-bearing debts of the business. As you see in Exhibit 9.1, 
interest-bearing liabilities (notes payable) are reported in separate 

liability accounts. By the way, long-overdue accounts payable may 
begin to accrue interest at the option of the creditor, again an 
event that took on an entirely new meaning during the Great 
Recession. 

We should mention that the disclosure standards we discuss 
here for accounts payable are not necessarily complied with in 
actual financial reports. You don’t see much disclosure about 
accounts payable in business financial statements. We think a 
business should make full disclosure in its financial reports. But in 
fact companies are cut a lot of slack in the area of accounts pay-
able. You don’t find detailed information about its accounts pay-
able liability in a company’s financial statements, even though this 
particular liability may be more than 10 percent of a company’s 
total assets and may be larger than its cash balance at the balance 
sheet date (as it is in our business example).
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The Connection Is Important but Let’s Start with the Basics

All businesses incur operating expenses. Alternatively, these expenses 
are commonly referred to as Op. Ex., selling, general, and adminis-
trative expenses (SG&A), just general and administrative expenses 
(G&A), or a hybrid of these names. The name really isn’t what is 
as important as understanding what an operating expense is ver-
sus what a costs of goods sold expense is. On the surface, this may 
appear to be very straightforward but when investigated further, 
you see as many different interpretations of what should be an 
operating expense versus what should be accounted for as costs 
of goods sold expense, as there are political opinions expressed in 
Washington, DC on a weekly basis. A boatload! 

The following mini–real world–based case study highlights two 
companies that treat the exact same expense in a different manner.

Mini–Real World Case Study

Company A and B operated with similar business models but accounted 
for one expense in a different manner—merchant credit card fees. 
Merchant credit card fees are fees incurred by any company that 
accepts credit cards (and debit cards or PayPal for that matter) as a 
form of payment. Although these fees may vary significantly, for smaller 
businesses the fees tend to average around 2.5 percent to 3 percent 
of the amount collected. Company A accounted for this expense as a 
direct cost of goods sold as a large percentage of customers elected 
to pay using credit cards (and thus, this expense tended to vary directly 

with sales levels). Company B accounted for this expense as SG&A as 
a smaller percentage of customers elected to pay with credit cards. The 
end result was that Company A’s gross profit and margin (refer to Chapter 
8) was slightly lower than Company B’s gross profit and margin due to 
this classification decision. But when looking further, Company B not 
only had higher operating expenses (given that the merchant credit card 
fees were classified as SG&A expenses) but, in addition, had a slightly 
higher interest expense (as Company B had to borrow more to support 
higher trade accounts receivable balances compare to Company A, 
which secured quicker payments via accepting credit card payments). 

Three questions come to mind. First, why is this type of exam-
ple even provided? Well the answer is simple in that as any busi-
ness owner, manager, executive, and/or employee has witnessed 
during the past five years, the economy is quickly moving toward 
utilizing more and more types and forms of electronic payments 
that all will carry different risks and expense structures (that must 
be evaluated by each business in terms of determining what forms 
of payments will be accepted). 

Second, you may ask why Company A elected to accept a large 
amount of payments via credit cards because sacrificing 2 percent 
to 3 percent from each sales dollar appears high. Well the answer is 
simple and is based on two key concepts—improved cash flow and 
lower collection management expenses. Not only could Company 
A accelerate payments, thus having lower accounts receivable lev-
els requiring reduced levels of borrowing (driving down interest 
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expense), but more importantly, losses from bad debts and asso-
ciated collection costs (both internal staff and external collec-
tion services) are reduced as more assured forms of payments are 
received. This trade-off needs to be evaluated by all companies 
in order to determine what is the appropriate strategy to utilize.

Third and last, you may ask why this classification is even impor-
tant as in the end, whether these expenses are accounted for as costs 
of goods sold expense versus operating expenses, the company’s net 
income will be the exact same. The answer lies in how external 

parties may interpret results. If one company has a gross margin of 
61 percent, and another company has a gross margin of 59 percent 
(both not unusual margin levels for technology companies), the 
higher gross margin company may be viewed more “favorably” by 
external financing types and assume a higher value proposition is 
present with the company that has the higher gross margin. 

Again, the concept of how financial information is presented 
and what story (and value proposition) it tells needs to always be 
considered when reading financial reports.
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Recording Expenses before They Are Paid

So now that we have explored the expense classification issue 
(and that both inventory accounted for as costs of goods sold and 
noninventory items accounted for costs of goods sold are con-
nected to trade accounts payable) we turn our attention to the 
link between operating expenses in the income statement and the 
second of the two accounts payable components in the balance sheet 
(as highlighted in Exhibit 10.1 on accounts payable and operating 
expenses).

Recall from Chapter 9 the two sources of accounts payable—
from inventory purchases on credit, and from expenses not paid 
immediately. Chapter 9 explains the connection between inven-
tory and accounts payable. This chapter explains how expenses 
drive the accounts payable liability of a business.

Every business in the world has a wide variety of operating
expenses. The term operating does not include cost of goods sold, 
interest, income tax expenses, and a variety of other nonoperating 
type expenses (too many to list but almost always present for busi-
nesses). Also, in our example the company’s depreciation expense 
is reported separately. All other operating expenses are com-
bined into one conglomerate account labeled Selling, General, and 
Administrative Expenses (see the income statement in Exhibit 10.1). 

Day in and day out, many operating expenses are recorded 
when they are paid, at which time an expense account is increased 
and the cash account is decreased. But some operating expenses 
have to be recorded before they are paid—which is the focus of 
this chapter.

Operating expenses is the convenient term that we use in the col-
lective sense to refer to many different specific expenses of run-
ning (operating) a business enterprise. In this business example, 
the annual depreciation expense on the company’s long-lived, 
fixed assets is shown as a separate expense. So, the $8,400,000 
total amount of selling, general, and administrative expenses does 
not include depreciation. (It would if the depreciation expense 
were not reported separately.) And, to remind you, the $8,400,000 
total for operating expenses does not include cost of goods sold, 
interest, and income tax expenses, which are reported separately 
in the income statement.

Operating expenses include the following specific expenses (in 
no particular order):

 ◆ Rental of buildings, copiers, trucks and autos, telephone system 
equipment, and other assets (not used in the direct manufac-
turing process).

 ◆ Wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, and other compensa-
tion paid to managers, office staff, salespersons, warehouse 
workers, security guards, and other employees. (Compensation 
of production employees is included in the cost of goods man-
ufactured and becomes part of inventory cost and eventually 
costs of goods sold.)

 ◆ Payroll taxes and fringe benefit costs of labor (commonly 
referred to as payroll burden), such as health and medical plan 



EXHIBIT 10.1—OPERATING EXPENSES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 
Gross Profit $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $  8,400 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     700 
Operating Earnings $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    372 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 
  Inventory, LCM $    880 
  Prepaid Expenses $      75 

Total Current Assets $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (350)

Net Fixed Assets $    650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 
  Other Assets $      75 

Total Other Assets $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 8,127 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    403 
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    329 
  Accrued Expenses $    604 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 

  Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 
Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 

  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity

  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011 $ 3,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity $    878 

Total Liabilities & Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 

Key relatonship and 
connection but better 
understood when 
compared to both 
accounts payable and 
accrued expenses.
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specific expense accounts. In their external financial reports, how-
ever, most publicly owned corporations report only one, two, or 
three operating expenses. For instance, advertising expenses are 
reported internally to managers, but you don’t see this particular 
expense in many external income statements.

As we mention earlier, some operating expenses are recorded 
when they are paid—not before, nor after. The business records 
an expense and decreases cash. This chapter focuses on another 
basic way that operating expenses are recorded—by increasing 
the accounts payable liability. (Following chapters explain other 
ways of recording operating expenses and the asset and liability 
accounts involved.)

contributions by the employer and the cost of employee retire-
ment plans (a difficult cost to measure for defined benefit plans 
but not so difficult to 401[k] and other types of defined con-
tribution plans). Again, if the payroll burden is associated with 
wages paid to production employees, it would be captured as 
a cost of goods manufactured and becomes part of inventory 
costs and eventually costs of goods sold.

 ◆ Office and data processing supplies.
 ◆ Telecommunication expenses including telephone (hard and 

mobile lines), fax (for those out there that still use faxes), 
Internet, and website costs.

 ◆ Inventory shrinkage due to shoplifting and employee theft or 
careless handling and storage of products; the cost of goods 
stolen and damaged may be recorded in the cost of goods sold 
expense or, alternatively, classified as an operating expense.

 ◆ Liability, fire, accident, and other insurance costs.
 ◆ Utility costs of electricity and fuel.
 ◆ Advertising and sales promotion costs, which are major expen-

ditures by many businesses.
 ◆ Bad debts, which are past-due accounts receivable that turn out 

to be not collectible and have to be written off.
 ◆ Transportation and shipping costs.
 ◆ Travel and entertainment costs.

This list is not all-inclusive. We’re sure you could think of 
many more expenses of operating a business. Even relatively small 
businesses keep 100 or more separate accounts for specific oper-
ating expenses. Larger business corporations keep thousands of 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Let’s face it, one of the most tried and proven methods to improve 
cash balances and internal cash flows when “things are tight” is 
to look straight to your vendors and request (or push) for longer 
payment terms. First, a week is added, then two, and before you 
know it, payment terms have been stretched from Net20 (meaning 
the total payment is due in 20 days from invoice date) into whatever 
the customer feels like paying. Watching trade payable balances for 
unreasonable and/or unusual increases can be an excellent tip-off 
that the company is experiencing some type of internal pressure to 
improve its liquidity. 

It would be convenient if every dollar of operating expenses 
were a dollar actually paid out in the same period. But, as this and 
later chapters demonstrate, running a business is not so simple. 
The point is that for many operating expenses a business cannot 
wait to record the expense until it pays the expense. As soon as a 
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liability is incurred, the amount of expense should be recorded. 
The term incurred means that the business has a definite responsi-
bility to pay a third party, outside the business.

A liability is incurred when a company takes on an obligation 
to make future payment and has received the economic benefit of 
the cost in operating the business. Recording the liability for an 
unpaid expense is one fundamental aspect of accrual-basis account-
ing. Expenses are accrued (i.e., recorded before they are paid) so 
that the amount of each expense is deducted from sales revenue 
in order to measure profit correctly for the period. You may want 
to quickly review Chapter 4 that explains recording expenses (and 
profit accounting in general).

For an example, suppose on December 15 a business receives 
an invoice from its attorneys for legal work done for the company 
over the previous two or three months. The end of the compa-
ny’s accounting (fiscal) year is December 31. The company will 
not pay its lawyers until next year. This cost belongs in this year, 
and should be recorded in the legal expense account. Therefore, 
the company records an increase in the accounts payable liability 
account to record the legal expense.

This is just one example of many; other examples include bills 
from newspapers for advertisements that have already appeared in 
the papers, telephone bills, and so on. Generally speaking, liabili-
ties for unpaid expenses are for short credit periods, typically one 
month or less and do not carry any type of interest charges. 

In Exhibit 10.2, note that the year-end amount for this com-
ponent of accounts payable is $329,000 for HSI. When compared 
to the average monthly operating expenses of $700,000, the esti-
mated days of operating expenses outstanding in trade payables 
is just 14 days (or two weeks). To a naked eye, this would appear 
to be very low as it basically states that on average, vendors are 
only providing roughly two weeks of credit payment terms to 
the company. But this is where this calculation can be misleading 

Critical Ratio Alert

Similar to calculating days sales outstanding in accounts receivable 
and inventory, a similar analysis can be completed for selling, 
general, and administrative expenses and accounts payable as 
displayed in Exhibit 10.2.

EXHIBIT 10.2—DAYS OPERATING EXPENSES O/S IN 

TRADE PAYABLES

 Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables

  Total Trade Payables—Operating Expenses $   329 

  Total Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $8,400

  Average Monthly SG&A Expenses $   700 

  Average Days in a Month        30 

  Days SG&A Expenses O/S in Trade Payables   14.12 

as remember, operating expenses include all types of expenses, 
which do not receive extended credit payment terms including 
employee wages, facility rents (almost always paid in advance), 
and other items. So a word of warning with this calculation as the 
results can be misleading. 

In summary, operating costs that are not paid immediately are 
recorded in the accounts payable liability account both to rec-
ognize the obligation of the business to make payment for these 
costs, and to record expenses that have benefited the operations 
of the business so that profit is measured correctly for the period. 



106    Operating expenses and accounts payable 

In other words, there is both an income statement and a balance 
sheet reason for recording unpaid expenses.

There’s no question that accounts payable should be recorded 
for expenses that haven’t been paid by the end of the account-
ing year. However, the recording of unpaid expenses does not 

immediately decrease cash. Actual cash outflow occurs later, when 
the accounts payable are paid. Chapter 4 briefly introduced the 
cash flows side of revenue and expenses. Chapter 17 is a compre-
hensive explanation of the cash flow aspects of making profit and 
the statement of cash flows.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

One may not think that a large number of accounting issues are 
related to operating expenses and accounts payable but as noted 
at the start of this chapter, this is a false assumption. A number of 
accounting issues are potentially present with these items as sum-
marized in three areas:

1. Operating expense classification: As summarized at the start 
of this chapter, proper and consistent classification of oper-
ating expenses is essential to understanding a company’s real 
economic operating performance. Changing, moving, or 
reclassifying operating expenses (from above the operating 
income or earnings before interest, [income] tax, deprecia-
tion, and amortization [EBITDA] line to below the oper-
ating income or EBITDA line) is a common tactic used 
by businesses to ensure the desired operating results are 
achieved on a periodic basis.  

2. Cutoff and materiality: One of the most common and chal-
lenging issues confronting accountants is based on the con-
cept of implementing proper cutoff procedures to ensure all 
liabilities (including trade payables) are properly accounted 
for in the correct period. This is often much easier said 
than done, especially for larger companies that deal with 
thousands of third-party vendors, all with different invoic-
ing processes. Further, all accountants must deal with 
the concept of materiality when determining whether an 
obligation should be recorded or not (in a specific period). 

For a company that generates $100 million a year in rev-
enue, booking an expense telecommunication services for 
$860 in one period or the next period is not going to make 
much of a difference. However, overlooking (whether inten-
tional or not) a $14,000 invoice from an attorney that was 
billed late represents a much more serious question. 

3. Balance sheet classification: Accounts payable are by default, 
very short-term unsecured debt obligations that should be 

EXHIBIT 10.3 CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DAYS 

OPERATING EXPENSE O/S

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables

—HareSquared, Inc. 14.12

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables

—TortTech, Inc.

Total Trade Payables—Operating Expenses $   307 

Total Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $8,400

Average Monthly SG&A Expenses $   700

Average Days in a Month        30

Days SG&A Expenses O/S in Trade Payables   13.17
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paid within 90 days or less (and carry no interest). Although 
this is generally the case, economic conditions can change 
that result in what were previously reported accounts pay-
able now becoming something more of an installment 
debt. Numerous companies during the Great Recession 
had to resort to working out longer-term repayment deals 
with vendors and suppliers (to work through a period of 
very tight liquidity and credit availability), thus turning an 
account payable into a hybrid long-term debt instrument 

(some taking years to repay). So be aware of aging and 
increasing account payable balances as this is indicative of 
a company having cash flow issues and pushing on vendors 
that may actually result in long-term debt being created 
(without anyone even realizing it). 

Exhibit 10.3 compares our two case study companies, which 
really tells the same basic story when looking at the average days 
of operating expenses outstanding in accounts payable. 



11
ACCRUING LIABILITIES FOR INCURRED 

BUT UNPAID EXPENSES
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Understanding Hidden Risks with This Connection

Chapter 10 is dedicated to understanding the connection between 
known operating expenses and accounts payable. That is, when 
a vendor or supplier presents an invoice to a company for pay-
ment (for inventory, operating expenses, etc.), the invoice is pro-
cessed and recorded directly into accounts payable. This chapter 
dives into the much more “subjective” concept of accruing lia-
bilities for incurred but unpaid expenses. For some incurred but 
unpaid expenses, there really isn’t much subjectivity present as 
the expense can be easily quantified and calculated to determine 
within a high degree of reason what the final expense will be. 

A perfect example of this is based on commission expense for 
sales representatives who are paid when cash payment for the 
trade receivable is actually received. For example, if $2,000,000 
of trade receivables are outstanding at the end of the month and 
a company pays a 5 percent commission to the sales representa-
tives when final payment from the customer is received, a total of 
$100,000 of accrued commission expense would be present and 
recorded as an accrued liability in the balance sheet. The reason 
for this accrual is based on the matching principle as if sales rev-
enue of $2,000,000 has been recorded, all associated expenses 
with this sales revenue need to be recorded and properly matched 
against sales revenue.

But now let’s move from understanding relatively easy accruals 
for incurred but unpaid expenses to far more complex subjects, 
one of which is near and dear to Tage’s heart (based on his past 
accounting experience), mining reclamation costs. In a nutshell, 

large mining operations (think coal, gold/silver, base metals, tim-
ber, etc.) must reclaim the land they mine back to a state of origi-
nal condition and environmental safety after the mining effort is 
completed. Alright, this is easy enough to understand and it makes 
perfect sense but think about this for a moment. Some mines will 
be in an operating status for decades and are required to estimate 
the total amount of mine reclamation costs that will be incurred 
sometime in the future, and then realize a portion of these costs 
each year in their financial statements to properly match the 
future cost of reclaiming the land against the current cost of pro-
ducing the material. That is, these mining companies can’t simply 
mine all of the viable materials from the site and record earnings 
based only on its current direct and known costs (which would 
grossly overestimate the profitability of the operation), and then 
at the very end, take a “charge” or expense to account for the final 
known reclamation costs. Again, the matching principle must be 
adhered to in order to ensure the reporting of periodic profits and 
losses are as accurate as possible.

Newmont Mining Corporation is one of the world’s largest gold 
mining companies and brings to light the potential hidden risks 
with this connection (between operating expenses and accrued 
liabilities). That is, accruing for unknown future expenses is highly 
subjective and based on numerous future factors, events, and/or 
conditions that can quickly change and result in large adjustments 
to previously recorded accrued liabilities (but which at the origi-
nal time of estimating the liability, were considered accurate and 
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highly defendable). And to make matters even more complicated, 
the accrual of these expenses then needs to be reported in the bal-
ance sheet as either current (anticipated to be paid within one 
year) or long-term (anticipated to be paid after one year). While 
most companies do report accrued expenses as a current liability, 
there are a number of situations that require the expense accrual to 

be allocated between current and long term where the long-term 
portion is significantly higher than the current portion. 

The mother of all potential accrued liability time bombs is cen-
tered squarely on the problems faced by a large number of munic-
ipalities, states, and even companies as it relates to underfunding 
of pension obligations.
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Recording the Accrued Liability for Operating Expenses

Please refer to Exhibit 10.1 at the start of Chapter 10, which high-
lights the connections between selling, general, and administrative 
expenses in the income statement and both trade payables and the 
accrued expenses liability in the balance sheet. This connection is 
based on the same concept discussed with our mining reclamation 
example noted earlier—unpaid expenses at year-end are recorded 
so that the full, correct amount of expense is recognized in mea-
suring profit for the year.

Chapter 10 explains that a business records certain expenses as 
soon as the bills (invoices) are received for these operating costs, 
even though it doesn’t pay the bills until weeks later. This chap-
ter explains that a business has to go looking for certain unpaid 
expenses at the end of the period. No bills or invoices are received 
for these expenses; they build up, or accrue over time.

For instance, the business in our example pays its salesper-
sons commissions based on their individual sales each month. 
Commissions are calculated at the end of each month, but are not 
paid until the following month. At year-end, the sales commis-
sions earned for the final month of the year have not been paid. To 
record the increase in this expense, the company makes an entry 
in the liability account accrued expenses payable, which is a different 
sort of liability than accounts payable.

The accountant should know which expenses accumulate over 
time and make the appropriate calculations for these unpaid 
amounts at year-end. A business may not receive an invoice (bill) 

for these expenses from an outside vendor or supplier and if it 
does, it may take weeks, months, or in some cases even years to 
receive (thus the need for the accrued liability). In the case of a 
commission, a business has to generate its own internal invoices 
to itself, as it were. Its accounting department must be especially 
alert to which specific expenses need to be accrued.

In addition to sales commissions payable, a business has several 
other accrued expenses that should be recorded at the end of the 
period; the following are typical examples:

 ◆ Accumulated vacation and sick leave pay owed to employees, 
which can add up to a sizable amount.

 ◆ Partial-month telephone and electricity costs that have been 
incurred but not yet billed to the company.

 ◆ Property taxes that should be charged to the year, but the busi-
ness has not received the tax bill by the end of the year.

 ◆ Warranty and guarantee work on products already sold that 
will be done in the future; the sales revenue has been recorded 
this year, so these postsale expenses also should be recorded in 
the same period to match all expenses with sales revenue.

 ◆ Any potential legal and/or professional fees that have been 
incurred but not yet received (as professional firms are notori-
ous slow billers). 
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 ◆ Potential contingencies and commitments that may arise from 
reasonably assured but currently unknown future obligations 
(e.g., mining reclamation, settlement of a law suit). 

increases in worker’s compensation insurance costs, which have further 
squeezed margins (and earnings that eventually turn into cash). 

So what a number of stronger staffing companies have done is 
implement what is known as a self-funded worker’s compensation 
insurance program to help manage expenses and cash flows. Traditional 
worker’s compensation insurance is provided to staffing companies in 
the form of an estimated premium paid each month, in advance. This 
is just like home owners insurance premiums you might pay on your 
home (in advance, for the year). With self-funded worker’s compensation 
insurance programs, a much smaller premium is paid in advance and then 
when actual injury claims are incurred and eventually paid, the staffing 
company pays the claims at that future date (and not in advance). This 
offers two benefits. First, cash payments are deferred 12 to 36 months 
(improving current cash balances) depending on how the claim settles. 
Second, the staffing company has the opportunity to proactively manage 
safety and claims activity, which hopefully reduces the actual expenses 
(compared to a regular insurance program). 

You may ask how this impacts accrued liabilities and the question is 
relatively straightforward. The staffing company is required to estimate 
and record future worker’s compensation insurance claims as an expense 
against current earnings, thus building a liability for future claims. This 
strategy is not for the faint of heart and financially weak is it requires 
internal resources to implement and execute but it does highlight how 
a company can use an accrued liability to improve cash balances (and 
hopefully reduce expenses).

Failure to record accrued liabilities for unpaid expenses could 
cause serious errors in a company’s annual financial statements—
liabilities would be understated in its balance sheet and expenses 
would be understated in its income statement for the year (just 
think of our staffing company story but without any expenses 
accrued for potential injury claims). A business definitely should 
identify which expenses accumulate over time and record the 
appropriate amounts of these liabilities at the end of the year.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

As noted in Chapter 10, companies often look to their vendors and 
receive extended payment terms on accounts payable balances 
when extra cash is required. This same logic holds for accrued 
liabilities as well as for companies that have become extremely 
creative and clever when it comes to using strategies that defer 
and/or extend cash payments related to expenses recorded in the 
current income statements. The following real world story highlights 
how one company implements this type of strategy.

Real World Story

The personnel staffing industry or as it is more commonly known, the temp
industry, has a relatively simple business model. That is, it bills a temporary 
employee at $25 per hour and pays the temporary employee $15 an hour to 
earn a gross markup per hour of $10. However, this is far from the actual net 
markup earned per hour as the staffing company is responsible for payroll 
taxes, unemployment insurance, worker’s compensation insurance (our 
focal point here), and other benefits. The bottom line is that $10 per hour 
earnings can quickly be whittled down to $5 after all costs are considered. 

This industry has had to face a number of challenges over the 
past decade, two of which have directly impacted cash balances and 
accrued liabilities. The first issue deals with how customers pay or more 
precisely, how they tend to stretch payments to staffing companies (and, 
in effect, use them as a financing company). The problem for the staffing 
company is that its cash flow gets squeezed as customers take longer 
to pay. To add insult to injury, the industry has had to endure numerous 
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Critical Ratio Alert

Expanding on our theme in chapter 10 and as presented in 
Exhibit 10.2, we now offer Exhibit 11.1 which calculates the days 
of operating expenses outstanding for both trade payables—
operating expenses and accrued expenses. 

EXHIBIT 11.1—DAYS OPERATING EXPENSES O/S IN 

TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables and Accrued Expenses

Total Trade Payables—Operating Expenses $   329 

Total Accrued Expenses $   604 

Subtotal $   933 

Total Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $8,400

Average Monthly SG&A Expenses $   700 

Average Days in a Month        30 

Days SG&A Expenses O/S in Trade Payables and Accrued 
Expenses   40.00 

both trade payables and accrued expenses, we obtain a more com-
plete picture of the current liability structure of the company in 
relation to operating expenses. The fact is, some companies have 
more trade payables than accrued expenses while others have less 
but by combining these figures, the results tend to get smoothed 
out and make more sense. 

So is roughly six weeks right for a typical business? Well, it’s 
difficult to generalize from business to business. We’d say that six 
weeks is more or less average, but keep in mind that every busi-
ness is different.

We might mention that it is not unusual that the ending bal-
ance of a company’s accrued expenses payable is larger than its 
accounts payable for unpaid operating expenses. In our business 
example, the ending balance of its accounts payable for operating 
expenses is $329,000 (from Exhibit 11.1), which is a little less than 
half as much as its $604,000 accrued expenses payable at the end 
of the year.

Speaking of accounts payable, some businesses merge accrued 
expenses payable with accounts payable and report only one lia-
bility in their external balance sheets. Both types of liabilities are 
noninterest-bearing. Both emerge out of the operations of the 
business, and from manufacturing or purchasing products. For 
this reason they are sometimes called spontaneous liabilities, which 
means they arise on the spot, not from borrowing money but 
from operating the business. Grouping both types of liabilities 
in one account is acceptable under financial reporting standards, 
although many companies report them separately.

Changes in accounts payable and accrued liability balances can 
have significant impacts on cash flow, which we explain in Chapter 
17. The changes in the balances of these two liabilities have cash 
flow impacts that are important to understand.

One thing that should quickly jump out is that the figure cal-
culated in Exhibit 10.2 of 14.1 days is much lower than the 40 
days calculated in Exhibit 11.1 (or just under six weeks). The rea-
son for this is that HSI has a much larger accrued expense figure 
that has helped “balance” this calculation. That is, by combining 
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

Accruing incurred but unpaid expense as liabilities is a much 
trickier issue than accounting for normal and recurring accounts 
payable for a number of reasons. We focus on three issues that can 
be particularly nasty:

1. Use of estimates: The single largest accounting issue asso-
ciated with accruing liabilities for operating expenses is 
based on the use of estimates. We have to tell you that the 
accrual of the liability for unpaid expenses depends on the 
good faith of the business in doing the calculations of these 
amounts—many of which involve arbitrary estimates and 
forecasts. This step in the accounting process can be easily 
used for massaging the numbers. This pejorative term refers 
to the deliberate manipulation of amounts recorded for sales 
revenue and expenses in order to record a higher (or lower) 
amount of profit for the period. (See also our discussion of 
this unsavory topic in Chapter 25.)

All we can do here is caution you that some businesses lay a 
heavy hand on the amounts recorded in their sales revenue and 
expense accounts, in order to smooth profit year to year or to give 
the profit for the year an artificial boost. These companies do not 
disclose in their financial statements that they have manipulated 
their accounting numbers to nudge profit up (or down).

2. Reliance on outside experts: A number of estimates 
and information used to calculate accrued liabilities are 

straightforward and require just basic math and business 
knowledge. However, more complicated estimates gener-
ally require the use of external professionals such as actu-
arial experts (project future insurance claims), financial 
professionals (project pension plan obligations), and others. 
Although these parties may be expert on a specific subject 
matter, they may not be familiar with the economic struc-
ture of a business and/or can be inappropriately influenced 
by a heavy-handed regulatory group (think bank regulators 
right now). Translation, their estimates and projections can 
be ripe with potential errors, just like with the use of inter-
nal estimates. 

3. Changing economic and industry conditions: Finally, dra-
matic changes in economic, legislative, legal positions, 
environmental, and/or legal conditions can have a signifi-
cant impact when estimating future expenses and record-
ing the appropriate accrued liability. A perfect example of 
this lies in battles fought between multinational corpora-
tions to protect patents and other trade secrets. At the end 
of one period, a strong position may be held that a company 
has not infringed on a patent and has little legal exposure 
(and potential settlement risk). The next year, when tried in 
another country with different or new laws, the case could 
have a significantly different outcome. Just ask Apple and 
Samsung.
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The bottom line when accounting for incurred but unpaid 
expenses and recording accrued liabilities is simple. The longer 
time period until the liability must be paid and the more com-
plex the potential liability is, the greater chance of a material mis-
statement in the financial statements. So when reviewing financial 
statements, place extra scrutiny on these types of accruals and 
expenses to really understand the potential impact on operating 
results.

As for our case study, let’s compare the results of the expanded 
days of operating expenses outstanding in both trade payables and 
accrued expenses in Exhibit 11.2.

Here, a slightly different result is produced compared to the 
figures calculated in Exhibit 10.3 as based on this calculation, HIS 
has roughly 14 days of operating expenses outstanding in just 
trade payables compared to TTI’s figure of 13 days (not much of 
a difference at all). Now,  HSI has closer to 40 days compared to 
TTI’s 28 days which amounts to 12 extra days, or almost two full 
weeks, of added extra support (for lack of a better term) available 
from various third-party vendors, suppliers, and other parties. 

Please refer to Chapter 13, which provides an update on our 
companies and overviews the operating results for both in more 
detail (as it relates to the critical ratios and performance measure-
ments calculated in Chapters 7 through 12).

EXHIBIT 11.2—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DAYS 

OPERATING EXPENSES O/S AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables and

Accrued Expenses—HareSquared, Inc.   40.00

Days Operating Expenses O/S in Trade Payables and

Accrued Expenses—TortTech, Inc.

Total Trade Payables—Operating Expenses $   307 

Total Accrued Expenses $   340 

Subtotal $   647 

Total Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $8,400

Average Monthly SG&A Expenses $   700 

Average Days in a Month        30 

  Days SG&A Expenses O/S in Trade Payables and Accrued 
Expenses

   27.74 
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE—
A LIABILITY AND ASSET?
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Why the Income Tax Connection Can Be Very Confusing

We’ve all heard it, time and time again, to everyone’s (or at least 
most everyone’s) amazement and frustration: How do some of 
the world’s largest and most profitable companies pay little or no 
income tax in the United States?

Although the purpose of this chapter is not to focus on explain-
ing and educating the reader on just how some of the largest 
U.S. corporations minimize income tax liabilities to basically 
zero (while reporting record profits) the goal of the chapter is 
to delve into the relatively complex subject matter of income tax 
expense and how it can impact different sections of the balance 
sheet, including both assets and liabilities, current or long term. 
It’s really quite rare that one income statement expense account 
has the ability to impact so many sections of the balance sheet but 
then again, this should come as no surprise given the complexity 
of the Internal Revenue Code.

But before we dive into the muck and really get our hands dirty, 
a somewhat expanded understanding of taxes (not just income) is 
worth covering to put you in the proper frame of mind (or should 
I say, frustrated state of mind) and gain a little more insight on just 
how burdensome and complex tax compliance can be. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Over the past 10 years, the following acronym has worked its way 
into the vocabulary of most businesses: SALT. This stands for state 
and local taxation. The reason for this is based on the fact that almost 
all states, cities, counties, and municipalities across the country 
have been starved for cash to support continued operations. So 
their response to this cash shortage has been to become even more 
aggressive on the tax compliance and collection efforts, pursuing 
receipts for everything from sales and use taxes, to property taxes, 
to payroll taxes, to excise taxes, to unclaimed property taxes, to 
you name it (taxing a business at every opportunity). The good 
news is this chapter does not address these subjects in any detail 
as it is beyond the scope of the book. As for our tip, well this is 
simple. First, if you are a business owner, make sure you secure 
proper professional support to proactively manage SALT-related 
matters. Parties that review the financial statements and observe 
added liabilities for SALT matters, or increased disclosures in 
footnotes related to SALT matters, should realize that could be just 
the tip of the iceberg for the company. (One nasty SALT matter 
tends to fester into multiple matters.) But the reason SALT has been 
mentioned is that all too often parties are consumed with the IRS 
being the biggest tax headache for a business when in fact, it’s 
every state, city, county, and so on that can quickly become the 
nightmare.
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Taxation of Business Profit

Critical Terminology Alert

From a taxation standpoint, there are basically two types of 
businesses. Those that pay income taxes at the entity level and 
those that pass through taxable income or losses to the owners of 
the company (and thus, the income taxes are paid at the owner or 
individual level, which includes subchapter S corporations, most 
partnerships, and limited liability companies, although LLCs do 
have the option to be treated as a taxable entity or a pass-through 
entity). So when you hear the phrase or term A Pass-Through Entity,
this refers to a business legal structure that has the taxable income 
or loss allocated to the owners or individuals of the company (where 
the any tax liability is addressed). This is why there generally is no 
income tax expense reported in the income statement for pass 
through entities, as no income taxes are due by the entity itself.

The business in this example is a regular, or so-called C corpo-
ration. This type of income tax entity is subject to double taxation 
of business profit—first in the hands of the business corporation, 
and second in the hands of its stockholders (but only to the extent 
that net income after income tax is distributed as cash dividends to 
the shareholders). Other types of legal business entities avoid the 
double taxation feature, but all their annual taxable income passes 
through to their owners who have to include their respective 

To start, please refer to Exhibit 12.1, which highlights the connec-
tion between income tax expense in the income statement and the 
income tax payable liability in the balance sheet for HSI for the two 
years ending 12/31/11 and 12/31/12. The connection highlighted in 
Exhibit 12.1 represents what would be considered the most normal 
and customary relationship between income tax expense and income 
tax liability (Chapter 4 explained the accounting entry for recording 
income tax expense). That is, income tax expense is increased and 
the income tax liability is increased when a company generates a 
taxable income. The liability account is decreased as cash payments 
are made (and cash is decreased). Typically, not all of the income tax 
expense for the year is paid by the end of the year. In this company 
example, roughly 33 percent of its income tax expense for 2012, 
which is based on its taxable income for the year, has not been paid at 
year-end. This remaining balance, if classified as a current liability, 
should be paid in the near future. The unpaid portion stays in the 
company’s income tax payable liability account until paid.

The business in our example is incorporated as a regular C 
corporation; the business decided on this form of legal organiza-
tion (instead of a partnership, limited liability company, or sub-
chapter S corporation). A C corporation, being a separate person 
in the eyes of the law, has several important advantages. However, 
profit-motivated business corporations have one serious disad-
vantage—they are subject to federal and state income tax on their 
profits, or, to be more accurate, they owe tax based on their taxable
income, which is earnings before income tax.



Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412 $38,281
Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 $17,950
Gross Profit $  9,256 $20,331
Selling, General, and Administrative 
Expenses

$  8,400 $13,800

Depreciation and Amortization 
Expense

$     700 $     750 

Operating Earnings $     156 $  5,781 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76 $  5,781 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 $  1,288 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 $  4,493 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    372 $  9,053
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 $  6,800
  Inventory, LCM $    880 $  2,640
  Prepaid Expenses $      75 $     100
Total Current Assets $ 5,902 $18,593

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 $  1,250
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (350) $    (600)
Net Fixed Assets $    650 $     650

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 $  1,000
  Other Assets $      75 $       75
Total Other Assets $ 1,575 $  1,075

Total Assets $ 8,127 $20,318
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    403 $     728
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    329 $     595
  Accrued Expenses $    604 $     945
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $         0
  Income Taxes Payable $        0 $     429
  Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 $  8,250
Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 $10,947

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 $         0
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $         0
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 $         0

Total Liabilities $ 7,249 $10,947
Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011

$ 3,000 $  7,000

  Retained Earnings $(2,122) $  2,371
Total Owners’ Equity $    878 $  9,371

Total Liabilities & Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 $20,318

HareSquared, Inc.
Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending
12/31/2011

and
12/31/2012

EXHIBIT 12.1—INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND INCOME TAXES PAYABLE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Notice two items:
– For 2011, HSI generated 
a profit but realized no 
income tax expense 
and had no income tax 
payable liability.
– For 2012, HSI generated 
a profit, realized income 
tax expense, and had 
an income tax payable 
liability of roughly 1/3rd of 
the total year’s expense.
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shares of the company’s taxable income with their other sources 
of taxable income.

The first point to keep in mind is that a business corporation 
must earn taxable income to owe income tax. The simplest way to 
pay no income tax is to have no taxable income, or to have a loss 
for tax purposes. A business wants to earn profit, but earning a 
profit comes with the burden of sharing pretax profit with Uncle 
Sam and with the states that levy a tax on business profit earned 
within their borders.

A second point to keep in mind is that there are many loop-
holes and options in the federal income tax code—to say nothing 
about state income tax laws—that reduce or postpone income 
tax. We’re sure that you’re aware of the complexity of the fed-
eral income tax law. That’s an understatement, if we’ve ever 
heard one.

It takes thousands of pages of tax law to define taxable income. 
Most businesses use income tax professionals to help them deter-
mine their taxable income, and to advise them how to minimize 
the income taxes they must pay. In any one year, a business might 
take advantage of several different features of the tax code to min-
imize its taxable income for the year, or to shift taxable income 
to future years. But basically, taking advantage of the features 
boils down into one of two main types—timing versus permanent 
differences between generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) determined income and taxable income.

1. Timing differences: Timing differences are based on being 
able to take certain deductions in one period at the expense 

of another. A perfect example of this is based on different 
depreciation rates used for GAAP and tax reporting.

2. Permanent differences: Permanent differences are just like 
they sound, a permanent difference between GAAP and tax-
able income. One of the most common types of permanent 
differences relates to the deductibility of meals & entertain-
ment expense (restricted for tax purposes). 

While certainly not all inclusive, the aforementioned items 
due highlight some of the most common business timing 
and permanent tax differences but at the same time, fail to 
explain why certain large U.S. corporations have no income 
tax expense.

For our purposes, let’s keep things simple with the following 
two key assumptions for our sample company, HSI. 

1. The business pays both federal and state income taxes based 
on its taxable income (with both being lumped into one line 
item on the income statement, income tax expense). 

2. The accounting methods used to prepare its income state-
ment are exactly the same methods used to determine its 
annual taxable income. 

In our case study for HSI, the company’s earnings before income 
tax, for both GAAP and tax purposes, is $76,000 for 2011 and 
$5,781,000 for 2012 (refer to Exhibit 12.1). As you see in Exhibit 
12.1, the income tax for 2011 is $0, which is 0 percent of taxable 
income for 2011 and $1,288,000 for 2012, which is 22 percent of tax-
able for 2012 (which captures both federal and state income taxes). 
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Exhibit 12.2 expands on this analysis further and highlights a simple 
but important ratio that parties evaluate: the effective tax rate.

2. The effective income tax expense for 2012 of 22 percent 
is relatively low (compared to the highest federal and state 
income tax rates which combined, often reach 40 percent). 
The reason for this is that the company used a portion of its 
NOL to offset 2012 taxable income, along with using vari-
ous tax credits received.

3. Notice a negative income tax expense or a benefit for 2013. 
Is this possible? Well the answer is yes, as what HSI is indi-
cating is that the company is going to receive a refund of 
income tax expenses paid during 2012 by “carrying back” its 
2013 loss to the previous year.

As for the liability side of the equation, it’s important to note 
that the federal income tax law requires that a business make 
installment payments during the year so that close to 100 per-
cent of its annual income tax should be paid by the end of the tax 
year (or shortly thereafter). Actually, a small amount of the total 
annual income tax may not be paid by year-end without any pen-
alty (although this can get very complicated).

The company in this example paid most of its income taxes 
during the year. At year-end it still owes the federal and state tax 
authorities $429,000 of its annual income tax. The unpaid portion 
is reported in the income tax payable liability account, as you see in 
Exhibit 12.1.

In summary, it is important to note that the federal income 
tax law changes year to year. Congress is always tinkering with, 
or, shall we say, fine-tuning the tax code. Old loopholes are shut 
down; new loopholes open up. Tax rates have changed over time. 
For these reasons the fraction of annual income tax that is unpaid 
at year-end is hard to predict. However, if the year-end income 
tax liability were a large fraction of the income tax expense for the 
year, we’d advise you to take a closer look.

Critical Ratio Alert

Although easy to calculate, a company’s effective tax rate is widely 
monitored as an indication of just how well a company is managing 
its income tax liabilities compared to its peers, in addition to 
potentially identifying where added risks may be present in the 
financial statements. (If the income tax expense is unreasonably 
low, this could be viewed in a negative fashion and indicate the 
company is being too aggressive on the tax front.) Exhibit 12.2 
calculates the effective tax rate for HSI for 2011 through 2013.

EXHIBIT 12.2—EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

FYE FYE FYE

12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income before Tax $76,000 $5,781,000 $(1,285,000)

Income Tax Expense $         0 $1,288,000 $   (450,000)

Effective Income Tax Rate         0%           22%             35%

Well, these are interesting results with three distinct issues 
warranting further discussion. 

1. No income tax expense is present for 2011 but yet HSI gen-
erated a profit. This is due to the fact that HSI had what’s 
called a net operating loss (NOL) carry-forward available 
from a previous year to offset current year income taxes.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

The number of accounting issues associated with income taxes 
are, needless to say, extensive. So we attempt to summarize the 
primary areas of concern in three main subject areas:

1. Book/tax differences: A business may opt to use certain 
accounting methods to determine its annual taxable income 
that are different from the accounting methods used to 
report sales revenue and expenses in its GAAP income 
statement. Financial reporting standards require that the 
amount of income tax expense in the income statement be 
consistent with the amount of earnings before income tax in 
the income statement. The idea is to recognize a “normal” 
amount of income tax expense relative to the sales revenue 
and expenses above the income tax expense line (even if 
it is not currently due and payable). This normal amount 
of income tax is deducted to determine bottom-line net 
income after income tax.

For example, suppose a business reports $10,000,000 
earnings before income tax in its income statement, and that 
the normal income tax would be $3,500,000 on this amount 
of taxable income. However, the business uses different 
accounting methods for income tax, and its actual income 
tax owed for the year is only, say, $2,500,000. Further, let’s 

assume that this difference is only temporary and will even-
tually reverse itself such that in future years the business 
will owe more income tax than will be reported in its future 
income statements.

In this situation the business records the full $3,500,000 
amount of income tax, even though it owes only $2,500,000 
for the year. The additional $1,000,000 needed to get the 
income tax expense up to the full $3,500,000 normal amount 
is recorded in a deferred income tax liability account—on the 
grounds that sooner or later the business will have to pay 
the additional $1,000,000 to the government. This situation 
leads us to our next point. 

2. Income tax classification on the balance sheet: As noted to 
start this chapter, income tax expense can impact multiple 
sections of the balance sheet. If income taxes are due at the 
end of the year for the current year income tax expense, 
then this remaining balance due would be classified as a cur-
rent liability. If, however, a deferred income tax expense is 
present (as outlined in the previous bullet point), this may 
be recorded as a current liability or a long-term liability (if 
the eventual liability will be payable beyond 12 months).
On the flip side, if an overpayment of income tax payments 
has been made and a refund is due, then this overpayment 
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would be treated as a current asset in the balance sheet. This 
may occur when a company made estimated income tax pay-
ments of say $1,000,000 and at the end of the year, actually 
only owed $800,000. The $200,000 would be recorded as a 
current asset that could be returned via a refund request or 
applied to the next year’s income tax obligations. Finally, if 
a deferred income tax benefit is present (e.g., long-term tax 
credits available to the company, which will be used over a 
five-year period), then a long-term asset may be impacted by 
income tax expense (or in this case, benefit) in the balance 
sheet. 

So to help readers of financial statements, a company’s 
financial report should include a schedule reconciling 
the actual income tax owed for the year (based on taxable 
income for the year) with the normal income tax expense 
reported in the income statement. We regret to tell you 
that this is one of the most difficult schedules you’ll find in 
financial reports.

3. Interpreting and changing rules and regulations: Rules and 
regulations are constantly changing as a result of numer-
ous factors, but primarily based on economic consider-
ations. These changes may occur at the federal, state, and/or 
local levels, as well as with GAAP (which frequently update 
accounting rules). To make matters worse, a number of rules 
and regulations are subject to a fairly wide range of “interpre-
tations” by different parties. These types of uncertainties can 
create a number of problems including the situation where the 
amount of income tax expense recorded for the year and the 
corresponding balance sheet liability are subject to revision 

after the close of the year. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
may have disagreements with the income tax returns filed by 
the business, which could lead to a revision to the income 
taxes due and even worse, lead to an IRS full-scale audit.

I know it’s hard to believe but some businesses may actu-
ally push the envelope in interpreting the income tax law for 
determining annual taxable income. Or on the other hand, a 
business may play it straight in how it reads the law. Even so, 
the income tax law is very complex and not clear-cut on many 
points. In short, there’s always the possibility that the IRS may 
claim more income tax (or perhaps even make a refund).

There are many other problems in reporting income tax 
expense and income tax liabilities in business financial statements. 
These topics are very technical and beyond the scope of this 
book but do reinforce the concept that accounting for income 
tax expense is an example of the conditional and tentative nature 
of financial statements. The numbers reported in financial state-
ments might seem to be the final word on profit performance 
for the year and financial condition at the end of the year. But, 
in fact, financial statements are always provisional and subject 
to later revision. If errors are found sometime after the financial 
statements were first released to stakeholders in the business, and 
if these errors resulted in material misstatements of profit, cash 
flows, or financial condition, then the business is obligated to cor-
rect the errors and reissue its financial statements for the periods 
affected by the errors. All too often restatements are the result of 
fraud that wasn’t discovered until later.

We close this section with a comparison of our two case study 
companies’ effective tax rates as summarized in Exhibit 12.3.
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EXHIBIT 12.3—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—EFFECTIVE 

INCOME TAX RATE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Effective Income Tax Rate—
HareSquared, Inc. 0% 22% 35%

FYE FYE FYE

Effective Income Tax Rate—
TortTech, Inc.

12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income before Tax $(2,173,000) $2,351,000 $1,204,000

Income Tax Expense $               0 $              0 $              0 

Effective Income Tax Rate                0%              0%              0%

What’s interesting about our comparison is the fact that TTI 
has not realized or paid one dollar of income tax expense for the 
three-year period of 2011 through 2013. Did they hire General 
Electric’s tax accountants (a company well known for minimizing 
income tax liabilities)? I think not, as the answer is presented in 
Chapter 13 when we provide updates to our case study. 
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The Big Picture—Comparing Both Companies

To start our comparison we should note that it might be helpful to 
fast forward to Chapter 22, which discusses key financial statement 
ratios and performance measurements. A number of the ratios and 
measurements covered in this chapter are used as a base reference 
point when comparing the operating results of HSI and TTI. 

Exhibit 13.1 provides a macro-level comparison of our two 
case study companies’ operating results for the fiscal year ending 
12/31/12. We’ve only summarized certain key operating results 
and trends for ease of presentation and to emphasize certain points. 
Please refer to Exhibits 13.2 to 13.3 later in this chapter for more 
detailed support on how the results in Exhibit 13.1 were calculated. 

The long and short of our summary analysis appears to be 
straightforward. That is, with every measurement, HSI has out-
performed TTI for the fiscal year ending 12/31/12 as noted below:

 ◆ Sales revenue for HSI of $38,281,000 compared to $31,977,000 
for TTI (20 percent higher).

 ◆ Return on sales of 11.74 percent for HSI compared to 7.35 
percent for TTI.

 ◆ Net income of $4,493,000 generating basic EPS of $6.42 for 
HSI compared to net income of $2,351,000 and basic EPS of 
$4.27 for TTI.

 ◆  HSI finished the year with a positive net working capital posi-
tion of $7,646,000, a current ratio of 1.70, and a debt to equity 
ratio of 1.17. This compares to negative working capital of 
$2,779,000, a current ratio of .77, and a negative debt to equity 
ratio of 3.60 for TTI. 

So a simple conclusion on the performance of each company 
should be relatively clear in that HSI’s performance and outlook 
for the coming years is much better than TTI. But a word of 
caution is extended here as it relates to analyzing financial state-
ments and the operating results of companies. Simply put, when 
evaluations, examinations, analyses, and so on are completed, 
they are almost always based on “historical” operating results 
and financial information. What has already happened! And 
while historical financial and operating information is impor-
tant to analyze and understand, the Great Recession taught us 
just how quickly market conditions can change creating signifi-
cant upheaval and quickly turn a company’s fortunes into ruins, 
just like that. So the following tip is offered to assist you with 
gaining a more complete understanding of operating results by 
peeking into the future to gain more insight on the prospects of 
a business.
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The Income Statement: HareSquared, Inc. TortTech, Inc.

  Sales Revenue Growth Rate—CPAGR: 12/31/2012 12/31/2012

    Sales Revenue, Net—2010 $  9,207 $   7,969 

    Sales Revenue, Net—2011 $18,412 $ 14,677 

    Sales Revenue, Net—2012 $38,281 $ 31,977 

    Compounded Annual Growth Rate     104%      100%

  Return on Sales:

    Net Income $  4,493 $   2,351 

    Sales Revenue, Net $38,281 $ 31,977 

    Return on Sales  11.74%     7.35%

  Return on Average Equity:

    Net Income $  4,493 $   2,351 

    Average Equity—(End Balance Prior Year Plus 
End Balance Current Year)/2

$  5,125 $  (4,280)

    Return on Equity 87.68%         N/A

  Earnings per Share Basic

    Net Income $  4,493 $   2,351 

    Shares Outstanding        700         550 

    Basic Earnings per Share $   6.42 $     4.27 

The Balance Sheet:

  Net Working Capital:

    Total Current Assets $18,593 $   9,304 

    Total Current Liabilities $10,947 $ 12,083 

    Net Working Capital $  7,646 $  (2,779)

  Current Ratio:

    Total Current Assets $18,593 $   9,304 

    Total Current Liabilities $10,947 $ 12,083 

    Current Ratio       1.70        0.77 

  Debt to Equity:

    Total Liabilities $10,947 $ 13,883 

    Total Stockholders’ Equity $  9,371 $  (3,854)

    Debt to Equity Ratio       1.17       (3.60)

EXHIBIT 13.1—CASE STUDY COMPANIES COMPARATIVE 

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE FYE 12/31/12

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Securing enough business accounting and financial information to 
prepare forward looking financial statements, or proformas as they are 
commonly referred to, is the key piece to the puzzle when evaluating 
the complete financial condition and prospects of a company. 
There’s no doubt that understanding historical operating results and 
critical economic drivers of a business are important but the ability 
to take this understanding and build forecasts and projections to 
evaluate under what scenarios a business will survive and prosper 
versus under what conditions extreme financial stress will arise is the 
missing link with our current comparison of HSI and TTI. 

Years ago, the idea was to build forecasts or projections 
assuming low-, medium-, and high-case operating scenarios. Well, 
one more scenario has now been added, which is simply referred 
to as ARM. This stands for Armageddon or what happens to a 
business when all hell breaks loose.
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HareSquared, Inc. Update

Exhibit 13.2 presents HareSquared, Inc.’s (HSI) financial state-
ments for the three-year comparison period for the fiscal years 
ending 12/31/10 through 12/31/12. 

The following key financial statement highlights should be 
noted with HSI’s results (reference the letter below to the letter 
in Exhibit 13.2 to understand the topic):

The Income Statement 
A. Sales revenue: Very impressive sales revenue growth has 

been achieved from $9,207,000 in 2010 to $38,281,000 in 
2012 (representing a compounded annual growth rate of 
104 percent). 

B. Net income and earnings per share: HSI’s net income has 
improved from a net loss of $1,298,000 resulting in a nega-
tive earnings per share of $2.36 to a net profit of $4,493,000 
resulting in a positive earnings per share of $6.42. Again, 
very impressive as the company’s return on sales is 11.74 
percent for 2012 resulting in an ROE, or return on average 
equity, of 87.68 percent. 

The Balance Sheet
C. Working capital: HSI has a positive working capital bal-

ance of $7,646,000 at 12/31/12 and a current ratio of 1.70 

to 1.00. Both relatively good and indicative of both a solvent 
and liquid company. 

D. Long-term debt and stockholders’ equity: HSI raised 
$4,000,000 in new equity in 2012 and repaid all long-term 
and short-term debt. This has helped reduce the company’s 
financial leverage resulting in a debt to equity ratio of 1.17 
to 1.00 at 12/31/12.

The Statement of Cash Flows
E. Net cash flow from operating activities: HSI generated 

$6,531,000 of cash flow from operating activities of which 
net income contributed $4,493,000 (or 69 percent of the 
total). Very strong results again.

F. Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents: In total, HSI 
increased its cash balances by $8,681,000 during the year of 
which the majority was generated from operating activities 
and the balance from financing activities. Wow! HSI’s cash 
balances increased from just $372,000 at the end of 2011 
to $9,053,000 at the end of 2012, an increase of more than 
2,000 percent!

So in summary, HSI has strong revenue growth, high earnings, 
strong cash flow, but yet decided to raise more cash from selling 



Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    354 $    372 $  9,053 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 1,350 $ 4,575 $  6,800 
  Inventory, LCM $    495 $    880 $  2,640 
  Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 $     100 
Total Current Assets C $ 2,249 $ 5,902 $18,593

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $  1,000 $  1,250 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $    (350) $    (600)
Net Fixed Assets $    600 $     650 $     650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 2,000 $  1,500 $  1,000 
  Other Assets $      75 $       75 $       75 
Total Other Assets $ 2,075 $  1,575 $  1,075 

Total Assets $ 4,924 $  8,127 $20,318

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable $    406 $     732 $  1,323 
  Accrued Expenses $    216 $     604 $     945 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $     400 $         0 
  Other Current Liabilities $ 1,500 $  4,313 $  8,679 
Total Current Liabilities C $ 2,522 $  6,049 $10,947

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $  1,200 $         0 
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $         0 $         0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities D $ 1,600 $  1,200 $         0 

Total Liabilities $ 4,122 $  7,249 $10,947
Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2010

D $ 3,000 $  3,000 $  7,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,198) $ (2,122) $  2,371 
Total Owners’ Equity D $    802 $     878 $  9,371 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 4,924 $  8,127 $20,318

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Years Ending

12/31/2012

EXHIBIT 13.2—SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THREE YEARS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue, Net A $ 9,207 $18,412 $ 38,281 
Costs of Goods Sold $ 4,755 $  9,156 $ 17,950 
Gross Profit $ 4,452 $  9,256 $ 20,331 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $ 5,000 $  8,400 $ 13,800 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $    650 $     700 $      750 
Operating Earnings $(1,198) $     156 $   5,781 
Other Expenses (Income) $        0 $         0 $          0 
Interest Expense $    100 $       80 $          0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $(1,298) $       76 $   5,781 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $        0 $         0 $   1,288 
Net Income (Loss) B $(1,298) $       76 $   4,493 

Shares Outstanding       550        550         700 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share B $  (2.36) $    0.14 $     6.42 

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Net Income (Loss) $(1,298) $        76 $   4,493 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Depreciation and Amortization $    650 $      700 $      750 
  Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $(1,350) $  (3,225) $  (2,225)
  Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $   (495) $     (385) $   1,760)
  Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (50) $       (25) $       (25)
  Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    406 $      326 $      591 
  Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    216 $      388 $      341 
  Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $ 1,500 $   2,813 $   4,366 
  Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities E $   (421) $      668 $   6,531 
Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Capital Expenditures $   (750) $     (250) $     (250)
  Investments in Other Assets $(2,575) $          0 $          0 
  Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $(3,325) $     (250) $     (250)
Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used: D
  Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 $          0 $          0 
  Sale (Repurchase) of Equity D $ 2,000 $          0 $   4,000 
  Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $ 2,000 $          0 $          0 
  Repayments of Long-Term Debt D $        0 $     (400) $  (1,600)
  Other Financing Activities $        0 $          0 $          0 
  Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities F $ 4,000 $     (400) $   2,400 
Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 $          0 $          0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents F $    254 $        18 $   8,681 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    100 $      354 $      372 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $    354 $      372 $   9,053 
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shares in the company, all without paying a dividend to the share-
holders. Hmmmmh. An interesting strategy to say the least as with 
rapidly growing revenue, strong profitability, and ample liquidity, 
why would HSI raise $4,000,000 in new equity? Do they expect 

continued rapid growth and need the cash to finance the growth 
or is something else on the horizon? 

Refer to the end of this chapter in the section entitled “What’s Next?” 
to gain a glimpse of what HSI and TTI will have to deal with in 2013.
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TortTech, Inc. Update

Exhibit 13.3 presents TortTech, Inc.’s (TTI) financial statements 
for the three-year comparison period for the fiscal years ending 
12/31/10 through 12/31/12. 

The following key financial statement highlights should be 
noted with TTI’s results (reference the letter below to the letter 
in Exhibit 13.3 to understand the topic):

The Income Statement 
A. Sales revenue: Similar to HSI, very impressive sales rev-

enue growth has been achieved from $7,969,000 in 2010 
to $31,977,000 in 2012 (representing a compounded annual 
growth rate of 100 percent). 

B. Net income and earnings per share: HSI’s net income has 
improved from a net loss of $2,173,000 resulting in a negative 
earnings per share of $3.95 to a net profit of $2,351,000 result-
ing in a positive earnings per share of $4.27. A solid showing 
as the company’s return on sales amounted to 7.35 percent for 
2012 (with the ROE or return on average equity not being 
calculated due to TTI’s negative stockholders’ equity balance). 

The Balance Sheet
C. Working capital: TTI has a negative working capital bal-

ance of $2,779,000 at 12/31/12 and a current ratio of just 

.77 to 1.00. Neither represents a positive sign as short-term 
liquidity issues may be present for the company. 

D. Long-term debt and stockholders’ equity: In 2011, TTI 
secured a $2,000,000 bridge loan from company sharehold-
ers to support continued operations. The repayment terms for 
this note are based on the company earning at least $1,000,000 
of net income, which requires an annual principal payment 
on the bridge loan of $1,000,000.TTI did not raise any new 
equity in 2012, repaid $1,400,000 of debt in 2012 ($1,000,000 
for a bridge loan secured in 2011 and $400,000 for its reg-
ular annual debt service payment), and issued a dividend of 
$1,500,000 in 2012 as well. An interesting strategy by the com-
pany given that TTI’s stockholders’ equity remains negative as 
of the end of 2012, indicating the company may be insolvent. 

The Statement of Cash Flows
E. Net cash flow from operating activities: TTI generated 

$3,875,000 of cash flow from operating activities of which net 
income contributed $2,351,000 (or 61 percent of the total). A 
solid showing and significant improvement over 2011.

F. Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents: In total, 
TTI increased its cash balances by just $725,000 during 
the year compared to producing net operating activity cash 



Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue, Net A $ 7,969 $14,677 $ 31,977 
Costs of Goods Sold $ 4,851 $  7,980 $ 16,966 
Gross Profit $ 3,118 $  6,697 $ 15,011 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $ 7,500 $  8,400 $ 12,300 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $    150 $     200 $      250 
Operating Earnings $(4,532) $ (1,903) $   2,461 
Other Expenses (Income) $        0 $         0 $          0 
Interest Expense $    100 $     270 $      110 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $(4,632) $ (2,173) $   2,351 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $        0 $         0 $          0 
Net Income (Loss) B $(4,632) $ (2,173) $   2,351 

Shares Outstanding       550 550 550

Earnings (Loss) Per Share B $  (8.42) $   (3.95) $     4.27 

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Net Income (Loss) $(4,632) $ (2,173) $   2,351 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Depreciation and Amortization $    150 $     200 $      250 
  Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $(1,350) $    (675) $  (3,925)
  Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $   (513) $    (171) $  (1,311)
  Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (50) $      (25) $       (25)
  Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    515 $     168 $      536 
  Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    135 $       68 $      392 
  Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $ 2,853 $  1,409 $   5,607 
  Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities E $(2,892) $ (1,199) $   3,875 
Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Capital Expenditures $   (750) $    (250) $     (250)
  Investments in Other Assets $     (75) $         0 $          0 
  Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (825) $    (250) $     (250)
Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Dividends or Distributions Paid D $        0 $         0 $  (1,500)
  Sale (Repurchase) of Equity D $ 2,000 $         0 $          0 
  Proceeds from Issuance of Debt D $ 2,000 $  2,000 $          0 
  Repayments of Long-Term Debt D $        0 $    (400) $  (1,400)
  Other Financing Activities $        0 $         0 $          0 
  Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities F $ 4,000 $  1,600 $  (2,900)
Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 $         0 $          0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents F $    283 $     151 $      725 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    100 $     383 $      534 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $    383 $     534 $   1,259 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    383 $    534 $   1,259 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 1,350 $ 2,025 $   5,950 
  Inventory, LCM $    513 $    684 $   1,995 
  Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 $      100 
Total Current Assets C $ 2,296 $ 3,318 $   9,304 

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $ 1,000 $   1,250 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $   (350) $     (600)
Net Fixed Assets $    600 $    650 $      650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $        0 $        0 $          0 
  Other Assets $      75 $      75 $        75 
Total Other Assets $      75 $      75 $        75 

Total Assets $ 2,971 $ 4,043 $ 10,029 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable $    515 $    683 $   1,219 
  Accrued Expenses $    238 $    340 $      839 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $    400 $      400 
  Other Current Liabilities $ 2,750 $ 4,125 $   9,625 
Total Current Liabilities C $ 3,903 $ 5,548 $ 12,083 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $ 1,200 $      800 
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $ 2,000 $   1,000 
Total Long-Term Liabilities D $ 1,600 $ 3,200 $   1,800 

Total Liabilities $ 5,503 $ 8,748 $ 13,883 
Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2010 D $ 3,000 $ 3,000 $   3,000 
  Retained Earnings (Deficit) $(5,532) $(7,705) $  (6,854)
Total Owners’ Equity D $(2,532) $ 4,705) $  (3,854)

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 2,971 $ 4,043 $ 10,029 

TortTech, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Years Ending

12/31/2012

EXHIBIT 13.3— SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THREE YEARS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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flow of a positive $3,875,000. So basically, the company 
consumed $3,150,000 of operating cash flow in its financing 
activities which was primarily centered in paying a dividend 
of $1,500,000 and repaying debt of $1,400,000. Wow, but 
for the opposite reasons from HSI! That is, TTI elected to 
deploy its cash balances to provide a return to the share-
holders and repay debt. 

So to summarize TTI’s strategy, it’s clear the company has a dif-
ferent outlook for 2013 than HSI given how it has distributed 

capital (to external parties rather reserved to support internal 
operating needs) resulting in a balance sheet that has consid-
erably more financial “stress” than HSI. By stress we mean the 
company’s financial leverage is higher and has fewer assets to sup-
port required debt payments. TTI appears to be anticipating a 
relatively stable operating environment with continued growth, 
solid (but not spectacular) positive operating cash flow, and strong 
earnings. 

Note: Refer to the section titled “What’s Next?” to gain a glimpse of 
what HSI and TTI will have to deal with in 2013.
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What’s Next?

Both HSI and TTI had solid 2012 operating performances punc-
tuated by increased revenue, impressive earnings and EPS, and 
strong internal cash flows. But although there are plenty of simi-
larities between the income statements for both companies, the 
ending balance sheets paint a different picture. 

HSI’s balance sheet is relaying one of the following messages:

 ◆ Rapid internal or organic growth: Significant increases in 
sales revenue are being forecast and the company needs cash 
resources to support rapid growth in accounts receivable, 
inventory, and internal product research and development. 
Seems reasonable given the rapid growth the company has 
realized over the past two years.

 ◆ Growth driven from external sources: Quite possibly, the com-
pany might be anticipating a slowdown from sales revenue 
generated from its proprietary software and associated prod-
ucts and is anticipating looking to buy or acquire a business to 
fuel growth (and offer its customers a broader range of prod-
ucts and technology solutions). Under this scenario, the com-
pany would need access to additional cash and debt resources 
to complete acquisitions. 

 ◆ Trouble ahead: Or maybe the company sees a challenging 
environment ahead, one where sales revenue is anticipated to 

decrease due to industry or general economic turmoil, product 
lifecycles are turning over quicker than anticipated resulting in 
expanded product investments being required, and as a result, 
a strong balance sheet will be required to manage through a 
challenging period. 

One thing appears certain is that based on the company’s his-
torical performance and balance sheet position as of the end of 
2012, HSI is anticipating a very active and volatile market mov-
ing forward (as companies are in business to deploy cash to drive 
above average investment returns to the shareholders rather than 
hold cash and invest it in U.S. Treasuries). 

For TTI, the opposite appears to hold (as it relates to the last 
two messages) as the balance sheet does not appear to be struc-
tured to support potential growth strategies through external 
acquisitions or to weather a potential economic storm. TTI may 
still be anticipating future growth, which will be supported in a 
similar fashion to previous years (i.e., billing customers in advance 
for a one-year software license and recording a large amount of 
deferred revenue in other current liabilities) but does not appear 
to be anticipating much volatility. 

So who’s right? Tune into Chapter 24 for further information 
to see how HSI and TTI compare when 2013’s results are evalu-
ated (spoiler alert, significant changes are realized).



14
LONG-TERM ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION, 

AMORTIZATION, AND OTHER EXPENSES
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A Brief Review of Expense Accounting

To start this chapter, a refresher on expense accounting in the 
financial statement is warranted and based on the timing for 
recording expenses—to record expenses in the correct period, 
nether too soon or too late. The two overriding principles for 
recording expenses are as follows:

 ◆ First, match expenses with sales revenue: Cost of goods sold 
expense, sales commissions expense, and any other expense 
directly connected with making particular sales are recorded in 
the same period as the sales revenue. This is straightforward; 
all direct expenses of making sales should be matched against 
sales revenue. It would be foolhardy to put revenue in one 
period and the expenses of that revenue in another period. You 
agree, don’t you? 

 ◆ Second, match other expenses with the period benefited: Many 
expenses are not directly identifiable with particular sales, 
such as office employees’ salaries, rental of warehouse space, 
computer processing and accounting costs, legal and audit 
fees, interest on borrowed money, and many more. Nondirect 
expenses are just as necessary as direct expenses. But nondirect 
expenses cannot be matched with particular sales. Therefore, 
nondirect expenses are recorded in the period in which the 
benefit to the business occurs.

As we look back through the book thus far, we see that Chapter 
4 explains that the recording of an expense involves the decrease 
of an asset or the increase of a liability. Chapter 8 explains the use 
of the inventory asset account to hold the cost of products that are 
manufactured or purchased until the goods are sold, at which time 
cost of goods expense is recorded and the inventory asset account 
is decreased (a decrease in an asset). Chapter 10 explains the use 
of the accounts payable liability account to record unpaid costs 
that should be recorded as expenses in the current period (or an 
increase in a liability).

This chapter explains that the costs of the long-lived operating 
assets of a business, tangible or intangible, in theory should be 
recorded to expense over the span of their useful lives. Tangible 
assets (i.e., machinery, equipment, buildings, computers, furni-
ture, fixtures, but with the exception of land) tend to gradually 
lose their usefulness to a business over time. The allocation of the 
cost of tangible long-term operating assets to expense over the 
useful life of the asset is called depreciation.

Intangible assets (i.e., goodwill, patents, intellectual property, 
long-term licenses) also lose their usefulness to a business over 
time but quite often, in a different manner. That is, machinery 
purchased to support the manufacturing of various products over 
an extended time period might be depreciated in equal, pro-rata 
amounts on an annual basis (e.g., $500,000 piece of equipment 
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might be depreciated over 10 years at a rate of $50,000 per 
year). For intangible assets, the implied or inherent value of 
these assets can change dramatically from one year to the next 
and as such, an intangible asset that originally was thought to 
have a useful life of say 15 years, might all of a sudden have to be 
written down or off after three years because it became worth-
less. You see this quite often with intellectual property, such 
as with a patent that no longer has any value because another 
company invented a new and improved method (making the 
patent obsolete). Another perfect example resides with what is 
commonly referred to as goodwill (often resulting from the pur-
chase of a business at a price far greater than the net recorded 
value of its assets).

The allocation of the cost of intangible long-term operating 
assets to expense over the useful life of the asset is called amortiza-
tion. This is really not much different than depreciation in theory 
but it needs to be remembered that amortization expense gener-
ally relates to intangible assets and depreciation expense relates 
to tangible assets.  In accounting, depreciation or amortization 
means the multiyear allocation of the costs of long-term assets as an 
expense on a periodic basis. 

Through the remainder of this chapter, our attention focuses 
on both tangible and intangible assets as the latter has become 
much more prevalent over the past 30 years as the U.S. economy 
has migrated from a manufacturing base to an informational/
technology/service base.
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Fixed Assets and Depreciation Expense

Please refer to Exhibit 14.1, which shows the connections between 
property, plant, and equipment in the balance sheet and depreciation 
expense in the income statement, and from depreciation expense 
back to accumulated depreciation in the balance sheet. In brief, the 
costs of the company’s long-term operating assets are allocated 
(in theory) over their estimated economic lives, and the periodic 
depreciation expense is accumulated in a separate contra (offset) 
account that is deducted from the cost of the assets.

Critical Terminology Alert

It is important for readers to understand the difference between an 
operating lease versus a capital lease. In our example, HSI needs 
certain specialized machinery, equipment, and tools that are rented 
under multiyear lease contracts (typically three to seven years). 
Legally the business doesn’t own the leased assets. As such, the 
monthly rents paid on these leases are charged to expenses on 
a periodic basis. In addition, leased assets are not reported in a 
company’s balance sheet as an asset because HSI does not own 
the assets. This is what is known as an operating lease, which 
although is not reported as an asset in the balance sheet, disclosure 
of rental payment commitments of its operating leases should be 
present in the footnotes to its financial statements. 

A capital lease is present when  the legal and economic risk of 
ownership of the leased asset does in fact belong to the lessor. For 
example, a lease may be structured with 60 equal monthly payments 
and then one final payment for $1 (to purchase the asset at the end 
of the lease). This is what is commonly referred to as a dollar out
lease, which is basically nothing more than an alternative way of 
the lessor effectively buying the equipment on an installment basis 
(as what company wouldn’t pay one additional dollar to own the 
equipment).

The key difference between a capital lease and an operating lease 
is that the capital lease must be recorded as an asset and liability, 
or debt, on the balance sheet, with the asset then depreciated over 
its useful life and the value of the debt reduced over the life of the 
payments (with interest calculated). You may ask why companies 
even care about this issue, well the answer lies in the perception 
of a company’s financial statements by external parties. That is, 
the more capitalized leases present, the more assets and debt a 
company has to report, which in turn gives the appearance that the 
company is taking on too much debt and is overly leveraged. This 
would raise a flag with external parties and could create negative 
comments/reviews if debt levels grow too high. (Note: Accounting 
rule-makers are currently considering a proposal to report most 
leases in the balance sheet as an asset with a corresponding liability 
for future rental payments.)



Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412

Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 
Gross Profit $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative 
Expenses

$  8,400 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
  Depreciation Expense $     200 
  Amortization Expense $     500 
Operating Earnings $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    354 $    372 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 1,350 $ 4,575 
  Inventory, LCM $    495 $    880 
  Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 
Total Current Assets $ 2,249 $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $ 1,000 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $   (350)
Net Fixed Assets $    600 $    650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 2,000 $ 1,500 
  Other Assets $      75 $      75 
Total Other Assets $ 2,075 $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    223 $    403 
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    183 $    329 
  Accrued Expenses $    216 $    604 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $    400 
  Other Current Liabilities $ 1,500 $ 4,313 
Total Current Liabilities $ 2,522 $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $ 1,200 
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $        0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,600 $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 4,122 $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011

$ 3,000 $ 3,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,198) $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity $    802 $   878 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

EXHIBIT 14.1—DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE AND LONG-TERM ASSETS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Notice two key 
connections as follows:
— Depreciation expense 
of $200k resulted in a 
corresponding increase in 
accumulated depreciation 
of $200k between 2010 
and 2011.
— Amortization expense 
of $500k resulted in 
a corresponding net 
decrease in intangible 
assets & goodwill of $500k 
between 2010 and 2011.
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The company in our example also owns long-term operating 
assets including furniture and fixtures, computers, forklifts and 
shelving in the warehouse, and automobiles used by its salesper-
sons. The business buys these assets, uses them for several years, 
and eventually disposes of them. Because of their long-term 
nature, accountants call them fixed assets, although this term is not 
used in the formal financial statements of a business.

The long-term operating assets owned by a business usually 
are grouped into one inclusive account for balance sheet report-
ing. One common title is Property, Plant, and Equipment, which 
we use. (A detailed breakdown of fixed assets may be disclosed 
in a footnote to the financial statements, or in a separate sched-
ule.) At the end of its most recent year, the business reports that 
the total cost of its fixed assets (property, plant, and equipment) 
is $1,000,000—see Exhibit 14.1. This amount is the total of the 
original costs of its fixed assets, or how much they cost when the 
business bought them.

Fixed assets are used for several years, but eventually they wear 
out or lose their utility to a business. In short, these assets have 
a limited life span—they don’t last forever. For example, delivery 
trucks may be driven 200,000 or 300,000 miles, but are replaced 
eventually.

The cost of a delivery truck, for instance, is prorated over the 
years of expected use to the business. How many years, exactly? A 
business has its experience to go on in estimating the useful lives 
of fixed assets. In theory, a business should make the most realistic 
forecast possible regarding how long each fixed asset will be used, 
and then spread the asset’s cost over this life span. However, the-
ory doesn’t count for much on this score. Most businesses turn to 
the federal income tax code and regulations for the useful lives of 
their fixed assets, because these lives are permitted for calculating 
the depreciation expense amounts that can be deducted in their 
federal income tax returns.

In the federal income tax system, every kind of fixed asset is 
given a minimum life over which its cost can be depreciated. The 
cost of land is not depreciated, on grounds that land never wears 
out and has a perpetual life. (The market value of a parcel of real 
estate can fluctuate over time; and floods and earthquakes can 
destroy land—but that’s another matter.)

The federal income tax permits (but does not require) acceler-
ated depreciation methods. The term accelerated means two differ-
ent things. First, for income tax, fixed assets can be depreciated 
over lives that are considerably shorter than their actual useful 
lives. For example, automobiles and light trucks can be depreci-
ated over five years even though these fixed assets typically last 
longer than five years (except perhaps taxicabs in New York City). 
Buildings placed in service after 1993 can be depreciated over 39 
years, but most buildings stand longer. In writing the income tax 
law, Congress decided that allowing businesses to depreciate their 
fixed assets faster than they actually wear out is good economic 
policy.

Second, “accelerated” means front-loaded; more of the cost of a 
fixed asset is depreciated in the first half of its useful life than in 
its second half. Instead of a level, uniform amount of deprecia-
tion expense year to year (which is called the straight-line method), 
the income tax law allows a business to deduct higher amounts of 
depreciation expense in the front (early) years and less in the back 
(later) years.

A business can reduce its taxable income in the early years of 
its fixed assets by choosing accelerated depreciation methods. 
But these effects don’t necessarily mean it’s the best depreciation 
method in theory or in actual practice. Accelerated depreciation 
methods, given the imprimatur of the income tax code, are very 
popular.

A business must maintain a depreciation schedule for each 
of its fixed assets and keep track of original cost and how much 
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depreciation expense is recorded each year. Only cost can be 
depreciated. Once the total cost of a fixed asset has been depreci-
ated, no more depreciation expense can be recorded. At this point, 
the fixed asset is fully depreciated even though it still may be used 
several more years.

In our company example, the depreciation expense for its most 
recent year is $200,000—see Exhibit 14.1. Its fixed assets (e.g., 
trucks, computers, equipment) are being depreciated using a 
straight-line method. 

The amount of depreciation expense charged to each year is 
quite arbitrary compared with most other operating expenses. The 
main reason is that useful life estimates are arbitrary. For a six-
month insurance policy, there’s little doubt that the total premium 
cost should be allocated over exactly six months. But long-lived 
operating assets such as office desks, display shelving, file cabinets, 
computers, and so on present much more difficult problems. Past 
experience is a good guide but leaves a lot of room for error.

Given the inherent problems of estimating useful lives, finan-
cial statement readers are well advised to keep in mind the con-
sequences of adopting ultraconservative useful life estimates. If 
useful life estimates are too short (the assets are actually used 
many more years), then depreciation expense is recorded too 
quickly. Keep this point in mind.

A business is allowed to keep two sets of depreciation books. It 
could depreciate fixed assets over short lives for income tax, and 
use longer, more realistic lives for financial reporting. However, 
most businesses use the income tax depreciation lives in their 
financial statements (especially for smaller businesses that don’t 
want the hassle of maintaining two sets of accounting records). 
Rapid (accelerated) depreciation is the norm in financial reporting.

Recording depreciation expense does not—we repeat, does 
not—decrease cash; cash is not involved in recording depreciation. 
Rather, recording depreciation expense has the effect of decreasing 

a fixed asset. To understand this point, you have to understand the 
accumulated depreciation account, which we explain next.

The amount of depreciation each period is not recorded directly 
as a decrease in the fixed asset account. Yet, decreasing the asset 
account would seem to make sense because the whole point of 
depreciation is to recognize the wearing out of the fixed asset over 
time. So, why not decrease the fixed asset account?

Well, the universal practice throughout the accounting world 
is to accumulate depreciation expense in a companion account 
called accumulated depreciation. This account does what its name 
implies—it accumulates, period by period, the amounts recorded 
as depreciation expense. In Exhibit 14.1, notice that the balance 
in this account at the end of the company’s most recent year is 
$350,000.

Compared to the $1,000,000 cost of its fixed assets, the accu-
mulated depreciation balance indicates that the company’s fixed 
assets are not very old. Furthermore, the company recorded 
$200,000 depreciation expense in its most recent year. At this clip, 
roughly two years’ depreciation has been recorded on its prop-
erty, plant, and equipment (fixed assets).

As you see in Exhibit 14.1, the balance in accumulated depre-
ciation is deducted from the original cost of fixed assets. In our 
business example, the $1,000,000 cost of fixed assets minus the 
$350,000 accumulated depreciation equals $650,000. Cost less 
accumulated depreciation is referred to as the net book value of
fixed assets.

Generally the entire cost of a fixed asset is depreciated, assum-
ing the business holds on to the asset until the end of its deprecia-
tion life. In one sense, book value represents future depreciation 
expense, although a business may dispose of some of its fixed assets 
before they are fully depreciated. (And keep in mind that the cost 
of land, which is included in the property, plant, and equipment 
account, is not depreciated.)
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Finally, remember that the $350,000 accumulated depreciation 
balance is the total depreciation that has been recorded during all 
years the fixed assets have been used. It’s not just the depreciation 
expense from the most recent year.

After recording depreciation expense for its most recent year, 
the book value of the company’s long-term operating (fixed) assets 
is $650,000 (see Exhibit 14.1). Suppose that the business could 
determine the current replacement costs at the balance sheet date 
of the same exact fixed assets in the same used condition. (This 
might not be entirely realistic.)

Would you expect that the current market replacement costs 
would be exactly the same as the book values of the fixed assets? 
Chances are that the current replacement costs would be higher 
than the book value of the fixed assets—due to general inflation 
and the use of accelerated depreciation methods.

The original costs of fixed assets reported in a balance sheet 
are not meant to be indicators of the current replacement costs 
of the assets. Original costs are the amounts of capital invested 
in the assets that should be recovered through sales revenue over 
the years of using the assets in the operations of the business. 
Depreciation accounting is a cost-recovery-based method—not a 
mark-to-market method. In short, fixed asset accounting does not 
attempt to record changes in current replacement cost.

We should point out that business managers shouldn’t ignore 
the current replacement values of their fixed assets. Fixed assets 
can be destroyed or damaged by fire, flooding, riots, terrorist acts, 
tornadoes, explosions, and structural failure. Quite clearly, busi-
ness managers should be concerned about insuring fixed assets for 
their current replacement costs. However, in financial reporting a 
business does not write up the recorded value of its fixed assets to 
reflect current replacement costs. (There’s no rule prohibiting the 
disclosure of the estimated current replacement costs of its fixed 
assets, but businesses don’t do this.)

You see criticism of financial statement accounting on grounds 
that depreciation expense is based on the historical cost of fixed 
assets—instead of current replacement costs. Someday Congress 
might consider changing the income tax law to allow replacement-
cost-basis depreciation (without taxing the gain from writing up fixed 
assets to their higher replacement costs). We don’t see any evidence 
of Congress making such a radical change in the federal income tax.

We must admit, though, that anything is possible regarding 
fixed-asset depreciation within the federal income tax law. For 
instance, we would not be surprised if Congress were to change 
the useful lives of fixed assets for business income tax purposes—
which Congress has done in the past. But Congress has not been 
willing to abandon the actual cost basis for fixed-asset depreciation.
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Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense

So far in the chapter we have focused on the depreciation of tan-
gible fixed assets. Many businesses invest in intangible assets, which 
have no physical existence. You can’t see or touch these assets. 
For example, a business may purchase a valuable patent that it 
will use in its production process over many years. Or a business 
may buy an established trademark that is well known among con-
sumers. When a business buys patents or trademarks, the costs of 
these particular assets are recorded in long-term asset accounts 
called Patents and Trademarks. Further, a business may “capital-
ize” research expenditures that lead to the development of intan-
gible assets. A perfect example of this is based on our case study 
as supported by Exhibit 14.1 as HSI has a large intangible asset 
recorded on the balance sheet ($2,000,000 at the end of 2010 and 
$1,500,000 at the end of 2011). 

At the present time, accounting standards for intangible assets 
are not quite as defined as with tangible assets when requiring the 
systematic allocation of the cost of an intangible asset to expense 
(called amortization expense). In some cases, such as the value of 
an acquired patent that has only 12 years of protected life left, 
a company may elect to amortize the cost of the patent over 12 
years using a straight line basis. For a value assigned to a three-
year noncompete agreement, that value would be amortized over 
three years. Countless examples of differing amortization policies 
could be cited from different companies but the primary principal 

remains the same. That is, the value associated with the intangible 
asset should be amortized into expense over the estimated eco-
nomic useful life of the asset. 

In our case study example for HSI, the company originally 
capitalized $2,500,000 of technology development costs incurred 
for the enterprise solution software it sells to the market. Further, 
HSI has elected to amortize this intangible asset over a period of 
five years at a rate of $500,000 as the company has estimated its 
product will have a five-year useful life. Thus after two full years 
of amortization, the intangible asset’s net value has been reduced 
from $2,500,000 to $1,500,000 (as two years of amortization 
expense has been recorded at $500,000 per year). And one final 
point of note relates to how the intangible asset is reported on 
the balance sheet. Unlike tangible fixed assets (where the gross 
cost is presented and then reduced by accumulated depreciation), 
intangible assets tend to be presented in a “net” fashion (which 
simply means the original gross cost is reduced by accumulated 
amortization to offer a net value). This is generally the prepared 
method for most companies to report intangible asset values. 

Most intangible asset types fall into the category previously dis-
cussed (i.e., what is commonly referred to as intellectual property
(IP), which captures everything from patents to trademarks to trade 
secrets and other internally developed intangible assets) or the 
second primary type, which is centered on business acquisitions.
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have secret processes and product formulas that give it a strong 
competitive advantage (i.e., trade secrets).

There are many reasons to pay more for an established, going-
concern business than just the sum of its identifiable assets (minus 
the liabilities being assumed when buying the business). When 
a business pays more than the sum of the specific assets (less 
liabilities) of the business being acquired, the excess is generally 
recorded in the asset account called goodwill. Whether to system-
atically charge off the cost of goodwill and other intangible assets 
has been a vexing issue over the years. We won’t bore you here 
with an extended discussion of the various arguments but instead 
leave you with this thought. 

Real World Story

When an intangible asset such as goodwill has suffered an observable 
loss of value, a business should (and we emphasize should here as 
some companies avoid dealing with this issue for “earnings” reasons) 
make an entry to write down the recorded value of the intangible asset. 
Businesses should make yearly assessments of whether their intangible 
assets have been impaired and, if so, record an expense for the effect 
of the impairment. To understand just how painful this can be, please 
review Hewlett Packard’s acquisition of Autonomy, which resulted in an 
$8.8 billion asset write-down.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Business acquisitions are usually structured along one of two 
methods—an asset deal or a stock deal (or a merger). Exploring 
these two types of acquisition strategies in detail is beyond the 
scope of this book but most readers should understand the basic 
differences between these two types of acquisitions as there are 
numerous pros and cons with each type. However, the general 
rule of thumb is that for larger transactions, which involve publicly 
traded entities and more reliable business information, a stock deal 
is preferred. For smaller transactions that involve private companies 
and less reliable business information, asset deals are preferred.

When a business purchases another going business as a whole 
or in parts, and pays more than the sum of its identifiable assets 
(minus its liabilities), an intangible asset is created. Often the com-
pany to be acquired has been in business for many years and it has 
built up a trusted name, reputation, and above all, the ability to 
contribute to ongoing earnings growth (i.e., has strong cash flow). 
It may have a large list of loyal customers that will continue to buy 
the company’s products in the future. The experience and loyalty 
of the acquired company’s employees may be the main reason to 
pay for more than the identifiable assets being acquired in the 
purchase of the business. Or the business being bought out may 
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

There’s a multitude of accounting problems regarding the depre-
ciation of long-term operating assets, as well as other account-
ing problems concerning fixed assets. A company’s fixed assets are 
typically a sizable part of its total assets, so these accounting prob-
lems are important.

 ◆ What should be capitalized? There are accounting problems in 
drawing the line between the costs of routine maintenance of 
fixed assets, which should be expensed as you go, versus major 
outlays that extend the life or improve the appearance or effi-
ciency of fixed assets. The costs of major improvements should 
be recorded in the fixed asset account and depreciated over 
future years. Similar issues are present with intangible assets 
such as determining what costs should be capitalized with the 
development of a major software development project versus 
what should be expensed and routine updates and upgrades. 

 ◆ What expense period should be used? What is correct? While 
it would be easy to use a straight-line, five-year depreciation 
period for all fixed assets or base depreciation expense on tax 
rules, this may not be the most appropriate method. Many 
books have been written on the theory of depreciation, arguing 
the merits of different methods. As we mention in the chap-
ter, most businesses resort to the income tax ground rules for 
depreciating their fixed assets. This is a practical and expedient 

answer to depreciation accounting questions but doesn’t neces-
sarily mean it is the correct method (just convenient and easy 
to defend). 

 ◆ When should asset impairments be recorded? A business 
should write down a fixed asset if its economic value has 
become impaired. An airline, for example, could have surplus 
jets that it no longer needs, or a manufacturer may shut down 
an entire plant because of a falloff in demand for the prod-
ucts made in the plant. When a business has excess capacity, 
it should take a hard look at whether its fixed assets should 
be written down. Making write-downs of fixed assets due to 
loss of economic value is painful, and can put a big dent in 
profit, and herein lies a key problem. Nobody ever wants to 
surprise external parties (i.e., the Street or Wall Street) with 
poor operating results so more than a few companies have 
somewhat manipulated asset impairments and recording to 
meet external expectations. 

Another example is based in a situation where a business 
may self-insure some of its fixed assets, instead of buying casu-
alty insurance coverage, making it vulnerable to huge write-
offs if it suffers an actual loss. When a business self-insures its 
fixed assets, should it record an estimated expense each year for 
a future loss that hasn’t yet happened, and may never happen? 
Most businesses do not.
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In summary, there are many serious accounting problems sur-
rounding fixed assets. Therefore, a business definitely should 
explain its depreciation and other fixed asset accounting poli-
cies in the footnotes to its financial statements. Also, a company 
should disclose how it accounts for its intangible assets, especially 
when it makes a major write-down in one or more of these assets 
during the year.

In Chapter 8 we argue that the company’s cost of goods sold 
expense accounting method should be consistent with how the 
business sets sales prices. Likewise, we would argue that choosing 
the depreciation expense method should be guided mainly by the 
number of years over which the business plans to recoup the costs 
invested in its fixed assets through sales revenue. If the business 
adopts a sales pricing policy for recapturing the cost of a fixed 
asset over, say, 20 years, we would argue that a 20-year deprecia-
tion life should be used. But it may depreciate the cost over 10 
years, as permitted by the income tax law. Talk about a mismatch 
between sales revenue and expenses! 

As for our case study, you can see from Exhibit 14.2 that depre-
ciation expense is consistent between the two companies over the 
past three years but amortization expense is vastly different. The 
reason is simple and can be found in Chapter 6 when we presented 
our two companies as if you recall, HSI capitalized its software 
development costs (thus making it subject to future amortization) 
whereas TTI expensed all software development costs in the year 
incurred. Thus, TTI has no intangible asset balances that require 
amortization expense to be realized on a periodic basis. 

EXHIBIT 14.2 CASE STUDY COMPARISON—

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc. 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

  Depreciation Expense $150,000 $200,000 $250,000

  Amortization Expense $500,000 $500,000 $500,000

  Asset Impairment Expense $           0 $           0 $           0

  Total $650,000 $700,000 $750,000

TortTech, Inc.

  Depreciation Expense $150,000 $200,000 $250,000

  Amortization Expense $           0 $           0 $           0

  Asset Impairment Expense $           0 $           0 $           0

  Total $150,000 $200,000 $250,000
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Debt, Debt, and More Debt—Multiple Financial Report Connections 

Unless you’ve had your head in the sand during the past five years, 
everyone realizes that the world is awash in debt. Public debt (now 
more than $17 trillion just for the United States federal govern-
ment) is growing at alarming rates, which has more than a few 
world leaders concerned. 

But our job in this chapter isn’t to address the moral, eco-
nomic, and political implications of how a country such as the 
United States will be able to manage its debt levels, rather our 
goal is to focus on the multiple financial statement connec-
tions between the different types of debt and interest expense. 

But we couldn’t really leave this subject without providing one 
more reference, this time to not just the stated United States 
public debt level of $17 trillion but to the real debt level, when 
all guarantees, commitments, and contingencies are actually 
accounted for.

This chapter helps the reader understand total long-term 
debt, both debt that has been secured in a formal manner (such 
as business lines of credit and notes payable supported by legal 
agreements/documentation) and debt that is considered more 
of a contingency or commitment. 



Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011
Sales Revenue, Net $18,412
Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 
Gross Profit $  9,256 
Selling, General, and Administrative 
Expenses

$  8,400 

Depreciation and Amortization 
Expense:
  Depreciation Expense $     200 
  Amortization Expense $     500 
Operating Earnings $     156 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 
Net Income (Loss) before Income 
Taxes

$       76 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    354 $    372 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 1,350 $ 4,575 
  Inventory, LCM $    495 $    880 
  Prepaid Expenses $      50 $      75 
Total Current Assets $ 2,249 $ 5,902 

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $    750 $ 1,000 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (150) $   (350)
Net Fixed Assets $    600 $    650 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 2,000 $ 1,500 
  Other Assets $      75 $      75 
Total Other Assets $ 2,075 $ 1,575 

Total Assets $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    223 $    403 
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    183 $    329 
  Accrued Expenses, Operating $    196 $    589 
  Accrued Expenses, Interest $      20 $      15 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $    400 
  Other Current Liabilities $ 1,500 $ 4,313 
Total Current Liabilities $ 2,522 $ 6,049 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,600 $ 1,200 
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $        0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,600 $ 1,200 

Total Liabilities $ 4,122 $ 7,249 
Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011

$ 3,000 $ 3,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,198) $(2,122)
Total Owners’ Equity $    802 $    878 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 4,924 $ 8,127 

EXHIBIT 15.1— INTEREST EXPENSE, NOTES PAYABLE, AND CURRENT PORTION OF DEBT

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Focus on two key connections 
as follows:
– Interest expense of $80,000 
in 2011 resulted in an accrued 
interest liability of $15,000 
representing the portion of 
interest incurred in 2011 but 
paid in 2012.
– The debt balances highlighted 
in grey represent both the 
current portion of debt due 
within the next 12 months and 
the long-term portion due past 
one year. 

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011
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Understanding Debt Basics and Its Location in the Balance Sheet

To start, some basic concepts on legal or contractual debt need 
to be addressed to assist with gaining a more complete under-
standing of how this type debt is structured, accounted for, and 
can potentially impact the ongoing operations of a business. The 
following six debt characteristics have been summarized to assist 
with understanding our debt connections:

1. Debt types: Basically, debt for most businesses comes in one 
of two forms: lines of credit and term debt (or long-term 
debt). Under either scenario, a note or similar legal instru-
ment is signed when borrowing. Lines of credit (which are 
sometimes referred to as revolvers) are generally short-term 
loans that are used to support a business’s working capital 
needs. For example, if a business is growing rapidly and sales 
are increasing creating much higher account receivable bal-
ances, a business could borrow on its line of credit to support 
the higher trade receivables balance. Long-term debt (com-
monly referred to as notes payable) are loan agreements with 
set repayment terms over an extended period of time such as 
five years. Generally, term debt is used to finance long-term 
assets whereas lines of credits are used to finance working 
capital needs. If you refer to Exhibit 15.1 you will notice that 
our case study company has structured long-term debt or 
notes payable but is not currently utilizing a line of credit.

2. Security: Most debt requires security. That is, a business 
generally has to provide collateral to support the different 

types of debt to secure the loan. In the case of a line of credit, 
the security is the company’s accounts receivable. In the case 
of long-term debt, the security could be machinery used in 
a production process. In either case, the key point is that the 
debt extended to a business is “secured” by an actual asset 
the lender can liquidate (if needed) to have the debt repaid. 
When debt is extended that has a priority claim against 
company assets, this is referred to as being senior debt. If 
debt is extended to a company with no secured interest in 
an asset, this is generally referred to as junior or subordinated
debt. It should go without saying that senior debt is less 
risky and generally carries lower interest rates than junior 
debt (higher risks resulting in increased borrowing costs).

3. Maturity: When debt is classified on the balance sheet, the 
simple rule of thumb to follow is this: Any debt that is due 
within one year is classified as current liability (or often 
noted in the financial statements in the balance sheet as cur-
rent portion of long-term debt). Therefore, any debt that is 
due after one year is classified as long-term liability.

4. Covenants: Almost all debt agreements include covenants 
that the borrower must adhere to. Covenants are negotiated 
between the borrower and the lender and are designed to 
give the lender more comfort that the company is managing 
its business affairs correctly and not jeopardizing the loans 
ability to be repaid. For example, a bank may set a covenant 
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where the company has to maintain a current ratio of at 
least 1.5 to 1.0 to ensure proper operating capital is main-
tained to fund operations. Needless to say there are literally 
hundreds of different types of covenants (both quantitative 
and qualitative) but the concept really remains the same—to 
provide the lender with more comfort that the loan is secure 
and can be repaid.

As a rule of thumb, lenders are looking for a debt service 
coverage ratio in excess of 1.00 and prefer an even higher 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps 

Covenants are an extremely important element of any loan 
agreement and should be a key negotiation point by both the 
borrower and lender. Overly restrictive covenants can wreak havoc 
on a borrower. Poorly constructed covenants can wreak havoc 
with a lender. On top of this, if a borrower violates a covenant, the 
outcome could be that the loan is in default and could become 
due and payable immediately (thus requiring the entire loan balance 
to be classified as a current liability). Most companies should fully 
disclose the loan agreement and associated covenants in the 
financial statement footnotes to assist outside parties with a better 
understanding of the risks present.

Critical Terminology and Ratio Alert

One of the most common covenants used by lenders is what is 
called a debt service coverage ratio. What the lender is attempting 
to calculate is the amount of earnings generated before taxes, 
depreciation, amortization, and interest expense (or EBITDA, 
covered in Chapter 20), which can then be used to cover the 
required periodic debt service requirement (both principal and 
interest payments on the debt). Exhibit 15.2 calculates the debt 
service coverage ratio for our case study company HSI.

EXHIBIT 15.2—DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

12/31/2011

Net Income After Tax $  76

Plus:

 Amortization Expense $500

 Depreciation Expense $200

 Interest Expense $  80

 Income Tax Expense $    0

 EBITDA— (Z) $856

Total Debt Service:

 Principal Payments Due in Next 12 Months $400

 Interest Expense $  80

 Total Debt Service Payments (X) $480

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Z divided by X)  1.78 
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figure of 1.25 to 1.50 (as this provides more assurance that 
the company’s internal operations can support the annual 
debt payment requirements). In Exhibit 15.2, you can see 
that HSI is at a comfortable level of 1.78 to 1.00 for 2011.

5. Guarantees: PGs and CGs stand for personal guarantees and 
corporate guarantees. Basically what guarantees represent is 
another layer of security for the borrower that the loan will 
be repaid. If the primary assets securing the loan are not 
adequate to repay the outstanding balance due and other 
company assets are not available, then the lender will look to 
the party providing the guarantee to collect payments. For 
smaller businesses, this usually comes in the form of a PG 
(as the lender is going to look to the owner of the business 
to stand behind the loan). For larger businesses, CGs are 
used to support a loan that might be extended to a weaker 
business unit and the stronger, parent business unit has to 
support. Be careful with CGs as disclosure of any guaran-
tees extended are usually buried in the financial statement 
footnotes and could have a material impact on the company 
providing the guarantee (if the primary business responsible 
for paying the loan defaults).

6. Commitments and contingencies: Finally, we offer a brief 
word on commitments and contingencies. These are pri-
marily associated with long-term obligations or liabilities 
that are noninterest bearing, offer little or no security, and 
have variable or contingent payment terms (if A happens 
then your payment will be B). An example of this may be the 
need for a company to accrue a commitment for damages 

incurred for a legal or environmental settlement that won’t 
be paid immediately and subject to final adjustments (based 
on future events). Accounting for commitments and con-
tingencies is generally treated as other long-term liabilities 
presented after long-term debt in the liability section of the 
balance sheet. 

Exhibit 15.1 at the start of this chapter provides more insight as 
to what debt our case study company, HSI, has incurred (shaded in 
gray). For the fiscal year ending 12/31/10, the company has a total 
balance due in notes payable of $2,000,000, of which $400,000 
is classified as current (due within one year) and $1,600,000 due 
past one year. Moving one year out, we can see that the total bal-
ance due in notes payable is now $1,600,000, of which $400,000 is 
classified as current and $1,200,000 long term. This makes sense 
given that the loan must be repaid at a rate of $400,000 of princi-
pal payments each year. 

Two other points need to be made in relation to HSI’s use of 
loans. First, the company is not currently borrowing on a line 
of credit to support working capital growth. This does not mean 
HSI does not have a line of credit available but rather it is just 
not utilizing it currently. If the company does have a line of credit 
available for use, it should be disclosed in the footnotes. Second, 
simply by reviewing the financial statements and more specifi-
cally, the balance sheet, it cannot be determined if the note pay-
able is secured by any company assets such as accounts receivables, 
inventory, fixed assets, or intangible assets. Again, this should be 
disclosed in the financial statement footnotes as it is very relevant 
information to external parties.
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Bringing Interest Expense Up to Snuff

As discussed in Chapters 10 and 11, virtually all businesses have 
liabilities for accounts payable and accrued expenses payable—
which are part and parcel of carrying on its operations. And most 
businesses borrow money from a bank or from other sources that 
lend money to businesses. Interest is paid on borrowed money, 
whereas no interest is paid on accounts payable (unless the amount 
is seriously past due and an interest penalty is added by the credi-
tor). Lines of credit and notes payable are always reported sepa-
rately and not mixed with noninterest-bearing liabilities.

Interest is a charge per day for the use of borrowed money. 
Each and every day that money is borrowed increases the amount 
of interest owed to the lender. The ratio of interest to the amount 
borrowed is called the interest rate, and is stated as a percent. 
Percent means “per hundred.” If you borrow $100,000 for one 
year and pay $6,000 interest for the use of the money for one year, 
the interest rate is:

$6,000 Interest / $100,000 Borrowed = $6 per $100, 
or 6.0 Percent Annual Interest Rate

Interest rates are stated as annual rates, even though the term 
of a loan can be shorter or longer than one year.

Interest is reported as a separate expense in income statements. 
It’s not the size of the interest expense, but rather the special nature 
of interest that requires separate disclosure. Interest is a financial
expense, as opposed to operating expenses. Interest depends on 

how the business is financed, which refers to the company’s mix 
of capital sources. The basic choice is between debt capital and 
equity (the generic term for all kinds of ownership capital).

You may ask: When is interest paid? It depends. For lines of 
credit, interest is usually paid monthly based on the amount of 
money borrowed during the previous period. On short-term 
notes (one year or less), interest is commonly paid in one amount 
at the maturity date of the note, which is the last day of the loan 
period, at which time the amount borrowed and the accumulated 
interest are due. On long-term notes payable (longer than one 
year), interest can be paid monthly, quarterly, semiannually, or 
possibly annually (depending on the terms of the agreement). In 
any case, on both short-term and long-term notes there is a lag or 
delay in paying interest. Nevertheless, interest expense should be 
recorded for all days the money has been borrowed.

The accumulated amount of unpaid interest expense at the end 
of the accounting period is calculated and recorded in an accrued 
expenses payable type of account. In Exhibit 15.1, accrued inter-
est payable at year-end is the second component of the accrued 
expenses payable liability. In our example, the amount of unpaid 
interest expense at year-end is fairly small, only $20,000 as 
of 12/31/10 and $15,000 as of 12/31/11. Generally speaking, 
accrued interest payable is not reported as a separate liability in 
external financial statements, although there is no rule against it 
(we’ve just pulled it out in Exhibit 15.1 to highlight the direct 
connection).
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Critical Ratio Alert

It is sometimes helpful to calculate a company’s average cost of 
debt or average interest rate. This is a fairly simple calculation but 
can be helpful in determining the perceived credit worthiness of a 
business as if the average interest rate is increasing, then it may 
indicate the credit worthiness of the company is deteriorating. 
Exhibit 15.3 calculates HSI’s average interest rate for 2011.

EXHIBIT 15.3 AVERAGE INTEREST RATE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

12/31/2011

Interest Expense (A) $     80

Outstanding Notes Payable, Beg. of Year:

 Long-Term Notes Payable $1,600

 Current Portion of Long-Term Debt $   400

Outstanding Notes Payable, End of Year:

 Long-Term Notes Payable $1,200

 Current Portion of Long-Term Debt $   400

Total Outstanding Notes Payable $3,600

Average Outstanding Notes (B) $1,800

Average Interest Rate (A divided by B) 4.44%
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

There can be some real messy accounting issues related to the dif-
ferent types of debt, especially as noted in our third bullet point 
related to a business in serious financial trouble, and/or which has 
defaulted on a note payable. But before we dive into this scenario, 
a couple of accounting issues warrant a quick discussion.

 ◆ Interest expense. What’s included? One accounting issue con-
cerns what to include in interest expense. In addition to inter-
est paid to lenders, borrowing involves other types of costs 
to the business, such as loan application and processing fees, 
so-called points charged by lenders, and other incidental costs 
such as legal fees and so on. Also, an argument could be made 
that fees paid to process payments from electronic sources 
such as credit cards and debits cards should be included as 
interest expense (as the reason a company is using these forms 
of payments is to accelerate receipts and lower borrowing 
usage). While there is no hard and fast rule, any ability for 
companies to increase EBITDA by pushing expenses below 
this performance measurement, including the aforementioned 
items, will often be pursued. So watch this line item carefully 
and again, refer to the disclosures in the footnotes to gain a 
complete understanding of how all loan costs and expenses are 
accounted for. 

 ◆ Classification—current versus long term: Proper classifica-
tion of debt between current and long term is important in the 
balance sheet. The reason for this is that numerous covenants 
are based on working capital levels (current assets less current 
liabilities). So if a company can successfully record more loans 
and notes payable as long-term liabilities, this has the effect of 
increasing working capital calculations (as current liability bal-
ances would be lower). 

Real World Story

This is a story for you to choose the proper reporting. A large service 
organization secured a line of credit, which it used to finance accounts 
receivables. The line of credit loan was structured with a two-year term 
but the company could never borrow more than 80 percent of eligible 
accounts receivables. So even though the line of credit had a maturity 
date two years in the future, its ability to borrow was directly associated 
with accounts receivable levels, which is considered a current asset. So 
what’s the right classification, as a current liability due to the fact the 
line of credit was directly associated and varied with a current asset 
(accounts receivable)? Or as a long-term liability due to the fact that the 
line of credit had a two-year maturity date? 
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As we alluded to earlier in the chapter, accrued inter-
est payable usually is not reported as a separate liability in a 
company’s year-end balance sheet. However, if this particular 
liability were large, it very well should be reported separately 
in the balance sheet. If a business is seriously behind in paying 
interest on its debts, the liability for unpaid interest should be 
prominently reported in its balance sheet, to call attention to 
this situation.

 ◆ Defaults and disclosures. What should be recorded and when? 
As noted throughout this chapter, disclosures related to notes 
payable, contingencies, and commitments are of critical impor-
tance. In fact, just think how difficult it was to properly disclose 
the environment impact and costs of the oil well rig disaster for 
British Petroleum in the Gulf of Mexico in 2010.

But things can really get messy if a default occurs on a note 
payable and/or the company begins to experience severe finan-
cial distress. This last comment segues into the messy topic 
regarding how to present the financial statements of a business 
that is in serious financial trouble and is in default on its debt. 
One basic premise of financial statement accounting is the going 
concern assumption. The accountant assumes that unless there 
is clear evidence to the contrary, the business will continue to 

operate in a normal manner and will not be forced into invol-
untary termination and liquidation of its assets. When a com-
pany is in serious default on its debt obligations, the creditors 
have the right to enforce their claims and in the extreme case 
shut the business down. 

To stave off the drastic effects from unpaid creditors who 
may force it to shut down, the business can file for bankruptcy 
protection. This is a complicated area of law, way beyond the 
scope of this book. If there is a serious threat of such legal 
actions by creditors against the business, the financial state-
ments of the business should make full disclosure of its precari-
ous financial situation.

The bottom line to remember with the types of formal debt 
discussed in this chapter is two simple words: maturity and secu-
rity. That is, when does the debt mature (and must be paid) and 
what security is associated with the debt? If the debt really never 
matures and/or has no security, then you could argue that this 
should be accounted for as equity. One thing is for sure in today’s 
economic environment, the creativity of financial types is ever 
expanding, which is having the effect of really blurring the lines 
between the different types of debt, classifications, and if debt is 
really equity. 
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Exhibit 15.4 compares our two case study companies that high-
lights and in the words of Tom Hanks who played astronaut Jim 
Lovell in the movie Apollo 13, “Houston, we have a problem.” 

While HSI’s debt service coverage ratio is a healthy 1.78 × 1.00, 
TTI’s cannot even be calculated because it is negative (thus the 
reference to N/A as it is negative). To the naked eye this would 
be considered a serious problem as any external party would most 
likely be deeply concerned about this ratio. Chapter 24 provides 
an updated assessment of both companies, which specifically 
addresses this ratio. 

EXHIBIT 15.4 CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DEBT 

SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Debt Service Coverage Ratio—HareSquared, Inc.           1.78

Debt Service Coverage Ratio—TortTech, Inc.

12/31/2011

Net Income After Tax $(2,173)

Plus:

 Amortization Expense $        0

 Depreciation Expense $    200

 Interest Expense $    270

 Income Tax Expense $        0

 EBITDA—(Z) $(1,703)

Total Debt Service:

 Principal Payments Due in Next 12 Months $    400

 Interest Expense $    270

 Total Debt Service Payments (X) $    670

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Z divided by X) N/A
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The All-Important EPS 

When it comes to evaluating a company’s financial performance, 
without question the most focused on and analyzed financial 
results relate to the company’s net income and earnings per share 
(EPS). While other measurements and results may be emphasized 
and highlighted by parties, including Wall Street’s fixation on net 
sales revenue, financial analyst’s focus on earnings before inter-
est, tax, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA), and others, 
sooner or later, everyone ends up at the same place. How much 
profit or loss did the company generate? What were the earn-
ings generated per share? Google’s second quarter 2013 results’ 
announcement highlights its key operating metrics with revenue, 
net income, and EPS being the focal point. 

Two things you notice about Google’s second quarter results 
are as follows. First, Google prepared the announcement and 
has specifically focused on performance measurements that are 
important to the industry. For example, in the web/Internet/
social media world, the concept of TAC (traffic acquisition costs) 
is extremely important as this is a key measurement of how much 
it costs these companies to acquire customers. There is no doubt 
that this is an important figure but remember also that when the 
companies report earnings, they often will emphasize (and we 

use this term carefully) results that tend to be more positive and 
de-emphasize results that may not be viewed so well. There is no 
doubt that companies often utilize selective presentation to help 
sell—strike that—tell their story. 

Second, constant reference is made to both GAAP and non-
GAAP figures. The dual reporting of financial results using both 
GAAP and non-GAAP methods is becoming increasingly popular 
with more and more large corporations as a means to provide 
more information to external parties to better decipher operating 
results. While this may be true to a large extent, this also adds 
to the confusion surrounding operating results as if the report-
ing company does not specifically identify what the difference is 
between generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and 
non-GAAP figures, external parties may even become more frus-
trated with interpreting results. 

So as you work through this chapter, remember that compa-
nies reference different types of net income and EPS as a means 
to both provide proper and complete disclosure to the parties as 
well as to highlight or emphasize certain operating results and/
or one-time events that may negatively or positively impact its 
operating results.
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Net Income into Retained Earnings

Exhibit 16.1 highlights the connection from net income in the 
income statement to retained earnings in the balance sheet, and 
from net income to a new piece of information that we show for 
the first time—earnings per share (EPS). This chapter explains that 
earning profit increases the retained earnings account. And, we 
introduce earnings per share (EPS).

Suppose a business has $10 million total assets and $3 million 
total liabilities (including both noninterest-bearing operating lia-
bilities such as accounts payable and interest-bearing notes pay-
able). Over the years, its owners invested $4 million capital in the 
business. Therefore, liabilities plus capital from owners provide 
a total of $7 million of the company’s total assets. Where did the 
other $3 million of assets come from?

Assets don’t just drop down like “manna from heaven.” All 
assets have a source, and one job of accountants is to keep track of 
the sources of assets of the business. The source of the other $3 
million of assets must be from profit the business earned but did 
not distribute—from retained earnings.

Two basic types of owners’ equity accounts are needed for 
every business—one for capital invested by the owners and one 
for retained earnings. In our example the business is organized 
legally as a corporation, and it issues capital stock shares to its 
owners when they invest money in the business. As you see in 
Exhibit 16.1 the company uses the account called Capital Stock to 

record the investment of money by stockholders in the business. 
Whenever a business distributes money to its owners, it must dis-
tinguish between returning capital they have invested in the busi-
ness (which is not taxable to them) versus dividing profit among 
them (which is taxable). A business corporation is required to keep 
separate accounts for capital stock and retained earnings, as you 
see in Exhibit 16.1.

The income statement reports that the business earned 
$4,493,000 bottom-line profit, or net income for the year ending 
12/31/12 (see Exhibit 16.1). Chapter 4 explains that at the end of 
the period the amount of net income is recorded as an increase 
in the retained earnings account. The retained earnings account 
is so named because annual profit is entered as an increase in the 
account, and distributions to owners from profit are entered as 
decreases in the account.

During the year, the business paid no cash dividends from net 
income to its stockholders as it retained all earnings (hmmm?). 
Does management and the board of directors know something 
about the coming year they’re not quite comfortable with and 
thus want to conserve cash balances? (We shall see.) Therefore, its 
retained earnings increased by the entire amount of net income 
or $4,493,000 during the year: [$4,493,000 net income − $0 divi-
dends = $4,493,000 net increase in retained earnings]. At the end 
of the year, its retained earnings balance stands at $2,371,000, 



EXHIBIT 16.1—NET INCOME, RETAINED EARNINGS, AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue, Net $18,412 $38,281
Costs of Goods Sold $  9,156 $17,950
Gross Profit $  9,256 $20,331
Selling, General, and Administrative 
Expenses

$  8,400 $13,800

Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     700 $     750 
Operating Earnings $     156 $  5,781 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 $         0 
Interest Expense $       80 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $       76 $  5,781 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $         0 $  1,288 
Net Income (Loss) $       76 $  4,493 

Shares Outstanding        550        700 

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $     0.14 $    6.42 

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $    372 $   9,053 
  Accounts Receivable, Net $ 4,575 $   6,800 
  Inventory, LCM $    880 $   2,640 
  Prepaid Expenses $      75 $      100 
Total Current Assets $ 5,902 $ 18,593 
Fixed Assets

  Property, Plant, and Equipment $ 1,000 $   1,250 
  Accumulated Depreciation $   (350) $     (600)
Net Fixed Assets $    650 $      650 
Other Assets

  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $ 1,500 $   1,000 
  Other Assets $      75 $        75 
Total Other Assets $ 1,575 $   1,075 
Total Assets $ 8,127 $ 20,318 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

  Accounts Payable, Inventory $    403 $      728 
  Accounts Payable, Operating Expenses $    329 $      595 
  Accrued Expenses $    604 $      945 
  Current Portion of Debt $    400 $          0 
  Income Taxes Payable $        0 $      429 
  Other Current Liabilities $ 4,313 $   8,250 
Total Current Liabilities $ 6,049 $ 10,947 
Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $ 1,200 $          0 
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $        0 $          0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,200 $          0 
Total Liabilities $ 7,249 $ 10,947 

Stockholders’ Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2011 & 700,000 
Outstanding —> 2012 $ 3,000 $   7,000 
  Retained Earnings $(2,122) $   2,371 
Total Owners’ Equity $    878 $   9,371 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 8,127 $ 20,318 

Focus on the 
following two 
connections:
– Net income plus the 
prior year’s retained 
earnings balance 
less dividends should 
equal the current 
year’s retained 
earnings balance 
$4,493 + <$2,122> 
– $0 (dividends) 
= $2,371.
– Net income dividend 
by shares outstanding 
equals basic earnings 
per share. $4,493/700 
= $6.42.

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2011

&
12/31/2012
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which is the cumulative result from all years the company has 
been in existence. You will notice that the ending retained earn-
ings figure of $2,371,000 is lower than the net income earned 
in 2012 of $4,493,000 as at the end of 2011, the company had a 
negative retained earnings balance or what is commonly referred 
to as an accumulated deficit (as a result of incurring losses from pre-
vious years). This is not an uncommon occurrence with younger, 
start-up companies that must invest heavily in product develop-
ment and market launch expenses that drive losses in early years 
and profits (hopefully) in later years. Notice in this example that the company has a relatively small 

retained earnings balance compared with its total assets and other 
balance sheet accounts (total retained earnings of $2,371,000 
compared to total assets of $20,318,000 at the end of 2012). This 
signals that the business has not had strong profits in the past. 
However, we can’t tell from the balance sheet whether the com-
pany suffered a loss in one or more years in the past (as this would 
need to be deciphered by reviewing the historical income state-
ments for the company). 

Many people, even some experienced business managers, are 
confused about what retained earnings refers to. They mistak-
enly imagine that retained earnings refers to a cache of cash that 
has been set aside. No, a thousand times no! The balance of the 
retained earnings account does not refer to any particular asset 
and certainly not to cash. Yet, we can see that the title of this 
balance sheet owners’ equity account could mislead people into 
thinking that it refers to money that the business has squirreled 
away.

Perhaps the best way to reinforce the correct meaning of 
retained earnings is to rearrange the accounting equation to put 
emphasis on retained earnings:

 Assets – Liabilities – Capital Invested by Owners 
= Retained Earnings

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Dividends are generally issued by larger, more mature, financially 
stronger, and slower-growing companies than compared to 
their counterparts (smaller, earlier stage, financially weaker, and 
faster growing). The reason for this is that smaller, faster-growing 
companies need to conserve as much cash as possible to finance 
their rapid growth. There would be no point for a small, fast-growing 
company to issue dividends to only turn around and have to borrow 
excessively or sell more company equity to finance its growth. 
Rather cash is conserved and in some cases, hoarded (Apple, Inc. 
provides a perfect case study in hoarding cash) to finance future 
growth. And one additional word of caution with the dividends is 
the potential “image” or story it tells. While companies such as 
Apple may have more than enough cash to distribute as dividends 
(well over $100 billion of cash and equivalents at the end of 2012), 
actually making a distribution in the form of a dividend may send 
a signal to the market that growth rates are decelerating and cash 
would be better used by distributing it rather than investing it in 
new, internal products/opportunities. So while investors are happy 

to receive a cash dividend, they will become concerned that growth 
rates and EPS are slowing, meaning that the future value of the 
company may not be as robust as once thought. There is no doubt 
that this issue contributed to Apple’s share price dropping from a 
high of more than $700 per share in late 2012 to roughly $450 per 
share by mid-2013. 
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In words, if you subtract the amount of liabilities and capital invested 
by owners the remainder of assets must be attributable to earnings 
that have been retained in the business. In our business example the 
numbers (in thousands) are as follows at the end of 2012:

$20,318  − 10,947  −  $7,000 = 2,371
Assets Liabilities Capital Retained

    Stock Earnings

In short, the balance in retained earnings explains one source 
of the total assets of a business. Making profit and keeping it in 
the business has added $2,371,000 to the total assets of the busi-
ness in our example. You must look in the asset section of the bal-
ance sheet to see which particular assets the business owns. You 
can’t tell a thing about which assets the business has by looking at 
the balance of its retained earnings. You’re on the wrong side of 
the balance sheet.

When a business retains some (or all) of its annual net income, 
the retained profit should be considered as an addition to the 
ongoing capital base of the business. Businesses do not generally 
go back and pay a dividend from prior years’ profits—although 
when a business piles up a huge cash hoard and has no other 
investment uses for the money it may make a large distribution 
out of retained earnings. Apple comes to mind here although 
a good part of what Apple did in 2013 involved buying back a 
large number of its capital stock shares, as well as paying a hefty 
dividend. 

Looking down the road to the end of a business—after closing 
its doors, liquidating all of its assets, and paying off all of its liabili-
ties, the business would distribute its remaining cash balance to 
its shareowners. The first layer of this final cash distribution to 
its shareowners is return of the capital they invested in the busi-
ness. The remaining amount would be the final dividend (which 
is taxable).
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Earnings per Share (EPS)

Net income, the bottom line in the income statement, is the profit 
measure for the business as a whole. Earnings per share (EPS) is 
the profit measure for each ownership unit, or for each share of 
capital stock of a business corporation.

Suppose in our example that you own 14,000 shares, or exactly 
2 percent of the 700,000 shares of capital stock issued by the busi-
ness as of 12/31/12. Several years ago you purchased these shares 
by investing $56,000 in the business, when it was just starting 
up. You’re one of the original stockholders. Your $56,000 capi-
tal investment divided by your 14,000 shares means that your 
cost is $4 per share. Later investors paid more per share as a 
result of the company’s value increasing (based on its operating 
performance). 

We can tell this from the company’s balance sheet (see Exhibit 
16.1). The $7,000,000 balance in the company’s capital stock 
account divided by the 700,000 capital stock shares outstand-
ing works out to an average of $10 per share. The later investors 
paid more per share than you did with the most recent tranche 
of investors purchasing new shares in 2012. (How do we know 
this? Refer to the increase in capital stock account between 2011 
and 2012.)

Owning only 2 percent of the total capital stock shares out-
standing, you are a passive, outside investor in the business. 
Generally speaking, you would not participate actively in manag-
ing the company or be a member of the board of directors. You’re 

entitled to 2 percent of any cash dividends paid from profit, and 
you control 2 percent of the votes on matters that have to be put 
to a vote of stockholders. However, your entitlement to the divi-
dend is dependent on the board of directors actually authorizing 
a dividend, which for 2012, did not occur. 

As a stockholder you should be provided a copy of the com-
pany’s annual (and quarterly) financial reports. Needless to say, 
you’re very interested in the company’s profit performance. You 
could take the view that 2 percent of annual net income “belongs” 
to you, which is an $89,860 slice of the company’s total $4,493,000 
net income. This is your cut of the net income pie. Or you could 
look at earnings per share (EPS), which is net income divided by 
the average number of capital stock shares outstanding during the 
year. In this example, EPS for the year just ended works out to 
$6.42 per share (net income of $4,493,000 divided by 700,000 
shares equals $6.42 EPS). Relative to your $4 cost per share 
you’re earning a handsome return on your original investment in 
the business.

Earnings per share (EPS) is an especially important number for 
public companies whose capital stock shares are traded on securi-
ties exchanges. In fact, public companies must report EPS at the 
bottom of their income statements. Nonpublic companies do not 
have to report EPS although they may elect to do so (but the gen-
eral rule is that unless the ownership structure of a private com-
pany is relatively complex, EPS data is generally not provided). 
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To close this section of the chapter, three key concepts should 
be understood related to EPS:

Critical Terminology Alert

Preferred versus common equity: Quite often you will see different 
categories of capital stock in the equity section of a company’s 
balance sheet. The two most common types of equity are preferred 
and common stock. Preferred equity sounds like its name. That 
is, it has preferences over common stock. These may include 
dividend, liquidation, voting, and/or other preferences. Listing all 
of the potential features in preferred stock is beyond the scope of 
this book but the basic concept is simple. Preferred stock is higher 
in the food chain than common stock when it comes to liquidation 
rights and security in company assets.

Basic versus fully diluted EPS: Another distinction you will see in 
financial statements is the calculation between basic and fully diluted 
EPS. Basic EPS simply takes the GAAP net income (less certain 
adjustments) and divides it by the average number of common stock 
shares outstanding (in the hands of the shareholders) for the period. Fully 
diluted EPS takes the GAAP net income (less certain adjustments) and 
divides it by the number of average common stock shares outstanding 
that includes additional shares that would be issued under options, 
warrants, convertible securities, and/or other equities (all of which fall 
into the category of additional shares that a business is potentially 
committed to issue in the future). Just remember the fully diluted EPS 
is almost always lower than the basic EPS as it accounts for all forms 
of common stock that have been committed, outstanding or not. 

EPS as a valuation basis: Last, it should be noted that EPS 
plays a key role in putting a market value on a share of stock in 
a business. For example, suppose we offer to buy 1,000 of your 
shares. You might offer to sell them at 10 times the stock’s $6.42 
EPS, or $64.20 per share (which we may view as fair or not, thus 

not purchasing the shares). The concept that is in play here and so 
often referenced for publicly traded companies (when determining 
a value) is the price earnings ratio.

Critical Ratio Alert

The price earnings (PE) multiple or ratio is calculated by simply 
taking the current price quote for a stock and dividing it by the 
company’s EPS. Exhibit 16.2 calculates the price earnings ratio for 
HSI (assuming the current price quote is $102).

EXHIBIT 16.2—PRICE EARNINGS RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

12/31/2012

Current Stock Price $102.00

Basic Earnings per Share (EPS) $    6.42 

Price Earnings Multiple     15.89 

Per the calculation in Exhibit 16.2, HSI’s price earnings mul-
tiple is 15.89. Is this too high or too low? Well, it’s hard to say but 
the basic premise behind higher price-earning multiples is that the 
“market” is assuming or anticipating higher growth rates (in sales 
revenue, operating profits, and net income) for companies that have 
high price earnings multiples (and vice versa for companies with 
low-growth rates). This is why a company like Exxon will trade at a 
PE of less than 10 and Facebook at a PE of more than 100.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

Accounting problems don’t concern retained earnings as such, but 
rather sales revenue and expenses that determine profit for the 
period, which we’ve explained over the last several chapters. If net 
income is incorrect, then the retained earnings amount is incor-
rect. But there are some important accounting issues to note as it 
relates to net income, equity, retained earnings, and EPS:

 ◆ Distribution of earnings versus dividend: Dividends are 
issued by regular C corporations and represent an allocation 
and payment of corporate earnings to the shareholders of 
the company. Dividends are issued after the corporation has 
paid taxes and can trigger a double taxation depending on 
the recipient’s status (as the recipients may have to record 
the receipt of the dividend as additional income on their tax 
return). A distribution of earnings generally occurs from a 
pass-through entity (discussed in Chapter 12) such as a sub-
chapter S corporation or limited liability company (LLC). 
The distribution and payment of earnings by itself does not 
trigger a taxable event to the recipient. Rather, the alloca-
tion of taxable income in a pass-through entity does result in 
taxable income being realized. For example, if a subchapter 
S corporation generated $300,000 of taxable income dur-
ing a year and had three equal owners, each owner would 
receive an allocation of $100,000, which they must report 
on their personal income tax return. If this same company 

distributed only $50,000 to each owner for the same year, 
each owner would still be required to report $100,000 of 
taxable income (as the $50,000 distribution is not the tax-
able event but rather represents that 50 percent of the tax-
able income is being distributed to the owners). This is one 
of the most commonly misunderstood elements of how dis-
tributions work in pass-through entities. 

 ◆ Foreign currency adjustments: Before we close the book on 
retained earnings we should briefly mention another compo-
nent of owners’ equity called Other Comprehensive Income. You 
see this in the financial reports of many public companies. This 
element of owners’ equity is reported separately from retained 
earnings. It accumulates certain types of gains and losses 
recorded on the assets of a business. One example is gains and 
losses from changes in foreign exchange ratios that haven’t yet 
been executed by the business but affect the value of certain of 
its assets. 

Also, you would think that all asset gains and losses should 
pass through the income statement. However, these spe-
cial income-and-loss items bypass the income statement and 
are recorded directly in the owners’ equity account, Other 
Comprehensive Income. The thinking behind this treatment 
is that these peculiar gains and losses should not be included in 
the calculation of net income.
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So when you see “other adjustments” to the equity section 
for these types of items and/or transactions, you may want 
to spend a little more time evaluating and understanding the 
events.

 ◆ Different types of EPS: There are some technical aspects of 
retained earnings, which are beyond the scope of this book. 
By and large, the financial reporting of retained earnings is 
straightforward and noncontroversial. But reporting EPS is 
another matter altogether. There are several problems in cal-
culating EPS. To start with, many companies have to report not 
just one, but two figures for EPS—basic and fully diluted EPS 
as discussed previously. 

Taking a look at our case study companies, we can see the sig-
nificant difference between TTI and HSI’s EPS for the two-year 
period of 12/31/11 and 12/31/12 in Exhibit 16.3.

EXHIBIT 16.3—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—EPS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

12/31/2011 12/31/2012

EPS—HareSquared, Inc. $    0.14 $ 6.42 

EPS—TortTech, Inc. 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

 Net Income (Loss) $(2,173) $2,351

 Average Number of Common Shares 
Outstanding

      550     550 

 Basic Earnings per Share (EPS) $  (3.95) $ 4.27 

Chapter 24 provides an updated assessment of both companies, 
which specifically addresses this calculation. 
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A Different Type of Connection

were severely and abruptly reduced or eliminated. So what busi-
nesses quickly discovered was that if capital or cash was not available 
for external sources, you better start looking internally in your busi-
ness operations to determine where cash could be generated, and in 
a hurry. As pointed out by the noted economist Richard Koo, what 
we had was a “Balance Sheet Recession.”

So now that we have your attention as to the importance of the 
cash flow statement, we shift gears and focus on the connections 
between the cash flow statement and primarily, the balance sheet. If 
you recall, Chapters 7 through 16 (except for Chapter 9) walk down 
the income statement and the related connections to the balance 
sheet. Each chapter explains how sales revenue or an expense is con-
nected with its corresponding asset or liability. You can’t understand 
the balance sheet too well without understanding how sales revenue 
and expenses drive many of the assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet. (In Chapter 4 we explain the increases and decreases of assets 
and liabilities in the recording of revenue and expenses.)

This chapter is the first of two that explain the statement of cash 
flows, which is the third primary financial statement reported by 
businesses in addition to the income statement and balance sheet. 
Exhibit 17.1 presents the statement of cash flows for our case study 
business, HSI, which we have discussed and analyzed starting in 
Chapter 7. Please take a moment to read down this statement. We 
make you a wager here. We bet you understand the second and 
third sections of the statement (investing activities and financing
activities) much better than the first section (operating activities).

Personal Note from Tage

In my travels over the past 20 years, without question the most difficult 
financial statement for businesses to prepare (let alone understand) is 
the statement of cash flows. While most businesses tend to focus on 
and have a good handle on the income statement as well as the balance 
sheet (although more challenging to understand), the statement of 
cash flows might as well be prepared in a foreign language. Small 
businesses particularly struggle with the cash flow statement as they 
generally lack the internal accounting sophistication and resources to 
understand how important this financial statement is. I must admit 
that my experience has been skewed toward small businesses (i.e., 
companies with annual revenues less than $100 million) but without 
fail and with more than 80 percent of the companies I provided 
professional counsel to, the cash statement was almost always 
missing or, when presented, nobody could explain it.

The reason the cash flow statement has taken on a new level of 
importance can be traced back to the Great Recession, which started 
in 2008. On top of the severity of this economic downturn (which 
numerous experts noted as being the second worst economic down-
turn over the past 100 years only trailing the Great Depression), one 
of the critical events and outcomes of the Great Recession was that 
available sources of capital (including access to equity discussed in 
Chapter 16, loans discussed in Chapter 15, and short-term accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities covered in Chapters 9 through 11) 



Cash flow from operating (profit-making) activities     175

Profit and Cash Flow from Profit: Not Identical Twins!

Exhibit 17.1 shows the balance sheets of the company at the start 
and end of the year and includes a column for changes in assets, 
liabilities, and stockholders’ equity. This chapter focuses on the 
first section of the cash flows statement, which presents cash flow 
from the company’s operating activities (i.e., its profit-making
activities) during the year. As you know, a company’s profit-mak-
ing activities are reported in its income statement. The income 
statement is not needed here to explain the first section of the 
statement of cash flows. Cash flow from operating activities is 
driven by changes during the period in the balance sheet.

The main question on everyone’s mind seems to be why profit 
doesn’t equal cash flow. In this example, the company earned 
$4,493,000 net income over the year just ended. Why didn’t earn-
ing this amount of profit generate the same amount of cash flow? 
The first section in the cash flows statement provides part of the 
answer to this question.

The last line in the first section is labeled “Cash Flow from 
Operating Activities” (see Exhibit 17.1). Frankly, this is not the 
best name in the world. We prefer to call it cash flow from profit.
The term operating activities is accounting jargon for sales revenue 
and expenses, which are the profit-making activities or operations 

of a business. Much of the time we refer to this line as cash flow 
from profit, which is shorter and more descriptive, we think. In 
any case, from the cash flows statement we see that the company 
generated $6,531,000 cash flow from profit compared with its 
$4,493,000 net income for the year.

Business managers have a double duty—first to earn profit, and 
second to convert the profit into cash as soon as possible. Waiting 
too long to turn profit into cash reduces its value because of the 
time value of money. Business managers should be clear on the 
difference between profit reported in the income statement and 
the amount of cash flow from profit during the year. Creditors 
and investors also should keep an eye on cash flow from profit 
(operating activities) and management’s ability to control this 
very important number.

To get from net income to the cash flow result from net income, 
we have to make adjustments along the way. Each is caused by a 
change during the year in one of the company’s operating assets 
and liabilities (i.e., the assets and liabilities directly involved in 
recording sales revenue and expenses). We look at these adjust-
ments in the company’s statement of cash flows. (Data is from 
Exhibit 17.1.)



Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 Change

Assets

Current Assets
  Cash and Equivalents $   372 $  9,053 $  (8,681)
  Accounts Receivable, Net $4,575 $  6,800 $  (2,225)
  Inventory, LCM $   880 $  2,640 $  (1,760)
  Prepaid Expenses $     75 $     100 $       (25)
Total Current Assets $5,902 $18,593 $(12,691)

Fixed Assets
  Property, Plant, and Equipment $1,000 $  1,250 $ (250)
  Accumulated Depreciation $  (350) $    (600) $      250 
Net Fixed Assets $   650 $     650 $          0 

Other Assets
  Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $1,500 $  1,000 $      500 
  Other Assets $     75 $       75 $          0 
Total Other Assets $1,575 $  1,075 $      500 

Total Assets $8,127 $20,318 $(12,191)
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable $   732 $  1,323 $      591 
  Accrued Expenses $   604 $     945 $      341 
  Current Portion of Debt $   400 $         0 $     (400)
  Other Current Liabilities $4,313 $  8,679 $   4,366 
Total Current Liabilities $6,049 $10,947 $   4,898 

Long-Term Liabilities
  Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $1,200 $         0 $  (1,200)
  Other Long-Term Liabilities $       0 $         0 $          0 
Total Long-Term Liabilities $1,200 $         0 $  (1,200)

Total Liabilities $7,249 $10,947 $   3,698 
Stockholders Equity
  Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 
550,000 Outstanding —> 2010

$3,000 $  7,000 $   4,000 

  Retained Earnings $(2,122) $  2,371 $   4,493 
Total Owners’ Equity $   878 $  9,371 $   8,493 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ 

Equity

$8,127 $20,318 $ 12,191 

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012

Net Income (loss) $ 4,493 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Depreciation and Amortization $    750 
  Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $(2,225)
  Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $(1,760)
  Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (25)
  Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    591 
  Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    341 
  Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $ 4,366 
  Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ 6,531 
Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Capital Expenditures $   (250)
  Investments in Other Assets $        0 
  Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (250)
Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
  Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 
  Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 4,000 
  Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $        0 
  Repayments of Long-Term Debt $(1,600)
  Other Financing Activities—Asset Impairment $        0 
  Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 2,400 
Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $ 8,681 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    372 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $ 9,053 

HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2012

EXHIBIT 17.1—CASH FLOW FROM PROFIT-MAKING ACTIVITIES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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Changes in Assets and Liabilities that Impact Cash 
Flow from Operating Activities

Changes in assets and liabilities that impact cash flow from oper-
ating activities (as opposed to financing activities which are dis-
cussed in Chapter 18) are generally considered short-term or 
current in nature (i.e., the asset will be turned into cash within 
12 months and the liability will require cash payment within 12 
months). Chapter 3 discussed the balance sheet and the impor-
tance of understanding current versus long-term assets and liabil-
ities. But as a refresher, the primary current assets that will impact 
cash flow from operating activities are accounts receivable, inven-
tory, and prepaid expenses. The primary current liabilities that will 
impact cash flow from operating activities are accounts payable, 
accrued expenses payable/liabilities, and other current liabilities. 
One exception to this rule relates to depreciation and amortiza-
tion expense which is discussed in point 4 below in greater detail.

1. Accounts receivable: At year-end the company had 
$6,800,000 uncollected sales revenue, which is the end-
ing balance of its accounts receivable. The $6,800,000 is 
included in sales revenue for determining profit. But the 
company did not receive this amount of cash from custom-
ers. The $6,800,000 is still in accounts receivable instead 
of cash at year-end. However, the company collected its 
$4,575,000 beginning balance of accounts receivable. The 
$4,575,000 collected minus $6,800,000 not collected results 
in a $2,225,000 negative impact on cash flow. See the first 
adjustment in the cash flow statement (Exhibit 17.1). If 
short, an increase in accounts receivable hurts cash flow 
from profit.

2. Inventory: Notice the rather large increase in the company’s 
inventory during the year. This may or may not have been 
a smart business decision. Perhaps the business needed a 
larger inventory to meet higher sales demand, or maybe not. 
In any case, the $1,760,000 inventory increase has a nega-
tive impact on cash flow. The quickest way to explain this 
is as follows. Inventory is an investment in products in the 
process of being manufactured and finished products being 
held for sale. Increasing an investment means putting more 
money in the investment. See the second adjustment in the 
cash flow statement. In short, an increase in inventory hurts 
cash flow from operating activities (the profit-making activ-
ities of the business).

3. Prepaid expenses: During the year, the company paid 
$100,000 for certain operating costs that will benefit it next 
year, and therefore were not charged to expenses in the year. 
See the ending balance in the company’s prepaid expenses 
account. The company paid $100,000 on top of its operat-
ing expenses for the year. But the company had $75,000 of 
prepaid expenses at the start of the year; these costs were 
paid last year and then charged to operating expenses in the 
year just ended. Taking into account both the beginning and 
ending balances in prepaid expenses, the company experi-
ences only a $25,000 drain on cash during the year. The 
$75,000 not paid minus $100,000 paid has a $25,000 nega-
tive impact on cash flow. See the third adjustment in the 
cash flow statement (Exhibit 17.1).

4. Depreciation and Amortization: During the year the com-
pany recorded $750,000 of depreciation and amortization 
expense, not by writing a check for this amount but by 
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writing down the cost of its property, plant, and equipment 
and intangible assets. This write-down is recorded as an 
increase in the accumulated depreciation account (or accu-
mulated amortization for intangible assets), which is the 
contra or offset account deducted from the property, plant, 
and equipment asset account and a reduction to the net value 
of the company’s intangible assets. These long-term operat-
ing assets are partially written down each year to record the 
decrease in value associated with these assets (from wear and 
tear, reduced market value, etc.). The company paid cash for 
the assets when it bought these long-term resources. The 
company does not have to pay for them a second time when 
it uses them. In short, depreciation and amortization expense 
is not a cash outlay in the year recorded and therefore is a 
positive adjustment, or so-called add-back for determining 
cash flow from profit. See the fourth adjustment in the cash 
flow statement.

The depreciation and amortization add-back to net income 
can be explained another way. For the sake of argument here, 
assume all sales revenue had been collected in cash during the 
year. Part of this cash inflow from customers pays the company 
for the use of its long-term operating assets during the year. In 
a sense, the business “sells” a fraction of its fixed and intangi-
ble assets to its customers each year. In setting its sales prices, 
a business includes depreciation and amortization as a cost of 
doing business. So, each year a business recovers part of the capi-
tal invested in its fixed assets in cash flow from sales revenue. 
In short, the company in this example recaptured $750,000 of 
the investment in its property, plant, and equipment assets and 
intangible assets which is a significant source of cash flow.

5. Accounts payable: The ending balance in the company’s 
accounts payable liability reveals that manufacturing costs, 

product purchases, and operating expenses were not fully 
paid during the year. The ending balance in this liabil-
ity relieved the company of making cash payments in the 
amount of $1,323,000 (again see Exhibit 17.1). Not pay-
ing these costs avoids cash outflow. Consider the other 
side of the coin, as well. The company started the year with 
$732,000 accounts payable. These liabilities were paid dur-
ing the year. The $1,323,000 not paid minus $732,000 paid 
has a net $591,000 positive impact on cash flow. See the fifth 
adjustment in the cash flow statement.

6. Accrued expenses payable: This liability works the same way 
as accounts payable. The company did not pay $945,000 
of its expenses during the year, which is the balance in this 
liability at the end of the year. But the company did pay the 
$604,000 beginning amount of this liability. The $945,000 
not paid minus $604,000 paid has a net $341,000 positive 
impact on cash flow. See the sixth adjustment in the cash 
flow statement.

7. Other current liabilities: This one is particularly large so 
pay close attention. At the start of the year, the business had 
other current liabilities of $4,313,000. This balance is com-
prised of various items including taxes, customer deposits, but 
most importantly, deferred customer revenue (billed to the 
customer and either collected or still in accounts receivable). 
Deferred revenue represents sales revenue that has been 
billed but not yet earned per generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP; e.g., an annual software license billed in 
advance for the entire year). At the end of the year, the busi-
ness had other current liabilities of $8,679,000 as our case 
study company was actively and aggressively booking new 
sales (for software licenses) at the end of the year. This liabil-
ity acts in a similar fashion to accounts payable and accrued 
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liabilities as the net increase of $4,366,000 was a source of 
cash (or produced an increase in cash).

Summing up the seven cash flow adjustments to net income:

 ◆ Increases in operating assets cause decreases in cash flow from 
profit; and decreases in operating assets result in increases in 
cash flow from profit.

 ◆ Increases in operating liabilities help cash flow from profit; and 
decreases in operating liabilities result in decreases in cash flow 
from profit.

See in Exhibit 17.1 that the combined net effect of the seven 
adjustments is that cash flow from profit is $6,531,000, which is 
$2,038,000 more than profit for the year. This difference between 
cash flow and bottom-line profit is due to the changes in the com-
pany’s operating assets and liabilities. In summary, the business 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

One point that should stick out in the above analysis and with Exhibit 
17.1 is the significant increase in other current liabilities, related 
to deferred revenue. During the past five years, businesses have 
pursued numerous strategies to increase cash flows, one of which 
is to bill or invoice customers for increased amounts, in advance 
of services/products being shipped. This is commonly referred to 
as advanced billings, prebills, project/partial bills, and so on and is 
designed to accelerate cash flows. Our case study company, HSI, 
has utilized just this strategy over the past two years but needs to 
be evaluated closely to ensure the advance billings are appropriate 
and that sales revenue is recorded in the correct period.

realized $6,531,000 cash flow from its operating activities during 
the year. This source of cash flow is vital to every business.
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A Quick Word about the Direct Method for Reporting Cash Flow from 
Operating Activities

The accounting profession’s rule-making body in the United 
States, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), has 
expressed a preference regarding the reporting of cash flow from 
operating activities. You might be surprised that the format you 
see in Exhibit 17.1 is not the preferred method. What you see in 
Exhibit 17.1 is called the indirect method that uses changes in oper-
ating assets and liabilities to adjust net income, which leads down 
to cash flow from operating activities. Instead, the FASB prefers 
the direct method for this section of the statement of cash flows.

Exhibit 17.2 shows the direct method format for reporting cash 
flow from operating activities. The cash flow amounts from sales 
revenue and for expenses are presented “directly” in this format. 
The direct method format is supplemented with a schedule that 
summarizes the changes in operating assets and liabilities, pretty 
much the same way as the changes are presented by the indirect 
method shown in Exhibit 17.1.

Both formats report the same cash flow from operating activi-
ties. Although the FASB expresses a clear preference for the direct 
method, the large majority of businesses use the indirect method 

EXHIBIT 17.2—DIRECT METHOD FOR REPORTING 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

12/31/2012

Sales Revenue $ 38,281

Costs of Goods Sold Expense $(17,950)

Operating Expenses $(13,800)

Interest Expense $          0 

Income Tax Expense $  (1,288)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities $   5,243

in their external financial reports (which the FASB permits). 
Because of its popularity, we use the indirect method for the state-
ment of cash flows in our business example.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

Most financial statement readers have a good intuitive under-
standing of a balance sheet (assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ 
equity), and they have a good intuitive understanding that profit 
equals sales revenue minus expenses. In contrast, most financial 
statement readers seem confused about cash flow from profit. 
They think that making profit means making money, and that 
cash increases the same amount as bottom-line profit. This is not 
true, however. Profit and cash flow are two different numbers, 
both of which are important in their own right. So the following 
accounting issues have been identified that are based more on the 
complexity of the statement of cash flows as opposed to actual 
GAAP accounting issues (which are most closely associated with 
the balance sheet accounts and the respective income statement 
accounts they’re connected to):

 ◆ The missing cash flow statement: As noted previously, this is a 
common occurrence with small businesses and does not mean 
the company is being dishonest and/or incompetent as their 
balance sheet and income statement are both available and 
accurate. Just be prepared to create or prepare cash flow state-
ments for these businesses as once you’ve completed a couple, 
it becomes second nature. 

 ◆ Don’t rely on your CPA: We remind you that most honest and 
qualified accountants are accrual basis people, not cash basis 

people. To most accountants accrual basis is second nature. 
Indeed, we’ve met accountants who have trouble understanding 
cash flow because they are so submerged in the accrual basis. As 
a matter of fact, we’ve seen CPAs who have trouble preparing 
a statement of cash flows. So the party needs to invest the time 
and effort to really understanding what the statement of cash 
flows is saying about a business.

 ◆ Cash flow statement complexity: In preparing financial reports, 
accountants should keep in mind that the readers generally 
have a more difficult time understanding the statement of cash 
as compared with the balance sheet and income statement. But 
we see little evidence of this in the actual reporting of cash flow 
statements. We have read countless statements of cash flows. 
Many are exceedingly complicated. It’s not unusual to find a 
statement of cash flows of a public company that reports 30, 40, 
or more lines of information. Furthermore, it is impossible to 
reconcile all the items reported in the statement of cash flows 
with their corresponding assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet. So with this said, the following quote really applies to 
the statement of cash flows—Don’t lose sight of the forest for 
the trees!

We believe that businesses should provide a more readable state-
ment of cash flows. It would be quite helpful if management 
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provided a brief summary and discussion of the company’s cash 
flows for the year. Instead, the large majority of businesses offer 
little or no comment regarding their cash flows. You can make 
some headway in reading the statement of cash flows, but that’s 
about it. Even CPAs would have trouble doing a complete and 
thorough analysis of the cash flows statements of many companies. 

Now let’s compare our two case study companies, which high-
lights a significant difference in how cash flow from operating 
activities is reported using the direct method (to be evaluated 
more closely in Chapter 24). See Exhibit 17.3.

EXHIBIT 17.3—CASE STUDY COMPARISON—DIRECT 

METHOD FOR REPORTING CASH FLOW FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands 

HareSquare, Inc. TortTech, Inc.

12/31/2012 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue $ 38,281 $ 31,977 

Costs of Goods Sold Expense $(17,950) $(16,966)

Operating Expenses $(13,800) $(12,300)

Interest Expense $          0 $     (110)

Income Tax Expense $  (1,288) $          0

Cash Flow from Operating Activities $   5,243 $   2,601
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Understanding the Real Capital Structure and Needs of a Business

Every business needs to invest in long-term assets to support its 
business operations and future growth. Manufacturing compa-
nies need to constantly reinvest in machinery and equipment to 
stay competitive and replace worn-out assets. Technology com-
panies wouldn’t be around very long if they didn’t continually 
invest in new innovations, product development, intellectual 
property, and so on. Utility companies, new energy generation 
facilities, airlines—well that’s easy—new airplanes, and the list 
goes on and on. This concept of investment and where does 
the cash come from to support these investments is the basis 
of Chapter 18 on understanding cash flows from investing and 
financing activities.

These two simple concepts represent the basis for under-
standing cash flows from investing and financing activities as 
businesses must constantly invest in assets, hard or soft, inter-
nally produced or externally acquired, to drive earnings growth. 
Further, by focusing on these two segments of the cash flow state-
ment, a better understanding of financial structure of a company 
can be obtained as it relates to using debt and equity to finance 
its operations. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Two key concepts need to be understood relating to understanding 
cash flows from investing and financing activities: What return will 
my investment generate and where will the cash come from to 
support the investment? As for a return, all businesses must focus 
on its ROI or return on investment (covered in Chapter 22). Let’s 
look no further than Netflix and their reported $100 million-plus 
investment in its internally produced miniseries, House of Cards,
for a real world example. Will it play out and generate the type of 
return Netflix is hoping for? Well, only time will tell.

Assuming the potential return meets or exceeds its target level, 
then the next question will become: Where will the capital, or cash, 
come from to support the expansion? It could come from internal 
earnings or retained cash, lenders extending loans against the 
airplanes, by raising cash from selling equity in the company, or 
a combination of these items. But remember this critical financial 
concept—the greater the use of debt may produce higher investment 
net returns (compared to equity) but carries with it higher risks. The 
lower amount of debt used tends to produce lower net investment 
returns but carries with it lower risks. This is the basis of “financial 
leverage,” which can have disasterous results.
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Rounding Out the Statement of Cash Flows

financing refers to dealings between the business and its sources 
of capital (i.e., its lenders and its stockholders). The business in 
our example decreased its short-term and long-term debt dur-
ing the year by a total of $1,600,000 ($1,200,000 of long-term 
and $400,000 of short-term debt). It also raised a relatively large 
amount of $4,000,000 from issuing new capital stock shares (to 
a new investor). See the lines of connection from the statement 
of cash flows to the corresponding balance sheet accounts in 
Exhibit 18.1.

The business distributed no cash dividends from profit to 
its shareowners during the year. Cash dividends, if present, are 
included in the financing activities section of the cash flows 
statement. You may logically ask: Why not put cash dividends 
from profit next to cash flow from profit (i.e., from operating 
activities)? We say more about the placement of cash dividends 
later in the chapter. Its $4,493,000 net income for the year 
increases the company’s retained earnings account the same 
amount (see Chapter 16) with no cash dividends. Therefore, the 
net increase in retained earnings during the year is $4,493,000 
(see Exhibit 18.1).

The bottom line of the statement of cash flows is the $8,681,000 
increase in cash during the year (see Exhibit 18.1), which is very 
large and telling in this situation as why would a company that 
produces positive cash flow from operating activities, also look to 
generate cash from its financing activities (when actual investments 

Please refer to Exhibit 18.1.Chapter 17 explains the first of the 
three sections in the statement of cash flows, cash flow from oper-
ating activities, which without doubt is the hardest to understand. 
This chapter explains the other two sections of the cash flows 
statement, which are a piece of cake to understand compared with 
the first section that reports cash flow from operating activities.

The second section of the statement of cash flows (see Exhibit 
18.1) summarizes the investment activities of the business dur-
ing the year in long-term operating assets. In the example, the 
business spent $250,000 for new fixed assets (tangible long-term 
operating assets). See the line extending from this expenditure in 
the statement of cash flows to the property, plant, and equipment 
asset account in the balance sheet. In addition, the business did 
not make any investment in intangible assets during the year (sup-
ported by the line connecting $0 investments to investments in 
other assets). 

The investing activities section also includes proceeds from 
disposals of investments (net of tax), if there are any such dis-
posals during the period. In our example, the business did not 
dispose of any of its long-term operating assets during the year—
tangible or intangible. We should mention in passing that an 
ongoing business normally makes some disposals of fixed assets 
during the year.

The third section of the statement of cash flows (see Exhibit 
18.1 again) reports the cash flows of financing activities. The term 



HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2012

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 Change

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents  $ 372  $ 9,053 $   (8,681)
Accounts Receivable, Net  $4,575  $ 6,800 $   (2,225)
Inventory, LCM  $ 880  $ 2,640 $   (1,760) 
Prepaid Expenses  $ 75  $ 100 $        (25)

Total Current Assets  $5,902  $18,593 $ (12,691)

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment  $1,000  $ 1,250 $    (250)
Accumulated Depreciation  $ (350) $ (600) $     250 

Net Fixed Assets  $ 650  $ 650 $         0 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net  $1,500  $ 1,000 $     500 
Other Assets  $ 75  $ 75 $         0 

Total Other Assets  $1,575  $ 1,075 $     500 

Total Assets  $8,127  $20,318 $(12,191)
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable  $ 732  $ 1,323 $      591 
Accrued Expenses  $ 604  $ 945 $      341 
Current Portion of Debt  $ 400  $ 0 $    (400)
Other Current Liabilities  $4,313  $ 8,679 $  4,366 

Total Current Liabilities  $6,049  $10,947 $  4,898 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion  $1,200  $ 0 $ (1,200)
Other Long-Term Liabilities  $ 0  $ 0 $         0

Total Long-Term Liabilities  $1,200  $ 0 $ (1,200)

Total Liabilities  $7,249 $10,947 $  3,698 
Stockholders’ Equity

Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 700,000  $3,000 $  7,000 $  4,000 
Outstanding —> 2012

Retained Earnings $(2,122) $  2,731 $  4,493 
Total Owners’ Equity  $ 878 $  9,371 $  8,493 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $8,127 $ 20,318 $12,191

EXHIBIT 18.1—CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012

Net Income (Loss) $ 4,493 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization $    750 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $(2,225)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $(1,760)
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    591 
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $    341 
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $ 4,366 
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ 6,531 

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Capital Expenditures $   (250)
Investments in Other Assets $        0 
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (250)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 4,000 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $        0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $(1,600)
Other Financing Activities—Asset Impairment $        0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 2,400 

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $        0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $ 8,681 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $    372 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $ 9,053 



Cash flows from investing and financing activities     187

in assets during the year was only $250,000). We explore this in 
more detail later in this chapter when we present our case study 
companies.

As a side note, perhaps we shouldn’t call the change in cash the 
bottom line. The accounting authorities would not be amused. 

The term bottom line is more or less reserved for the last line of the 
income statement. But we see nothing wrong with referring to the 
bottom line of the cash flows statement. That line is the final, net 
result of all three types of activities that determine the increase or 
decrease in cash during the year.
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pay down some of its liabilities, which again, HSI did by paying 
off $1,600,000 of debt. Or the company could use some of the 
money to pay cash dividends to its stockholders.

Finally, the company could make an investment in its long-
term assets which it did, but for only $250,000 (refer to Exhibit 
18.1), not very significant in the grand scheme of things.These 
cash outlays are called capital expenditures, to emphasize the long-
term nature of investing capital in these assets. You may have 
noticed that the total amount of capital expenditures was consid-
erably less than cash flow from financing activities so this begs the 
question:What did HSI do with the balance of its cash? Chapter 
24, which summarizes our two case study companies, will provide 
the answer and summarize the moral to our story. 

It’s worthwhile at this stage to take a step back and evaluate the 
three primary sources of cash for a business:

1. Internal: Businesses should always look to optimize internal 
cash flows and/or utilize excess cash balances, as this source 
is the most directly controllable, accessible, and cheapest. 
Chapter 17 summarizes the topic of generating cash flows 
from operating activities but the real meat of our discussion 
is based on Chapters 7 through 12 (covering the connec-
tions between the income statement and the balance sheet’s 
working capital, and hints provided on where cash can be 
generated). 

Seeing the Big Picture of Cash Flows

Earning profit is a vital source of cash inflow to every business. 
Profit is the internal source of cash flow—money generated by 
the business itself without going outside the company to exter-
nal sources of capital. Chapter 17 explains that the company gen-
erated $6,531,000 cash flow during the year just ended from its 
profit-making (operating) activities. Profit provided more than 
$5,000,000 of money for the business, and this isn’t chicken feed.
The obvious question is: What did the business do with its 
cash flow from profit? The remainder of the cash flows state-
ment answers this important question. The rest of the cash flows 
statement reports other sources of cash that were tapped by the 
business during the year that provided additional capital to the 
business. And, most important, the statement of cash flows reveals 
what the business did with all this money.

From its profit-making activities the company generated 
$6,531,000 cash during the year. What could it do with this 
money? (We look at what it actually did in just a moment.) One 
option is simply to increase its cash balance, which is exactly what 
HSI did—just let the money pile up in the company’s checking 
account. This is not a productive use of the cash, unless the busi-
ness is on the ragged edge and desperately needs to increase its 
day-to-day working cash balance, is planning for a significant 
investment in the near term (e.g., a company acquisition), or is 
anticipating some type of other event that could require signifi-
cant cash, or liquidity, to work through. The business could also 
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2. Debt: Most businesses will utilize some type of formal lend-
ing agreements, shortterm or longterm, to support contin-
ued operations and growth (refer to Chapter 15). Although 
debt creates interest expense and is not as readily available as 
tapping internal sources of cash, it can be a valuable source 
of cash when used appropriately. That is, debt is designed to 
be used to fund real assets that can act as collateral for items 
such as machinery and equipment, accounts receivables, and 
inventory. Where companies get into trouble is when they 
use debt inappropriately such as to support expenses (rather 
than assets) and/or in an overly leveraged or risky manner. 

3. Equity: Businesses can secure cash by increasing the equity 
in their company by issuing stock in exchange for a cash 
investment (refer to Chapter 16). The good news with rais-
ing cash from issuing equity is that it does not bring with 
it a direct interest expense or require a set repayment plan. 
The bad news with raising cash from issuing equity is that it 
is often expensive (as a portion of future earnings now tech-
nically belong to the new equity owner), time consuming, 
and brings in outside parties that may influence manage-
ment moving forward. The key with equity, just like with 
debt, is to raise cash using a company’s equity at the most 
appropriate time, which include at the initial start-up (as all 
new businesses will require some type of equity to launch), 
in rapid growth environments, and ideally when the per-
ceived value of the company is at its highest (as the selling 
price per share of stock will be higher so the ownership per-
centage sold will be lower assuming a constant total level of 
cash is raised). 

When a business is growing year over year, its cash flow from 
profit net of cash dividends (which almost are never issued in a 
rapidly expanding business as the cash is needed to fund growth) 

usually does not provide all the cash it needs for its capital expen-
ditures. Therefore, the business has to expand its debt and equity 
capital, which the business did in our example. Chapter 19 exam-
ines the impact of business growth and decline on cash flow from 
operating activities.

Business managers, lenders, and investors keep a close watch 
on capital expenditures. These cash outlays are a bet on the future 
by the company. The business is saying, in effect, that it needs the 
new long-term assets to maintain or improve its competitive posi-
tion, or to expand its facilities for future growth. These are some 
of the most critical decisions business managers make.

Making capital investments is always risky. On the one hand, 
who knows what will happen in the future? On the other hand, 
not making such investments may sign the death warrant of 
a business. By not making such investments, the company may 
fall behind its competition and lose market share that would be 
impossible to regain. Then again, being overinvested and having 
excess capacity can be an albatross around the neck of a business.

Critical Terminology Alert

Quite often in the financial world you will hear the term sustainable
growth rate or SGR. What this is basically referring to is determining 
at what rate a business can support its growth from relying on 
internal cash flows only (i.e., no external debt or equity is required 
to support growth). Numerous resources are available online to 
calculate a company’s SGR but it should be noted that SGRs will 
vary by company and industry depending on the specific targets 
established (such as return on equity, dividend policies). An SGR for 
a software technology company is going to be very different than 
the SGR for a heavy equipment manufacturer.
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We should point out that there are no general standards or 
guidelines regarding how large a company’s working cash balance 
should be. Most business managers would view the company’s 
cash balance in this example as adequate, we think. Just how much 
cash cushion does a business need as a safety reserve to protect 
against unfavorable developments?

What if the economy takes a nosedive, or what if the company 
has a serious falloff in sales? What if some of its accounts receiv-
able are not collected on time? What if the company is not able 
to sell its inventory soon enough to keep the cash flow cycle in 
motion? What if it doesn’t have enough money to pay its employ-
ees on time? There are no easy answers to these cash dilemmas.

In summary, the cash flows statement deserves as much atten-
tion and scrutiny as the income statement and balance sheet. 
Though not too likely, a company making a profit could be headed 
for liquidity problems (having too little ready cash) or solvency 

problems (not being able to pay liabilities on time). Profit does 
not guarantee liquidity and solvency. The cash flows statement 
should be read carefully to see if there are any danger signs or 
red flags.

At the end of Chapter 17 we mention that statements of cash 
flows reported by most public corporations are cluttered with a 
lot of detail—often far too much detail, in our opinion. One could 
get the impression that companies are deliberately making their 
cash flow statements hard to read, though this view may be too 
cynical.

Our advice is to focus mainly on the big-ticket items and skip 
the smaller details in reading a statement of cash flows. Stand back 
and try to see the big picture. The income statements reported by 
most public corporations have far fewer lines of information com-
pared with cash flows statements and are generally much easier to 
understand. This is an odd state of affairs indeed.
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Accounting Issues and Our Case Study

As noted in Chapter 17, accounting issues related to cash flow 
statement reporting tend to be centered in disclosure, for-
mat, and presentation rather than generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP)–based accounting issues. A couple of 
items to pay attention to have been summarized in these bullet 
points: 

 ◆ Technical disclosures and classifications: There are several tech-
nical accounting problems in reporting cash flows. For example, 
should the cash flows connected with the discontinued opera-
tions of a business be reported separately from its ongoing, 
recurring cash flows? Should cash flows of certain short-term 
activities be reported gross or net? If a company utilizes a short-
term line of credit lending facility that is tied to current assets, 
should activity appear under the statement of cash flows from 
operating activities or financing activities? These cash flow issues 
are beyond the scope of this book so you can breathe easier now 
as these subjects represent a book unto themselves. 

 ◆ Dividend placement: One of our criticisms of the statement 
of cash flows—aside from the huge number of lines reported 
by most companies in this financial statement—is the place-
ment of cash dividends in the financing activities section of the 

statement. Instead, we favor placing cash dividends immedi-
ately under cash flow from operating activities. Deducting the 
amount of cash dividends from cash flow from operating activi-
ties would highlight the amount of cash flow the company had 
available for general business purposes.

The purpose is to show more clearly how much of the cash 
flow from profit was available to the business after cash divi-
dends. The financial statement reader could easily size up divi-
dends against the amount of cash flow from profit, and see the 
amount of cash remaining for other needs of the business. But 
the current standard is to put dividends in the financing activi-
ties section of the cash flows statement. Our view is that busi-
nesses should have more options regarding where to place cash 
dividends in their statements of cash flows.

One thing comes across loud and clear in the authoritative 
pronouncement on reporting cash flows. A business should not 
include cash flow per share in its financial reports (yet numer-
ous companies still report this as a non-GAAP disclosure, in one 
form or another as noted in Chapter 16). In particular, accounting 
authorities do not want a business to report cash flow from oper-
ating activities per share as this might confuse readers between 
what is cash flow and EPS. But as external parties continue to 
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At this stage, the comparison between our two case study com-
panies is for the most part complete. The final comparison of each 
companies’ financial statements, including their statement of cash 
flows, are addressed in Chapter 24, which brings a conclusion to 
the story of TTI and HSI. 

demand more and more business information and look to expand 
their analyses to almost ridiculous levels, and even though public 
companies are only required to provide EPS, the pressure contin-
ues to build to report in some fashion cash flow per share (so be 
aware when reading financial information especially as it relates 
to references to non-GAAP).
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Setting the Stage

The single best statement we’ve heard over the years related to 
really understanding the impact of expanding and contracting 
business cycles on cash flows goes like this (pardon our language 
but this is coming straight from the horse’s mouth, a client of ours 
for more than 20 years):

We don’t need a bank going into a recession but we sure as hell need 
one coming out!

This client operates a personnel staffing or “Temp” business—
an industry that is highly sensitive to changing economic condi-
tions and often a leading indicator of future economic activity 
(as businesses tend to secure temporary or part-time employees 
first to ensure that a real recovery is taking place and then they 
hire the employees full time when their confidence is higher). At 
first this statement may appear contradictory as if a company is 
anticipating a downturn, resulting in incurring net losses for 12 to 
24 months, it would seem that additional cash or financing from 
a bank would be required to support ongoing operations. But as 
you learn in this chapter, the exact opposite is generally the rule 
of thumb as it’s during high growth and expansion periods when 
cash resources become the most constrained. 

Our goal in this chapter is not to pick on banks and evalu-
ate their lending practices and standards (as covering this mate-
rial would represent an entirely new book), rather this chapter is 
designed to help the reader better understand the ebb and flow 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

There is no doubting the severe impact the Great Recession (from 
2008 through 2010) had on economic activity in the United States, 
as well as the world. Forget for a moment that some of the biggest 
and best known investment banking firms including Lehman 
Brothers and Bear Sterns were eliminated virtually overnight or 
that GM’s bailout was in the billions of dollars, the real impact 
for most businesses (which is still being felt today) was on the 
dramatic changes the credit markets underwent in terms of how 
credit (or loans) were underwritten, evaluated, and eventually 
extended (to companies) by the banking industry. In the span of 
less than two years, banks went from being aggressive lenders with 
relatively loose underwriting standards to, for lack of a better term, 
ultraconservative lenders with extremely tight underwriting standards. 
This wasn’t entirely the bank’s fault or decision as the federal 
government and its regulatory arm had a significant influence with 
this change in the market environment. But the outcome of this 
change in demeanor by the banks is the real point that needs to be 
driven home for businesses. 

That is, lenders and particularly banks, have become far more 
conservative with their lending standards and often have covenants 
that require a company to generate a profit every year. If a loss 
is incurred, the company may be declared in default of the loan 
forcing the bank to pursue a number of potential strategies including 
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In addition to depreciation, a business may record other 
noncash expenses and losses. For example, a company may 
record amortization expense to recognize the loss of value of 
its intangible assets. Or, a business may record an uninsured 
loss that occurred during the year. Such asset write-downs 
do not involve a decrease in cash. Therefore, amortization 
expense and asset write-down losses are added back to net 
income (just like depreciation). 

2. Operating assets: Changes in operating assets (accounts 
receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses) affect cash flow 
from profit. An increase in accounts receivable means that 
less cash was actually collected than sales revenue for the 
period. Increases in operating assets require cash outflow 
to build up the assets. In contrast, a decrease in accounts 
receivable means that more cash was actually collected than 
sales revenue for the period. Decreases in other operating 
assets improve cash flow because the business, in effect, liq-
uidates part of its investments in these operating assets.

3. Operating liabilities: Increases in operating liabilities 
(accounts payable, accrued expenses payable, and income 
tax payable) boost cash flow during the year. The business 
avoids cash outlay to the extent of the increases. In other 
words, part of total expenses for the year are not paid but 
are attributable to increases in these liabilities. Decreases in 
operating liabilities have the opposite effect: More cash is 
paid out than the amount of expenses for the year because 
the liabilities are paid down.

Caution: Simply adding back depreciation (plus any other non-
cash expenses and losses) to net income does not give you a true 
measure of cash flow from operating activities (profit). Changes 
in operating assets and liabilities during the year cause impacts on 
cash flow, which can be very sizable in some cases.

“requesting” the company leave the bank and find a new lending 
source. Needless to say, this can wreak havoc on a company that is 
starting to grow again, needs bank financing to support the growth, 
and is being told by the bank that it no longer wants its business. 
And to quote our client again, keep this thought in mind:

The bank is only going to be there for you and offer loans 
when you need them the least!

of cash flow in economic cycles and how businesses manage their 
operations to improve internal liquidity and availability to cash 
(both important analysis benchmarks).

So to start, let’s have a quick refresher course (covered in 
Chapter 17) on how a business gets from net income (the bot-
tom line of the income statement) to the cash flow yield from net 
income (which is found in the first section of the statement of 
cash flows). 

Cash flow is almost always higher or lower than net income for 
the period. There are three main reasons: (1) depreciation (and 
any other noncash expenses and losses recorded in the period); (2) 
changes in operating assets; and, (3) changes in operating liabilities.

1. Depreciation, amortization, and noncash expenses and 
losses: Sales revenue reimburses a business for the expenses 
it incurs in making sales. Profit is the margin of sales rev-
enue in excess of expenses. One expense is depreciation. A 
business records depreciation expense each period by writ-
ing down the cost balance of its property, plant, and equip-
ment (except land). There is no cash outlay in recording 
this expense. Because depreciation is not a cash outlay the 
amount of the expense is an “add-back” to net income for 
determining cash flow.
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Cash Flows in the Steady-State Case

Let’s look ahead to the fiscal year ending 12/31/13 for HSI we use 
throughout the book. In broad terms, the company’s sales revenue 
next year will hold steady, grow, or decline. These are the three 
basic scenarios for next year. The scenarios have remarkably dif-
ferent impacts on cash flow from operating activities (cash flow 
from profit).

We start with the steady-state, or low-growth/no-decline sce-
nario for HSI of just 3 percent for 2013.Sales revenue and expenses 
in this scenario duplicate the year just ended. There are no changes. 
Exhibit 19.1 presents the first section of the company’s cash flows 
statement for next year for the steady-state situation. We don’t 
bother to present its income statement for the coming year (it’s a 
carbon copy as the one you’ve seen many times already).

Critical Terminology Alert

Notice on the top of Exhibit 19.1 that the reference to “audited” 
financial statements has been replaced with “Unaudited” financial 
statement forecasts. This is an important distinction as it is 
important to always clearly note when financial statements and 
information has been “audited” or is really nothing more than a 
SWAG, or scientific wild ass guess (refer to Chapter 1).

Realistically, a company’s sales revenue and expenses during 
the coming year will almost certainly change, at least a little bit. 
Our purpose here, however, is simply to provide a useful point of 
reference before moving on to the growth and decline scenarios.

In this example the company’s accounts receivable equals 
roughly nine weeks of annual sales revenue, its inventory equals 
eight weeks of annual cost of goods sold expense, and so on. These 
ratios can change over time. But in the steady-state scenario 
shown in Exhibit 19.1 all the operating ratios of sales revenue 
and expenses with their corresponding assets and liabilities basi-
cally hold constant for the coming year. The result is that you see 
limited changes for the company’s operating assets and liabilities. 
The primary adjustments to net income to determine cash flow is 
the depreciation add back (plus a small net change associated with 
current assets and current liabilities). 

We must admit that even in a steady-state situation the busi-
ness may allow its average accounts receivable collection period 
to drift up, in which case its accounts receivable would increase. 
This increase would cause a negative cash flow adjustment to net 
income. Even when sales revenue and expenses remain constant 
the following year, a company’s operating assets and liabilities 
may change because the average credit period extended to its 
customers may change, or its average inventory holding period 
may change, or its average credit period of accounts payable may 
change, and so on.



HareSquared, Inc.

Unaudited Financial Statement Forecasts

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2013

Balance Sheet Actual Forecast

as of the Year-End 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $  9,053 $12,770
Accounts Receivable, Net $  6,800 $  7,229 
Inventory, LCM $  2,640 $  2,719 
Prepaid Expenses $     100 $     125 

Total Current Assets $18,593 $22,843

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 $  1,500 
Accumulated Depreciation $    (600) $    (850)

Net Fixed Assets $     650 $     650 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $  1,000 $     500 
Other Assets $       75 $       75 

Total Other Assets $  1,075 $     575 

Total Assets $20,318 $24,068
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $  1,323 $  1,588
Accrued Expenses $     945 $  1,167
Current Portion of Debt $         0  $         0
Other Current Liabilities $  8,679 $  8,939

Total Current Liabilities $10,947 $11,694

Long-term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $         0 $         0 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 

Total Liabilities $10,947 $11,694
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 550,000 
Outstanding —> 2013

$  7,000 $  7,000 

Retained Earnings $  2,371 $  5,374 
Total Owner’s Equity $  9,371 $12,374

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $20,318 $24,068

EXHIBIT 19.1—STEADY-STATE BUSINESS GROWTH IMPACT ON CASH FLOWS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Net income, 
depreciation 
and amortization 
expense, and 
dividends account 
for the majority of 
changes to cash of 
the $3.717 million 
net increase for the 
year.

Changes in 
account balances 
between the years 
are anticipated to 
be relatively small.

Income Statement Actual Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Sales Revenue, Net $38,281 $39,429
Costs of Goods Sold $17,950 $17,743
Gross Profit $20,331 $21,686
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $13,800 $14,007
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     750 $     750 
Operating Earnings $  5,781 $  6,929 
Other Expenses (Income) $         0 $         0 
Interest Expense $         0 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  5,781 $  6,929 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $  1,288 $  2,425 
Net Income (Loss) $  4,493 $  4,504 

Shares Outstanding        700        700 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share  $   6.42 $    6.43 

Statement of Cash Flows Actual Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income (Loss) $4,493 $ 4,504 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation & Amortization $    750 $     750 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $(2,225) $    (429)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $(1,760) $      (79)
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $     (25) $      (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $    591 $     265 
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $ 4,707 $     482 
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ 6,531 $  5,468 

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Capital Expenditures $        0 $         0 
Investments in Other Assets $   (250) $    (250)
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (250) $    (250)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 $ (1,501)
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 4,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $        0 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $(1,600) $         0 
Other Financing Activities $        0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 2,400 $ (1,501)

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $       0 $         0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $8,681 $  3,717 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $   372 $  9,053 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $9,053 $12,770
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In our steady-state scenario cash flow from operating activities 
equals net income plus depreciation plus the net change in work-
ing capital, which is $5,468,000 for the coming year. Cash flow from 
profit in a steady-state scenario is like milking a cow that gives a 
dependable, steady supply of cash flow every period, equal to depre-
ciation (and other noncash items) plus net income. Indeed, the term 
cash cow is used to describe a business in a steady-state situation.

The $750,000 addition to cash flow from recapturing some 
of the capital invested in a company’s fixed assets (the deprecia-
tion and amortization add backs) provides a source of money for 
replacing fixed assets. Due to general inflation over the years, new 
fixed assets will probably cost more than the original cost of the 

fixed assets being replaced. To keep on a steady path, the busi-
ness may have to use some of its cash flow from net income to 
replace fixed assets as they are retired. Further, HSI is forecasting 
a dividend to be issued for the year of $1,501,000 as a result its 
continued strong operating performance. 

In summary, Exhibit 19.1 calls out two key elements of a steady 
growth business environment. First, changes in working capi-
tal accounts (i.e., current assets and current liabilities) between 
the years are relatively small and have a limited impact on cash 
flows. Second, the change in cash between the years is primar-
ily impacted by HSI’s net income, depreciation and amortization 
expense, and dividends. 
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Cash Flow Growth Penalty

Growth is the central strategy of many businesses. The purpose 
of growth is to increase profit and shareholders’ wealth. Without 
good management, however, expenses can grow faster than sales 
revenue, and profit may actually decrease. In tough times, just 
holding its own may be the best a business can do.

Exhibit 19.2 presents a 30 percent growth scenario for HSI in 
the coming year. The exhibit begins on the left with the income 
statement for the year just ended and shows the budgeted changes 
in sales revenue and expenses for the coming year. The company 
is planning for significant growth in sales revenue and profit next 
year. The CEO wants to know how this growth will impact the 
company’s cash flow from profit next year. (We do not go into how 
the company arrived at its budgeted changes; we trust that the 
company’s managers have done realistic forecasting and have set 
achievable goals for next year, which might not be entirely true.)

In Exhibit 19.2 the budgeted changes in sales revenue and 
expenses for the coming year are connected with their net bal-
ance sheet and cash flow changes for 2013. See the several lines 
of connection leading from the changes in the income statement 
into the balance sheet and cash flow from operating activities sec-
tion of the cash flows statement.

The amounts of the changes in operating assets and liabili-
ties assume that the company’s operating ratios change during the 
year. For instance, notice that sales revenue is forecast to increase 
by $11,484,000 during the year bringing the total ending balance in 
accounts receivable to $11,404,000 as of 12/31/13. If we apply our 

days sales outstanding ratio (covered in Chapter 7) to these figures, 
we now see that HSI is forecasting a DSO in accounts receivable of 
approximately 82 days at the end of 2013 compared to 64 days out-
standing as of the end of 2012 (refer to Exhibit 19.3).

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

The reason for the increase in HS’s DSO calculation between the 
years is the result of two primary factors. First, to increase sales, 
the company elected to provide extended payment terms to various 
customers. Second, when companies are growing fast and sales are 
“back loaded” to the end of the year, this has the effect of increasing 
the accounts receivable balance at the end of the year as a higher 
percentage of sales occur in the fourth quarter compared to the first 
quarter of the year. So in effect what happens is the DSO calculation 
gets skewed higher when average monthly sales for the year is used 
based on assuming each month has equal sales of $4,147,000. 
A better measurement of DSO would be based on determining 
average monthly sales for the fourth quarter and then completing 
the calculation (but because this information is not available in our 
example, the DSO calculation is based on annual revenue, which 
skews the result). If in our example, average monthly sales during 
the fourth quarter were $5,150,000, the DSO calculation would have 
been 66 days, which is much more reasonable than 82.5 days. The 
key point to remember is that drilling down into the detail is essential 
to really understand the operating results of a company.



EXHIBIT 19.2—EXPANDING BUSINESS GROWTH IMPACT ON CASH FLOWS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Income Statement Actual Forecast Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013 Change

484,11$567,94$182,83$teN,euneveRselaS
Costs of Goods Sold $17,950 $22,394 $  4,444 
Gross Profit $20,331 $27,371 $  7,040 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $13,800 $15,870 $  2,070 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     750 $     800 $50
Operating Earnings $  5,781 $10,701 $  4,920 

0$0$0$)emocnI(sesnepxErehtO
Interest Expense $         0 $         0 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  5,781 $10,701 $  4,920 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $  1,288 $  3,745 $  2,457 
Net Income (Loss) $  4,493 $  6,956 $  2,463 

Shares Outstanding        700        700        700 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share $   6.42     $9.94 $  3.52 

Statement of Cash Flows Actual Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income (Loss) $ 4,493 $  6,956
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization $     750 $     800 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $ (2,225) $ (4,604)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $ (1,760) $     792)
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $      (25) $      (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $     591 $     590 
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $     341 $     378
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $  4,366 $  1,302
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $  6,531 $  4,605

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
)005($)052($serutidnepxElatipaC

Investments in Other Assets $         0 $ (1,500)
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $    (250) $ (2,000)

Financing Activities, Cash provided or used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $         0 $ (1,501)
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $  4,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $         0 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $ (1,600) $         0 
Other Financing Activities $         0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $  2,400 $ (1,501)

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $         0 $         0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $  8,681 $  1,104
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $     372 $  9,053
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $  9,053 $10,157

HareSquared, Inc.

Unaudited Financial Statement Forecasts

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2013

Balance Sheet Actual Forecast Forecast

as of the Year-End 12/31/2012 12/31/2013 Change

Assets

Current Assets
)401,1$(751,01$350,9$stnelaviuqEdnahsaC

Accounts Receivable, Net $  6,800 $11,404 $(4,604)
)297$ (234,3$046,2$MCL,yrotnevnI

Prepaid Expenses $     100 $     125 $     (25)
Total Current Assets $18,593 $25,118 $(6,525)

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 $  1,750 $   (500)
Accumulated Depreciation $    (600) $    (900) $    300

Net Fixed Assets $     650 $     850 $   (200)

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $  1,000 $  2,000 $(1,000)
Other Assets $       75 $       75 $        0 

Total Other Assets $  1,075 $  2,075 $(1,000)

Total Assets $20,318 $28,043 $(7,725)

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
095$319,1$323,1$elbayaPstnuoccA
873$323,1$549$sesnepxEdeurccA
0$0$0$tbeDfonoitroPtnerruC

Other Current Liabilities $  8,679 $  9,981 $ 1,302 
Total Current Liabilities $10,947 $13,217 $ 2,270 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $         0 $         0 $        0 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 $        0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 $        0 

Total Liabilities $10,947 $13,217 $ 2,270 
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized,550,000 

0$000,7$000,7$3102gnidnatstuO
Retained Earnings  $  2,371 $  7,826 $ 5,455 

Total Owners’ Equity $  9,371 $14,826 $ 5,455 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $20,318 $28,043 $ 7,725 

Notice the relatively
large increases
in current asset 
accounts that
consume or 
“use” cash as the 
company grows
rapidly.

>—
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In like manner, all other operating ratios in the business example 
are allowed to vary as well in the growth scenario shown in Exhibit 
19.2. Depreciation expense is not based on an operating ratio; 
rather, depreciation for the coming year is calculated from detailed 
schedules of the company’s fixed assets (including new assets to be 
acquired in the coming year). This expense is budgeted to increase 
$50,000 next year because the company is planning to buy new 
fixed assets. Therefore, the depreciation and amortization add 
back to net income is $800,000 next year ($250,000 depreciation 
in year just ended + $50,000 increase in depreciation in coming 
year + $500,000 of amortization expense = $800,000 depreciation 
and amortization expense in the coming year).

Profit is budgeted to increase $2,463,000 next year (see Exhibit 
19.2), which equals a 55 percent increase over last year. The stock-
holders should be pleased. But if they anticipate that the business 
will also increase cash dividends 55 percent, they may be disap-
pointed. Last year the business generated $6,531,000 cash flow 
from profit (from Exhibit 19.2). In the growth scenario, however, 

notice that cash flow does not increase with the budgeted profit 
increase. Cash flow from profit is only $4,605,000 (see Exhibit 
19.2). How do you like that?

The lower amount of cash flow from profit (compared with 
the year just ended) is caused by the rather large hits on cash flow 
resulting from the increases in accounts receivable and inventory 
next year that are needed to support the higher level of sales and 
expenses. These sizable negative cash flow adjustments to net 
income are offset to some extent by increases in operating liabili-
ties. In short, profit goes up but cash flow from profit goes down!

There’s no such thing as a free lunch for growth when it 
comes to cash flow. Growth should be good for profit next year, 
but growth almost always puts a dent in cash flow for the year. 
In other words, growth does not produce an instant cash flow 
increase equal to the increase in profit. Cash flow in all likelihood 
will decrease compared with the previous year—as it does in our 
business example. 

Compare Exhibit 19.2, which shows $4,605,000 cash flow from 
profit for the growth scenario, with Exhibit 19.1, which shows 
cash flow from profit in the steady-state scenario. Cash flow is 
$5,468,000 in the steady-state case, or $863,000 higher. Profit is 
lower in the steady-state case, but cash flow is higher.

We don’t mean to suggest that a business should sacrifice 
growth to keep its cash flow higher. We do want to make clear, 
however, that a business pays a cash flow penalty in the short run 
for growth. During a rapid growth phase, many companies sus-
pend cash dividends to shareowners. All profit is “plowed back,” 
or reinvested in the business.

A business could speed up cash flow from profit if it were able 
to improve its operating ratios, such as holding a smaller stock 
of products in inventory. However, improving operating ratios 
is generally difficult in a period of growth. If anything, a busi-
ness may be under pressure and allow its operating ratios to slip a 

EXHIBIT 19.3 —YEAR-END DSO OR DAYS SALES 

OUTSTANDING CALCULATION COMPARISON

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Days Sales O/S in Trade Receivables:
Actual

12/31/2012

Actual

12/31/2013

  Total Trade Receivables $  6,800 $11,404

  Total Annual Sales Revenue $38,281 $49,765

  Average Monthly Sales $  3,190 $  4,147 

  Average Days in a Month          30          30 

  Days Sales O/S in Trade Receivables     63.95     82.50 
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little. For example, the company may offer customers more liberal 
credit terms to stimulate sales, which would extend the average 
accounts receivable credit period. Or the business may increase 
the size and mix of its inventory to improve delivery times to cus-
tomers and to provide better selection.

Finally, we would like to draw your attention to the invest-
ing and financing activities of the statement of cash flows. Here 
you see three items (shaded in grey) that consumed roughly 
$3,500,000 of cash during the year. First, HSI is forecasting to 
purchase $500,000 of property, plant, and equipment during 

the year to support anticipated growth. Second, HSI invested 
$1,500,000 in other assets as the company is planning on pursuing 
an aggressive software development project to expand its range of 
product offerings starting in 2014. Third, HSI is anticipating that 
a dividend will be paid to the shareholders of $1,501,000. 

So after all items impacting cash flows are accounted for, HSI’s 
$6,956,000 of forecast net income is anticipated to translate into 
only $1,104,000 of increased cash balances as the company’s rapid 
growth expectations will require the lion’s share of net income to 
be “reinvested” to support its business plan. 
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Cash Flow “Reward” from Decline

The old saying “what goes up must come down” certainly 
applies to most businesses. Few can keep growing forever; most 
high-growth businesses eventually slow down or reverse direc-
tion. There are cases of remarkable long-run sustained growth; 
Walmart comes to mind, for instance. But even stalwarts such as 
McDonald’s have slowed down, leveled off, or declined. Some 
industries are cyclical by nature; their sales revenue goes up and 
down like a roller coaster over the business cycle.

Exhibit 19.4 presents the decline scenario. In our decline sce-
nario, cost of goods sold expense drops in a different percent (i.e., 
lower) compared to sales revenue as HSI is anticipating the need 
to reduce prices to generate sales but with no change in product 
costs.Depreciation and amortization expense remains the same 
for the coming year on the grounds that the company would not 
immediately dispose of any fixed assets and is reluctant to invest 
in any new assets during a down period. As you should expect, 
profit performance suffers in a decline. It’s difficult for a business 
to respond to a falloff in sales by cutting all its expenses imme-
diately. For one thing, businesses are saddled with fixed costs that 
cannot be reduced in the short run when sales volume declines. A 
business has to carry out major surgery to reduce these fixed costs. 
What happens to cash flow from profit (operating activities) when 
a business suffers a decline in sales?

The company’s net income is budgeted to fall $4,435,000 in 
the decline scenario (see Exhibit 19.4 again). This is bad news. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

In our example, HSI is forecasting only a 9 percent decrease in 
selling, general, and administrative expenses compared to a 30 
percent decrease in sales revenue. Why the divergence?Two reasons 
come to mind. First, a business may not be able to reduce its fixed 
costs right away when sales start to drop. The company needs more 
time to ratchet down its fixed costs, which may take from six months 
to three years. Second, businesses that have ample resources have 
no problem cutting the excess “fat” but will avoid cutting into the 
“bone” in order to avoid eliminating resources that will benefit the 
organization over the long term. Highly skilled employees fall into this 
category as nobody wants to lose quality labor that will be extremely 
difficult and expensive to replace when growth begins again. 

In short, a company’s expenses may not go down as quickly as 
sales, which is the case in our example as sales revenue decreases 
30 percent and selling, general, and administrative expenses 
decrease only 9 percent (as HSI will not be able to).

Net income would drop to just $58,000, which means HSI is 
basically operating at a breakeven level. But cash flow from 
profit would be roughly $2 million! You may find this rather 
surprising. In fact, you may even find this hard to believe. So, let 
us explain why.



EXHIBIT 19.4—Contracting Business Growth Impact on Cash Flows
Dollar Amounts in Thousands

HareSquared, Inc.

Unaudited Financial Statement Forecasts

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2013

Balance Sheet Actual Forecast Forecast

as of the Year-End 12/31/2012 12/31/2013 Change

Assets

Current Assets
)600,2$(950,11$350,9$stnelaviuqEdnahsaC

Accounts Receivable, Net $  6,800 $  5,583  $ 1,217 
297$848,1$046,2$MCL,yrotnevnI

Prepaid Expenses $     100 $       75  $      25
Total Current Assets $18,593 $18,565  $      28

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 $  1,250 $ 0
Accumulated Depreciation $    (600) $    (850)  $    250

Net Fixed Assets  $     650 $     400  $    250

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net $  1,000 $     500 $    500
Other Assets  $       75 $       75 $ 0

Total Other Assets  $  1,075 $     575 $    500

Total Assets  $20,318 $19,540 $    778

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
)52$ (892,1$323,1$elbayaPstnuoccA
)061$ (587$549$sesnepxEdeurccA

0$0$0$tbeDfonoitroPtnerruC
Other Current Liabilities  $  8,679 $  8,028 $   (651)

Total Current Liabilities  $10,947 $10,111 $   (836)

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $         0 $         0 $       0 
Other Long-Term Liabilities  $         0 $         0 $       0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities  $         0 $         0 $       0 

Total Liabilities  $10,947 $10,111 $    (836)
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 550,000 
Outstanding      2013

$  7,000 $  7,000 $ 0

Retained Earnings  $  2,371  $  2,429 $      58
Total Owner’s Equity  $  9,371  $  9,429 $      58

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $20,318  $19,540 $   (778)

Income Statement Actual Forecast Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013 Change

)484,11$(797,62$182,83$teN,euneveRselaS
Costs of Goods Sold $17,950 $13,399 $  (4,551)

$20,331 $13,398 $  (6,933)
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $13,800 $12,558 $  (1,242)
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     750 $     750        $ 0
Operating Earnings $  5,781 $       90        $  (5,691)

0$0$0$)emocnI(sesnepxErehtO
Interest Expense $         0 $         0        $ 0
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  5,781 $       90        $  (5,691)

$  1,288 $       32        $  (1,256)
Net Income (Loss) $  4,493 $       58 $  (4,435)

Shares Outstanding        700        700       700 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share $   6.42 $    0.08 $    (6.34)

Statement of Cash Flows Actual Forecast

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income (Loss) $  4,493 $       58 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization $     750 $     750 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable $ (2,225) $   1,217
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory $ (1,760) $     792
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $      (25) $       25 
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $     591 $      (25)
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities $     341 $    (160)
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities $  4,366  $    (651)
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities $  6,531 $  2,006 

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
0$$    (250)serutidnepxElatipaC

Investments in Other Assets  $         0  $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $    (250)  $         0 

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $         0  $ 0
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $  4,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $         0 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $ (1,600) $         0 
Other Financing Activities $         0  $ 0
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $  2,400  $ 0

Other Cash Flow Adjustments $         0  $ 0
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $  8,681 $  2,006 
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $     372 $  9,053 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $  9,053 $11,059

Notice the relatively
large decreases
in current asset 
accounts that 
now are a source
of cash as the 
company’s sales 
contract.

Gross Profit

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

>—
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What is happening with HSI’s balance sheet is that it is con-
tracting or compressing with the decrease in net sales revenue. In 
Exhibit 19.4 every operating asset and liability falls—including 
income tax payable because the business is budgeting a decrease 
in taxable income next year. In most respects, the decline sce-
nario (Exhibit 19.4) is just the flip side of the growth scenario 
(Exhibit 19.2). For example, in the growth scenario the $792,000 
inventory increase is a negative adjustment to cash flow provided 
from operating activities, but in the decline scenario the $792,000 
inventory decrease is a positive adjustment to cash flow provided 
from operating activities.

In the decline scenario, the business would realize a substantial 
cash flow from profit or operating activities and would have to 
decide what to do with the cash. The company could pay down 
its debt (interest-bearing liabilities), or possibly retire some of its 
capital stock shares. If the business predicts that the decline will 
be permanent, it should not need as much capital from debt and 
equity sources. At the lower level of sales, the company can get by 
on a lower level of assets, which means it needs less capital but a 
word of caution with this situation.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

What this means is that all businesses should have well-developed 
business plans to adapt to rapidly changing economic conditions 
in order to manage profit and cash or capital levels proactively. As 
noted at the start of this chapter the following quote was provided:  

We don’t need a bank going into a recession but we sure as 
hell need one coming out!

Although a bank may not be needed in our example, the same 
concept was confirmed by Exhibit 19.2 as it displayed just how 
much cash is needed to support a rapidly growing company that 
may be coming out of a severe downturn and rebounding quickly. 
Businesses need to plan well ahead to ensure that even when the 
balance sheet contracts due to a downturn and cash resources 
appear ample, if a quick rebound occurs and a business is not 
prepared, they can grow themselves right out of business. The 
strength of the balance sheet really comes into play here as this 
is where companies really have the opportunity to add significant 
value to their enterprise—preying on the vulnerable and weak as 
economic expansion begins again (and the weaker competitors are 
not able to participate due to cash or capital limitations).
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Red Ink and Cash Flow

Following our discussion of business decline in the preceding sec-
tion, this is a good place to bring up an unpleasant subject. What 
happens to cash flow when the bottom line of the income state-
ment is in red ink? In other words, what happens to cash flow 
when a business records a net loss for the year?

A net loss means that the total of expenses and losses is more 
than sales revenue (and income if any) for the year. Suppose a 
business records a $10 million net loss for the year: Did its cash 
decrease $10 million during the year? No, the cash impact from 
the net loss is bound to be different. To determine cash flow, you 
apply the same cash flow adjustments that are explained in Chapter 
17. And, there is another factor to consider in many red ink cases.

A net loss for the year may be due to large write-downs of 
assets (or by recording a large liability). For example, the bal-
ance in a company’s goodwill asset account may be written down 
because the asset suffered what is called impairment. This means 
that management has come to the conclusion that the asset has 
a lower future value to the business, or perhaps no value at all. 
The asset write-down does not involve a cash outlay. So, cash flow 
from operating activities is not hurt by such an asset write-down.

Suppose that a business records no asset write-downs (or liabil-
ity write-ups) during the year, but reports a sizable net loss for 

Critical Terminology Alert

In a negative cash flow situation, a business is using up its available 
cash. The rate at which the business is using up its cash is called 
the burn rate and is usually calculated on a monthly basis. The burn 
rate can be used to estimate how long the business can live without 
a major cash infusion. This length of time given to a business is 
often referred to as its runway (thus, you often hear the comment 
about how to lengthen the runway to buy a start-up more time). 
Start-up business ventures typically experience negative operating 
cash flow during their first few years as they develop their business 
plan, test products/services (often referred to as the beta or pilot
period), and launch into market. Often their burn rate remains too 
high and they don’t make it, which is one of the leading causes of 
failures for start-up businesses. 

the year. Its cash flow from operating activities could very well be 
negative. In other words, the total cash outlays for expenses could 
be more than total cash inflow from sales revenue, even after the 
depreciation add back. This condition is called negative cash flow.
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Final Comment

Financial reporting standards do not require a business to explain 
or comment on its cash flow strategies and problems. The life 
or death of the business may be at stake, but top management 
may not say anything about how they expect to deal with their 

serious cash flow problems. Chapter 22 explains financial state-
ment ratios that help lenders and investors identify liquidity and 
solvency problems of a business.
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EBITDA—An Alternative View of Cash Flow or Operating Income?

One of the most commonly referenced terms and relied on finan-
cial reference points used by financial and accounting types is the 
ever popular EBITDA or earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion, and amortization. EBITDA has been around for decades but 
gained a significant amount of interest and use back in the 1980s 
during a period when leveraged buyout strategies were utilized to 
purchase companies. 

What the buyers and their financing sources really needed to 
understand was how much EBITDA (or in their mind organic or 
internal cash flow) a company could generate to support future 
debt service payments. For example, if a company generated $10 
million a year in EBITDA and the debt service requirements 
associated with the leveraged buyout was $6 million per year, 
then more comfort was gained that the company could adequately 
make the annual payment of $6 million (with some room to spare).

But let’s look a little closer at this all important metric and its 
relation to “cash flow.” You frequently see cash flow mentioned in 
the business and financial press. In reading news items and arti-
cles, often it’s not clear what the reporter means by the term cash
flow. Reporters usually don’t offer definitions of the term as they 
are using it. When they do define cash flow, they don’t necessar-
ily mean the amount in the statement of cash flows called cash

Critical Terminology Alert

EBITDA has become popular to reference as an alternative 
measurement of cash flow. Stop right here and listen carefully. 
EBITDA should not be considered a measurement of cash 
flow similar to understanding how cash flow from operations is 
generated (refer to Chapter 17). EBITDA as a financial metric is not 
an accurate measure of operating cash flow, because interest and 
income tax are certainly cash flow expenses and are removed from 
calculating EBITDA in addition to accounting for changes in current 
assets and liabilities that impact operating cash flow. Rather, 
EBITDA represents more of an alternative measure for operating 
profit, one that strips away how the company is financed and taxed 
and removes depreciation and amortization (if the business records 
any amortization expense).

flow from operating activities. They often use some other measure 
of cash flow. So, be careful when reading an article that refers to 
cash flow.

The balance of this chapter discusses EBITDA in more detail 
and evaluates the pros and cons of relying on this financial metric. 
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Relying on EBITDA—The Pros and Cons

others) but does provide a sound starting point to place a 
value on a business. 

2. Use to normalize earnings: A number of parties will refer 
to EBITDA to calculate normalized earnings to help 
remove the noise and clutter associated with expenses 
that may vary significantly between businesses. These 
expenses include income taxes, depreciation and amorti-
zation expense, interest expense, discontinued operations, 
asset impairments, and/or other one-time-type write-offs. 
EBITDA is designed to strip out these items and provide 
for a more “apples to apples” comparison of core or base 
company earnings. 

3. Use to understand cash flows: As previously noted and 
warned, EBITDA is often mistaken as cash flow. From an 
accounting perspective, this is incorrect. EBITDA, how-
ever, can measure a company’s operating income fairly well, 
which gives readers a leg up on understanding a company’s 
ability to generate internal or organic cash flow and how 
much might be available to cover such items as debt ser-
vice payments (principle and interest), investments in capi-
tal assets, income taxes, and other financing and investing 
activities. EBITDA is a valuable tool to help understand 
cash flow better but should not be relied on by itself to cal-
culate a company’s cash flow. 

EBITDA’s evolution in the business world has expanded over 
the years and without question if used in the proper context (the 
“pros” of EBITDA), can be a useful financial measurement tool 
when evaluating a company’s operating results. Some of the more 
popular uses of EBITDA have been summarized in the following 
three points:

1. Use as valuation basis: Large publicly traded companies 
are often valued using a price earnings multiple (refer to 
Chapter 16 for further reference). For smaller businesses, 
price earnings multiples are not as popular as using an 
EBITDA or cash flow multiple to value a business. For 
example, a publicly traded company may be valued at 20 
times its trailing 12-month earnings per share (EPS) so if 
its EPS for the past year was $5 per share and 1 million 
shares were outstanding, the company’s value or market 
capitalization would be $100,000,000 ($5 EPS multiplied 
by 1 million shares times 20). For a smaller company, a mul-
tiple of 6 might be applied on its EBITDA to determine its 
value so if its EBITDA is $10,000,000, the company’s value 
would be $60,000,000 (before other adjustments). This is a 
simple valuation method and does not take into consider-
ation important elements of business acquisitions (such as 
accounting for proper levels of working capital and adjust-
ing the purchase price for assumed long-term debt among 
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Other uses could be listed but these are three of the most com-
mon reasons why EBITDA represents a financial analysis focal 
point. EBITDA can be modified to offer two additional financial 
analysis tools:

1. Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA expands on the pri-
mary concept of EBITDA (which is to evaluate normalized 
operating results) by pulling out certain one-time expenses, 
charge offs, gains, and so on that may excessively impact a 
company’s operating results during a reporting period. For 
example, a company may suffer a one-time loss and added 
professional fees due to litigation over a patent, which it 
records as selling, general, and administrative fees under 
legal professional expenses. If material, the company may 
want to pull this expense out of its income statement and 
report it below the operating income line as an “other 
expense” (so that normal operating income is not distorted 
by the event). 

But a word of caution here as companies are notorious 
for constantly making “adjustments” to EBITDA to inflate 
this figure (and the performance of the company) by push-
ing various expenses into another expense group that falls 
into the “one-time” status (which are generally viewed in a 
less negative fashion by external parties). 

2. Free cash flow: In its simplest form, free cash flow starts 
with EBITDA and then reduces it by required investments 
in capital assets (capital expenditures or cap. ex.) to support 
ongoing operations over a period of time. Capital expen-
ditures represent a necessary and ongoing investment that 
all companies need to make to support continued busi-
ness operations and growth. Free cash flow represents an 
important measurement of a company’s health and financial 

viability as if a company constantly produces $10,000,000 
a year in EBITDA, but requires capital investments of 
$9,000,000 to support ongoing operations, its true cash flow 
is far less than what EBITDA would lead you believe. 

So, in short, there are a number of “pros” associated with using 
EBITDA (both the base formula and expanded formats with 
adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow) as a financial performance 
measurement tool. But in the same breath, EBITDA “cons” also 
need to be understood as described here:

 ◆ Capital investment requirements ignored: One of the biggest 
weaknesses of relying on EBITDA is that it ignores normal and 
necessary investments in capital assets to support continued 
operations. For capital-intensive businesses (think manufac-
turers, oil producers, etc.), EBITDA fails to capture a critical 
operating component related to continued investments in capi-
tal assets. EBITDA is really much better suited for evaluating 
service companies, “soft” technology businesses, and noncapi-
tal-intensive operations whereas free cash flow measurements 
are better suited for capital-intensive businesses. 

 ◆ Working capital changes: Changes in accounts receivable, 
inventory, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, accrued expenses 
payable, and income tax payable are ignored by the EBITDA 
definition of cash flow and profit. If all these changes in operat-
ing assets and liabilities are relatively minor, then simply add-
ing back depreciation (and amortization, if any) to net income 
might be acceptable as a cash flow measure. But typically these 
changes are significant and cannot be ignored.

 ◆ Garbage in, garbage out: Calculating EBITDA is dependent 
on whether the financial statements are accurate to begin 
with, especially the balance sheet. If errors are present in the 
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financial statements, EBITDA will be unreliable so it suffers 
from the same risks as financial statements in general related 
to “massaging the numbers” (covered in Chapter 25). Basically, 
EBITDA is as easily manipulated as net income if management 
elects to pursue this path. 

 ◆ Not governed by generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP): EBITDA is a financial term that is subject to differ-
ent definitions, formats, and structuring (when reported). Or in 
other words, when EBITDA is reported it is generally directed 
by the company’s management or board of directors and not 
by an independent CPA conducting an audit. This leads to a 
potential problem as EBITDA may be pushed to the forefront 
and net profit is pushed to the background. When a business’s 
profit performance is lackluster or when a business reports a 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

This is the most direct tip we provide in the book. EBITDA represents 
just one financial analysis tool and should be used in conjunction 
with all of the other financial analysis tools, reports, and statements 
to properly assess the financial performance of a business.

loss, the CEO may prefer to shift attention to EBITDA or cash 
flow (assuming cash flow is healthy). However, EBITDA and 
cash flow are not a substitute for profit. The oldest trick in the 
book is to divert attention from bad news to whatever good 
news you can find. Simply put, profit generates cash flow; cash 
flow does not generate profit.
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The Meat of the Financial Report

We’re going to start this chapter by directing you to probably the 
most important concept when it comes to really understanding 
the financial condition of a company by referencing this simple 
but highly relevant quote:

The Devil’s in the Details

If you think about it, why do public companies produce annual 
financial reports that have roughly three to six pages dedicated to 
the actual financial statements, but are 40 or more pages in total? 
Well, after stripping out the front end “storyboard” (that portion 
of the annual report that the company uses for branding and mar-
keting purposes and to highlight certain operating results), the 
balance of the annual report is dedicated to the financial state-
ments and the footnotes to the financial statements. 

Based on a quick review and estimate of Ford Motor Company’s 
2012 annual report totaling 164 pages, here’s the breakdown:

 ◆ Pages 1–62, or 38 percent of the total annual report dedicated 
toward Ford’s storyboard.

 ◆ Page 63, or less than 1 percent, dedicated to the auditor’s report 
(or opinion).

 ◆ Pages 64 through 70, or just 4 percent, dedicated to the actual 
financial statements.

 ◆ Pages 71 through 164, or 57 percent dedicated to the footnotes 
and final miscellaneous disclosures. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

It should be noted that both the footnotes and the company’s 
storyboard offer insightful and detailed information for evaluation 
purposes. But remember that the company’s storyboard is generally 
directed and prepared by the company’s executive management 
team (not an independent party) whereas the financial statement 
footnotes are evaluated and confirmed to a certain degree by the 
company’s external auditors (an independent party). We’re not 
saying the storyboard is inaccurate or misleading because public 
companies cannot afford this misstep. Rather, a typical storyboard 
tends to be focused (especially at the start) on the company’s 
highlights and successes and then dive into the hard detail of a 
company where a more objective overview is provided.

Needless to say, there’s an enormous amount of information 
disclosed by companies in the footnotes and their storyboard 
(which includes a management discussion of operating results) 
that savvy external parties will dissect to gain further insight into 
not just how the company’s performing, but more importantly, its 
accounting policies and procedures and any “smoking guns.” 

So, to extend the discussion on analyzing business financial 
reports we turn our attention to financial statement footnotes 
to gain more insight into the qualitative elements of financial 
statements. This and the next chapter consider the information 
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in external financial reports—those that circulate outside the 
business. These financial communications are designed mainly 
for the outside shareowners and lenders of the business, who are 
the two primary stakeholders in the business. The managers of a 
business have access to more information than released in the 
company’s external financial reports. Chapter 23 discusses how 
managers can use the inside information for analyzing profit 
performance.

Exhibit 21.1 summarizes the principal elements of the three 
financial statements of a business and shows that footnotes are 
included with the three statements. Footnotes are the fourth 
essential part of every financial report. Financial statements 
would be “naked” without their footnotes. This chapter explains 
the importance of reading the footnotes and problems with foot-
notes. Studying a financial report should definitely include read-
ing the footnotes to the financial statements.
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EXHIBIT 21.1—THREE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FOOTNOTES

Balance Sheet Income Statement Statement of Cash Flows

Assets Liabilities Sales Revenue Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Owners’ Equity Expenses Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Net Income Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Footnotes
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Financial Statements—Brief Review

3. Statement of cash flows: Making a profit has cash flow 
effects. But, as we explained in Chapter 17, the amount of 
cash flow from making profit during the year does not equal 
bottom-line profit (net income) for the year. This financial 
statement divides cash flows into three groups. The first 
section provides a trail from net income to cash flow from 
operating (profit-making) activities. The second section sum-
marizes the cash flow of the company’s investing activities
during the year. The third section summarizes the cash 
flow from the company’s financing activities during the year. 
The statement of cash flows exposes the financial strategy 
of the business. For example, you can compare dividends 
paid during the year against its cash flow from operating 
activities (profit), which is a major financial decision of the 
business. 

In short, the three financial statements report on the three 
financial imperatives facing every business—making a profit, 
remaining in healthy financial condition, and making good use 
of cash flow.

Most businesses—large and small, public and private—present 
comparative financial statements for their most recent two years 
or three years. This multiyear presentation allows financial state-
ment readers to make comparisons between the year just ended 
and the preceding year, and the year before that. The federal 
agency that regulates financial reporting by public corporations, 

Before discussing footnotes, let’s quickly review the three financial 
statements of a business that we explained in previous chapters.

1. Balance sheet: Also called the statement of financial condition,
the balance sheet is a relatively brief and condensed sum-
mary of a company’s assets, liabilities, and owners’ (stock-
holders’) equity at the close of business on the last day of 
the income statement period. In reading a balance sheet, 
you need to understand the differences between basic types 
of assets (inventory versus property, plant, and equipment, 
for instance), and differences between operating liabili-
ties (mainly accounts payable and accrued expenses pay-
able) versus debt on which the business pays interest. Also, 
you should know the difference between the two different 
sources of owners’ equity—capital invested by the owners 
in the business versus profit earned and not distributed to 
owners, which is called retained earnings.

2. Income statement: This financial statement summarizes a 
company’s sales revenue and expenses for the period (the 
profit-making activities of the business) and it reports the 
company’s bottom-line net income for the period, also called 
earnings and more popularly simply profit. A publicly 
owned business corporation must report its earnings per 
share (EPS) with its income statement. A nonpublic com-
pany doesn’t have to report earnings per share.
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the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), requires three-
year comparative financial statements. 

According to various estimates, there are about 5,000 public
companies in the United States. The financial reports of public 
companies are required to be audited annually by an indepen-
dent certified public accountant (CPA) firm. The largest four 

international CPA firms (called the Big Four) audit the large 
majority of public companies. There are millions of private busi-
nesses in the United States. Private companies may or may not 
have their financial reports audited by an independent CPA firm. 
Generally, they are not legally required to have audits. We discuss 
financial report audits in Chapter 26.
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Why Footnotes?

Top-level managers should not forget that they are responsible 
for the company’s financial statements and the accompanying foot-
notes. The footnotes are an integral, inseparable part of a financial 
report. Financial statements state this fact on the bottom of each 
page, usually worded as follows:

The accompanying footnotes to the financial statements are an integral part 
of these statements.

The CPA auditor’s report covers footnotes as well as the finan-
cial statements.

Ideally, footnotes should be written in an understandable 
manner, and every effort should be made to use language 
and visual layouts, schedules, and exhibits that are clear and 
reasonably easy to follow. In other words, financial reports 
should be transparent. The lack of transparency in financial 
reports has come in for much criticism, especially regard-
ing footnotes that are so dense and obtuse that even a lawyer 
would have trouble reading them. More on this point later in 
the chapter.

Without footnotes, financial statements would be incomplete, 
and possibly misleading. Footnotes are an essential extension to
the three primary financial statements. Each financial statement is 
presented on one page, or at most two pages, in a financial report. 
Keep in mind that each financial statement is very condensed and 
presents highly compacted information.

It comes down to this: The lenders and investors in a business 
need more information than can be put into the financial state-
ments. We suppose you could integrate this additional information 
into each financial statement. But can you imagine reading a bal-
ance sheet or an income statement that runs 5, 10, or 20 pages long? 
We don’t think so. Therefore, the practical solution is to present the 
additional information in the form of supplementary footnotes to 
the financial statements. If you have a financial stake in the business 
you definitely should read the footnotes to its financial statements. 

One overarching premise of financial reporting is adequate disclo-
sure, so that all those who have a legitimate interest in the financial 
affairs of the business are provided the relevant information they 
need to make informed decisions and to protect their interests in the 
business. Footnotes are needed because the additional information 
provided in the footnotes is important to financial statement readers.
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Two Types of Footnotes

The first type of footnote identifies and discusses the key account-
ing methods used by the business. As we discuss in Chapter 25, 
for several expenses and even for revenue a business can choose 
between two (or more) acceptable accounting methods. The com-
pany’s selections of accounting methods should be made clear in 
its footnotes. 

Here’s an example of the types of accounting methods footnotes 
you find in financial reports (at least in the reports of public com-
panies). In its 2012 financial report filed with the SEC Caterpillar 
included footnotes explaining their accounting methods for the 
following items (pages A11–A18):

 ◆ Nature of operations (machinery and power systems versus 
financial products).

 ◆ Basis of presentation (consolidation methods).
 ◆ Sales and revenue recognition (a detailed list).
 ◆ Inventories (use of the LIFO method and effects if the alterna-

tive FIFO method had been used).
 ◆ Depreciation and amortization.
 ◆ Foreign currency translations.
 ◆ Derivative financial instruments.
 ◆ Income taxes.

 ◆ Estimates in financial statements.
 ◆ New accounting guidelines (standards) that took effect in year.
 ◆ Goodwill.
 ◆ Accumulated other comprehensive income.
 ◆ Assets held for sale.

Caterpillar’s footnotes occupy many more pages than its finan-
cial statements themselves, which is not that unusual.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Footnotes assume that you are familiar with general accounting 
terminology. A business may be in an industry that is relatively 
unique and very different from other businesses, in which case it 
might explain its unusual terminology in its footnotes. But, by and 
large, companies do not include a glossary of accounting terms to 
help readers of their financial reports.

One of Caterpillar’s footnotes explains how it goes about con-
solidating the various legal entities that make up the conglom-
erate entity called Caterpillar. Most large businesses consist of a 
family of corporations under the control of one parent company, 
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which is the case for Caterpillar. The financial statements of each 
corporation are grouped together into one integrated set of finan-
cial statements. Intercorporate dealings are eliminated as if there 
were only one entity. Affiliated companies in which the business 
has made investments are not consolidated if the company does 
not have a controlling interest in the other business.

In addition to footnotes that identify accounting methods 
(footnote type one), footnotes are needed to provide important 
information that cannot be placed in the financial statements 
themselves (footnote type two). For example, the maturity dates, 
interest rates, collateral or other security provisions, and other 
details of the long-term debt of a business are presented in foot-
notes. Annual rentals required under long-term operating leases 

are given. Details regarding stock options and stock-based com-
pensation plans are spelled out, and the dilution effects on earn-
ings per share are illustrated in footnotes.

Major lawsuits and other legal actions against the company 
are discussed in footnotes. Details about the company’s employ-
ees’ retirement and pension plans are disclosed in footnotes. 
Obligations of the business to pay for postretirement health and 
medical costs of retired employees are presented in footnotes.

The list of possible footnotes is a long one. In preparing its 
annual report, a business needs to go down an exhaustive checklist 
of items that may have to be disclosed, and then actually write the 
footnotes. This is no easy task. The business has to explain in a 
relatively small space what can be rather complex.
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on by the company’s CPA auditors, footnote disclosure rules and 
guidelines are somewhat vague and murky.

Business executives, in fact, have rather broad freedom of choice 
regarding how frank to be and how to express what they put in 
footnotes. Quite clearly, footnotes are not written like newspaper 
articles. If the company’s advertising copy were written like its 
footnotes, the business wouldn’t make many sales.

Management Discretion in Writing Footnotes

Business executives have to rely on the experts—the chief finan-
cial officer of the organization, legal counsel, and the outside CPA 
auditor—to go through the checklist of footnotes that may be 
required. Once every required footnote has been identified, key 
decisions still have to be made regarding each footnote. A busi-
ness has a good deal of discretion and latitude regarding just how 
candid to be and how much detail to reveal in each footnote.

Clearly, business managers should not give away the farm—they 
should not divulge information that would damage a competitive 
advantage that the business enjoys. Managers don’t have to help 
their competitors. The idea is to help the company’s creditors and 
stockholders—to report to them information they’re entitled to.

But just how much information do the creditors and stockhold-
ers really need? How much are they legally entitled to? These are 
very difficult questions to answer in straightforward and clear-cut 
terms. Beyond certain basic facts, exactly what should be put in a 
footnote to comply with the standard of adequate disclosure is not 
always clear and definite.

Too little disclosure, such as withholding information about a 
major lawsuit against the business, would be misleading, and the 
top executives of the business would be liable for such lack of 
disclosure. Beyond the legal minimum, which should be insisted 

Critical Terminology Alert

Footnotes should not be confused with the MDOR or MD&A 
(management discussion of operating results or management 
discussion and analysis) that usually accompanies most financial 
reports as part of the storyboard. As noted with Ford Motor 
Company’s annual report previously referenced, a lengthy MDOR 
was provided that was prepared by Ford’s management team. By 
the way, you will notice that the MDOR comes before the auditor’s 
report, financial statements, and footnotes, which is by design to 
not confuse the reader that the MDOR was audited by the CPA firm. 
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Analysis Issues

Admittedly, we may be somewhat biased regarding financial state-
ment footnotes. Excuse us if we jump on the soapbox here. We see 
a very serious financial reporting problem regarding the readabil-
ity of footnotes. As authors we may be overly sensitive to this, but 
we think not. Investors and securities analysts complain about the 
dense fog in footnotes. Footnote writing can be so obtuse that you 
have to suspect that the writing is deliberately obscure. The rules 
require footnotes, but the rules fail to demand that the footnotes 
be clear and concise so that an average financial report reader can 
understand them.

All too often the sentence structure of footnotes seems inten-
tionally legalistic and awkward. Technical terminology abounds 
in footnotes. Poor writing seems more prevalent in footnotes on 

sensitive matters, such as lawsuits or ventures that the business 
abandoned with heavy losses. A lack of candor is obvious in many 
footnotes.

Creditors and stockholders cannot expect managers to expose 
all the dirty linen of the business in footnotes, or to confess all 
their bad decisions. But, better clarity and more frankness cer-
tainly would help and should not damage the business.

In short, creditors and investors often are stymied by poorly 
written footnotes. You have only one option, and that is to plow 
through the underbrush of troublesome footnotes, more than 
once if necessary. Usually you can tell if particular footnotes are 
important enough to deserve this extra effort. Beyond this advice, 
all we can say to you regarding reading footnotes is: “Good luck.” 





22
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Financial Reporting Ground Rules

The main purpose of external financial reporting is to provide up-
to-date financial information from a business to its investors and 
lenders. The investors and lenders are its sources of capital and 
they have a right to and need for the information. Other parties 
are also interested in the financial affairs of a business—for exam-
ple, its employees and its other creditors. When they read finan-
cial reports, they should keep in mind that these communications 
are directed to the owner-investors of the business and its lenders. 
External financial reporting standards have been developed with 
this primary audience in mind.

According to estimates, there are about 5,000 publicly owned 
businesses in the United States. Their capital stock shares and 
other securities are traded in public markets. The dissemination 
of financial information by these companies is governed by fed-
eral law, which is enforced mainly by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC). The New York Stock Exchange, Nasdaq, and 
Internet securities markets also enforce rules and regulations over 
the communication of financial information by companies whose 
securities are traded on their markets.

Securities of some 12,000 foreign businesses are traded in stock mar-
kets around the world. Many countries, including the United States, 
have been attempting to develop a set of international financial report-
ing and accounting standards. This process has not gone as smoothly 
as many had hoped for. Indeed, at this time (2013) the SEC has not 
yet given its formal endorsement of international standards. American 
businesses are not yet required to adopt the global standards.

In the United States and other countries, a business cannot 
legally release information to some stockholders or lenders but 
not to others, nor can a business tip off some of them before 
informing the others. The purpose is to prevent insider trading
by those who have information in advance of the information 
being reported to other stockholders and lenders. The laws and 
established standards of financial reporting are designed to ensure 
that all stockholders and lenders have equal access to a company’s 
financial information and financial reports.

A company’s financial report may not be the first source of 
information about its profit performance. In the United States, 
most public corporations issue press releases of their most recent 
earnings results. These press releases precede the mailing of 
hard copies of the company’s financial report to its stockholders 
and lenders. Most public companies put their financial reports 
on their websites at the time of or soon after the press releases. 
Private businesses do not usually send out letters to their owners 
and lenders in advance of their financial reports, although they 
could. Private companies do not put their financial reports on 
publicly accessible websites.

This chapter examines what stockholders and lenders do with 
financial reports once they have access to them. The chapter cen-
ters on the annual financial report. (Quarterly financial reports 
are abbreviated versions of the annual reports.) In particular, this 
chapter focuses on certain financial statement ratios that are widely 
used by investors and lenders.
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Financial Statement Preliminaries

Exhibit 22.1 presents a company’s annual financial statements. 
This is the same company example used throughout earlier 
chapters. The footnotes for these statements are not included. 
(Chapter 21 discusses footnotes to financial statements.)

As a reminder, our company example from our case study, HSI, 
is privately owned, which means that its capital stock shares are not 
traded in a public market. The business has about 50 shareholders; 
some are managers of the business, including the CEO, the presi-
dent, and several vice presidents. A business this size could go into 
the public marketplace for equity capital through an initial public 
offering (IPO) of capital stock shares and become publicly owned. 
However, the company has decided to remain private.

This chapter does not pretend to cover the field of securities 
analysis (i.e., the analysis of stocks and debt instruments issued by 
corporations). This broad field includes the analysis of competitive 
advantages and disadvantages of business, domestic, and international 
economic developments, business combination possibilities, general 
economic conditions, and much more. The key ratios explained in 
this chapter are basic building blocks in securities analysis.

Also, this chapter does not discuss trend analysis, which involves 
comparing a company’s latest financial statements with its previ-
ous years’ statements to identify important year-to-year changes. 
For example, investors and lenders are very interested in the sales 
growth or decline of a business, and the resulting impact on profit 
performance, cash flow, and financial condition. (Chapter 19 
examines the impact of growth and decline on cash flow.)

This chapter has a more modest objective—to explain basic 
ratios used in financial statement analysis. Only a handful of ratios 
are discussed in the chapter, but they are fundamentally important. 

On opening a company’s financial report, probably one of the 
first things most investors do is to give the financial statements a 
once-over; they do a fairly quick scan of the financial statements. 
What do most financial report readers first look for? In our expe-
rience, they look first at the bottom line of the income statement, 
to see if the business made a profit or suffered a loss for the year.

As one sports celebrity put it when explaining how he keeps 
tabs on his various business investments, he looks first to see if 
the bottom line has “parentheses around it.” The business in our 
example does not; it made a profit. Its income statement reports 
that the business earned $4,493,000 net income, or bottom-line 
profit for the year. Is this profit performance good, mediocre, or 
poor? Ratios help answer this question.

After reading the income statement, most financial statement 
readers probably take a quick look at the company’s assets and 
compare them with the liabilities of the business. Are the assets 
adequate to the demands of the company’s liabilities? Ratios help 
answer this question.

Extraordinary Gains and Losses

The business in our example does not report any extraordinary 
gains or losses for the year, which are one-time, nonrecurring events. 
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Sales Revenue $38,281

Cost of Goods Sold Expense $17,950

Gross Profit $20,331

Selling, General, and

     Administrative Expenses $13,800

Depreciation Expense $     750 

Earnings before Interest and Tax $  5,781 

Earnings before Tax $  5,781 

Income Tax Expense $  1,288 

Net Income $  4,493 

Basic Earnings per Share $    6.42 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY FOR YEAR

Capital

Stock

Retained

Earnings

Beginning Balances $  3,000 $(2,122)

Net Income for Year $ 4,493 

Shares Issued during Year $  4,000 

Dividends Paid during Year $        0 

Ending Balances $  7,000 $ 2,371 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR BALANCE SHEET AT END OF YEAR

Assets

Cash $  9,053 

Accounts Receivable $  6,800 

Inventory $  2,640 

Prepaid Expenses $     100 

     Current Assets $18,593

Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 

Accumulated Depreciation $    (600)

Intangible Assets $  1,075 

     Total Assets $20,318

Liabilities and Owners’ Equity

Accounts Payable $  1,323 

Accrued Expenses Payable $     945 

Income Tax Payable $     429 

Other Current Liabilities $  8,250 

     Current Liabilities $10,947

Long-Term Notes Payable $         0 

     Total Liabilities $10,947

Capital Stock (700,000 Shares) $7,000

Retained Earnings $2,371

     Stockholders’ Equity $  9,371 

     Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $20,318

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR YEAR

Net Income $ 4,493 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense $    750 

Accounts Receivable Increase $(2,225)

Inventory Increase $(1,760)

Prepaid Expenses Increase $     (25)

Accounts Payable Increase $    591 

Accrued Expenses Payable Increase $    341 

  Increase (Decrease) in Other liabilities $ 4,366 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ 6,531 

Expenditures for Property, Plant, and Equipment $   (250)

Expenditures for Intangible Assets $        0 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities $   (250)

  Dividends or Distributions Paid $        0 

  Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $ 4,000 

  Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $        0 

  Repayments of Long-Term Debt $(1,600)

  Other Financing Activities—Asset Impairment $        0 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ 2,400 

Change in Cash during the Year $ 8,681 

Cash Balance at Start of Year $    372 

Cash Balance at End of Year $ 9,053 

EXHIBIT 22.1—EXTERNAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF BUSINESS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands Except Earnings Per Share
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For example, a business may sell a major fixed asset and record 
a gain. Or a business may record a restructuring charge for the 
cost of laying off employees who will receive severance packages. 
These out-of-the-ordinary, unusual gains and losses are reported 
separately from the ongoing, continuing operations of a company. 
This topic would lead us into a labyrinth of technical details.

reports. Nevertheless, we almost didn’t include it in the exhibit, 
which might surprise you.

None of the benchmark ratios discussed in this chapter involve 
the statement of cash flows—because no cash flow ratios have 
emerged or are in widespread use. Still, cash flow gets a lot of ink 
in the financial press and in reports on corporations published 
by stockbrokers and investment advisors. Cash flow from profit 
(operating activities) is considered a key factor for all businesses.

The business in our example realized $6,531,000 net cash 
flow from profit (operating activities) for the year just ended. You 
could compare this important cash flow number with the compa-
ny’s $250,000 capital expenditures for the year (see Exhibit 22.1). 
As you see in its statement of cash flows the company’s financing 
activities provided $2,400,000 net cash inflow for the year. Thus, 
the company’s cash balance increased $8,681,000 during the year. 
None of these comparisons use ratios as such. But financial report 
readers should find such comparisons helpful for understanding 
the cash flow strategy of the business. Reading the cash flow state-
ment in this manner provides a useful synopsis of where the busi-
ness got its money during the year and what it did with the money.

We could divide cash flow from profit ($6,531,000) by net 
income ($4,493,000) to determine cash flow as a percentage of 
net income (145 percent). We think this is an interesting ratio. 
But it is not one of the benchmark ratios used in financial state-
ment analysis (at least not yet) and can be misleading if significant 
one-time shifts occur in the company’s working capital structure. 

We could divide cash flow from profit (operating activities) by 
the number of capital stock shares to get cash flow per share. The 
authoritative financial reporting standard setter in the United 
States, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), spe-
cifically discouraged this ratio, which is most unusual. It is quite 
rare for the FASB to go out of its way to put the kibosh on a 
particular ratio.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

But be warned: These irregular gains and losses complicate the 
evaluation and forecasting of profit performance! Extraordinary 
gains and losses, especially losses, raise troublesome questions, 
such as:

 ◆ Is an extraordinary loss really a correction of past years’ 
accounting mistakes?

 ◆ What if a company reports such irregular gains and losses on a 
recurring basis, instead of infrequently?

 ◆ Will such extraordinary gains and losses be reported again in the 
future, and if so when and how much?

 ◆ Is the company just trying to package or get rid of all of its 
bad news at once by “cleaning house” with all financial and 
accounting related matters in one year-end restructuring charge?

Deciding how to interpret and assess extraordinary gains and 
losses is a vexing challenge, to say the least.

No Cash Flow Ratios, But …

As you see, the company’s statement of cash flows is included 
in Exhibit 22.1. This is one of the three primary financial state-
ments of a business entity that is included in its external financial 
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Be warned: The statement of changes in stockholders’ equity 
can be complex and highly technical. In the following discussion 
we focus on the most widely used ratios that are calculated from 
data in the big three financial statements (balance sheet, income 
statement, and statement of cash flows). 

Critical Terminology Alert

The term comprehensive income connotes that, in addition to net 
income that flows through the income statement into the retained 
earnings account, additional gains and losses have been recorded 
that have not been reported in the income statement. The 
accumulated other comprehensive income account serves like a 
second retained earnings type account, which holds the cumulative 
result of recording certain types of gains and losses. Exploring these 
special gains and losses would take us into a technical territory 
beyond the scope of this book.

A New Financial Statement

Exhibit 22.1 introduces a new financial statement—the statement
of changes in stockholders’ equity for year—that we have not presented 
before in the book. In some respects this is not really a financial 
statement; it’s more of a supporting schedule that summarizes 
changes in the stockholders’ equity accounts. The business issued 
150,000 additional shares of capital stock during the year. The 
$4,000,000 cash from issuing the shares are reported in the state-
ment of changes in stockholders’ equity as well as the statement of 
cash flows (see Exhibit 22.1). Net income for the year is reported 
as an increase in retained earnings, and cash dividends paid to 
stockholders as a decrease.

The statement of changes in stockholders’ equity is definitely 
needed when a business has a capitalization (ownership) structure 
that includes two or more classes of stock, and when a business 
owns some of its own capital stock shares (called treasury stock). This 
financial statement is also needed when a business has recorded 
certain types of losses and gains that bypass the income statement. 
These special gains and losses are put in a special stockholders’ 
equity account called Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.
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Benchmark Financial Ratios

Stock analysts, investment managers, individual investors, invest-
ment bankers, economists, and many others are interested in the 
fundamental financial aspects of a business. Ratios are a big help 
in analyzing the financial situation and performance of a business 
so throughout the chapters focused on connections (Chapters 7 
through 18), critical financial ratios were presented that closely 
related to the subject matter being discussed (e.g., in Chapter 7 on 
sales revenue and accounts receivable, the days sales outstanding 
in accounts receivable ratio was discussed). 

So to start, we begin with analyzing a company’s solvency and 
liquidity as opposed to profit analysis. 

Solvency and more so liquidity, basically refer to the ability of a 
business to pay its liabilities when they come due. If a business is 
insolvent and cannot pay its liabilities on time its very continu-
ance is at stake. In many respects solvency comes first and profit 
second. The ability to earn profit rests on the ability of the busi-
ness to continue on course and avoid being shut down or inter-
fered with by its lenders. In short, earning profit demands that a 
business remains solvent. Maintaining solvency and liquidity (its 
debt-paying ability) is essential for every business. If a business 
defaults on its debt obligations, it becomes vulnerable to legal 
proceedings that could stop the company in its tracks, or at least 
could interfere with its normal operations.

Bankers and other lenders, when deciding whether to make 
and renew loans to a business, direct their attention to certain 
key financial statement ratios to help them evaluate the solvency 

situation and prospects of the business. These ratios provide a 
useful financial profile of the business in assessing its creditwor-
thiness and for judging the ability of the business to pay interest 
and to repay the principal of its loans on time and in full.

Note: From here forward in the chapter all amounts from the 
financial statements are in thousands of dollars, except earnings per 
share (EPS). Instead of reminding you every time we assume that 
you remember that the relevant data is taken from Exhibit 22.1.

Current Ratio

The current ratio tests the short-term liability-paying ability of a 
business. It is calculated by dividing total current assets by total 
current liabilities in a company’s most recent balance sheet. The 
current ratio for the company is computed as follows:

Current Assets $18,593 =
Current Liabilities $10,947 1.70

The current ratio is hardly ever expressed as a percent (which 
would be 170 percent for this company example). The current ratio 
for the business is stated as 1.70 to 1.00, or more simply just as 1.70.

The common opinion is that the current ratio for a business 
should be 2 to 1 or higher and at least 1.50 to 1.00. Most busi-
nesses find that their creditors expect this minimum current 
ratio. In other words, short-term creditors generally like to see a 
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business limit its current liabilities to one-half or less of its cur-
rent assets.

Why do short-term creditors put this limit on a business? The 
main reason is to provide a safety cushion of protection for the 
payment of the company’s short-term liabilities. A current ratio 
of 2 to 1 means there is $2 of cash and assets that should be con-
verted into cash during the near future that will be available to pay 
each $1 of current liabilities that come due in roughly the same 
time period. Each dollar of short-term liabilities is backed up with 
$2 of cash on hand or near-term cash inflows. The extra dollar of 
current assets provides a margin of safety for the creditors.

A company may be able to pay its liabilities on time with a 
current ratio of less than 2 to 1, or perhaps even if its current 
ratio were as low as 1 to 1. In our business example, the com-
pany has not had to borrow any short-term debt to support its 
operating cash flow needs, but very well could given that HSI has 
$6,800,000 of accounts receivables and $2,640,000 of inventory. 

In summary, short-term sources of credit generally demand 
that a company’s current assets be double its current liabilities. 
After all, creditors are not owners—they don’t share in the profit 
earned by the business. The income on their loans is limited to the 
interest they charge (and collect). As creditors, they quite properly 
minimize their loan risks; as limited-income (fixed-income) inves-
tors, they are not compensated to take on much risk.

Acid Test Ratio (aka Quick Ratio)

Inventory is many weeks away from conversion into cash. Products 
are typically held two, three, or four months before being sold. If 
sales are made on credit, which is normal when one business sells 
to another business, there is a second waiting period before the 
receivables are collected. In short, inventory is not nearly as liquid 
as accounts receivable; it takes a lot longer to convert inventory 
into cash. Furthermore, there’s no guarantee that all the products 
in inventory will be sold.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

The company in our example could approach a lender to secure 
a short-term line of credit against its current assets to support 
operating cash needs if needed. In the example provided, this is 
not necessary as the company has $9,053,000 of cash available 
in addition to its balances in accounts receivables and inventory 
(all which can be used or turned into cash quickly to pay creditor 
obligations). The tip to remember here is that banks and other 
asset-based lenders (ABL) like to first lend against the most reliable 
and stable assets first and then work down the food chain. So the 
most desirable asset to lend against (and use as collateral) would 

be accounts receivable as these are highly liquid, usually turn into 
cash quickly, and should represent a valid claim against a third 
party. Next would be inventory (not considered as liquid but still 
offering some value) and then finally would be company property, 
plant, and equipment and possibly intangible assets. A typical 
short-term line of credit lending facility might allow for our example 
company to borrow 80 percent of eligible accounts receivable, 50 
percent of the eligible inventory value, and 75 percent of the forced 
liquidation value (i.e., the value that can be expected if a forced 
liquidation of company assets are necessary) of HSI’s property, 
plant, and equipment.
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This ratio tells us that the company is using $1.17 of liabili-
ties in addition to each $1 of stockholders’ equity in the business. 
Notice that all liabilities (noninterest-bearing as well as inter-
est-bearing, and both shortterm and longterm) are included in 
this ratio, and that all owners’ equity (invested capital stock and 
retained earnings) is included.This business—with its 1.17 debt to 
equity ratio—would be viewed as moderately leveraged by today’s 
standards. 

It used to be that most businesses attempted to stay below a 1 to 
1 debt to equity ratio in order to maintain a picture of health. The 
businesses didn’t want to take on too much debt, or they couldn’t 
convince lenders to put up more than one-half of their assets. 
But times change and the use of debt has become so widespread 
that higher leveraged companies are much more frequent than 20 
years ago (think leveraged buyouts, investment banks, etc.). When 
one looks back at the Great Recession and the role excessive lever-
age played, it’s no wonder the U.S. economy tanked like it did. 
(as highlighted by this insightful analysis completed in 2008 by
Reuters).

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

To pay interest on its debt, and repay principal, a business needs 
to have sufficient EBITDA (covered in Chapter 20). To test the 
ability to pay interest and principal from earnings, the debt service 
coverage ratio is calculated. Annual EBITDA is divided by inter-
est expense plus principal payments: For our sample company, 
we refer back to Exhibit 15.2(repeated here as Exhibit 22.2) 
for 2011.

There is no standard or general rule for this particular ratio—
although obviously the ratio should be higher than 1 to 1. Most 
lenders like to see a floor or minimum of 1.25 to 1.00 and gen-
erally higher (especially if annual capital expenditures are fairly 
high). In this example, the company’s ratio for 2011 is 1.78 which 

A more severe measure of the short-term liability-paying abil-
ity of a business is the acid test ratio, which excludes inventory (and 
prepaid expenses also). Only cash, short-term marketable securi-
ties investments (if any), and accounts receivable are counted as 
sources to pay the current liabilities of the business.

This ratio is also called the quick ratio because only cash and 
assets quickly convertible into cash are included in the amount 
available for paying current liabilities. It’s more in the nature of a 
liquidity ratio that focuses on how much cash and near-cash assets 
a business possesses to pay all of its short-term liabilities.

In this example, the company’s acid test ratio is calculated as 
follows (the business has no investments in marketable securities):

Cash $  9,053
Accounts Receivable $  6,800
Subtotal $15,853 =
Current Liabilities $10,947 1.45

The general rule is that a company’s acid test ratio should be 1 
to 1 or better, although you find many exceptions. In our case study 
example company, HSI is well above this level at 1.45 to 1.00.

Debt to Equity Ratio

Some debt is generally good, but too much debt is dangerous. 
The debt to equity ratio is an indicator of whether a company is 
using debt prudently, or perhaps has gone too far and is overbur-
dened with debt that may likely cause problems. For this example, 
the company’s debt to equity ratio calculation is:

Total Liabilities $10,947 =
Total Stockholders’ Equity $  9,371 1.17
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divided by sales revenue for the period. The company’s return on 
sales ratio for its latest year is:

Net Income $4,493 =
Total Sales Revenue $38,281 11.74%

There is another way of explaining the return on sales ratio. 
For each $100 of sales revenue, the business earned $11.74 net 
income—and had expenses of $88.26. Return on sales varies quite 
markedly from one industry to another. Some businesses do well 
with only a 2 percent return on sales; others need more than 20 
percent to justify the large amount of capital invested in their 
assets and/or risks undertaken. Some of the largest technology 
companies in the world have very high return on sales ratios. 

Return on Equity (ROE)

Owners take the risk of whether their business can earn a profit 
and sustain its profit performance over the years. How much 
would you pay for a business that consistently suffers a loss? The 
value of the owners’ investment depends first and foremost on 
the past and potential future profit performance of the business—
or not just profit, we should say, but profit relative to the capital 
invested to earn that profit.

For instance, suppose a business earns $100,000 annual net 
income for its stockholders. If its stockholders’ equity is $250,000, 
then its profit performance relative to the stockholders’ capital 
used to make that profit is 40 percent, which is very good indeed. 
If, however, stockholders’ equity is $2,500,000, then the company’s 
profit performance equals only 4 percent of owners’ equity, which 
is weak relative to the owners’ capital used to earn that profit.

In short, profit should be compared with the amount of capi-
tal invested to earn that profit. Profit for a period divided by the 

EXHIBIT 22.2 DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
12/31/2011

Net Income after Tax $76

Plus:

 Amortization Expense $500

 Depreciation Expense $200

 Interest Expense $  80

 Income Tax Expense $    0

 EBITDA—(Z) $856

Total Debt Service:

 Principal Payments Due in next 12 Months $400

 Interest Expense $  80

 Total Debt Service Payments (X) $480

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Z Divided by X)  1.78

is reasonable to its lenders. Lenders would be very alarmed if a 
business barely covers its annual debt service requirements (debt 
principal and interest payments). The company’s management 
and stockholders should be equally alarmed.

Return on Sales Ratio

Making sales while controlling expenses is how a business makes 
profit. The profit residual slice from a company’s total sales rev-
enue pie is expressed by the return on sales ratio, which is profit 
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amount of capital invested to earn that profit is generally called 
return on investment (ROI). ROI is a broad concept that applies to 
almost any sort of investment of capital.

The owners’ historical investment in a business is the total 
of the owners’ equity accounts in the company’s balance sheet. 
Their profit is bottom-line net income for the period—well, 
maybe not all of net income. A business corporation may issue 
preferred stock on which a fixed amount of dividends have to be 
paid each year. The preferred stock shares have the first claim 
on dividends from net income. Therefore, preferred stock divi-
dends are subtracted from net income to determine the net 
income available for the common stockholders. In this example the 
business has issued only one class of stock shares. The company 
has no preferred stock, so all of net income “belongs” to its com-
mon stockholders.

Dividing annual net income by stockholders’ equity gives the 
return on equity (ROE) ratio. The calculation for the company’s 
ROE in this example is:

Return on Equity

Net Income $4,493 =
Total Stockholders’ Equity $9,371 47.95%

Note: We use the ending balance of stockholders’ equity to sim-
plify the calculation. Alternatively, the weighted average during 
the year could be used, and should be if there has been significant 
changes during the year.

By most standards, HSI’s 47.95 percent annual ROE would be 
very impressive. However, everything is relative. ROE should be 
compared with industrywide averages and with investment alter-
natives. Also, the risk factor is important: Just how risky is the 
stockholders’ capital investment in the business?

We need to know much more about the history and prospects 
of the business to reach a final conclusion regarding whether its 
47.95 percent ROE is good, mediocre, or poor. Also, we should 
consider the opportunity cost of capital—that is, the ROI the stock-
holders could have earned on the next best use of their capital. 
Furthermore, we have not considered the personal income tax on 
dividends paid to its individual stockholders. In summary, judging 
ROE is not a simple matter!

Other “return” ratios can be calculated (e.g., return on total 
assets, return on long-term capital assets) with a number of them 
being very specific to an industry. For example, a return on invest-
ment calculation is often completed by a social media company 
looking to evaluate how many users were acquired (and how 
much revenue the users produced for the company) compared 
to the investment made in a specific advertising or promotional 
campaign. If $1,500,000 was spent to acquire 50,000 active users 
that generate gross profits of $3 per user per year (from advertis-
ing revenue earned by the company), then the earnings for this 
endeavor would be $150,000 per year compared to an investment 
of $1,500,000 producing a return on investment (ROI) of just 10 
percent and resulting in an average user acquisition cost of $30 
(both, very poor results by social media standards).

Critical Terminology Alert

Benchmarking is a term used when like companies’ operating 
performances are compared against one another within a specific 
industry. This provides a better measurement tool to evaluate 
a company’s financial performance than simply looking at the 
“market” as a whole. There’s no point in trying to compare Google’s 
results against Ford Motor Company as the industry each company 
operates within is completely different. 
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Earnings per Share (EPS)

In contrast to the ratios discussed earlier in the chapter, the earnings 
per share (EPS) ratio is reported at the bottom of their income state-
ments by public companies. You don’t have to calculate it. Given 
its importance you should surely understand how it is calculated. 
Private companies do not report EPS. However, as a stockholder of 
a private company you may find it helpful to calculate its EPS.

The capital stock shares of 5,000 domestic business cor-
porations are traded in public markets—the New York Stock 
Exchange, Nasdaq, and electronic stock exchanges. The day-to-
day, even minute-by-minute market price changes of these shares 
receive a great deal of attention. More than any other single fac-
tor, the market value of capital stock shares depends on the past 
and forecast net income (earnings) of a business.

Suppose we tell you that the market price of a stock is $60, and 
ask you whether this value is too high or too low, or just about 
right. You could compare the market price with the stockholders’ 
equity per share reported in the balance sheet—called the book
value per share, which is about $13.39 in our example. (Recall that 
a company’s total assets minus its total liabilities equal its stock-
holders’ equity.) 

Total Stockholders’ Equity $9,371,000 =
# of Shares Outstanding   700,000 $13.99

The book value method has a respectable history in securities 
analysis. Today, however, the book value approach plays second 
fiddle to the earnings-based approach. The starting point is to 
calculate earnings (net income) per share.

One of the most widely used ratios in investment analysis is 
earnings per share (EPS). The essential calculation of earnings per 
share is as follows for our company example:

Net Income (Available to 
Common) $4,493,000 = Basic
# of Shares Outstanding 700,000 $6.42 EPS

Note: To be technically accurate, the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the year should be used—based on 
the actual number of shares outstanding each month (or day) dur-
ing the period.

First off, notice that the numerator (top number) in the EPS 
ratio is net income available for common stockholders, which equals 
bottom-line net income less any dividends paid to the preferred 
stockholders of the business. Many business corporations issue 
preferred stock that requires a fixed amount of dividends to be 
paid each year. The mandatory annual dividends to the preferred 
stockholders are deducted from net income to determine net 
income available for the common stockholders. 

Second, please notice the word basic in front of earnings per share,
which means that the actual number of common stock shares in 
the hands of stockholders is the denominator (bottom number) 
in the EPS calculation. Many business corporations have entered 
into contracts of one sort or another that require the company at 
some time in the future to issue additional stock shares at prices 
below the market value of the stock shares at that time. The shares 
under these contracts have not been actually issued yet but prob-
ably will be in the future.

For example, business corporations award managers stock options
to buy common stock shares of the company at fixed prices (gen-
erally equal to the present market price or current value of the 
shares). If in the future the market value of the shares rises over 
the fixed option prices, the managers will exercise their rights and 
buy capital stock shares at a bargain price. With stock options, 
therefore, the number of stock shares is subject to inflation. When 
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(and if) the additional shares are issued, EPS will suffer because 
net income will have to be spread over a larger number of stock 
shares. EPS will be diluted, or thinned down, because of the larger 
denominator in the EPS ratio.

Basic EPS does not recognize the additional shares that will 
be issued when stock options are exercised. Also, basic EPS does 
not take into account potential dilution effects of any convert-
ible bonds and convertible preferred stock that have been issued 
by a business. These securities can be converted at the option of 
the security holders into common stock shares at predetermined 
prices.

To warn investors of the potential effects of stock options and 
convertible securities, a second EPS is reported by public corpo-
rations, called diluted EPS. This lower EPS takes into account the 
potential dilution effects caused by issuing additional common 
stock shares under stock option plans, convertible securities, and 
any other commitments a business has entered into that could 
require it to issue additional stock shares at predetermined prices 
in the future.

Basic EPS and diluted EPS (if applicable) must be reported 
in the income statements of publicly owned business corpora-
tions. This indicates the importance of EPS. In contrast, none 
of the other ratios discussed in this chapter have to be reported, 
although many public companies report selected ratios. 

Price/Earnings (P/E) Ratio

The market price of stock shares of a public business corporation 
is compared with its EPS and expressed in the price/earnings (P/E) 
ratio as follows:

Current Market Price of Stock Shares
= Price Earnings Ratio

Earnings per Share

Suppose a public company’s stock shares are trading at $40 per 
share and its basic EPS for the most recent year (called the trail-
ing 12 months) is $2. The company does not report a diluted EPS. 
Thus, its P/E ratio is 20. Like other ratios discussed in this chap-
ter, the P/E ratio should be compared with industrywide and mar-
ketwide averages to judge whether it is acceptable, too high, or 
too low. At one time a P/E ratio of 8 was considered right. As we 
write this sentence P/E ratios in the range of 15 to 18 are consid-
ered acceptable and nothing to be alarmed about, until the market 
decides these are too high and experiences a downside correction 
(which it has done on numerous occasions). 

Now, here’s a problem in calculating the P/E ratio for a public 
company: Should you use its basic EPS or its diluted EPS? If the 
business reports only basic EPS there is no problem. But when a 
public company reports both, which EPS should you use? Well, it 
is done both ways. Our advice is to check the legend in the stock 
market tables in the Wall Street Journal and the New York Times
to find out which EPS the newspaper uses in reporting the P/E 
ratios for companies. Using diluted EPS is more conservative; 
that is, it gives a higher P/E ratio.

The market prices for stock shares of a private business are not 
available to the public at large. Private company shares are not usu-
ally actively traded and when they are traded the price per share 
is not made public. Nevertheless, stockholders in these businesses 
are interested in what their shares are worth. To estimate the value 
of stock shares a P/E multiple can be used. In the company exam-
ple, its EPS is $6.42 for the most recent year (see Exhibit 22.1). 
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Suppose you own some of the capital stock shares, and someone 
offers to buy your shares. You could establish an offer price at, say, 
12 times basic EPS. This would be roughly $77 per share. The 
potential buyer may not be willing to pay this price, or he or she 
might be willing to pay 15 or 18 times basic EPS.

Market Cap

Suppose the stock shares of a public company are currently trad-
ing at $65 per share, and the business has 10 million shares out-
standing. The market cap, or total market value capitalization of 
the company, is $650 million ($65 market value per share ×10 mil-
lion capital stock shares = $650 million). We’d bet you dollars to 

doughnuts that if you compared the market cap of most businesses 
with the shareholders’ equity amounts reported in their latest bal-
ance sheets, the market caps would be considerably higher and 
perhaps much higher. 

The book value (balance sheet value) of shareholders’ equity 
is the historical record of the amounts invested in the business by 
the owners’ past plus its retained earnings accumulated over the 
years. Over time these amounts become more and more out of 
date. In contrast, the market cap is based on the current market 
value of the company’s stock shares. If a business gets into financial 
straits, its market cap may drop below the book value of its owners’ 
equity—at least for the time being. In rare cases a company’s cash 
balance may be more than its market cap.
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Final Comments

Many other ratios can be calculated from the data in financial 
statements. For example, the asset turnover ratio (annual sales rev-
enue divided by total assets) and the dividend yield (annual cash 
dividends per share divided by market value per share) are two 
ratios you often see used in securities analysis. There’s no end to 
the ratios that can be calculated.

The trick is to focus on those ratios that have the most inter-
pretive value. It’s not easy to figure out which ratios are the most 
important. Professional investors seem to use too many ratios 
rather than too few, in our opinion. On the other hand, you never 
know which ratio might provide a valuable clue to the future mar-
ket value direction of a stock. 
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Why All Businesses Should Produce and Use Two Types of Financial Statements

Unless you started reading this book right at this point, you’re aware 
that the previous chapters focused on the external financial statements 
prepared and reported by businesses. External financial statements 
are designed for external distribution to the general public (e.g., a 
publicly traded company such as Amazon) or to a select group of 
external parties, such as a bank or taxing authority, from a privately 
owned business. Under either scenario, the same basic concept 
holds when financial statements are distributed to external parties. 
The financial statements and associated information is designed for 
review and evaluation from the “outside looking in.”  

So if logic holds and external financial statements are prepared 
and reported to external parties, then internal financial statements 
should be prepared and reported to a company’s internal man-
agement team and employees to support critical business deci-
sion making functions. By the way, we are not suggesting that a 
company should keep two sets of accounting books and records 
as this would be both very inefficient and potentially, illegal. No, 
the idea is that the same accounting system used to produce finan-
cial information for external distribution and reporting should 
be designed to report the critical internal information on which 
business decisions are based. The key differences between inter-
nal and external financial statements and associated information 
is based on the following three elements: 

1. Level of detail: External financial statements are gener-
ally prepared in a more summarized format with limited 

amounts of detail provided. Quite often, a public compa-
ny’s externally prepared income statement is compressed or 
summarized into a single page, its annual financial report. 
Internal financial statements are far more detailed and pro-
vide additional depth and insight into a company’s opera-
tions at a granular level. For example, a company like Ford 
Motor Company may produce a detailed internal financial 
statement for one manufacturing facility (e.g., the Ford 
Mustang) to evaluate its financial performance. When you 
see Ford’s external financial statements, these rollup all of 
its operations but the managers of the Mustang facility may 
only see the individual income statement for this profit cen-
ter, listing every revenue and expense item on a line-by-line 
basis. Great information for the company insiders but not 
appropriate for company outsiders.

2. Confidential information: Directly associated with the level 
of detail difference is the amount of confidential informa-
tion disclosed. Detailed internal financial statements will 
often include confidential financial information and data 
the company does not want to make public (e.g., trends with 
product pricing, allocation of expenses between different 
types of accounts). While there are a number of rules that 
require public companies to disclose large amounts of infor-
mation in the financial statements and more importantly, 
the financial footnotes, the highly sensitive and confidential 
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financial information located in internally prepared finan-
cial statements is almost always excluded. 

3. Audits, generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), 
and presentation consistency: External financial statements 
prepared by publicly traded companies must be audited 
on an annual basis and issued in accordance with GAAP. 
Internal financial statements are prepared by the compa-
ny’s management team and are almost never audited by an 
independent third party. In addition, the format of external 
financial statements is designed to offer a more consistent 
format for parties to evaluate results from different com-
panies (apples to apples). Internal financial statements and 
reports take on all kinds of different formats and structures 
to provide the most meaningful information to the users. 

To provide an example of the difference between internal and 
external financial statements, refer to Exhibit 23.1 for our sample 
company, HSI.

A number of items should jump out at you right away including 
the breakout of sales revenue by type, costs of goods sold in more 
detail, the different types of selling, general, and administrative 
expenses by function, along with an analytical ratio analysis that 
provides results in “percentages” rather than just dollars. Further, 
you can see that the totals reported in the external financial state-
ment agree to the totals in the internal financial statement but 
now, it easier to understand sales by type and the gross margins 
generated from each type of sales source (services versus prod-
ucts). We should note that the internal financial statement format 
presented in Exhibit 23.1 is designed for the company’s senior 
management analysis and assessment as frontline managers would 

normally be provided a much more detailed financial statement 
for their respective area of responsibility (and would not receive 
this format as it provides too much information for the company 
in its entirety). This is an important concept to understand.

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Large companies need to be very sensitive about distributing 
confidential information to its internal staff. For example, a manager 
with P&L responsibility for a company’s western sales region does 
not need to see the detailed financial results for a manager with 
responsibility for the eastern region. The executive in charge of 
both regions would see all of the information but each individual 
manager is only provided information for their relevant area of 
responsibility. This keeps managers focused on their respective 
responsibilities and avoids leaking confidential internal information 
to the wrong parties.

 As you can probably guess, accounting involves more than 
preparing a company’s external financial statements, although this 
is certainly one of its most important functions. Designing and 
operating accounting systems, complying with a myriad of tax 
laws, and preparing external financial reports are three bedrock 
accounting functions of every business. Also, the accounting staff 
in a business has another very important function—providing 
information to its managers for their decisionmaking, planning, 
and control. This fourth function of accounting is referred to as 
management accounting or managerial accounting (which we prefer).



HareSquared, Inc.

Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2012

External Format

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012

Sales Revenue, Net $38,281

Costs of Goods Sold $17,950

Gross Profit $20,331

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses $13,800

Depreciation and Amortization Expense $     750

Operating Earnings $  5,781

Other Expenses (Income) $         0

Interest Expense $         0

Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  5,781

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $  1,288

Net Income (Loss) $  4,493

HareSquared, Inc.

Unaudited Financial Statements

For the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2012

Internal Format

Income Statement % of

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 Net Rev.

Revenue:

  Software System Sales $ 20,063 52.41%

  Product System Sales $ 19,200 50.16%

  Other Sales, Discounts, and Allowances $     (982) −2.57%

Net Revenue $ 38,281 100.00%

Costs of Goods Sold:

  Direct Product Costs $ 10,560 27.59%

  Wages and Burden, Software System Sales $   6,520 17.03%

  Direct Overhead $      800 2.09%

  Other Costs of Goods Sold $        70 0.18%

Total Costs of Goods Sold $ 17,950 46.89%

Gross Profit $ 20,331 53.11%

Gross Margin 53.11%

Operating, Selling, General, and Admin. Expenses:

  Selling, Marketing, and Promotional Expenses $   4,000 10.45%

  Direct Operating Expenses $   1,200 3.13%

  Research, Development, and Design $   1,000 2.61%

  Corporate Overhead & Support $   7,500 19.59%

  Other Operating, Selling, and G&A expenses $      100 0.26%

Total Operating Expenses $ 13,800 36.05%

Operating Income (EBITDA) $   6,531 17.06%

Operating Margin (EBITDA Margin) 17.06%

EXHIBIT 23.1—INTERNAL VERSUS EXTERNAL INCOME STATEMENT FORMAT COMPARISONS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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Managerial Accounting

Managerial accounting is an internal function, which is carried 
out inside a business to help its managers make sound decisions, 
develop plans and budgets, and exercise control. In short, the pur-
pose of managerial accounting is to help managers be good man-
agers. Managerial accounting, more than anything else, should 
provide useful information needed by managers and help them 
make use of this information in the most effective manner.

The design of internal accounting reports to managers is 
dependent on the nature of the business and the organizational 
structure of the business. Suppose a business is divided into sales 
territories, for example. Accounting reports are needed for each 
sales territory. Each sales territory may be divided into major 
product lines. So, the accounting reports separate each product 
line in each territory. In short, management accounting should 
follow the organizational structure of a business and provide each 
manager with the information the manager needs.

External financial statements are designed for the outside, non-
management investors and lenders of the business. The external 
accounting reports of a business do not contain all the financial infor-
mation its managers need. Managers should understand their com-
pany’s external financial statements like the backs of their hands, even 
though they are not accountants. And, they need additional account-
ing reports that provide more detailed information, much of which is 
confidential and is not released outside the confines of the business.

We could write a book on management control and the detailed 
information managers need for effective control including a 

discussion on how sales revenue and expenses are generally 
accounted for by most larger and more sophisticated businesses.

Before moving on, we should point out that this chapter is 
not a comprehensive survey of the field of managerial account-
ing—far from it! For instance, in this chapter we do not discuss 

Critical Terminology Alert

Sales revenue and expenses are often accounted for separately in 
individual profit centers and cost centers of a business. A profit 
center is a separate, identifiable source of sales revenue with its 
matching expenses. For an auto dealer, for instance, one profit 
center is its new car and truck sales; another is its used car and truck 
sales; and, a third is its service and parts department. A cost center 
is an organizational unit that does not generate sales revenue, such 
as the accounting and building maintenance departments.

projections/forecasting, standard costs, management control 
reports, cost allocation methods, and other topics. Our more 
modest goal is to demonstrate how expenses should be classified, 
in order to make accounting information more useful for man-
agement decision-making analysis. We believe business managers 
will find this chapter very instructive.
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Beyond the Income Statement

and energy on control points. For example, managers should keep 
a close watch on the total number of employees and sales rev-
enue per employee. Productivity measures are very important 
for manufacturers. Retailers should measure inventory shrink-
age in order to determine losses from customer shoplifting and 
employee theft.

In summary, accountants include a great deal more detailed 
information about sales revenue and expenses in internal income 
statements (profit reports) to managers. Managers need itemized 
information for controlling expenses. Therefore, the accountant 
provides supporting schedules listing hundreds or more specific 
expenses to managers. More than just detail, managers need to 
know how expenses behave relative to the two big profit drivers 
of every business—sales prices and sales volume.

To illustrate the importance of knowing how expenses behave, 
we put a question to you here. Which would be better for profit: a 
5 percent sales price increase across the board, or a 5 percent sales 
volume increase on all products and services sold by the business? 
If you, the business manager, could have one but not the other, 
which would you choose—the sales price option or the sales vol-
ume option? One is clearly better, as we explain.

To begin, please refer back to Exhibit 23.1, which provides a com-
parison of an external income statement versus an internal income 
statement. Exhibit 23.1 shows a typical format for an external
income statement. As you notice, this income statement reports 
highly condensed, summary-level information. As we have said 
several times before, this income statement is designed for report-
ing to the outside investors and lenders of a business entity. Is it 
adequate for the managers of the business? No, not by a long shot.

The first thought that probably comes to mind is that managers 
need a lot of detailed information for controlling the business than 
the condensed information in the external income statement. That’s 
for sure! From the top line to the bottom line managers need more 
detailed and specific information. Take sales revenue, for instance. 
Managers, at least the ones responsible for sales, need information 
about how many units of each product were sold, which products 
didn’t meet sales volume expectations, and which exceeded fore-
casts. Also, managers should keep a close eye on product returns 
and postsale repairs and replacements of products.

For control purposes business managers need to keep track 
of a thousand and one details. Managers need to develop rel-
evant performance benchmarks, and they should focus their time 
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Classifying Operating Expenses

Refer to Exhibit 23.1 again. Notice that cost of goods sold expense 
is deducted immediately after sales revenue, in order to determine 
the gross margin from sales (also called gross profit). Every business 
must earn an adequate gross margin to cover its other expenses. 
Earning a satisfactory bottom-line profit begins with earning an 
adequate gross margin on sales. Reporting cost of goods sold as 
a separate expense provides important information for managers. 
No doubt about this. Managers, first and foremost, have to con-
trol their gross margins.

But of further interest is understanding that gross margins are 
different for each type of product or service sold. Exhibit 23.2 
compares the gross margin our sample company HSI generates 
from each of its two primary product lines—software system sales 
and product system sales (i.e., technology hardware).

You can see that the gross margin generated from software 
system sales of 67.50 percent is much greater than from product 
system sales, which makes sense given that HSI develops its own 
software and sells it via licenses (proprietary technology) whereas 
the products HSI sells are purchased from a third party and resold 
(nonproprietary technology). The point of providing Exhibit 23.2 
is to highlight the fact that if HSI increases sales revenue from 
software systems, this should have a greater impact on increasing 
net income due to the higher gross margin earned. This is why it 
is important to understand where sales growth comes from (by 
product or service line offering), which is commonly referred to 
as a company’s sales revenue mix.

EXHIBIT 23.2—GROSS MARGIN COMPARISON, SERVICE 

VERSUS PRODUCTS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Gross Margin Analysis—Software System Sales Amount

    Software System Sales $ 20,063 

    Wages and Burden, Software System Sales $  (6,520)

    Gross Profit Software System Sales $ 13,543

    Gross Margin Software System Sales 67.50%

Gross Margin Analysis—Product System Sales

    Product System Sales $ 19,200 

    Direct Product Costs $(10,560)

    Gross Profit Product System Sales $   8,640

    Gross Margin Product System Sales 45.00%

The next question concerns operating expenses, which in the 
external income statement in Exhibit 23.1 are lumped into one 
conglomerate account labeled Selling, General, and Administrative 
Expenses. Depreciation expense is reported separately in Exhibit 
23.1, which is a special type of operating expense. (Operating 
expenses do not include interest and income tax expenses, which 
are reported separately in the income statement.)
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The point we want to emphasize here is that business managers 
should understand how their expenses behave relative to changes in 
sales revenue and sales volume. Sales prices and sales volume are in 
a state of constant change for most businesses. Managers need to 
know how operating expenses change with changes in sales prices 
and sales volume. Unfortunately, this important point often gets 
overlooked in the hustle and bustle of the daily problems of run-
ning a business.

In our view, internal profit accounting reports to managers 
should classify operating expenses according to how they behave 
relative to changes in sales prices and sales volume. Sales prices and 
sales volume are the big two factors driving profit performance. In 
actual practice accountants generally do not classify expenses this 
way in their internal profit reports to managers. There are many 
reasons why they don’t. For one thing, it would pile more work 
on top of all the other things accountants do in a business. Also, 
most managers probably don’t ask for expense information to be 
classified this way. But we think managers are missing the boat 
on this. After reading this chapter, you be the judge on this issue.

Controlling specific operating expenses is one thing; analyz-
ing operating expenses in decision making is quite another. To 
emphasize this point, we recast the external income statement 
of our business example. See Exhibit 23.3, which we call the 
Management Profit Report. The company’s operating expenses are 
classified according to how they behave relative to changes in 
sales prices and sales volume. It’s an alternative to the standard 
external income statement.

In the management profit report (Exhibit 23.3), the company’s 
operating expenses are classified into three types:

1. Sales revenue expenses—operating costs that depend on 
and vary with total sales revenue (the total dollar amount of 
sales). Sales commissions equal to a certain percent of sales 

EXHIBIT 23.3—MANAGEMENT PROFIT REPORT 

FOR YEAR

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

Sales Revenue $ 38,281 

Cost of Goods Sold Expense $(17,950)

Gross Profit $ 20,331 

Sales Revenue Expenses $  (4,000)

Sales Volume Expenses $  (1,200)

Profit Margin before Fixed Expenses—Contribution Margin $ 15,131 

Fixed General and Administrative Expenses $  (8,600)

Operating Income (EBITDA) $   6,531

and credit card discounts paid by a retailer to a credit card 
company are two examples.

2. Sales volume expenses—operating costs that depend on and 
vary with the total sales volume, or quantities of products 
and services sold to customers. Packaging and transporta-
tion costs are two main examples.

3. Fixed operating expenses—costs that are relatively fixed in 
amount and cannot be changed over the short run. Employees 
on fixed salaries, building rent, equipment lease payments, 
and property taxes are examples of fixed operating costs. 

For ease of presentation, we have eliminated references to 
depreciation and amortization, interest, and income tax expenses 
to focus on two key performance measurements—EBITDA (refer 
to Chapter 20) and a new term commonly referred to as the con-
tribution margin.



Profit analysis for business managers     253

The classification of operating expenses requires careful study 
to sort out which costs belong in each of the expense categories. 
Once its operating costs have been classified this way, the costs are 
tagged in the bookkeeping process so that the total for each type 
of operating expense is determined and included in internal profit 
reports to managers.

Critical Terminology Alert

The contribution margin represents a measurement of earnings 
that falls between gross profits or gross margin and EBITDA. What 
it is designed to capture is how much additional income will be 
contributed to the overall performance of a business from a profit-
and-loss center. For example, when a large restaurant chain opens 
up new facilities, they need to understand how much each facility will 
contribute to the company’s net income. That facility will generate 
sales revenue and costs of goods expense, which produces gross 
profits. Further, that facility will have direct operating expenses 
associated with just that facility, which tend to be fixed in nature at 
the individual facility level (think of rent, utilities, direct advertising, 
a manager, etc.). So when analyzing the facility, the first order of 
business is: Can a reasonable gross profit be generated? Then the 
next step is to focus on whether the facility can produce enough 
gross profit to cover its direct operating expenses to produce a 
positive contribution margin. If the facility passes this test, then it 
is safe to say it is producing a positive contribution margin to help 
cover general corporate expenses (for the entire organization) and/
or contribute to the company’s overall net income. 
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with a 5 percent sales volume increase scenario to help you appre-
ciate the differences between changes in these two fundamental 
profit factors.

Before looking at Exhibit 23.4 you might first ask yourself 
which alternative you think is better. If you’re a sales manager, you 
might favor the sales volume increase because the business would 
increase its market share at the higher sales volume. Market share 
is always an important factor to consider—you should never ignore 
this point. But, if you compare the two alternatives, you see that 
bumping the sales price 5 percent would be much better for profit.

In this comparison we stop at the EBITDA profit line for ease 
of presentation. Selling at 5 percent higher sales prices increases 
profit margin before fixed expenses 11.33 percent (see Exhibit 
23.4), whereas selling 5 percent higher volume increases the 
profit margin before fixed expenses only 5 percent. Every variable 
expense goes up 5 percent with the 5 percent increase in sales 
volume. But only one expense goes up with the 5 percent sales 
price increase.

Then there are fixed selling and operating expenses and the 
fixed depreciation expense to consider. The higher sales prices 
shouldn’t affect fixed costs. However, a higher sales volume would 
push up some fixed costs if the business is already running at 
full capacity and would have to add more space, equipment, and 
personnel to handle the higher sales volume. In Exhibit 23.4 we 
assume that the business could take on 5 percent more sales vol-
ume without having to increase any of its fixed costs.

Comparing Changes in Sales Prices and Sales Volume

In the limited space of this chapter we can offer only a brief over-
view of how business managers can use a profit report like the one 
presented in Exhibit 23.3. Speaking broadly, business managers 
focus on changes. Every factor and variable that determines profit 
is subject to change; change is constant, as experienced business 
managers will verify. Managers have to deal with changes that 
affect the profit performance of their business.

For example, higher transportation costs next year may increase 
the company’s sales volume driven expenses. Property taxes may 
go up, which will increase its fixed operating expenses. The sales 
manager may make a persuasive case that the advertising budget 
should be increased next year. Managers have to respond to all 
such changes; they don’t get paid to sit on their hands and idly 
watch the changes happen.

Top-level managers have the responsibility of developing real-
istic plans to improve profit performance, which means making 
changes in the profit equation of the business. Which specific 
changes? This is the key question. Suppose the president of the 
company wants to develop a plan to improve bottom-line net 
income 10 percent next year. Exactly how would the manager 
accomplish this goal? The logical places to start are sales prices
and sales volume.

Business managers need a crystal-clear understanding regard-
ing what happens when sales prices increase (or decrease) and 
when sales volume increases (or decreases). In Exhibit 23.4 we 
compare the impacts of a 5 percent sales price increase scenario 
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EXHIBIT 23.4—5% SALES PRICE VERSUS 5% SALES VOLUME INCREASE

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

     5% Higher Sales Prices       5% Higher Sales Volume

Original New Change New Change

Example Scenario Amount Percent Scenario Amount Percent

Sales Revenue $ 38,281 $ 40,195 $1,914 5.00% $ 40,195 $1,914 5.00%

Cost of Goods Sold Expense $(17,950) $(17,950) $(18,848) $  (898) 5.00%

Gross Profit $ 20,331 $ 22,245 $1,914 9.41% $ 21,348 $1,017 5.00%

Sales Revenue Sensitive Expenses $  (4,000) $  (4,200) $  (200) 5.00% $  (4,200) $  (200) 5.00%

Sales Volume Sensitive Expenses $  (1,200) $  (1,200) $  (1,260) $    (60) 5.00%

Profit Margin before Fixed Expenses $ 15,131 $ 16,845 $1,714 11.33% $ 15,888 $   757 5.00%

Fixed Selling and Operating Expenses $  (8,600) $  (8,600) $  (8,600)

EBITDA $   6,531 $   8,245 $1,714 26.24% $   7,288 $   757 11.58%

It may be more realistic, though, to gain 5 percent more sales 
volume compared with pushing through a 5 percent sales price 
increase. Customers may balk at the higher sales prices. Setting 
sales prices certainly is one of the most perplexing decisions facing 

business managers. The price sensitivity of customers is seldom 
clear-cut. In any case, business managers should understand that 
a relatively small change in sales price could have a major impact 
on profit margin.
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Breakeven Point

By definition the breakeven point is that mix of sales revenue and 
expenses that yields exactly a zero outcome—no profit and no loss. 
You can use the management profit report information (Exhibit 
23.4) to determine the breakeven point at various performance lev-
els (which for simplicity purposes, we will focus on the EBITDA 
breakeven point). 

Exhibit 23.5 reveals that a 19.05 percent drop in sales prices 
would wipe out all the company’s EBITDA. In contrast, sales vol-
ume would have to plunge 43.16 percent to take the business down 

EXHIBIT 23.5—BREAKEVEN ANALYSIS—SALES PRICE VERSUS VOLUME DECREASES

Dollar Amounts in Thousands

     5% Higher Sales Prices       5% Higher Sales Volume

Original New Change New Change

Example Scenario Amount Percent Scenario Amount Percent

Sales Revenue $  38,281  $ 30,988 $(7,293) −19.05% $ 21,759 $(16,522) −43.16%

Cost of Goods Sold Expense $(17,950) $(17,950) $(10,203) $   7,747 −43.16%

Gross Profit $  20,331 $   3,038 $(7,293) −35.87% $ 11,556 $  (8,775) −43.16%

Sales Revenue Sensitive Expenses $  (4,000) $  (3,238) $    762 −19.05% $  (2,274) $   1,726 −43.16%

Sales Volume Sensitive Expenses $  (1,200) $  (1,200) $     (682) $      518 −43.16%

Profit Margin before Fixed Expenses $  15,131 $   8,600 $(6,531)   −43.16% $   8,600 $   6,531) −43.16%

Fixed Selling and Operating Expenses $  (8,600) $  (8,600) $  (8,600)

EBITDA $   6,531 $          0 $(6,531)   −99.99% $          0 $  (6,531) −99.99%

to zero EBITDA. (Using the Excel spreadsheet tool, we decreased 
sales price and sales volume to find the two breakeven points.)

Exhibit 23.5 makes clear that the business should be very care-
ful regarding lowering its sales prices. In particular, a 19.05 per-
cent drop in sales prices would take the business very close to its 
breakeven point if volume stays the same. Its sales manager might 
suggest a cut in sales prices to boost sales volume. First, we rec-
ommend that you use the profit report (Exhibit 23.3) to crunch 
the numbers, and see whether profit would increase.
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Final Point

The format of the management profit report presented in Exhibit 
23.4 can be used as a template or model for analyzing, budgeting, 
and planning profit. For instance, the business may plan for a 10 
percent sales volume increase combined with 5 percent sales price 
increases across the board next year. You can fairly easily make 
these changes and see what the profit (before interest and income 
tax expenses) would be if these changes hold true next year.

Also, we would like to direct your attention to a couple of other 
terms widely used in the financial world when analyzing financial 
statements and information.

Critical Terminology Alert

You probably see references to “What if” and “sensitivity” analysis. 
A what if analysis is just like it sounds: What happens if we change 
these key assumptions. The idea is to run through different 
scenarios of changing key assumptions to a business to see how 
the output changes. A sensitivity analysis is similar to a what if 
analysis but it looks to focus on how sensitive (highs and lows) 
financial information is in relation to changing key assumptions. For 
example, if a small change in price has a large impact on earnings, 
a high degree of sensitivity is present. 
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The Changing Economic Environment

As we left our two case study companies back in Chapter 13, HSI’s 
financial performance and balance strength was noticeably better 
than TTI’s. Further, it appeared the outlook for HSI was stronger 
than TTI given their respective recent performance. But this 
analysis was completed before, and I quote Mr. Burl Ives from 
his narration of Rudolph the Red-Nosed Reindeer when a horrible 
blizzard hit just before Christmas, “Well, he was just about to 
leave when suddenly … It hit!, the storm of Storms and only two 
days before Christmas.” 

Translation for our two companies:The storm that hits both 
HSI and TTI in the second quarter of 2013 is the equivalent of the 
Great Recession that reshapes companies and industries across the 
economy. Further, each companies’ business model will be signifi-
cantly impacted by the following three events and changing trends:

1. Access to capital, debt, or equity, is restricted during the year 
as companies and financing sources scramble to conserve 
liquidity (or cash). So neither HSI nor TTI can approach 
debt or equity sources to secure funding.

2. Customer buying patterns abruptly change during the 
second half of the year. More customers defer or delay 
large capital investments, and when they do purchase, 
demand the most up-to-date technological solution 
and restructure payment terms, moving away from a 
prebilling for the annual licenses to quarterly or even 
monthly payments requesting a SAAS model (software 
as a service). 

3. Creditors tighten up payment terms and are generally 
unwilling to work with customers to offer increases in avail-
able financing and extended terms. 

So how do our two case study companies fare?We find out in 
our next two sections, but please remember to bear with our anal-
ysis as there are a number of moving parts and changes to each 
company’s financial statements that are addressed. To assist with 
understanding the changes, bullet points using letters have been 
provided, which correlate to the letter reference in each of the 
exhibits provided. 
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HareSquared, Inc.’s Financial Results and Ending Position

but were not enough to offset lower sales and reduced gross 
profit. Reducing SG&A expenses is a common strategy 
used by companies that experience significant reductions in 
sales, some of which is natural (e.g., lower sales commissions 
expense due to lower sales revenue), and other which tends 
to be forced (e.g., pay reductions for executives or other 
headcount reductions).

D. HSI incurred other expenses of $1,456,000. What could 
this be? First off, the company had to write-off $1,000,000 
of unamortized software development costs. If you recall, 
HSI capitalized $2,500,000 in software development costs 
in 2010, which was amortized at a rate of $500,000 per year 
for three years through 2012. This leaves an unamortized 
balance of $1,000,000, which was deemed worthless by 
management and the auditors (based on lack of customer 
demand for the old ERP platform that was sorely outdated 
as customer’s switched to the new ERP software solution). 
Second, HSI wrote-off $456,000 of obsolete inventory that 
no longer had a market value. 

E. HSI experienced a significant change in net income, decreas-
ing from a net profit of $4,493,000 in 2012 to a net loss of 
($835,000) in 2013. Also, notice the income tax benefit of 
$450,000. The company is planning on using its net operat-
ing loss to carryback against previous year’s income tax obli-
gations and is anticipating a refund of $450,000 (which has 

Exhibit 24.1 presents HareSquared, Inc.’s (HSI) financial 
statements for the two-year comparison period for the fiscal years 
ending 12/31/12 through 12/31/13. 

First we focus on the income statement (comparing 2012 
results to 2013), as it was clearly a rough year for HSI based on:

A. Net sales revenue decreased from $38,281,000 to 
$21,807,000, representing a 43 percent reduction. A number 
of factors contributed to HSI’s poor revenue performance 
including utilizing more aggressive amortization periods to 
recognize revenue from annual ERP licenses (i.e., HSI front-
loaded revenue recognition and is paying the price now), 
incurring sales order delays from customers waiting for the 
new ERP software release, and adapting to changes in cus-
tomer buying habits and preferences (more SAAS purchase 
agreement and fewer annual license purchase agreements). 

B. HSI’s gross profit decreased from $20,331,000 to 
$10,531,000 representing a 48 percent reduction (even 
worse than sales). The company’s gross margin (added in 
Exhibit 24.1 for ease of reference) dropped from 53.1 per-
cent in 2012 to 48.3 percent in 2013, which indicates that 
either direct costs of sales expense has increased or that HSI 
is experiencing pricing pressure from customers. 

C. Large cuts were made to the company’s SG&A expenses 
(decreased from $13,800,000 in 2012 to $9,600,000 in 2013) 
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Audited Financial Statements

for the Fiscal Year Ending

12/31/2013

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents $   9,053 $  4,789 
Accounts Receivable, Net A,F $  6,800 $  2,700 
Inventory, LCM D,G $  2,640 $  1,080 
Prepaid Expenses $     100 $       75 

Total Current Assets G $18,593 $  8,644 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 $  1,500 
Accumulated Depreciation $    (600) $    (900)

Net Fixed Assets $     650 $     600 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net D,H $  1,000 $  1,840 
Other Assets E $       75 $     500 

Total Other Assets $  1,075 $  2,340 

Total Assets $20,318 $11,584

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $  1,323 $     870 
Accrued Expenses C $     945 $     444 
Current Portion of Debt $         0 $         0 
Other Current Liabilities F $  8,679 $  1,734 

Total Current Liabilities G $10,947 $  3,048 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion $         0 $         0 
Other Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $         0 $         0 

Total Liabilities $10,947 $  3,048 
Stockholders Equity
   Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 550,000 
Outstanding $  7,000 $  7,000 
Retained Earnings $  2,371 $  1,536 
Total Owners’ Equity $  9,371 $  8,536 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $20,318 $11,584

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Sales Revenue, Net A $38,281 $21,807
Costs of Goods Sold $17,950 $11,276
Gross Profit B $20,331 $10,531
Gross Margin B 53.11% 48.29%
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses C $13,800 $  9,600 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense H $     750 $     760 
Operating Earnings $  5,781 $     171 
Other Expenses (Income) D $         0 $  1,456 
Interest Expense $         0 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  5,781 $ (1,285)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) E $  1,288 $    (450)

Net Income (Loss) E $  4,493 $    (835)

Shares Outstanding        700        700 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share E $     6.42 $   (1.19)

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income (Loss) $  4,493 $    (835)
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization H $     750 $     760 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable F $ (2,225) $  4,100 
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory D,G $ (1,760) $  1,560 
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $      (25) $       25 
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $     591 $    (453)
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities C $     341 $    (501)
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities F $  4,366 $ (6,945)
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities F $  6,531 $ (2,289)

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Capital Expenditures $    (250) $    (250)
Investments in Other Assets E,H $         0 $ (2,725)
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $    (250) $ (2,975)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $         0 $         0 
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $  4,000 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $         0 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt $ (1,600) $         0 
Other Financing Activities $         0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $  2,400 $         0 

Other Cash Flow Adjustments—Asset Impairments D $         0 $  1,000 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents $  8,681 $ (4,264)
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $     372 $  9,053 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance $  9,053 $  4,789 

EXHIBIT 24.1—SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, TWO YEARS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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been treated as an other long-term asset in the balance sheet 
as the refund may take longer than one year to receive). 
Finally, HSI’s basic EPS decreased from a positive of $6.42 
in 2012 to a negative of ($1.19) in 2013.

These events had the following impact on the balance sheet and 
statement of cash flows:

F. The significant decrease in sales revenue resulted in large 
decreases to HSI’s accounts receivable and other current 
liabilities balances on the balance sheet, and had a dramatic 
impact on the company’s net cash flow from operating activ-
ities. Further, the changes in these two asset balances had 
the most significant impact on net cash flow from operating 
activity, which went from a positive $6,531,000 in 2012 to a 
negative $2,289,000 in 2013.

G. The balance sheet compressed or shrunk as sales revenues 
and expenses decreased significantly. The decrease in inven-
tory is expected as a result of reduced sales and the write-off 
for obsolete items. Overall, net working capital decreased 
from $7,646,000 at 12/31/12 to $5,596,000 at 12/31/13 
(remember, net working capital is defined as total cur-
rent assets minus total current liabilities). But interestingly 
enough, HSI’s current ratio increased from 1.70 at 12/31/12 
to 2.84 at 12/31/13 as the company “deleveraged” during 
the year (generally a sign of improved financial strength). 
This is one of the oddities of completing financial analyses 
as sometimes the improvement of a ratio may actually be 
indicating a problem somewhere else. 

H. The company had to accelerate investment in new soft-
ware development to meet customer demands and stay 
relevant with the competition. This required an additional 
investment of $2,300,000 during the year that supported 

the release of the new ERP software platform during the 
third quarter. So to keep straight on the math, remember 
we started the year with a balance of $1,000,000 in capital-
ized software development costs. This was written off due to 
market conditions. The company then invested $2,300,000 
in new software development, which was capitalized with 
the product released in the third quarter. The ending bal-
ance is $1,840,000, which indicates the company recorded 
$460,000 of amortization expense during the year. Makes 
sense, right, as $2,300,000 divided by five years equates to 
$460,000 per year. Wrong! As remember, the new ERP 
platform was released mid-year so what this indicates is the 
company has changed its amortization period from 5 years 
or 60 months to 2.5 years or 30 months (as $460,000 over six 
months assuming a 7/1/13 release date amounts to $76,667 
of amortization expense per month, which multiplied by 
30 months amounts to $2,300,000). Why the change?Well, 
maybe the company and its auditors learned from history 
and realized that the market is going to demand a new ERP 
platform product every two to three years instead of five. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Wow, a lot of activity and changes in HSI’s financial statements 
for 2013, which may be confusing at first glance to thoroughly 
understand. But don’t disappear as we provided this somewhat 
complex analysis on purpose and for two reasons. 

1. Financial statements represent dynamic, living documents, 
which are constantly changing. Rarely if ever will you see 
financial statements that have just one or two key changes 
(which comparing multiple years). To truly understand a 
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include revenue recognition (as noted previously), inven-
tory valuation (are proper allowances and reserves being 
taken to account for rapidly changing product technology?), 
and intangible asset accounting (is the amortization period 
too long or more importantly, should all costs simply be 
expensed as incurred and no software development costs 
capitalized?). 

So are the company’s accounting policies illegal? No. Are they 
aggressive? Yes. And most importantly, are HSI’s accounting poli-
cies appropriate (that best match sales revenue and expenses)? 
We leave this to you to decide. Maybe management had the best 
intentions and conditions just changed so fast that the 2013 results 
were the outcome (and the company had to take all of their lumps 
at once). Or maybe they just understood how to massage the 
numbers better, know when to raise capital at the best time (peak 
availability and pricing in 2012 before the market turned), and 
planned accordingly to build large amounts of cash and liquidity 
going into a difficult period. 

The bottom line is that this is one of the great mysteries 
and uncertainties surrounding the CART of financial state-
ments (completeness, accuracy, reliability, and timeliness). We 
suspect that most people felt that Enron’s financial statements 
and accounting policies were appropriate. As everyone discov-
ered in late 2001, even the biggest corporations need to have 
the utmost scrutiny applied to their financial statements and 
reports.

company’s financial statements and results, be prepared to 
apply multiple reviews, analyses, and evaluations. 

2. A primary objective of this book was to provide tools to the 
reader to assist with completing a comprehensive analysis 
and evaluation of a company’s financial statements. Every 
issue addressed in the previous bullet points was at one point 
or another, discussed in this book. And no, we didn’t make 
it easy for you by cross-referencing every topic to a specific 
chapter as this should not be needed at this stage. 

It’s easy (relatively speaking) to see from HSI’s fiscal year end-
ing 12/31/13 operating results that it was a difficult year for the 
company. However, what really should raise concerns with HSI’s 
financial performance are two critical items:

1. The significant drop in revenue is very concerning and indi-
cates multiple potential problems including has proper rev-
enue accounting been applied? Is the company behind the 
competition with its ERP platform offerings? Are custom-
ers moving to a different solution or company to support 
their needs? Understanding this dramatic decrease in sales 
revenue is issue number one (as the impact on future years 
operating results could be even more dramatic). 

2. Questions need to be raised about the company’s account-
ing policies and quality of the audit report. Areas of concern 
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TortTech, Inc.’s Financial Results and Ending Position

Exhibit 24.2 presents TortTech, Inc.’s (TTI) financial statements 
for the two-year comparison period for the fiscal years ending 
12/31/12 through 12/31/13. 

Now let’s see how TTI faired for the fiscal year ending 
12/31/13 starting with the income statement (spoiler alert, much 
better except for one fatal error):

A. Net sales revenue decreased from $31,977,000 to 
$27,840,000, representing a relatively low 13 percent drop. 
The combination of utilizing a more conservative accounting 
policy to recognize revenue from annual ERP licenses and 
being two quarters ahead of the competition on the product 
development and release front (early 2013 compared to the 
competition in the third quarter of 2013) greatly assisted the 
company during the year. You may ask how we came to this 
conclusion. Well, first, TTI’s revenue recognition policy as 
summarized in Chapter 6 was relatively conservative. Second, 
TTI’s internal financial statement offered a hint that they 
were investing more money in research and development 
expense than HSI (for 2012, TTI spent $2,000,000 on R&D 
where HSI spent only $1,000,000). Granted, the company’s 
internal financial statements were not released to external 
parties for review but this information is generally available in 
the financial statement footnotes. Third, we paid attention to 
company press and product releases that promoted the new 
ERP software platform six months before HSI. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Not all relevant and critical information about a company and its 
financial results come from the periodic financial statements and 
reports. Invaluable information is available from numerous sources 
including third-party articles, industry reports, and internal company 
produced material. Sometimes, you just have to pay attention!

B. TTI’s gross profit decreased from $15,011,000 to 
$13,444,000 representing a small 10 percent reduction. The 
company’s gross margin (added in Exhibit 24.2 for ease of 
reference) actually increased from 46.9 percent in 2012 to 
48.3 percent in 2013, which indicates the company has solid 
control of costs of goods sold expense and/or has passed on 
higher prices to its customers. 

C. Almost no cuts in SG&A expenses were made, decreasing 
from $12,300,000 in 2012 to $11,900,000 in 2013, or 3.3 
percent (a logical decrease stemming from lower sales com-
mission expenses as a result of the decrease in sales revenue). 
TTI appears to have been able to retain infrastructure and 
internal staff (thus not experiencing a brain drain from cut-
ting expenses too deep). 
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12/31/2013

Balance Sheet

as of the Year-End 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Equivalents H $  1,259 $ (1,345)
Accounts Receivable, Net A,F $  5,950 $  6,500 
Inventory, LCM D,G $  1,995 $  1,860 
Prepaid Expenses  $     100 $       75 

Total Current Assets G  $  9,304 $  7,090 

Fixed Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment $  1,250 $  1,500 
Accumulated Depreciation $    (600) $    (900)

Net Fixed Assets  $     650 $     600 

Other Assets
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, Net D,H $         0 $         0 
Other Assets $       75 $       50 

Total Other Assets $       75 $       50 

Total Assets  $10,029 $  7,740 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $  1,219 $  1,096 
Accrued Expenses C $     839 $     869 
Current Portion of Debt $     400 $     400 
Other Current Liabilities F  $  9,625 $  7,625 

Total Current Liabilities G  $12,083 $  9,990 

Long-Term Liabilities
Notes Payable, Less Current Portion H $     800  $     400 
Other Long-Term Liabilities H  $  1,000  $         0 

Total Long-Term Liabilities  $  1,800 $     400 

Total Liabilities  $13,883  $10,390 
Stockholders’ Equity
   Capital Stock—800,000 Authorized, 550,000 
Outstanding

$  3,000 $  3,000 

Retained Earnings $ (6,854) $ (5,650)
Total Owners’ Equity $ (3,854) $ (2,650)

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $10,029 $  7,740 

Income Statement

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Sales Revenue, Net A $31,977 $27,840
Costs of Goods Sold $16,966 $14,396
Gross Profit B $15,011 $  3,444 
Gross Margin B   46.94%     48.29%
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses C $12,300 $11,900
Depreciation and Amortization Expense H $     250 $     300 
Operating Earnings $  2,461 $  1,244 
Other Expenses (Income) D $         0 $         0 
Interest Expense $     110 $       40 
Net Income (Loss) before Income Taxes $  2,351 $  1,204 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) E $         0 $         0 
Net Income (Loss) E $  2,351 $  1,204 

Shares Outstanding        550        550 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share E $    4.27 $    2.19 

Statement of Cash Flows

for the Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

Net Income (Loss) $  2,351 $  1,204 
Operating Activities, Cash Provided or Used:

Depreciation and Amortization $     250 $     300 
Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable F $ (3,925) $    (550)
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory D,G $ (1,311) $     135 
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current Assets $      (25) $       25 
Increase (Decrease) in Trade Payables $     536 $    (123)
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities C $     392 $       55 
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities F $  5,607 $ (2,025)
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities F $  3,875 $    (979)

Investing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Capital Expenditures $    (250) $    (250)
Investments in Other Assets E $         0 $       25 
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities $    (250) $    (225)

Financing Activities, Cash Provided or Used:
Dividends or Distributions Paid $ (1,500) $         0 
Sale (Repurchase) of Equity $         0 $         0 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt $         0 $         0 
Repayments of Long-Term Debt H $ (1,400) $ (1,400)
Other Financing Activities $         0 $         0 
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities $ (2,900) $ (1,400)

Other Cash Flow Adjustments D $         0 $         0 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents H $     725 $ (2,604)
Beginning Cash and Equivalents Balance $     534 $  1,259 
Ending Cash and Equivalents Balance H $  1,259 $ (1,345)

EXHIBIT 24.2—SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, TWO YEARS

Dollar Amounts in Thousands
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G. TTI’s balance sheet compresses slightly, which would be 
expected given the reduction in sales revenue and expense. 
Net working capital levels basically remain the same at a 
negative $2,779,000 as of 12/31/12 compared to a nega-
tive $2,900,000 at 12/31/13. The company’s current ratio 
decreased during the year from .77 at 12/31/12 to .70 at 
12/31/13 (indicating further strain on its liquidity). 

H. The pressure on TTI’s cash and liquidity is squarely based 
on two areas. First and as summarized in bullet point F, 
the change in customer payment terms and habits has 
consumed added cash during the year (to support higher 
account receivable balances and lower unearned revenue 
balances). Second, TTI has a regular annual principal 
payment due on the loan it secured in 2010 of $400,000. 
Further and as described in Chapter 13, TTI is required 
to repay $1,000,000 of a bridge loan (secured in 2011) if 
certain operating goals are achieved (which in this case was 
based on TTI earning at least $1,000,000 of net income in 
2013), which it did. 

So with all of this activity accounted for, TTI’s total net cash 
flow for the year was a negative $2,604,000 comprised primar-
ily of negative operating cash flow of $979,000, cash required 
for financing activities of $1,400,000, and a small amount of cash 
consumed from investing activities (of $225,000). With available 
cash of only $1,259,000 to start the year, TTI will exhaust all cash, 
which per our case study, produces a negative cash balance at the 
end of the year of $1,345,000. This is hypothetical as companies 
and their banks aren’t going to run negative cash balances of this 
size but the point that needs to be driven home is this. For TTI 
to maintain even a small cash balance to operate with in 2013, 
the company would have to approach its lenders and ask for the 
loans to be restructured (with the principal payments deferred for 

D. TTI has no write-offs to account for as other expenses 
as all software development is expensed as incurred and 
allowances were made to account for obsolete inventory 
over the years. So no surprises, which is always a big plus.

E. So even in a down year during a severe recession, TTI has 
been able to generate $1,204,000 of net income resulting in 
a positive basic EPS of $2.19. Further, you note that TTI 
had no income tax during the year as it was able to utilize 
net operating loss carry-forwards from 2010 through 2012 
to offset any income tax obligation. 

So with all of this good news, where’s the bad news and fatal error. 
Now we turn to the balance sheet and statement of cash flows to 
see what transpired during the year and where TTI stumbled:

F. TTI’s accounts receivable balances increased as customers 
begin to request and receive a change in payment terms 
and license purchase agreements during the second half 
of the year. Customers were no longer willing to pay 100 
percent of their annual license in advance at the begin-
ning of the year but requested monthly and quarterly 
installments. This had the impact of slowing cash receipts 
from sales revenue and increasing the company’s DSO in 
accounts receivable (from 67 days to 84 days). The impact 
on this can be seen in the statement of cash flows as nor-
mally we would expect a decrease in accounts receivable 
balance between the years but instead, an increase of 
$550,000 was realized. Combining this with lower bal-
ances in unearned revenue, TTI’s net cash flow from 
operating activities was a negative $979,000 for the year. 
This event would have probably been manageable if not 
for the company’s debt service requirements discussed in 
bullet point H. 
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at least 12 to 24 months). Possible, yes. Desirable, no (but TTI 
may have no other options). Expensive? Absolutely, as lenders will 
be difficult to work with and incorporate all types of additional 
fees, terms, and conditions to restructure debt during a severe 
economic downturn. 

In summary, TTI is the tail of two different companies. On 
the operating and accounting front, its strategic investments in 
new technology and conservative accounting policies provided 

the ground floor for a strong operating performance year while 
most other competitors, including HSI, were suffering. But the 
end result (hypothetical as a negative cash balance is not feasible) 
is that unfortunately, TTI ran out of cash and liquidity during 
the year as evidenced by the negative cash position of $1,345,000. 
And with capital markets frozen and creditors unwilling to budge 
on terms, the company’s poor foresight with its balance sheet and 
access to cash has left it in a difficult and unenviable position. 
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The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly

Now for the moral of our story, which unfortunately does not have 
a happy ending similar to Rudolph leading Santa’s sleigh to ensure 
that Christmas is saved. Rather, in today’s fiercely competitive 
business world, even some of the best run businesses can be 
subjected to unforeseen events that can render a solid business plan 
worthless in a matter of months. As summarized in our evaluation 
of the good, the bad, and the ugly for HSI and TTI, and to quote 
my favorite piece of advice that the senior author on this book and 
my father gave me over the years, “Who ever said life was fair?”

 ◆ The good: HSI’s planning and foresight on the financial front 
positioned the company well by selling additional equity when 
capital markets were receptive, allowing it to build cash and 
liquidity levels (to support multiple operating scenarios). TTI’s 
more conservative accounting strategy and focus on continued 
investment in technology provided a leg-up on the competi-
tion in 2013 as its results were much stronger than HSI’s. 

 ◆ The bad: Poor planning on the financial front by TTI has left it 
illiquid and out of cash by the end of 2013 and at the mercy of its 
lenders and creditors. HSI’s aggressive accounting strategies and 
slow response to changing customer demands and needs has left it 
vulnerable in 2013 as sales have decreased significantly, products 
launches were delayed, and shareholders are rumbling to man-
agement and the board of directors about the quality of financial 
information being received and the direction of the company. 

 ◆ The ugly: TTI, the tortoise in our case study, eventually loses 
its battle with the lenders to restructure the loans who force 
TTI to look to a stronger competitor to survive. Or in other 
words, TTI has to offer itself for sale at the worst possible time, 
when it’s the weakest, has limited negotiating power, and its 
valuation has been hammered. HSI, the hare in our case study, 
scoops in for the kill. Taking advantage of its stronger financial 
position to buy TTI for below market value, thus saving face 
with its shareholders for pulling off a great coup and leapfrog-
ging to the front of the pack on the technology front. 

Is this fair? Again, we let you be the judge, but let’s face it, the 
business world is brutally competitive, a dog-eat-dog world that 
provides no margin for error. Or maybe to put it in perspective, 
this quote offers a great assessment of what a capitalist system 
really represents. We can’t take credit for this quote and can’t 
seem to identify the appropriate party to give credit to, but it goes 
something like this:

A capitalist system is based on the accumulation of wealth by one party 
at the expense or misfortune of another.

As we conclude this case study, one final concept needs to be 
emphasized with managing a business’s interests and risks as it 
relates to the current economic environment. The combination 
of more volatile and violent economic corrections and expansions 
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Apple, Inc. may be a little extreme, but drives home this key 
concept on how important it is to have a strong balance sheet with 
ample liquidity. But who better to reference when it comes to 
understanding the concept of a strong balance sheet and liquidity 
other than Mr. Warren Buffett as follows:

Only when the tide goes out do you discover who’s been swimming 
naked.

during the past decade, very fickle and conservative capital mar-
kets (debt and equity), and the dynamics of the global marketplace 
(e.g., foreign exchange rate fluctuations), have resulted in the 
need for companies to retain more cash and ensure that higher 
levels of liquidity are maintained (to manage through these peaks 
and valleys). Is it any wonder why Apple, Inc. sits on close to $150 
billion of cash, equivalents, short-term securities, and long-term 
securities as of 6/30/13?
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Chapter Preamble

The accounting methods used to record the activities of a busi-
ness and to prepare its financial statements should conform to 
authoritative financial accounting standards. These standards are 
always in a state of flux to one degree or another.The accoun-
tant should keep abreast of the latest changes in the standards. 
The shareowners and creditors who read the financial reports of a 
business are entitled to assume that its financial statements com-
ply with accounting standards in effect at the time of preparing 
the financial statements, and that there are no serious violations 
of these standards.

The primary purpose of an audit of a financial report by an 
independent certified public accountant (CPA) is to ensure that 
proper accounting methods are used by the business and that it 
follows proper disclosure in its financial report. Chapter 26 dis-
cusses audits of financial reports by independent CPAs.

As you may have gathered from the chapter’s title, the numbers 
reported in its financial statements depend on which accounting
methods the business uses and whether the numbers have been 
massaged, or manipulated by the business. For that matter, the 
financial statements could be fraudulent and provide bogus num-
bers for sales revenue and expenses. Or a business may discover 
later that financial statements it has issued had serious errors. In 
this situation, the business issues a restatement of its original finan-
cial statements to set the record straight.

Financial statements have the appearance of accuracy and final-
ity, don’t they? In financial statements you see a lot of numbers 
that seem to be well organized and lined up in neat columns. But 
never lose sight of the fact that the numbers you see in financial 
statements depend on the accounting methods used to prepare 
the financial statements. And don’t forget that if the recordkeep-
ing process and accounting procedures of a business have errors 
(unintentional or deliberate), then its financial statements have 
errors—maybe very serious errors.

In this chapter we encourage you to develop a healthy skepti-
cism when reading financial statements. First, you should under-
stand that the profit performance of the business and the values 
of its assets and liabilities depend on which particular accounting 

Critical Terminology Alert

It is important to understand the difference between commonly 
referenced accounting terms as it relates to mistakes in the 
financial statements—errors and irregularities. Errors in the financial 
statements are generally viewed as the result of making honest or 
unintentional mistakes. Irregularities are more serious in nature and 
indicate intentional or willful effort by the company’s management 
to deceive and alter financial statements. 
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methods are chosen by the business. Second, you should under-
stand that a company’s managers may take actions to affect the 
amounts of expenses and sales revenue for the year, in order to 
make profit come out closer to the number they want. Third, 
there’s always a chance that the financial statements are fraudu-
lent and seriously misleading. We don’t want you to throw out the 
baby with the bathwater. But you should understand that some 
babies are given a bath in dirty water.

 Let us make one thing clear: We believe that the large majority 
of businesses have reliable recordkeeping systems and use honest, 

good faith accounting methods. At the same time, the evidence 
is indisputable that many businesses do not exercise good faith 
in applying accounting methods and they deliberately prepare 
heavily biased or outright fraudulent financial statements. John’s 
late father-in-law was a shrewd businessman who used to say, 
“There’s a little bit of larceny in everyone’s heart.” We might say 
that there’s a lot of larceny in the hearts of those businesses that 
put out misleading financial statements.
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Choosing Accounting Methods

business to select which kind of scale to use—one that weighs 
light or one that weighs heavy.

This is not a textbook on accounting methods. All we can do 
here is give you a general idea of some areas in which a business 
can, quite legitimately, choose between alternative accounting 
methods. Here’s a partial list of accounting methods which a busi-
ness may have to choose between:

 ◆ The exact timing for recording sales as complete and final, par-
ticularly when customers can return products, when there are 
significant postsale expenses, and when sales prices are subject 
to later negotiation.

 ◆ When to record the expense of uncollectible accounts receiv-
able from credit sales, and how to estimate the amount of these 
bad debts before they are actually written off at a future time.

 ◆ Whether to use first-in, first-out (FIFO), last-in, first-out 
(LIFO), or some other method for recording cost of goods sold 
expense and the cost value of inventory.

 ◆ Whether investments in intangible assets or unproven devel-
opments should capitalized or expensed as incurred. 

 ◆ Whether to use an accelerated (front-end loaded) depreciation 
method or the straight-line method, and whether to use short 
or longer (more realistic) useful life estimates.

In choosing its accounting methods, a business should stay within 
the boundaries of authoritative accounting standards that apply 
to it. Don’t think that the established standards put a business in a 
straitjacket regarding its accounting methods. Having accounting 
and reporting standards narrows down the range of choices but 
does not pin down a business to only one particular accounting 
method. In fact, for recording sales and many expenses a busi-
ness can choose between alternative methods that are equally 
acceptable.

A business can adopt conservative accounting methods that 
delay the recording of profit, record lower values of certain assets, 
and record higher values of certain liabilities. Refer to our case 
study for Tortuga, Inc. as an example of a company utilizing more 
conservative accounting methods.

Alternatively, a business can adopt liberal or aggressive account-
ing methods that have the reverse effects. Refer to our case study 
for HareSquared, Inc. as an example of a company utilizing more 
aggressive accounting methods. 

Making decisions between liberal and conservative account-
ing methods is not a matter of choosing between good and bad 
accounting. Both conservative and liberal accounting methods 
are considered good accounting. Whether you vote Republican 
or Democratic doesn’t mean you’re a good or bad citizen.

Financial accounting would seem to be like measuring a per-
son’s weight on a scale that gives correct readings, wouldn’t it? 
But, as a matter of fact, financial accounting standards permit a 
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 ◆ Whether to anticipate the likely loss in value of intangible 
assets or wait for clear evidence of the diminishment in value 
of intangible assets before recording the expense.

 ◆ Whether to immediately recognize future warranty and guar-
antee costs for products sold or wait until the work is done in 
later periods.

 ◆ Whether to use low-end or high-end estimates for key variables 
that determine the cost of an employee-defined benefit retire-
ment plan and a postretirement health/medical benefit plan.

This list is just a sampling of the decisions a business has to 
make for recording sales revenue and expenses. The net income 
for the period depends on the accounting methods selected by the 
business. In summary, a business has many accounting choices. 
According to financial reporting standards it must disclose its sig-
nificant accounting methods in the footnotes to its financial state-
ments. (Chapter 21 discusses footnotes.)

Most business managers probably welcome having a choice of 
accounting methods. In fact, they might prefer to have a broader 
range of choices for their accounting methods and for their finan-
cial report disclosures. The evolution of accounting standards 
over the years has been in the direction of narrowing the range of 

approved accounting methods and expanding financial reporting 
disclosure requirements.

Note: A business does not have to disclose the difference it 
would have made in its net income and in its asset and liability 
values if it had used alternative accounting methods. A business 
doesn’t have to go to the trouble of recomputing its sales rev-
enue and all its expenses as if alternative accounting methods had 
been used instead of the accounting methods it actually uses. For 
example, a business does not say anything such as the following in 
its financial report:

In the footnotes to the financial statements we explain that we use con-
servative accounting methods. If, instead, we had used liberal account-
ing methods, net income for the year just ended would have been $50 
million higher, and assets and liabilities would have been significantly 
different than the amounts reported in the year-end balance sheet.

Finally, keep in mind that the choice of accounting methods does 
not affect cash flows during the year. The statement of cash flows 
(see Chapters 17 and 18) is the same regardless of which account-
ing methods are used. The statement of cash flows reports actual 
cash flows that occurred during the period. (However, a business 
may use a questionable technique called window dressing to improve 
its ending cash balance, which we discuss later in the chapter.)
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Massaging the Numbers

the numbers refers to situations in which a business has recorded 
legitimate sales revenue and expenses, but managers take action 
to nudge the numbers up or down for the year. The best descrip-
tion of massaging the numbers we’ve heard was from John’s late 
father-in-law, a successful business owner/manager in his day. 
He said it was like “fluffing the pillows.” We’ve always liked that 
characterization.

One can argue that massaging the numbers is not any worse 
than telling white lies, or embellishing the truth for the sake of a 
good story. Some say that massaging the numbers is like putting 
cosmetics on the financial face of the business (like putting lip-
stick on a pig in some cases, we would say).

Most accountants are uncomfortable with it, but they under-
stand that massaging the numbers is tolerated in the worlds of 
business and finance. (A Catholic might look on massaging the 
numbers as a venial sin, but cooking the books would be a mortal 
sin.) Accountants would prefer that business managers not do it, 
but they go along with massaging the accounting numbers. You 
hardly ever hear of an accountant that blew the whistle on a busi-
ness for massaging its numbers. You could argue that the reason 
for this silence is that the company’s accountant is a member of 
its management team. CPA auditors also tolerate some degree of 
massaging the numbers. (More on this in Chapter 26.)

One reason that managers massage their accounting numbers 
is to smooth reported profit year to year. Managers think that left on 
its own the accounting system generates net income numbers that 

During the year, business managers get regular profit reports from 
their accounting department. Toward the end of the year, and per-
haps sooner, they should have a pretty good idea of the profit 
number that will be reported in the company’s annual income 
statement. The projected profit may be significantly lower than 
they had forecast for the year (or much higher, for that matter). 
Broadly speaking, business managers have two courses of action 
in such a situation.

The managers could conduct business as usual. This means 
that they don’t do anything special to deliberately affect the num-
bers that will be recorded for sales revenue and expenses in the 
year. (This does not preclude reducing costs where they can.) Or 
the managers could take action to cause net income for the year 
to come closer to what they want it to be. There are various steps 
managers can take to make net income “behave,” as it were.

In short, managers can do certain things for the main purpose 
of reducing or increasing expenses for the year (and sales revenue 
also). These management actions are generally called massaging 
the numbers. Managers put their thumbs on the scale, as it were, 
which has the effect of boosting or dampening the recorded profit 
for the year. Massaging the numbers raises ethical and moral ques-
tions that, unfortunately, do not have easy and clear-cut answers.

Let us make clear the distinction between massaging the 
numbers and cooking the books. The latter term refers to account-
ing fraud. Fraud goes way beyond massaging the numbers. Fraud 
involves falsifying sales revenue and expense amounts. Massaging 
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to bring certain expenses up to their full and complete balances 
for the year. Many of these year-end adjusting entries require esti-
mates: the amount of accounts receivable that may not be col-
lected in the future, the costs of future warranty work on products 
sold to customers, the rate of return that will be earned on the 
funds in the defined benefit employee retirement plan sponsored 
by the business, the decline in value of its intangible assets, and 
so on. Managers can lay a heavy hand on these estimates, thereby 
controlling the amount of expenses recorded in the year.

Managers can take certain actions to boost the amount of sales 
revenue recorded in the year. Sales can be accelerated, for example, 
by shipping more products to the company’s captive dealers, even 
though they didn’t order the products. This is called stuffing the 
channels of distribution. The business is taking away sales from next 
year to put the sales on the books this year. There are many other 
ways a business can give its sales for the year an artificial boost.

So far we have discussed massaging the numbers from the point 
of view of manipulating the amount of profit (net income) reported 
for the year. There is also a type of massaging the numbers that 
does not affect profit. Instead, the purpose is to make the short-
term solvency and liquidity of the business look better than it really 
was at the end of the year. One practice is called window dressing.

Here’s a common example of window dressing. A business 
holds open its books (its accounting records) for a few days after 
the end of its accounting year. The purpose is to record additional 
cash collections of accounts receivable. The cash collections are 
not actually received and in the hands of the company until the 
first few days in January 2014, for example, but the cash inflows 
are recorded as if they were collected December 31, 2013. The 
result is that its cash balance is higher and its accounts receivable 
is lower, which makes the company look more liquid (a larger cash 
balance). When we were in public accounting, we had clients who 
did this regularly. We suspect the same is true today.

behave too erratically, and that are too jerky year to year. They 
justify massaging the numbers on the grounds that they should 
“sand off the rough edges” of profit year to year. They argue that 
investors are better off because they don’t overreact to year-to-
year perturbations in reported net income because the business-
reports a flatter trend line of earnings.

Well, such reasoning for massaging the numbers is difficult 
to judge. When a business has manipulated its accounting num-
bers for the year, it does not disclose what net income would have 
been without intervention by management. In any case, investors 
and creditors should realize that there’s a good chance that the 
accounting numbers in the financial statements they are reading 
have been manipulated (massaged) to one degree or another.

Managers can massage the numbers in a variety of ways. For 
example, most businesses have discretionary expenses, which are 
those that depend heavily on the judgment of managers regarding 
how much to spend and when to make the expenditures. Consider 
repair and maintenance costs, for instance. Until the work is actu-
ally done, no expense is recorded. A manager can simply move 
back (or move up) the work orders for these expenditures. The 
building isn’t painted this year, though it was scheduled to be. Or 
tires on delivery trucks are not replaced until next year. Using 
such tactics, a manager controls the amounts of some expenses 
that are recorded in the year.

Most businesses have many discretionary expenses. Two other 
discretionary expenses come to mind—employee training and 
development costs, and advertising expenditures. The manager in 
charge can delay sending employees on their normal schedule of 
training courses. An advertising campaign could be delayed until 
next year. The subsequent impacts of these actions on employee 
productivity and sales are difficult to assess.

Another way in which managers can massage the accounting 
numbers involves the end-of-year adjusting entries that are recorded 
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Real World Stories

A perfect example of how a company can window dress its year-end 
financial statements was provided in the previous paragraph. This 
example focused on accelerating cash receipts to lower accounts 
receivable (a common practice indeed). While helpful for publicly traded 
companies, the exact opposite happens in the real world with smaller 
companies that report taxable income using the “cash basis” method. 
This method reports sales only when cash is received and expenses 
only when cash is paid. So for businesses that are looking to defer or 
push out taxable income into the next year (to lower the current year 
taxable income figure), somehow and mysteriously (sarcasm intended), 
cash receipts slow to a crawl at the end of the year and then explode 
higher in January of the following year. Excuses range from the mail 
was slow, our staff was out on vacation and didn’t process payments, 
our customer doesn’t process payments during the last two weeks of 
the year, to offering just about every reason you can think of. Whatever 

the reason, sales get pushed out into the next year when used to calculate 
taxable income and thus taxable income drops (lowering tax payment 
requirements). You would be amazed at how creative companies are and 
how often this strategy is used by small businesses so be aware that 
window dressing is utilized by both large, publicly traded companies and 
smaller, closely held businesses. 

Again,we should make clear that cooking the books goes beyond 
massaging the numbers. Cooking the books refers to recording 
sales revenue when in fact no sales were made, and not record-
ing actual expenses or losses during the period. In short, cook-
ing the books involves falsification of the accounting records. 
If massaging the numbers is carried too far, it can end up being 
equivalent to cooking the books (i.e., accounting fraud). In other 
words, massaging the numbers is a slippery slope that can lead to 
accounting fraud.
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Business Managers and Their Accounting Methods

earlier profit is reported; and the later expenses are recorded, 
the earlier profit is reported.

If a business wants to report profit as soon as possible, the CEO 
should instruct the accountants to choose those accounting meth-
ods that accelerate sales revenue and delay expenses. In contrast, if 
the business wants to be conservative, it should order its accoun-
tants to use those accounting methods that delay the recording 
of sales revenue and accelerate the recording of expenses, so that 
profit is reported as late as possible. The accounting methods 
selected for cost of goods sold expense and depreciation expense 
are two key choices for businesses that sell products and invest 
heavily in long-term operating (fixed) assets.

Business managers may prefer to avoid getting involved 
in choosing accounting methods. We think this is a mistake. 
Somebody has to choose the accounting methods—if not its 
managers, then by default probably the company’s controller. The 
controller, being the chief accounting officer of the company, 
should work hand in glove with the CEO and the other top-level 
managers to make sure that the accounting methods used by the 
business are not working at cross-purposes with the goals, objec-
tives, strategies, and plans of the organization.

The chief executive officer (CEO), and to a lesser extent, the board 
of directors, of a business have the responsibility that the compa-
ny’s financial statements are fairly presented.This means that the 
accounting methods used to measure the company’s profit comply 
with the established accounting standards that apply to the busi-
ness. If its accounting methods are outside these limits, the com-
pany could stand accused of issuing false and misleading financial 
statements. The CEO and potentially board of directors would be 
liable for damages suffered by the company’s creditors and stock-
holders who relied on its misleading financial statements. If for 
no other reason than this, the CEO and board of directors should 
pay close attention to the choices of accounting methods used to 
prepare the company’s financial statements.

Ideally, the chief executive of the business and its other top-
level managers should decide which accounting methods and 
policies are best for the company. The top-level managers should 
seek the advice of the company’s chief financial officer and con-
troller (chief accountant). They have to decide between conser-
vative (cautious) versus liberal (aggressive) profit-accounting 
methods, which means whether to record profit later (cautious) 
or sooner (aggressive). The sooner sales revenue is recorded, the 
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Consistency of Accounting Methods

Once a business chooses which accounting methods to use, the busi-
ness sticks with these methods. A company does not flip-flop bet-
ween accounting methods year to year. For one thing the Internal 
Revenue Service takes a dim view of switching accounting methods 
one year to the next. Furthermore, changing accounting methods 
causes a lot of disclosure problems in a business’s financial statements 
and footnotes. Changes in accounting methods may be needed in 
unusual circumstances, but the large majority of businesses don’t 
switch their accounting methods except on rare occasions.

In short, consistency of accounting methods is the norm. 
Investors and lenders demand consistency of accounting methods 
year to year. Inconsistency would cause all sorts of problems in 
their year-to-year comparative analysis of a company’s financial 
statements. It’s tough enough as it is to analyze financial state-
ments. Inconsistency of accounting methods would add another 
layer of difficulty. Financial accounting standards do not pro-
hibit changing accounting methods. However, a business should 
change methods only if there is sufficient reason to do so.
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Quality of Earnings

You see the phrase quality of earnings in the business and financial 
press. Reported net income is put to a quality test, or litmus test 
as it were. The term does not have a uniform definition, but most 
persons who use this term refer to the integrity and trustworthi-
ness of the accounting methods used by a business.

Conservative accounting methods are generally viewed as high 
quality. Stock analysts and professional investment managers view 
aggressive accounting methods with more caution. They like to 
see some margin for safety or some cushion for a rainy day in a 
company’s accounting numbers. They know that many estimates 
and choices have to be made in financial accounting, and they 
would just as soon a business err on the low side in reporting 
profit rather than the high side.

Professional investors and investment managers are especially 
alert for accounting methods that appear to record revenue (or 

other sources of income) too early, or that fail to record losses or 
expenses that should be recognized. Even though the financial 
statements are audited, investment professionals go over them 
with a fine-tooth comb to get a better feel for how trustworthy 
are the reported earnings of a business.

A basic principle of investing in stocks is to diversify your port-
folio, so that investment risks are not too concentrated in just one 
stock or only a few stock holdings. One risk is that a company’s 
financial report may be misleading, based on suspect account-
ing methods, or even be fraudulent. Therefore, diversifying your 
stock holdings offers some protection against the risk of mislead-
ing and fraudulent financial reports.
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External Examinations of Financial Statements—What Types and Why

Businesses of all shapes, sizes, and forms are often required to pro-
duce financial statements that have been examined in one form or 
another by an outside party. The most commonly utilized outside 
party is a CPA, or the dreaded Certified Public Accountant, but you 
should also be aware that other parties are sometimes used to exam-
ine financial statements and present a report or findings (e.g., an 
insurance company preparing an actuarial analysis on a business to 
estimate future potential losses). Further, it is important to under-
stand that there are different types of examinations completed by 
CPA firms that generally fall into three primary types of reports:

1. Compilations: A compilation is basically nothing more than 
a CPA firm taking the financial statements produced by a 
company, reformatting them to a more accounting friendly 
appearance (along with placing the financial statements on 
the CPA’s letterhead), and then offering a worthless disclo-
sure that basically states, “Here’s the financial statements for 
XYZ, Inc., read them at your own risk as we can’t provide any 
assurance that they comply with GAAP.” Generally speaking, 
“compiled” financial statements are only used by very small 
businesses with a limited need to disclose financial results to 
external parties. Further, compiled financial statements almost 
never include financial statement footnotes (Chapter 21).

If you can’t tell from our language, we don’t really believe 
that compiled financial statements offer much value and 

they certainly shouldn’t be relied on solely to make signifi-
cant financial decisions. Rather, compiled financial state-
ments are only be one source of information that should be 
analyzed when evaluating or completing “due diligence” on 
the entire financial results and operations of a business. 

Critical Terminology Alert

The term due diligence refers to the process of thoroughly and 
completely evaluating a business’s operations to determine whether 
a proposed deal should be completed. A perfect example of this is 
when an external financing source such as a venture capitalist (VC) or 
private equity group (PE) is evaluating a business to determine if an 
investment should be made to support future growth. These types of 
external parties will undertake a significant amount of due diligence 
to support making a decision on whether an investment should be 
made. But never assume due diligence is based solely on evaluating 
the financial results of a company. Due diligence covers the entire 
spectrum of a company’s operations including legal, technology, 
marketing, operations, management, and other critical areas. So 
if you think having a CPA firm complete an audit is bad, just wait 
until you deal with full-blown due diligence (basically the difference 
between turning your head and coughing for the doctor and having 
both a bottom-up and top-down colonoscopy completed). 
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2. Reviews: Next up in the food chain for externally exam-
ined and prepared financial statements is what is commonly 
referred to as reviewed financial statements. Normally com-
pleted by a CPA firm, a review represents a more thorough and 
detailed examination of a company’s financial statements that 
applies extended analytical procedures to financial data. For 
example, a comparison of cost of goods sold gross margin lev-
els (Chapter 8) between two years may be applied on the data 
to investigate why one year’s gross margin is much higher than 
another. The idea is to take a macro-level look at the financial 
statements and identify potential accounting issues, problems, 
or errors that may conflict with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP; or basically, just don’t make sense). 

When reviewed financial statements are completed, the 
CPA firm does attach a report clearly stating that a review 
was completed and that it is not aware of any material 
GAAP differences but at the same time, no assurances are 
provided that the financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with GAAP. 

It should also be noted that reviewed financial state-
ments may or may not include financial statement footnotes 
(Chapter 21) and when they do, the footnotes are generally 
limited in scope and detail. 

Reviewed financial statements are generally used by 
small- to mid-size businesses that need to provide some 
additional level of confidence to external parties (e.g., a bank 
extending credit) and in a more efficient manner (simpler 
format that is often 75 percent to 80 percent cheaper than 
having an audit).

3. Audits: Finally, at the top of the food chain is the audit, which 
is the focal point of this chapter. An audit is a full-blown 
examination of a company’s financial statements and report 
to provide assurance to external parties that the financial 
information is being presented in accordance with GAAP. 
A business may hire an independent CPA to audit its finan-
cial report for a multitude of reasons. For instance, many 
people think an audit is done for the purpose of discovering 
wrongdoing or ferreting out dishonest and illegal behavior. 
A CPA is duty-bound to maintain a mental attitude of pro-
fessional skepticism in doing an audit. In carrying out audit 
procedures the CPA may discover embezzlement or theft 
by employees, or uncover accounting fraud orchestrated by 
high-level managers. These are by-products or side effects 
of an audit as its primary purpose is summarized in the fol-
lowing paragraph.

The main purpose of an audit by a CPA firm is to exam-
ine accounting records and gather other evidence in order 
to render an opinion on the financial report of the business.
Based on the audit the CPA attests, or “swears” to the fairness
of the financial statements and disclosures in the financial 
report of the business. Fairness means, primarily, that the 
company’s accounting methods and disclosures are in accor-
dance with established accounting and financial reporting 
standards that apply to the entity. In short, the CPA auditor 
states whether the business is playing fairly according to the 
rules in its financial report.
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Why Audits?

Suppose you have invested a fair amount of money in a privately 
owned business. You are not involved in managing the company; 
you’re an absentee owner—a passive investor. Being a stockholder, 
you receive the company’s financial reports. You read the financial 
statements and footnotes to keep informed about how the com-
pany is doing, and whether there might be any storm clouds on 
the horizon.

Let us ask you a question: How do you know whether the 
company’s financial statements provide adequate disclosure and 
whether the business uses proper accounting methods to measure 
its profit? Do you just presume this? Are you sure you can trust 
the company’s financial reports?

Or suppose you are a bank loan officer. A business includes its 
latest financial statements in its loan application package. Does 
the business use correct accounting methods to prepare its finan-
cial statements? Have the financial statements been tweaked for 
purposes of securing the loan, to make them look better than they 
really are? It’s not unheard of, you know. (See Chapter 25 on mas-
saging the numbers in financial statements.)

Or suppose you’re a mutual fund investment manager in 
charge of a large portfolio of stocks traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange and Nasdaq. Market values of stock shares depend on 
the net income and earnings per share amounts reported by com-
panies in their financial reports. How do you know that their 
profit numbers are reliable?

Financial statements can be seriously misleading for two basic 
reasons, one type being innocent in nature and the other type not 
so innocent:

1. Honest mistakes and incompetency: A company may not 
have adequate internal accounting controls. Accounting 
errors can become imbedded in its accounting records, and 
the business fails to detect and correct the errors. Or, its 
chief accountant may not understand current accounting 
and financial reporting requirements and standards.

2. Deliberate dishonesty: The top-level managers of a business 
may intentionally distort the company’s profit performance 
and financial statements, or withhold vital information that 
should be disclosed in the financial report. This is called 
financial reporting fraud or accounting fraud. More popularly, 
it’s called cooking the books.

One way to protect against the risks of errors and fraud is to 
conduct an audit of the accounting system of the business by an 
independent expert accountant, to ascertain whether its financial 
statements are free of errors and adhere to appropriate account-
ing and financial reporting standards. The audit provides reassur-
ance that the company’s financial report is reliable and follows the 
rules. Audits of financial reports are done by independent certified
public accountants, the profession we turn to next.



Audits of financial reports    289

Certified Public Accountant (CPA)

A person needs to do three things to become a certified public 
accountant (CPA). He or she must earn a college degree with a 
major in accounting with a fairly heavy load of accounting and 
auditing courses. The American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA) has encouraged all states to enact laws 
requiring five years of education. Most but not quite all states 
have passed such laws.

Second, a person must pass the national CPA exam, which is 
a rigorous exam testing knowledge in accounting, income tax, 
auditing, and business law. Third, a person must satisfy the expe-
rience requirement of the state in which he or she lives. State laws 
and regulations differ regarding the time and nature of public 
accounting experience that a person must have; one year is gener-
ally the minimum.

After the three requirements are completed—education, 
exam, and experience—the person receives a license by his or 
her state of residence to practice as a CPA. No one else may hold 
him- or herself out to the public as a CPA. Most states (perhaps 
all, but we haven’t checked this out) require 30 or 40 hours of 
continuing education each year to renew a person’s CPA license. 
Every state has a Board of Accountancy that regulates the prac-
tice of public accounting and has the power to revoke or suspend 
the licenses of individuals who violate the laws, regulations, and 
ethics governing CPAs.

CPAs do more than just audit financial reports. They offer 
an ever-widening range of services to the public—income tax 

compliance and planning, personal financial consulting, busi-
ness valuation, computer systems and information technology, 
production control and efficiency, forensic functions, and other 
fields of specialization. (Note: CPA firms that audit the financial 
reports of public companies are under tight restrictions regard-
ing which particular nonaudit services they can provide to their 
audit clients.)

The CPA license is widely recognized and highly respected as 
a professional credential. The professional status of CPAs rests 
on their expertise and experience, and their independence from 
their clients. The word certified in their title refers to their exper-
tise and experience. The term public refers to their independence. 
In doing audits of financial statements, the independence of the 
CPA is absolutely essential. To be independent, a CPA must be in 
public practice and not be an employee of any organization (other 
than the CPA firm itself).

Public accounting experience is a good stepping-stone to other 
career opportunities. Many persons start in public accounting and 
end up as the controller (chief accountant), financial vice presi-
dent, or chief financial officer (CFO) of an organization. Some 
CPAs become presidents and chief executive officers (CEOs) of 
business organizations. Some CPAs go into politics (a few have 
become state governors). Persons who have left public accounting 
are still referred to as CPAs even though they are not in public 
practice any longer. This is like a person with an MD degree who 
leaves the practice of medicine but is still called doctor.



290    Audits of financial reports

Are Audits Required?

Audited financial reports have a higher “believability index” than 
unaudited statements.

Audits by CPAs provide protection against misleading finan-
cial statements. CPA auditors are expert accounting detectives, 
and they thoroughly understand accounting and financial report-
ing standards. Being independent of a business, the CPA auditor 
should not tolerate a misleading financial report.

Audits don’t come cheap. CPAs are professionals who com-
mand high fees. A business cannot ask for a “once-over lightly” 
audit at a cut rate. An audit is an audit. CPA auditors of private 
businesses are bound by generally accepted auditing standards
(GAAS), and the auditors of public companies have to follow the 
regulations of the federal agency created by the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. Violations of auditing standards and regulations can 
result in lawsuits against the CPA, sanctions by the federal regula-
tory agency, and damage to the CPA’s professional reputation.

An audit takes a lot of time because the CPA has to examine 
a great deal of evidence and make many tests of the accounting 
records of the business before being able to express an opinion on 
the company’s financial statements. The time it takes to complete an 
audit causes the relatively high cost of the audit. A business, assum-
ing an audit is not legally required, has to ask whether the gain in 
credibility of its financial report is worth the cost of the audit.

A bank may insist on an audit as a condition of making a loan 
to a business. The outside (nonmanagement) stockholders of a 
business may insist on annual audits to protect their investments 

Corporations whose debt and stock securities are traded publicly 
are required by federal securities laws to have their annual finan-
cial reports audited by an independent CPA firm. According to 
a recent survey there are about 5,000 companies listed on major 
securities exchanges in the United States (which is down consid-
erably from just a few years ago). The number of private busi-
nesses, in the usual sense of the word business, is more difficult 
to pin down. In the United States there are more than 9 million 
for-profit business corporations, partnerships, and limited liability 
companies, as well as millions of sole proprietorships (one-owner 
business ventures). Private businesses are not covered by federal 
securities laws, but are subject to such state laws as apply to them. 
Although they are not legally required to have audits, many private 
business entities have their annual financial reports audited by a 
CPA firm.

Lawyers should be consulted regarding state corporation and 
securities laws; an audit may be required in certain situations. A 
private business may sign a contract or agree informally to have 
its annual financial reports audited by an independent CPA as a 
condition of borrowing money or when issuing capital stock to 
new investors in the business.

Public corporations have no choice; they are legally required 
to have audits of their annual financial reports by an independent 
CPA firm. But, if not required, should a business hire a CPA firm 
to audit its annual financial report? What’s the payoff? Basically, 
an audit adds credibility to the financial report of a business. 
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particular attention to the internal controls of the company that are 
designed to deter and detect errors and irregularities. CPA audi-
tors are required to carry out risk assessment procedures, to iden-
tify the likely areas of errors and irregularities and to concentrate 
their audit procedures in the high-risk areas.

CPA auditors are required to plan their audit procedures to 
search for possible accounting fraud and to identify weak inter-
nal controls that would allow such fraud to go undetected. 
Nevertheless, the main purpose of an audit is to express an opinion 
on the fairness of financial statements (including footnotes), and 
whether the financial statements adhere to appropriate account-
ing and financial reporting standards.

Fraud would undermine the integrity of the financial state-
ments so the CPA auditor has to be on the lookout for fraud of all 
types (as well as for accounting errors). But the CPA says nothing 
at all about fraud in the audit report. There is no statement such 
as “We looked for fraud but didn’t find any.” We discuss what the 
CPA auditor does say next.

in the business. In these situations, the audit fee can be viewed as a 
cost of using external capital. In many situations, however, outside 
investors and creditors do not insist on audits. Even so, a business 
may choose to have an audit as a checkup on its accounting sys-
tem. Or a business may decide it needs to have a forensic check—
an independent examination focusing on whether the business is 
vulnerable to fraud and embezzlement schemes.

An annual audit by a CPA is like an individual having a general 
physical exam once a year. The physician performs standard tests 
and evaluates your overall condition, and at the same time should 
be alert for any trouble signs out of the ordinary. Unless there is 
some reason to look for cancer or heart problems, the doctor does 
not do extensive examinations for these problems. For instance, 
the doctor doesn’t order an X-ray unless he or she suspects a 
problem that requires this additional procedure.

The auditor does not examine every transaction of a business 
during the year and does not examine every item making up the 
total balance of specific assets and liabilities. In a word, audi-
tors rely a great deal on sampling. CPA auditors, therefore, pay 
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Clean Audit Opinion

disagreements with the financial statements and disclosures of the 
company. Putting it differently, the CPA attests that the financial 
statements have been prepared according to appropriate account-
ing and financial reporting standards and that the footnotes plus 
other information in the financial report provide adequate disclo-
sure. (These standards leave management a range of choices of 
accounting methods, which we discuss in Chapter 25.)

The standard language for a clean, or unqualified, opinion for a 
business named the XYZ Company, Inc. that uses U.S. accounting 
standards goes like the following:

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of XYZ Company, 
Inc. as of December 31, 2014, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

This is called the opinion paragraph. The auditor’s report also con-
tains other parts, including an opening paragraph, a reminder 
about management’s responsibility for the financial statements, 
and a fairly lengthy discussion about the auditor’s responsibility 
(and limits of responsibility) in doing the audit. We spare you 
reading these other parts of the auditor’s report. The bottom 
line of an auditor’s report is the opinion paragraph. The most 
important words are present fairly. What exactly do these two 
words mean?

First of all, let’s be clear on one point. We are talking specifically 
about audits of business financial reports by a CPA. There are many 
other kinds of audits, such as an audit of your income tax return by 
the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), audits of federally supported 
programs by the Government Accountability Office (GAO), and 
audits by the internal auditors of an organization. The following 
discussion concerns audits by CPAs of financial reports prepared 
by businesses that are released to the outside world—primarily to 
their lenders, shareholders, and others who have a right to receive 
a copy of the financial report.

Financial report readers are not too concerned about how an 
audit is done, nor should they be. The bottom line to them is 
the opinion of the CPA auditor. They should read the opinion 
carefully, although there is evidence that most don’t or at best 
just give it a quick glance. Evidently many financial report readers 
simply assume that having the financial report audited is, by itself, 
an adequate safeguard. They assume that the CPA would not be 
associated with a financial report that is incorrect or misleading.

Many financial report readers seem to think that if the CPA 
firm gives an opinion and thereby is associated with a financial 
report, then the financial statements and footnotes must be okay 
and are not wrong in any significant respect. Doesn’t the CPA’s 
opinion constitute a stamp of approval? No, not necessarily!

The best audit opinion is termed an unqualified opinion, or 
more popularly is called a clean opinion. Basically, this unquali-
fied, or clean, opinion states that the CPA has no significant 
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disclosures do not in any material manner violate established 
accounting and financial reporting standards.

The standard version of the CPA auditor’s report runs more 
than 200 words of fairly technical jargon, and in our opinion 
demands a lot from the reader. Even if you’re in a hurry, or just 
don’t want to struggle though the whole auditor’s report be sure 
to read the auditor’s opinion.

In a clean opinion, the CPA auditor says, in effect, “We don’t 
disagree with the financial report.” The CPA, if he or she were 
the controller of the business, might have prepared the finan-
cial statements differently and might have written the footnotes 
differently. In fact, the CPA auditor might prefer that different 
accounting methods had been used. What the CPA expresses in 
a clean opinion is that the company’s financial statements and 
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whistle. But, having an audit by an independent CPA certainly 
increases the chances of uncovering accounting fraud, even 
though the audit does not guarantee that fraud will be uncovered 
in every instance.

Do Auditors Discover Accounting Fraud?

In Chapter 25 we distinguished between massaging the numbers
and accounting fraud. Massaging the numbers involves nudging 
accounting numbers one way or the other. Business managers 
take actions to control the amounts of sales revenue and expenses 
recorded in the period, in order to smooth profit year to year or to 
give profit a temporary boost up (or a push down). Such account-
ing tactics are in a gray area of accounting ethics. CPA auditors 
certainly don’t like to discover these management machinations 
regarding the accounting numbers. However, manipulating the 
accounting numbers is tolerated in the business world—as long as 
it doesn’t go too far so as to cause seriously misleading financial 
statements.

Massaging the numbers can be likened to a misdemeanor. In 
this vein, accounting fraud is a felony. Cooking the books goes 
way beyond nudging the numbers up or down a little. Accounting 
fraud involves falsification or fabrication of sales revenue and 
expenses, and reporting assets that don’t exist or not reporting 
liabilities that do exist. In short, accounting fraud creates financial 
statements that are deliberately misleading—and seriously so.

Do CPA auditors always discover accounting fraud? The short 
answer is: not necessarily. CPA auditors may discover accounting 
fraud. However, if the managers who commit fraud cleverly con-
ceal the fraud and if their schemes are well thought out, account-
ing fraud can go undiscovered for years. There are many examples 
of companies carrying on fraud for 5, 10, or more years. In many 
cases the fraud collapses of its own weight or someone blows the 

Critical Terminology Alert

One of the most common and unfortunately difficult forms of fraud 
to detect is based in one simple word, collusion—secret or illegal 
cooperation or conspiracy, in order to cheat or deceive others. 
Collusion can occur at many levels, both inside and outside of 
a business and is almost always based on attempting to realize 
financial or economic gain. The bottom line with collusion is that 
if it is occurring at the senior-most level of a business, it is almost 
impossible to detect.

What it comes down to, in our view, is that the cost of an audit 
has to be kept under control. The audit cost has to be reasonable 
relative to the benefits of the audit. Given the cost constraint on an 
audit, the CPA cannot search and test for every conceivable fraud 
that could be going on in the business. The CPA auditor should 
evaluate the controls established by the business to guard against 
financial reporting fraud. If the auditor discovers weaknesses in 
these controls, the auditor should investigate the vulnerable areas 
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and work closely with the company’s audit committee to remedy 
the weaknesses.

At the end of the day, there’s always some risk that the CPA audi-
tor may not discover accounting fraud—especially if the top-level 
managers of the business instigate and orchestrate the fraud.The 
cost of making all audits absolutely fail-safe would be prohibitive. 

In the grand scheme of things, a few audit failures are tolerated in 
order to keep the overall cost of audits within reason. In moments 
of deep cynicism, it has occurred to us that perhaps the real rea-
son for audits is to provide business lenders and investors someone 
else to sue when they suffer losses and there is evidence that the 
company’s financial report was seriously misleading or fraudulent.
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Reading an Auditor’s Report

the due dates for payment of its liabilities, or because of other 
large liabilities it is not able to pay.

Such additional information in the audit report does not con-
stitute a qualification on the company’s financial report; it just 
provides more information.

In contrast, the CPA auditor may take exception to an account-
ing method used by the company, or to the lack of disclosure for 
some item that the CPA thinks is necessary for adequate disclo-
sure. In this situation, the CPA renders a qualified opinion that 
includes the key words except for in the opinion paragraph. The 
grounds for the qualification (what the auditor takes exception to) 
are explained in the auditor’s report. To give a qualified opinion, 
the CPA auditor must be satisfied that, taken as a whole, the finan-
cial statements and footnotes are not misleading.

A qualified opinion may be due to a limitation on the scope of 
the CPA’s examination (collection of evidence). The CPA is not 
able to gather sufficient evidence for one or more accounts in the 
financial statements, and therefore has to qualify or restrict his or 
her opinion with regard to these items.

How serious a matter is a qualified opinion? The auditor points 
out a flaw in the company’s financial report, but not a fatal flaw. 
A qualified audit opinion is a yellow flag, not a red flag. Keep one 
thing in mind: The CPA auditor must judge that the overall fair-
ness of the financial report is satisfactory, even though there are 
one or more deviations from established accounting and disclosure 

The majority of financial report readers, in our opinion, simply 
want to know whether the CPA has any objection to the financial 
statements and footnotes prepared by management. They don’t 
care that much about the specific wording used in the CPA audi-
tor’s report. They want to know one main thing: Does the CPA 
auditor give his or her blessing to management’s financial report? 
If not, they want the CPA auditor to make clear his or her objec-
tions to the financial report.

Financial report users should read the CPA auditor’s report 
to see first, whether the auditor gives a clean opinion, and sec-
ond, whether the auditor provides any additional information 
that might constitute something less than a clean opinion. The 
standard audit report is expanded or modified in the following 
situations:

 ◆ The CPA auditor wants to emphasize one or more points, such 
as related-party transactions reported in the financial state-
ments, significant events during the year, or unusual uncertain-
ties facing the business.

 ◆ The company has changed its accounting methods between the 
most recent year and previous years, which causes inconsisten-
cies with the originally issued financial reports of the business.

 ◆ There is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, because of financial difficulties in meeting 
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standards. If the auditor is of the opinion that the deviations are 
so serious as to make the financial statements misleading, then the 
CPA must issue an adverse opinion. You hardly ever see an adverse 
opinion. No business wants to put out misleading financial state-
ments and have the CPA auditor say so for everyone to see!

A CPA auditor may have to disclaim an opinion due to limitations 
on the scope of the audit or due to very unusual uncertainties fac-
ing the business. In some situations a CPA may have very serious 
disagreements with the client that cannot be resolved to the audi-
tor’s satisfaction. The CPA may withdraw from the engagement 
(i.e., walk off the audit). This is not very common, but it happens 
every now and then. In these situations the CPA has to notify top 

management, the board of directors of the company, and its audit 
committee, and make clear the nature of the disagreements and 
why the CPA is withdrawing from the audit.

The CPA does not act as a whistle-blower beyond the inner 
confines of the company. For public companies, the CPA has to 
inform the SEC and its Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board that the firm has withdrawn from the audit engagement 
and whether there were any unresolved disagreements between 
the CPA and the company. Also, the CPA auditor should work 
closely with the audit committee of a public company, and is duty-
bound to communicate to the committee issues that come up in 
the course of the audit.
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Post-Sox

Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) in 
response to many well-publicized audit failures, culminating in 
the infamous Enron fiasco. This important piece of federal legis-
lation is designed to improve the quality of audits and the inde-
pendence of CPA auditors. Congress was upset with the fact that 
auditors failed to discover enormous accounting frauds that hap-
pened under their very noses. Congress was in no mood to hear 
any more excuses and promises from the auditing profession.

The act created a new federal agency called the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), which is a branch of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The PCAOB has 
enormous power over the CPA firms that audit public companies. 
It might have been better to call the board the “Public Company 
Auditing Oversight Board.” The PCAOB is given broad powers and 
has the dominant role in regulating the auditing of public companies.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also imposed financial reporting 
duties on corporate management. The CEO has to certify that 
his or her company’s financial report is presented fairly and is in 
full compliance with all relevant accounting and financial report-
ing standards. Also, management is required to state its opinion 
on the internal controls of the business in the annual financial 
reports.

The CPA auditing profession is presently split into two basic 
segments: audits of public companies and audits of private com-
panies. The Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA issues 
authoritative auditing pronouncements that govern audits of 
private companies. The PCAOB controls the rules for auditing 
public companies, although areas in which the agency has not 
taken action are still governed by the standards of the AICPA’s 
Auditing Standards Board.
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Identifying a Small Business

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

Companies need to prepare financial statements for both internal 
management needs and external reporting needs. The primary 
difference between these two types of financial statements is the 
level of detail provided. For internal financial statements, far more 
information, data, detail, and analyses are usually incorporated 
to assist management with understanding key operating trends, 
critical economic data points, and so on. When external financial 
statements are produced, the information is presented in a more 
summarized or compressed format for a number of reasons 
including (a) generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
compliance, (b) ease of review by outside parties, and (c) to avoid 
disclosing confidential business information. One tip every business 
owner, manager, or executive needs to remember is that internally 
prepared financial statements should not be distributed to external 
parties, unless a very specific need or situation arises (supporting 
this distribution). There’s just too much risk to the company if vital 
and confidential information leaks to the inappropriate external 
party.

(especially profit or loss, financial condition, and cash flows). 
Then there is the fourth function of accounting—preparing the 
external financial reports of the business to its lenders and outside 
investors who don’t participate in managing the business. 

In the United States today there are, quite literally, millions of 
small businesses. Although there is no clear definition of what 
actually constitutes a small business, the following definition gives 
you a better idea of what the term small business refers to:

 ◆ Annual sales revenues under $50 million (with an average of 
closer to $5 to $20 million).

 ◆ Under 500 employees.
 ◆ Private ownership (not publicly traded).
 ◆ Limited number of shareholders (often under 10).
 ◆ Primarily structured as an LLC, subchapter S corporation, 

partnership, or sole proprietorship (pass-through entities).
 ◆ Limited need for audited financial statements with most obtain-

ing reviewed financial statements or producing only internal 
financial statements. 

In comparison, there are about 5,000 public companies whose 
stocks are traded on U.S. securities markets. And there are thou-
sands of large private companies whose ownership shares are not 
traded in a public marketplace.

Regardless of size, all businesses need effective accounting sys-
tems for conducting operations, for complying with tax laws, and 
for providing essential financial information to their managers 
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The financial statements of a business depend on the com-
pleteness and accuracy of its accounting records and on the profit 
accounting methods the business uses. In Chapter 4 we explained 
the assets and liabilities used in recording revenue and expenses. 
Profit accounting drives a large portion of the assets and liabili-
ties reported in the balance sheet. Suppose a company’s profit 
accounting methods are wrong. Then the values reported by the 
company for some of its assets and liabilities would be inaccurate. 
Both its income statement and balance sheet would have errors.

Up to the time of revising this book all businesses, large and 
small, private and public, were subject to the same accounting 

and financial reporting standards. In actual practice, however, 
small businesses are cut a lot of slack although small busi-
nesses don’t see it this way. Rather, most small businesses don’t 
really think they’re cut slack but rather just do what’s necessary 
(right or wrong) to get by. No one really gets too excited if a 
small business deviates from the standards (well, within limits). 
Nevertheless, small businesses were supposed to follow the same 
rules. But this “one size fits all” approach is changing. Recently 
the accounting profession has taken steps to differentiate the 
standards for public and private businesses, and for small and 
large businesses.
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Different Standards for Different Businesses

Public companies in the United States are required to use GAAP 
(reference previous discussion). The codification of these stan-
dards runs more than 2,000 pages. Public companies are required 
to have annual audits of their financial reports by an independent 
CPA firm to test whether the business is complying with GAAP, or 
we should say American GAAP.  In the near future, international 
accounting standards probably will come into effect—although 
it’s difficult to predict when and to what extent the “internation-
alization” of accounting standards for public companies will take 
place. It’s still a work in progress at the time of revising this book. 
The Securities and Exchange Commission has not yet approved 
the adoption of international standards by U.S. companies.

Confused yet? Well, we’re just getting started with the differ-
ent versions of GAAP that can be applied. As far as we can tell, 
large private companies use GAAP and most have annual audits 
by independent CPAs. Having said this, we should quickly men-
tion that in 2013 the accounting profession established the Private 
Company Council (PCC), which provides a mechanism to allow 
exceptions and modifications to GAAP for private companies. 
Therefore, in the future there will be a private company version 
of GAAP. Okay, so let’s quickly summarize where we stand with 
the different versions of GAAP that a company may use:

 ◆ United States GAAP, Public Companies.
 ◆ United States GAAP with exceptions, Private Companies (PCC).

 ◆ International Accounting Standards, Global Businesses. 
 ◆ Small Business modified GAAP (in process). 

One impetus behind permitting different accounting standards 
for private companies is to relieve them of the burden of applying 
provisions in GAAP that have questionable informational value 
to the users of private company financial reports. The idea is to 
allow private companies to issue financial reports that are easier 
to read and to understand. Undoubtedly exceptions and modifi-
cations will be enacted. In fact, the PCC is off to a running start. 
We cannot hazard a guess regarding how different private com-
pany accounting standards will deviate from GAAP for public 
companies. 

Real World Story

Granting stock options to different parties is often used by small, 
start-up companies looking to retain high-quality staff but with limited 
budgets available. So to attract these employees, a “piece” of the 
action is offered in the form of granting the right to obtain a future equity 
interest in the company for a low initial price today. Accountants, in their 
infamous wisdom, decided that companies should account for stock 
option expense to properly record the estimated compensation these 
employees earn during a period where the value of the company’s stock 
is increasing. The accounting for stock option expense is dominated by 
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the Black-Shoals method, which fortunately for you, will not be discussed 
in detail here. However, a number of small companies that have issued 
stock options are required to calculate this expense and disclose it in the 
financial footnotes to the audited financial statements, no matter how 
small. One such start-up company had to record a $6,000 expense (that 
costs about as much to calculate as the expense), compared to a loss of 
more than $1,500,000—which you can see is completely meaningless in 
the grand scheme of things. The point is, when applying an accounting 
principle that has little or no value or impact on the company’s financial 
statements, there is really no point in requiring the company to apply the 
principle.

Small businesses, it is fair to say, never have been overly con-
cerned about sticking tightly to GAAP. For one thing many pro-
visions of GAAP do not apply to small businesses. Also, their 
accountants were too busy to take the time to keep up with the 
many changes in GAAP. Small business accounting procedures 
are guided more by expediency than by close adherence to good 
accounting theory. The result is that small businesses take a lot of 
accounting “shortcuts” (for lack of a better term). The goal isn’t to 
deceive but rather to utilize limited resources in the most efficient 
manner to produce reasonably reliable financial statements. 

Here’s a simple example of an expedient accounting shortcut. 
The amount of a prepaid expense should be allocated over the 
months benefited by the cost (e.g., prepaid insurance premiums). 
Instead, the small business may simply record the entire cost to 
expense when paid. You might refer to Chapter 4, which can be 
used as a checklist of profit accounting questions that small busi-
nesses must decide. Instead of the preferred accrual basis account-
ing methods we explain in Chapter 4, many small businesses use 
what might be best referred to as a hybrid system, which blends 
guidance from accrual, tax, and cash-based accounting systems 

into one single system to prepare financial statements (for both 
recording sales revenue and expenses). 

As a general rule the larger a small business, the better quali-
fied is their accounting personnel and the more often the business 
uses an outside CPA to advise them on accounting and financial 
reporting issues. A business with $50 million annual sales revenue 
is more likely to use better accounting methods and issue better 
financial reports than a small business with $5 million annual sales 
revenue. As you move down the scale to smaller businesses, our 
experience is that you find a bigger percent of “GAAP-challenged” 
financial reports.

In June 2013 the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA) issued a financial reporting framework for 
small- and medium-sized entities. Here’s the description of this new 
framework (taken from an online announcement of an AICPA 
webcast explaining the new framework):

The Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-Sized 
Entities (FRF for SMEs) is the tool to prepare streamlined, relevant 
financial statements for privately held small- and medium-sized enti-
ties that do not need GAAP-compliant reports. With this framework 
financial statements can be generated that clearly and concisely report 
what a business owns, what it owes and its cash flow. Lenders and oth-
ers can clearly and quickly understand key measures and whether a 
business is credit-worthy. The FRF for SMEs is the CPA profession’s 
answer to the financial reporting needs of small- and medium-sized 
companies.

The framework runs about 200 pages and is designed as 
guidance for the accountants of small- and medium-size busi-
nesses. You could call the new framework an easing away from 
the complex and technical GAAP standards. The new framework 
allows for deviations from GAAP. We suspect that one reason 
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for releasing the new framework was the substandard account-
ing and financial reporting practices of small- and medium-size 
businesses. But even with this effort to simplify accounting guide-
lines, compliance is still going to be a big problem. Most small 
businesses won’t even bother with these guidelines because 200 
pages is still 195 too many. As the old saying goes, “You can lead 
a horse to water, but can’t make it drink”—maybe the best way to 
summarize this effort.

Hopefully the new framework will improve the overall account-
ing and financial reporting of small- and medium-size businesses. 
However, we doubt that the new framework will have widespread 
effect. Only time will tell. The new framework should have its big-
gest impact on larger small businesses. The larger a business, the 
more likely it employs a staff of qualified accountants. And, the 
more likely its lenders and individual investors demand that the 
business toe the line in its profit accounting and financial reporting.



Small business financial reporting    305

The Challenges of Reading a Small Business Financial Report

In this section we identify problems you will likely encounter in 
reading the financial report of a small business. We take the point 
of view of the outside readers of the financial report, namely the 
company’s primary lender(s) and the individual investors in the 
business. The financial report does circulate beyond this narrow 
group of readers. It goes without saying that its managers should 
get the financial information they need to run their business. See 
our Small Business Financial Management Kit for Dummies (Tracy 
and Tracy, 2007, Wiley).

A small business that has only one owner/manager may not 
regularly prepare external financial reports—although its bank or 
other lenders may demand a financial report. In the following dis-
cussion we assume that the small business has prepared a financial 
report that summarizes the company’s financial activity and con-
dition for the most recent period. As we explain early in the book, 
these summaries consist of three core financial statements—the 
income statement, the balance sheet, and with some luck, the 
statement of cash flows. Why the reference to luck? Well it’s been 
our experience that the vast majority of smaller businesses (those 
with less than $5 million in annual revenue) rarely produce a state 
of cash flows and when they do, they have no idea what it means. 

We cannot list every possible problem you might encounter in 
reading a small business financial report. You will probably not 
bump into these problems, but you should be aware of the follow-
ing potential problems.

 ◆ Are you reading a financial report? The information you get 
from the small business may not actually be an external finan-
cial report. What you receive could be a copy of the financial 
schedules and summaries that the manager of the business uses. 
In other words, what you have in your hands may not be an 
external financial report as such. The manager may be sharing 
information with you that he or she uses, without preparing a 
separate financial report. Further, the format of the financial 
information tends to be a big problem for small businesses. 
That is, small businesses have a terrible habit of simply punch-
ing a report key from QuickBooks, spitting out the informa-
tion, and then sending it to the external party. Wrong, wrong, 
wrong as if the format is poor, the results won’t make sense, and 
the list of problems go on and on. 

 ◆ Are second-best accounting methods being used? The 
small business may use some accounting methods that are 
not entirely kosher and strictly according to the rulebook. 
Generally, these are accounting shortcuts and are not delib-
erate manipulations of profit and financial condition. On the 
other hand, the small business could be massaging the num-
bers. A small business might even cook its books and commit 
accounting fraud but not in the sense most public companies 
might commit fraud. Rather, the fraud is committed to deflate 
earnings and reduce taxable income (to lower tax liabilities). 
Worst yet, owners of small businesses may not even realize 
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that their books are cooked as how many times have we heard 
about the reliable bookkeeper of 20-plus years that has taken 
the company for tens of thousands of dollars. Remember, fraud 
comes in numerous forms. 

 ◆ Was an independent CPA involved in preparing the finan-
cial report? Very few small businesses have an annual audit or 
(even) reviewed financial statements by an independent CPA. 
The cost would be too high. On the other hand, a small busi-
ness might hire a CPA to review its accounting methods and 
financial report, or a CPA might have assisted in the compila-
tion of the financial report. The involvement of a CPA adds 
credibility to the financial report. 

 ◆ Which accounting and financial reporting standards are 
used? One advantage of an audit by an independent CPA is 
that the auditor states clearly which accounting and reporting 
standards are used by the business. It would be helpful if the 
small business would identify the accounting and reporting 
standards used to prepare the financial report. But, don’t expect 
to see this in a small business financial report.

 ◆ Is there adequate disclosure? Most small businesses put a 
high premium on confidentiality and privacy—so, they are 
reluctant to disclose information beyond what is absolutely 
essential in their financial statements. For that matter big busi-
nesses are also reluctant to divulge more financial information 
than they have to. The bottom line is that small businesses 
rarely provide disclosures and when they do, the disclosures 
are incomplete or poorly structured. 

 ◆ Is the company’s accountant qualified? The small business 
may not employ a qualified accountant (not necessarily a CPA, 
but one that has sufficient education and experience). Accounting 
computer software can help in pulling together the financial 

statements of a small business. But a qualified accountant is 
needed as well. Don’t rely on accounting software as the concept 
of GIGO is a significant problem (garbage in, garbage out). 

 ◆ Is a statement of cash flows included? The financial report 
may not include a statement of cash flows. This omission is 
a big red flag! This financial statement has been required for 
more than a quarter of a century. The absence of the cash flow 
statement may signal that the company’s accountant does not 
know how to prepare this financial statement or is unaware that 
it is a required financial statement. As previously noted, prepar-
ing a statement of cash flows is often very challenging for small 
businesses. 

 ◆ Sales skimming? The owner/manager of the small business 
could be sales skimming. As you may know, this term refers 
to diverting some of the company’s revenue directly into the 
manager’s pocket. The amount skimmed is not recorded in the 
books of the company, and is not included in sales revenue in 
the income statement. Bottom-line profit is reduced by the 
amount of revenue skimmed during the year. Sales skimming 
tends to be centered on businesses that handle large amounts 
of cash such as junk yards, recycling companies, laundromats, 
and gambling establishments. 

 ◆ Are personal expenses run through the business? The 
company may be used to pay personal and family expenses of 
the owner/manager of the small business. You could argue that 
this is just an additional form of compensation to the man-
ager. But doing this may violate agreements entered into by the 
business with other persons, and it could border on income tax 
evasion. The bottom line is that basically, most small businesses 
do push through a certain amount of personal expenses, which 
are reasonable and don’t cross the line on income tax evasion 
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(as there is some type of economic purpose and value associ-
ated with the expenses). 

 ◆ Are there related party transactions? Transactions with 
related parties may not be disclosed in the small business 
report. For example, the owner/manager of the small business 
may also own a real estate investment business, which leases 
space to the small business. Because of the common ownership 
of both companies setting the rent is not an arms-length trans-
action. The rent could be set deliberately higher or lower than 
the going rate, in order to raise or lower the expenses of the 
small business. Not only is this a common strategy but the gov-
ernment actually encourages this type of transaction through 
the use of SBA programs.

Summing up, small business lenders and outside investors 
should be cautious and somewhat skeptical when reading the 

financial report of a small business. They should be on the look-
out for the problems we discuss above. As the saying goes, “it is 
what it is.” While not perfect, the reporting of financial informa-
tion by small businesses to their lenders and individual investors 
is better than no financial reporting at all. Lenders and investors 
can ask questions and request more information from the busi-
ness—and they may have to. 

Tips, Tidbits, and Traps

It’s important to understand the primary objective of financial 
reporting by small companies. That is, it needs to be just good 
enough to please the lenders, just within “norms or standards” 
to avoid any scrutiny by taxing authorities, and just informative 
enough to give management base data to work with.
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As we bring this book to a close, and from one co-author to 
another (that is myself, to my father), I turn this last chapter over 
to my father who really deserves the credit for not just this book, 
but all of the books we’ve had the chance to work on together 

over the past 10 years. What type of businessmen would we be if 
we didn’t seize the opportunity to direct our readers toward other 
material that could provide an additional benefit in understanding 
the concepts we discuss in this book, so here are the books. You 
can go to www.dummies.com for more information.

Source: Reprinted with permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Source: Reprinted with permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

http://www.dummies.com
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The point of providing these additional book links, other than 
to line our pockets, is to emphasize just how complex are the 
subjects of financial statements and financial reports, and that to 
truly gain a proper and thorough understanding of the informa-
tion readers really need to dig into the topics discussed in more 
detail. What is different about the three books noted above is that 
although this book focused on reading financial statements and 
reports from the “outside looking in,” these books look at small 
business finance, accounting, and cash flows from the “inside 
looking out” and really dive deep into accounting and financial 
transactions that are the basis for all financial statements, includ-
ing those released to the public. 

So, with that said, it’s time to turn our attention to some great 
Q&A that my father had the opportunity to respond to years ago. 

Source: Reprinted with permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
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No Question Is Out of the Question!

Some years ago a women’s investment club invited John to their 
monthly meeting to explain financial statements. It was a lot of 
fun. These women were a savvy group of investors who pooled 
their monthly contributions and invested mainly in common 
stocks traded on the major securities exchanges.

These women investors asked thoughtful questions. We’d like 
to share these with you in this chapter, and answer a couple of 
other questions that are important for anyone who invests in 
stock and debt securities issued by public corporations, or who 
has an investment in a private business. Other financial statement 
readers should also find this chapter helpful.

Business investors and lenders should know the answers to cer-
tain questions concerning financial statements. We answer these 
questions from the viewpoint of a typical individual investor, not 
an institutional investor or a professional investment manager. 
John’s retirement fund (TIAA-CREF) manages about $400 bil-
lion of investments. We assume its portfolio managers know the 
answers to these questions. They’d better!

When You Sell a Stock Does the Company Get 
Your Money?

One point caught John quite by surprise, and it’s an important one 
to understand. At that time the women were thinking of buying 
common stock shares of General Electric (GE). Two members 

presented their research on the company with the recommenda-
tion to buy the stock at the going market price. The discussion 
caused John to suspect that several of the members thought their 
money would go to GE. John pointed out that the money would 
go to the seller of the stock shares, not to GE.

They were not entirely clear on the difference between the pri-
mary capital market (the original issue of securities by corporations 
for money that flows directly into their coffers), and the second-
ary securities trading market (in which people sell securities they 
already own to other investors, with no money going to the compa-
nies that originally issued the securities). John compared this with 
the purchase of a new car in which money goes to General Motors, 
Ford, or Honda (passing through the dealer) versus the purchase of 
a used car in which the money goes to the previous owner.

John cleared up that point, although he thinks they were disap-
pointed that GE would not get their money. Once John pointed 
out the distinction between the two capital markets, they realized 
that whereas they were of the opinion that the going market value 
was a good price to buy at, the person on the other side of the 
trade must think it was a good price to sell at.

Are Financial Reports Reliable and Trustworthy?

Yes, the large majority of financial reports by public companies 
are presented fairly according to established standards, which are 
called generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United 



Basic questions, basic answers, no bs     313

States and generally international financial reporting standards (IFRS) 
outside the United States. If not, the company’s CPA auditor calls 
deviations or shortcomings to your attention. So, be sure to read 
the CPA auditor’s report. The U.S. and international accounting 
and financial reporting standards have not yet (2013) been com-
pletely merged into one set of converged standards—if they ever 
will be. How and when this “harmonization” process will end up 
is hard to predict.

The financial reports of private companies that are audited by 
CPAs are as generally reliable as those of public companies. (At 
least this has been our experience.) However, unaudited financial 
reports of private companies are more at risk of violating one or 
more accounting and financial reporting standards. For example, 
we have seen private company annual financial reports that did 
not include a statement of cash flows, even though this financial 
statement was required at the time. Much depends on the com-
petence of the chief accountant of the business. When reading 
unaudited financial statements of smaller private companies, you 
should be more on guard particularly if there is no statement of 
cash flows in the annual financial report.

You should realize that accounting and financial reporting 
standards are not static. The rule-making authorities constantly 
monitor financial reporting practices and identify emerging prob-
lem areas. They make changes when needed, especially to keep 
abreast of changes in business and financial practices, as well as 
developments in the broader political, legal, and economic envi-
ronments in which businesses live and operate.

Nevertheless, Are Some Financial Statements 
Misleading and Fraudulent?

Yes, unfortunately. The Wall Street Journal and the New York 
Times carry stories of accounting fraud instigated by high-level 

managers in businesses. These financial report shenanigans are 
done in various ways. Sales revenue can be overstated. Expenses 
and losses can be understated or not recorded at all. Net income 
can be inflated in order to prop up the market price of the stock 
shares. Or, a business may not disclose serious problems in its 
financial condition. In committing accounting fraud, the business 
lies to its lenders and shareowners. The company deliberately 
misleads its stakeholders by reporting false financial information, 
and the managers know that it is false.

It is difficult for CPA auditors to detect accounting fraud that 
is instigated and implemented by high-level managers, especially 
if it is cleverly concealed and involves conspiracy among manag-
ers and other parties to the fraud. (Chapter 26 discusses financial 
statement audits by CPAs.) Auditors are highly skilled profession-
als, and the failure rate of auditors to discover fraud has been rela-
tively low. However, in some cases CPAs, including those with the 
Big Four international CPA firms, were negligent in carrying out 
their audit procedures or they were complicit with management. 
The CPA firms deserved to be sued—and were!

The bottom line is that there is a small risk that the financial 
statements you depend on are, in fact, false and seriously mislead-
ing. You would have legal recourse against the company’s execu-
tives and its CPA auditors once the fraud is found out, but this is 
not a happy situation. Almost certainly you’d end up losing money, 
even after recovering some of your losses through legal action.

Is It Worth Your Time to Compute Financial 
Statement Ratios?

We doubt it. The conventional wisdom is that by diligent read-
ing of financial statements you will discover under- or overvalued 
securities. However, the evidence doesn’t support this premise. 
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Market prices reflect all publicly available information about a 
business, including the information in its latest quarterly and 
annual financial reports. (Insiders may be privy to information 
about coming events and take advantage of their position to make 
trades before the information becomes public knowledge.)

Computing financial statement ratios can be a valuable learn-
ing experience. But don’t expect to find out something that the 
market doesn’t already know. It’s unlikely that you will find a nug-
get of information that has been overlooked by everyone else. 
Forget it; it’s not worth your time as an investor. The same time 
would be better spent keeping up with current business and eco-
nomic developments reported in the financial press.

Why Read Financial Statements, Then, If You Won’t 
Find Information That Has Been Overlooked 
by Others?

You should know what you are getting into. Does the company 
have a lot of debt and a heavy interest load to carry? For that 
matter, is the company in bankruptcy or in a debt workout situ-
ation? Has the company had a consistent earnings record over 
the past 5 to 10 years, or has its profit ridden a roller coaster over 
this time? Has the company consistently paid cash dividends for 
many years? Has the company suffered a major loss recently? Has 
the company given its executives stock options on a large number 
of shares? Has the company issued more than one class of stock 
shares?

You would obviously inspect a house before getting serious 
about buying it, to see if it is in good condition and whether it 
has two stories, three or more bedrooms, a basement, a good gen-
eral appearance, and so on. Likewise, you should know the “finan-
cial architecture” of a business before investing your capital in 

its securities. Financial statements serve this getting-acquainted 
purpose very well, as long as you know what to look for.

One basic stock investment strategy is to search through finan-
cial reports or financial statement data on websites, to find cor-
porations that meet certain filtering criteria—for example, whose 
market values are less than their book values, or whose cash and 
cash equivalent per share are more than a certain percent of their 
current market value. Whether these stocks end up beating the 
market is another matter. In any case, financial statements can be 
culled through to find whatever types of companies you are look-
ing for.

The Financial Statements and Footnotes of Large 
Public Companies Would Take Several Hours to Read 
Carefully. What’s the Alternative?

Large businesses produce large financial reports! Their financial 
statements generally are long, complex, and include several pages 
of densely written footnotes. Quite literally it would take you sev-
eral hours, or even longer, to conscientiously read every item in 
all the financial statements of a company, and every sentence in 
every footnote. Also, don’t forget the auditor’s report (also written 
in technical language), the letter from the CEO to shareholders, 
and the statement by top management concerning its responsibil-
ity for internal controls designed to prevent fraudulent financial 
reporting. We have to wonder whether professional stock analysts 
and investment managers have the time to read through the entire 
financial reports of all the companies they follow and invest in. 
Maybe they delegate this job to their subordinates, in which case 
we hope they have the time and understand financial statements.

Being aware of how long it takes to read their financial reports 
cover to cover, most public companies provide condensed annual 
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financial statements to their shareholders. The actual financial 
statements of the business are collapsed into brief summaries 
of their income statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash 
flows. These condensed financial statements are not accompanied 
by footnotes and often do not refer to the CPA auditor’s report.

If you don’t have time to delve into the actual financial state-
ments and footnotes of a company, you should at least read its 
condensed financial statements. This is better than nothing. By 
the way, most not-for-profit organizations (such as AARP) issue 
condensed financial statements to their members. In some situa-
tions we still want to read the actual financial statements. As we 
start reading them we know we’re in for a long night that only an 
accounting professor could love.

Is There Any One Basic Litmus Test for a Quick Gauge 
of a Company’s Financial Performance?

We suggest that you compute the percent increase (or decrease) 
in sales revenue this year compared with last year, and use this 
percent as the baseline for testing changes in bottom-line profit 
(net income) as well as the changes in the major operating assets 
of the business. Assume sales revenue increased 10 percent over 
last year. Did profit increase 10 percent? Did accounts receiv-
able, inventory, and long-term operating assets increase about 10 
percent?

This is no more than a so-called quick-and-dirty method, but it 
does point out major disparities. For instance, suppose inventory 
jumped 50 percent even though sales revenue increased only 10 
percent. This may signal a major management mistake; the over-
stock of inventory might lead to write-downs later. Management 
does not usually comment on such disparities in financial reports. 
You’ll have to find them yourself—hopefully not many.

Do Financial Statements Report the Truth, the Whole 
Truth, and Nothing but the Truth?

There are really two questions here. One question concerns 
how truthful is profit accounting, which depends on the com-
pany’s choice of accounting methods from the menu of generally 
accepted alternatives and how faithfully the methods are applied 
year in and year out. The other question concerns how honest and 
forthright are the disclosures in the company’s financial report.

Revenue and expenses should be recorded honestly and consis-
tently according to the accounting methods adopted by the busi-
ness. In other words, once accounting choices have been made, 
the business should apply the methods and let the chips fall where 
they may. However, there is convincing evidence that managers of 
public companies occasionally, if not regularly, intervene and take 
certain actions to affect the amounts recorded in sales revenue 
and expenses. They do this to produce more favorable results than 
would otherwise happen—something akin to the “thumb on the 
scale” trick. (We discuss massaging the numbers in Chapter 25.)

Manipulating the accounting numbers is done to smooth 
reported earnings, to balance out unwanted perturbations and 
oscillations in annual earnings. Investors in public companies 
seem to prefer a nice steady trend of earnings instead of unpre-
dictable fluctuations, and managers oblige. So, be warned that 
annual earnings probably are smoothed to some extent.

Disclosure in financial reports is another matter. Both public 
and private companies are generally reluctant to lay bare all the 
facts of interest to their lenders and shareholders. Bad news is 
usually suppressed or at least deemphasized as long as possible. 
Clearly, there is a lack of candor and frank discussion in many 
financial reports. Few companies are willing to wash their dirty 
linen in public by making full disclosure of their mistakes and dif-
ficulties in their financial reports. One notable exception to this 
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reluctance to share bad news is the annual letter to the stockhold-
ers by Warren Buffett, chairman of Berkshire-Hathaway. He lays 
both good news and bad news on the line, and admits his mistakes.

Public companies include a management discussion and analysis
(MD&A) section in their annual financial reports. Usually this is a 
fairly sanitized version of what happened during the year. The his-
tory of financial reporting disclosure practices, unfortunately, makes 
clear that until standard-setting authorities force specific disclosure 
standards on companies, few will make such disclosures voluntarily.

Some years ago the disclosure of employee pension and retire-
ment costs went through this pattern of inadequate reporting until, 
finally, the standard-setting body in the United States stepped in 
and required fuller disclosure. Recalls of unsafe products, pend-
ing lawsuits, and top management compensation are examples of 
reluctant reporting. Here is a historical example: Until the stan-
dard was adopted in 1987, companies did not report a statement 
of cash flows, even though this information had been asked for by 
security analysts since the 1950s!

The masthead of the New York Times boasts “All the News 
That’s Fit to Print.” Don’t expect this in companies’ financial 
reports, however.

Does Its Financial Report Explain the Basic Profit-
Making Strategy of the Business?

Not really. In an ideal world, we would argue, a financial report 
should not merely report how much profit (net income) was 
earned by the business and the amounts of revenue and expenses 
that generated this profit. The financial report should also pro-
vide a profit road map, or an earnings blueprint of the business. 
The financial report should clarify the so-called business model 
of the company. Financial report readers should be told the basic 

profit-making strategy of the business, including its most critical 
profit-making success factors.

In their annual financial reports, publicly owned corporations 
are required to disclose their sales revenue and operating expenses 
by major segments (lines of business). Segmenting a business into 
its major lines of sales provides information about which major 
product lines are more profitable than others. However, segments 
are conglomerate totals that span many different products. Segment 
disclosure was certainly a step in the right direction. For example, 
the breakdown between domestic versus international sales rev-
enue and operating profit is very important for many businesses.

Businesses are careful not to divulge too much information 
in their financial reports about their profit margins on specific 
products (and services). For example, Apple does not reveal the 
gross margin it makes on sales of its iPhone versus its iPad. Profit 
margin information is treated as confidential, and is kept away 
from competitors and from investors in the business as well. The 
income statement in an external financial report is not the profit 
report you would see if you were the CEO of the business.

Does the Market Price of a Public Company’s Stock 
Shares Depend Directly and Only on the Information 
Reported in Its Financial Statements?

Well, you know the answer to this question, don’t you? The mar-
ket price of a public company’s stock shares depends on many 
factors, although the information reported in its financial state-
ments is the main point of reference. We include this question 
only to remind you that a public company’s financial statements 
are only one source—albeit one of the most important sources—
of the information that investors use to make their buy, hold, and 
sell decisions.
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Does the Balance Sheet of a Private Business Tell the 
Market Value of the Business?

No. The balance sheet of a private business does not report what 
the market value of the company would be if the business as a 
whole were on the auction block. The dollar amounts you see on 
a balance sheet are the results of its actual transactions and opera-
tions. The net income (bottom-line profit) reported in the annual 
income statement of a business summarizes its actual sales reve-
nue for the year minus its actual expenses for the period. Likewise, 
the cash flows reported by the business are the actual amounts of 
cash flowing through the business during the year. In short, finan-
cial statements are prepared on a “look-back” or historical basis, 
not on a “look-ahead” basis for determining the market value of 
the business.

Until there is a serious buyer, it’s anyone’s guess how much a 
private business is worth. A buyer may be willing to pay much 
more than the book value of its owners’ equity that is reported 
in its most recent balance sheet. The market value depends on 
many factors, as you probably know. Even Warren Buffett, the 
sage investor who is CEO of Berkshire Hathaway, admits that he 
has made mistakes in amounts he paid for some businesses in his 
annual letter to stockholders (which you can read on the com-
pany’s website).

Generally, the market value of a private business depends 
mainly on its profit-making ability projected into the future. A 
buyer may be willing to pay 10 times the annual net income of a 
privately held business. But we would quickly add that other fac-
tors could also play a dominant role in setting the market value of 
a private business.

Also, we should mention that earnings-based values are quite 
different from liquidation-based values for a business. Suppose a 
company is in bankruptcy proceedings or in a troubled debt work-
out situation. In this unhappy position, the claims of its debt secu-
rities and other liabilities dominate the value of its stock shares 
and owners’ equity. Indeed, the company’s stock shares may have 
zero value in such cases.

Do Books on Investing and Personal Finance Refer to 
Financial Statements?

It may come as a surprise to you, but generally these books say 
little to nothing about financial statements. The books make little 
effort to explain even the basics of financial statements, or ignore 
financial statements altogether. Don’t get us wrong. There are 
many excellent books on investing and personal finance, and we 
have read quite a few of them.

We feel obligated to warn you that some of the most popular of 
these books contain very little practical advice that you can actu-
ally use. Some of these books explain, for example, that if you save 
10 percent of your annual income and invest it wisely, then after 
40 years you will have a nice sum of money. As John’s grandkids 
would say: duh! In any case, we are perplexed that so few of the 
good investing and personal finance books discuss financial state-
ments in any depth, or they ignore financial statements altogether.

Financial statements are the essential wellspring of informa-
tion for business investors and lenders. Indeed, where else do you 
get this vital information? Not having this financial information 
would be like trying to find your destination in a city without 
street signs and traffic signals.
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A Very Short Summary

You can generally rely on audited financial statements, although 
the rash of accounting frauds during the past two or three decades 
that CPA auditors failed to discover shook our confidence some-
what. Overall, the percent of fraudulent financial reports among 
all public businesses is low (but not zero). In any case, investors 
don’t really have an alternative source of financial information 
about a business other than its financial statements. Accounting 
fraud, unfortunately, is an unavoidable risk of investing.

You might think twice before investing much time in analyzing 
the financial statements of corporations whose securities are pub-
licly traded—because thousands of other investors have done the 
same analysis and the chance of your finding out something that no 
one else has yet discovered is virtually nil. For a quick benchmark 
test, though, you might compare the percent change in the compa-
ny’s sales revenue over last year with the percent changes in its net 
income and operating assets. Major disparities are worth a look.

Reading financial statements is the best way to get acquainted 
with the financial structure of a business that you’re thinking of 
investing in. Don’t worry too much about the accounting methods 

used by public companies. For privately owned companies, how-
ever, you should keep an eye on the major accounting policies of 
the business and how these accounting methods affect reported 
earnings and asset values.

Disclosure in financial statements leaves a lot to be desired. 
Don’t look for a road map of the profit strategy of a business in 
its financial reports. Keep in mind that the total value of a busi-
ness is not to be found in its balance sheet. Until an actual buyer 
of a business makes a serious offer, there is no particular reason 
to determine the value of the business as a going concern. Value 
depends mainly on the past earnings record of the business as 
forecast into the future.

The main message of this chapter is to be prudent and careful 
in making decisions based on financial statements. Many inves-
tors and managers don’t seem to be aware of the limitations of 
financial statements. Used intelligently, financial reports are the 
indispensable starting point for making investment and lending 
decisions. We hope this book helps you make better decisions. 
Good luck, and be careful out there.
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ABOUT THE COMPANION WEBSITE 

This book includes a companion website, which can be found at the following site:
www.wiley.com/go/tracyfinancialreport (password: comprehensive).

The companion website contains “Test My Knowledge: Questions” for most 
chapters in this book. These questions and exercises test the reader’s knowledge 
and understanding of the material presented in the chapters (as well as a little 
trickery thrown in related to testing previously presented material). The answers 
are provided.  

Further, the electronic version of this book contains numerous direct electronic 
links to articles, financial reports, reference material, and the like, which have been 
included to emphasize or amplify a discussion topic with real world examples or 
stories. As authors, we sometimes forget how “second nature” the material pre-
sented in the book is to us and how challenging certain concepts may be to our 
readers, so the idea is to provide “reinforcement” material to help your under-
standing. And as the old saying goes, truth is often stranger than fiction, which will 
be clearly evident in some of the links provided (especially when fraud is involved) 
since there is no way some of this stuff can be made up!

http://www.wiley.com/go/tracyfinancialreport
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306, 315, 317
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Certified public accountant (CPA), 50, 181, 182, 215, 222, 223, 226, 

274, 278, 286, 287, 289, 290–298, 302, 303, 306, 313, 315, 318, 
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Earnings per share (EPS), 132, 135, 163–172, 213, 221, 225, 235, 
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47, 49, 70, 80, 82, 87, 91, 100, 102, 105, 106, 107, 123, 139–150, 
157, 167, 171, 174, 175, 180, 181, 189, 197, 198, 201, 203, 205, 
208, 213, 214, 221, 224, 240, 246, 249, 250–254, 261, 263, 264, 
265, 267, 274, 275, 277, 278, 279, 280, 281, 294, 301, 303, 306, 
307, 313, 315, 316, 317

Expenses (discretionary), 279
Extraordinary gains and losses, 231, 233

Fairness (of financial reports), 287, 291, 296
Fast Forward MBA in Finance, 319
Federal Income Tax Code, 121, 122, 144, 146
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), 
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130, 132, 135, 163–172, 175, 178, 179, 180, 185, 197, 198, 200, 
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Operations, statement of, 9; see Income statement 
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Owners’ equity, 5, 9, 24, 26, 28, 41, 45, 72, 165, 167, 171, 221, 237, 
238, 239, 240, 317; see also Stockholders’ equity 

Ownership interests, 5, 24
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Preferred stock, 170, 239, 240, 241
Prepaid expenses, 26, 38, 39, 177, 197, 214, 237
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Private companies, 11, 48, 222, 230, 240, 298, 300, 302, 313, 315
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Product cost variation, 86
Profit and profit analysis, 31–42, 245–257 
Profit & loss (P&L) statement, 5, 9, 14, 15, 88, 247 
Profit center, 249
Property, plant, and equipment, 26, 39, 40, 56, 142, 144, 145, 178, 
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Qualified audit opinion, 296
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Receivables, 19, 20, 26, 68, 71, 72, 78, 110, 154, 156, 159, 189, 236; 
see also Accounts receivable

Repair and maintenance expense, 73, 74, 250, 279
Report form (of balance sheet), 49
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Return on equity (ROE), 132, 135, 189, 238, 239
Return on investment (ROI), 169, 184, 239
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Rudolph the Red-Nosed Reindeer, 260

Sales credit period, 70–72
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Sales volume changes, 205, 250, 254, 256, 257
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 290, 298
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Securities analysis, 231, 240, 243

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 10, 222, 224, 230, 
297, 298

Selling, general, and administrative expenses, 38, 39, 80, 91, 100, 
102, 105, 112, 205, 214, 247, 251

Sensitivity analysis, 257
Shareholders, 119, 134, 135, 137, 138, 170, 171, 204, 231, 269, 292, 

300, 314, 315; see also Stockholders
Shareholders’ equity, 5, 22, 28, 30, 181, 242
Shawshank Redemption, 32
Single–step income statement, 34, 36
Small Business Financial Management Kit for Dummies, 305, 

311, 319
Smoothing profit, 115, 278, 294, 315
Solvency, 22, 190, 209, 235, 279
Spontaneous liabilities, 114
State and local taxation (SALT), 118
Stock options, 225, 240, 241, 302, 303, 314
Stockholders, 15, 16, 24, 27, 45, 119, 165, 169, 185, 188, 203, 226, 

227, 230, 234, 238, 239, 240, 241, 281, 290
Stockholders’ (owners’) equity, 9, 24, 27, 40, 45, 49, 93, 132, 135, 

175, 221, 234, 237, 238, 239, 240
Stockholders’ equity, statement of changes in, 234
Straight-line depreciation, 144, 145, 149, 276
Supporting schedules (to financial statements), 9, 234, 250
Sustainable growth rate, 189

Tangible assets, 26, 82, 96, 140, 141, 147, 185
Taxable income, 40, 119, 121, 122, 123, 124, 144, 171, 207, 280, 305
TMK & Associates, 319
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Unearned revenue, 37, 59, 60, 73, 74, 267
University of California at Berkley, 319
University of Colorado at Boulder, 319
University of Wisconsin at Madison, 319
Unpaid expenses, 19, 27, 105, 106, 109–116; see Liabilities

Wall Street Journal, 241, 313
Walmart, 205
Warranty and guarantee costs, 73, 112, 277, 279
What if analysis, 257
Window dressing, 277, 279, 280 
Work-in-process inventory, 83
Write down (write off) of assets, 87, 148, 149, 150, 178, 197, 208, 

213, 261, 267, 315
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